



Journal of the Hellenic Veterinary Medical Society

Vol 70, No 4 (2019)



To cite this article:

Eταιρεία E. K. (2020). Whole issue. *Journal of the Hellenic Veterinary Medical Society*, *70*(4), 1749–1924. https://doi.org/10.12681/jhvms.22215

ISSN 2585-3724



JOURNAL OF THE HELLENIC VETERINARY MEDICAL SOCIETY

ΠΕΡΙΟΔΙΚΟ ΤΗΣ ΕΛΛΗΝΙΚΗΣ ΚΤΗΝΙΑΤΡΙΚΗΣ ΕΤΑΙΡΕΙΑΣ

TEADER TEADER TEAL AMMHTPION Anilytic Astancy Anilytic Astancy Second 138, 112 57 Abityon E.K.E. Itarnofuw 158, 112 57 Abityon

ΚΩΔΙΚΟΣ: 2782

112 57 Ai

ΕΝΤΥΠΟ ΚΛΕΙΣΤΟ ΑΡ. ΑΔΕΙΑΣ

4.V.M.S. 158,

Quarterly Edition Volume 70, No 4 OCTOBER - DECEMBER 2019



Τριμηνιαία Έκδοση Volume 70, No 4 ΟΚΤΩΒΡΙΟΣ - ΔΕΚΕΜΒΡΙΟΣ 2019

CODE: 2782



Quarterly Scientific Journal 5th Period, Volume 70, Issue no.4 OCTOBER - DECEMBER 2019 Τριμηνιαίο Επιστημονικό Περιοδικό Περίοδος Ε΄, Τόμος 70, Νο.4 ΟΚΤΩΒΡΙΟΣ - ΔΕΚΕΜΒΡΙΟΣ 2019 **ΚΩΔΙΚΟΣ: 2782**



J Hellenic Vet Med Soc is covered by THOMSON REUTERS Science Citation Index Expanded & Journal Citation Reports/Science Edition ISSN 2585-3724

Publisher Hellenic Veterinary Medical Society Patission 158, 11257 Athens, Greece Tel.: +.30.210.8642284 Fax: +.30.210.8645744 www.hvms.gr E-mail: secretary@hvms.gr

Executive board of the HVMS

President: N. Papaioannou Vice-President: M. Linou Hon. Secretary: K.Chandras Dep. Hon. Secretary: N. Solomakos Treasurer: D.Vourvidis Member: S.Vlachopoulos Member: E. Papadopoulos Member: Z.Polizopoulou Member: G.Fthenakis

Managing editors

Z. Polizopoulou A. Tyrpenou Patission 158, 11257 Athens, Greece Tel.: +.30.210.8642284 Fax: +.30.210.8645744

Editorial Board

G. Arsenos, V.Bampidis, I. Dontas, D. Fletouris, A. Galatos, N. Giadinis, E. Kiossis, A. Lymberopoulos, L. Papazoglou, M. Saridomichelakis, N. Soultos, N. Solomakos, P. Fortomaris, Th. Tsiligianni

> Redaction Rotonda Publications 8 Kamvounion Str, 54621 Thessaloniki, Greece Tel: +30210212212

Annual subscription Europe: € 150 Other countries: € 180 Price per issue: € 50

Cheques and remittances D. Vourvidis P.O. Box 3546, 10210 Athens, Greece

Mailing address

J Hellenic Vet Med Soc (M. Zafiropoulou) Hellenic Veterinary Medical Society Patission 158, 11257 Athens, Greece **Εκδότης Ελληνική Κτηνιατρική Εταιρεία** Πατησίων 158, 11257 Αθήνα Tel.: 210.8642284 Fax: 210.8645744 www.hvms.gr E-mail: secretary@hvms.gr

Διοικητικό Συμβούλιο ΕΚΕ

Πρόεδρος: Ν. Παπαϊωάννου Αντιπρόεδρος: Μ. Λινού Γεν. Γραμματέας: Κ. Χανδράς Ειδ. Γραμματέας: Ν. Σολωμάκος Ταμίας: Δ. Βουρβίδης Μέλος: Σ. Βλαχόπουλος Μέλος: Η. Παπαδόπουλος Μέλος: Ζ. Πολυζοπούλου Μέλος: Γ. Φθενάκης

Υπεύθυνοι έκδοσης

Ζ. Ποηυζοπούήου Α. Τυρπένου Πατησίων 158, 11257 Αθήνα. Tel.: 210.8642284 Fax: 210.8645744

Συντακτική Επιτροπή

Γ. Αρσένος, Α. Γαλάτος, Ν. Γιαδίνης, Ι. Δοντά, Ε. Κιόσης, Α. Λυμπερόπουλος, Β. Μπαμπίδης, Λ. Παπάζογλου, Μ. Σαριδομιχελάκης, Ν. Σούλτος, Ν.Σολωμάκος, Δ. Φλετούρης, Π. Φορτομάρης, Θ. Τσιλιγιάννη

Επιμέλεια έκδοσης Εκδόσεις Ροτόντα Καμβουνίων 8, 54621 Θεσσαλονίκη Τηλ: 2310212212

Ετήσιες συνδρομές

Eññáδa και Κύπρος Μέ∂n ΕΚΕ: € 30 Μη μέ∂η ΕΚΕ: € 40 Φοιτητές: € 15 Νομικά πρόσωπα: € 100 Τιμή τεύχους: € 15

Επιταγές και εμβάσματα

Δ. Βουρβίδης Τ.Θ. 3546, 10210 Αθήνα

Ταχυδρομική διεύθυνση

ΠΕΚΕ (Μ. Ζαφειροπούλου) Ελληνική Κτηνιατρική Εταιρεία Πατησίων 158, 11257 Αθήνα



Update: July 2019 Ενημέρωση: Ιούλιος 2019

	EUROPEAN COLLEGES OF VETERINARY SPECIALISTS ΕΥΡΩΠΑΪΚΑ ΚΟΛΕΓΙΑ ΕΙΔΙΚΕΥΜΕΝΩΝ ΚΤΗΝΙΑΤΡΩΝ					
				Number of specialist veterinarians active in Greece Αριθμός ειδικευμένων κτηνιάτρων εργαζόμενων στην Ελλάδα		
1	0	ECAR	European College of Animal Reproduction	2		
2		ECAWBM	European College of Animal Welfare and Behavioural Medicine	2		
3		ECAAH	European College of Aquatic Animal Health	3		
4	ECBHM	ECBHM	European College of Bovine Health Management	3		
5	TECEN	ECEIM	European College of Equine Internal Medicine	0		
6	eciam 🗯	ECLAM	European College of Laboratory Animal Medicine	0		
7		ECPHM	European College of Porcine Health Management	3		
8	0	EPVS	European College of Poultry Veterinary Science	4		
9	1000	ECSRHM	European College of Small Ruminant Health Management	12		
10	Ø	ECVAA	European College of Veterinary Anaesthesia and Analgesia	1		
11		ECVCN	European College of Veterinary Comparative Nutrition	0		
12	- BCBCP-	ECVCP	European College of Veterinary Clinical Pathology	1		
13	ECVD	ECVD	European College of Veterinary Dermatology	3		
14	Ξł	ECVDI	European College of Veterinary Diagnostic Imaging	1		
15		ECVECC	European College of Veterinary Emergency and Critical Care	0		
16	No.	ECVIM-ca	European College of Veterinary Internal Medicine-companion animals	0		
17	ECW	ECVN	European College of Veterinary Neurology	2		
18	ECVO	ECVO	European College of Veterinary Ophthalmology	0		
19		ECVP	European College of Veterinary Pathology	0		
20		ECVPH	European College of Veterinary Public Health	5		
21	S	ECVPT	European College of Veterinary Pharmacology and Toxicology	1		
22		ECZM	European College of Zoological Medicine	1		
23		ECVS	European College of Veterinary Surgery	1		
24	EVDG	EVDC	European Veterinary Dentistry College	0		
25	Ale	EVPC	European Veterinary Parasitology College	3		



ЕЛЛНИКН КТНИГАТРІКН ЕТАІРЕГА (ЕКЕ) HELLENIC VETERINARY MEDICAL SOCIATY (HVMS)



REPRESENTATIONS / ΕΚΠΡΟΣΩΠΗΣΕΙΣ

Organisation / Οργανισμός	Representative / Εκπρόσωπος	Alternative representatives (al- phabetically) / Αναπληρωτές εκπρόσωποι (με αλφαβητική σειρά)
World Veterinary Association (WVA)	N. Papaioannou	S. Ramantanis
International Sheep Veterinary Association (ISVA)	G.C. Fthenakis	G. Arsenos, V.S. Mavrogianni
World Association for Buiatrics (WAB)	G.C. Fthenakis	G.S. Amiridis, N. Panousis
World Small Animal Veterinary Association (WSAVA)	Z. Polizopoulou	C. Chandras
European Federation of Food Science and Technology (EFFOST)	S. Ramantanis	D.J. Fletouris, A. Govaris
Federation of European Companion Animal Veterinary Association (FECAVA)	Z. Polizopoulou	M. Flarakos, A. Michopoulos
Balkan and Black Sea Veterinary Association (BABSEVA)	K. Marinou	M. Linou
Ελληνική Ζωοτεχνική Εταιρεία (EZE)	G. Arsenos	J. Menegatos
International Association of Veterinary Editors (IAVE)	A. Tyrpenou	Z. Polizopoulou



Quarterly Edition 5th Period, Volume 70, Issue no.4 OCTOBER - DECEMBER 2019 Τριμηνιαίο Εκδοση Περίοδοs Ε΄, Τόμοs 70, Νο.4 ΟΚΤΩΒΡΙΟΣ - ΔΕΚΕΜΒΡΙΟΣ 2019



Contents

Περιεχόμενα

Feline Epilepsy: An update R.D. Baka, Z.S. Polizopoulou

RESEARCH ARTICLES

Effect of a nanocomposite containing ostrich eggshell on calvarium healing in the rabbit: a pathologic study H. Alemi, A. Asghari, G. Abedi, A. Akbarzadeh, P. Mortazavi

Occurrence of Campylobacter, Salmonella, and Arcobacter in pet birds of northern Iran S. Seifi, R. Khoshbakht, A. Azizpour

Ultrastructural and molecular characteristics of Setaria species based on sequence analysis of genomic and mitochondrial gene markers in cattle (Bos taurus) and buffaloes (Bubalus bubalis) from Iran A. Alborzia, P. Haddadmolayanb, M.R.Tabandehc, M. Ghorbanpoord

The Phenotype Variability, of the Racka Sheep in the Republic of Serbia I. Pihler, J. Ćirić, D. Kučević, S. Dragin, M. Al-Hasant, M. Šaran, B. Zarubica, I. A. Tsakmakidis

Analyzing risk factors for lumpy skin disease by a geographic information system (GIS) in Turkey O.B. Ince, T. Türk

Influence of dietary Moringa oleifera on broilers performance, intestinal microbial population and humoral immune competence W. A. Abd El-Ghany, R. D. Eraky

ΑΝΑΣΚΟΠΗΣΗ

1749 Feline Epilepsy: An update R.D. Baka, Z.S. Polizopoulou ΕΡΕΥΝΗΤΙΚΑ ΑΡΘΡΑ 1757 Effect of a nanocomposite containing ostrich eggshell on calvarium healing in the rabbit: a pathologic study H. Alemi, A. Asghari, G. Abedi, A. Akbarzadeh, P. Mortazavi 1771 Occurrence of Campylobacter, Salmonella, and Arcobacter in pet birds of northern Iran S. Seifi, R. Khoshbakht, A. Azizpour 1777 Ultrastructural and molecular characteristics of Setaria species based on sequence analysis of genomic and mitochondrial gene markers in cattle (Bos taurus) and buffaloes (Bubalus bubalis) from Iran A. Alborzia, P. Haddadmolayanb, M.R.Tabandehc, M. Ghorbanpoord 1789 The Phenotype Variability, of the Racka Sheep in the Republic of Serbia I. Pihler, J. Ćirić, D. Kučević, S. Dragin, M. Al-Hasant, M. Šaran, B. Zarubica, I. A. Tsakmakidis

1797 Analyzing risk factors for lumpy skin disease by a geographic information system (GIS) in Turkey O.B. Ince, T. Türk

1805 Influence of dietary Moringa oleifera on broilers performance, intestinal microbial population and humoral immune competence W. A. Abd El-Ghany, R. D. Eraky



Quarterly Edition 5th Period, Volume 70, Issue no.4 OCTOBER - DECEMBER 2019 Τριμηνιαίο Εκδοση Περίοδος Ε΄, Τόμος 70, Νο.4 ΟΚΤΩΒΡΙΟΣ - ΔΕΚΕΜΒΡΙΟΣ 2019



Contents

Περιεχόμενα

Investigation of serum homocysteine levels in relation to age and sex N. H. Aksoy	1811	Investigation of serum homocysteine levels in relation to age and sex N. H. Aksoy
Parasite infection in Serranus cabrilla (Perciformes, Serranidae): histopathological aspects and new host record for nematode genus Philometra from Aegean Sea, Turkey D. Innal, M. M. Stavrescu-Bedivan, O. Ozmen	1817	Parasite infection in Serranus cabrilla (Perciformes, Serranidae): histopathological aspects and new host record for nematode genus Philometra from Aegean Sea, Turkey D. Innal, M. M. Stavrescu-Bedivan, O. Ozmen
Dietary medicinal plants enhance the chemical composition and quality of broiler chicken meat T. Tashla, N. Puvača, D. Ljubojević Pelić, R. Prodanović, S. Ignjatijević, J. Bošković, D. Ivanišević, M. Jahić, O. Mahmoud, I. Giannenas, J. Lević	1823	Dietary medicinal plants enhance the chemical composition and quality of broiler chicken meat T. Tashla, N. Puvača, D. Ljubojević Pelić, R. Prodanović, S. Ignjatijević, J. Bošković, D. Ivanišević, M. Jahić, O. Mahmoud, I. Giannenas, J. Lević
Assessment of plasma nitric oxide concentration and erythrocyte arginase activity in dairy cows with traumatic reticuloperitonitis A. Kirbas, E. Baydar, F.M. Kandemir	1833	Assessment of plasma nitric oxide concentration and erythrocyte arginase activity in dairy cows with traumatic reticuloperitonitis A. Kirbas, E. Baydar, F.M. Kandemir
Effects of Indigenous Spore-Forming Probiotic as Feed Supplement on Performance and Safety in Broilers N.G. Hosseini, M.H. Modarressi, S.N. Mousavi, M.T. Ebrahimi	1841	Effects of Indigenous Spore-Forming Probiotic as Feed Supplement on Performance and Safety in Broilers N.G. Hosseini, M.H. Modarressi, S.N. Mousavi, M.T. Ebrahimi
Trans-diaphragmatic pressure measurement as a prognostic factor in the Intensive Care Unit in dogs K. Pavlidou, I. Savvas	1851	Trans-diaphragmatic pressure measurement as a prognostic factor in the Intensive Care Unit in dogs K. Pavlidou, I. Savvas
Distribution of serotypes of Listeria monocytogenes in chicken meats in Turkey S. Sahin, R. Kalin, MN. Mogulkoc	1859	Distribution of serotypes of Listeria monocytogenes in chicken meats in Turkey S. Sahin, R. Kalin, MN. Mogulkoc
Epidemiological evaluation of subclinical mastitis of dairy cows in Greece K. Themistokleous, I. Karagiannis, C. Boscos, N. Panousis, E. Kiossis	1865	Epidemiological evaluation of subclinical mastitis of dairy cows in Greece K. Themistokleous, I. Karagiannis, C. Boscos, N. Panousis, E. Kiossis



Quarterly Edition 5th Period, Volume 70, Issue no.4 OCTOBER - DECEMBER 2019 Τριμηνιαίο Εκδοση Περίοδοs Ε΄, Τόμοs 70, Νο.4 ΟΚΤΩΒΡΙΟΣ - ΔΕΚΕΜΒΡΙΟΣ 2019



Contents

Περιεχόμενα

Effect of seasonal infertility period on boar sperm proteins and quality characteristics I.A. Michos, I.A. Tsakmakidis, M. Tsantarliotou, G. Tsousis, P. Hadweh, C.M. Boscos	1875	Effect of seasonal infertility period on boar sperm proteins and quality characteristics I.A. Michos, I.A. Tsakmakidis, M. Tsantarliotou, G. Tsousis, P. Hadweh, C.M. Boscos
Unilateral Spinal Anaesthesia in Calves S. Yaylaa, E. Kilic, U. Aydin, I. Ozaydin, V. Baran, A. Kamiloglu	1883	Unilateral Spinal Anaesthesia in Calves S. Yaylaa, E. Kilic, U. Aydin, I. Ozaydin, V. Baran, A. Kamiloglu
Immunological and pathological adverse effects of avian influenza virus subtype H9N2 infection in aflatoxicated-broiler chickens H.F. Ellakany, H.S. Abd-Elhamid, L.A. Tantawy, H.A. Elsamadony, A.R. Elbestawy, A.R. Gado, Y.S. El-Sayed, H.S. Ismael	1889	Immunological and pathological adverse effects of avian influenza virus subtype H9N2 infection in aflatoxicated-broiler chickens H.F. Ellakany, H.S. Abd-Elhamid, L.A. Tantawy, H.A. Elsamadony, A.R. Elbestawy, A.R. Gado, Y.S. El-Sayed, H.S. Ismael
CASE REPORTS		ΚΛΙΝΙΚΑ ΠΕΡΙΣΤΑΤΙΚΑ
An uncommon fetal retention case: Ruptured ventral hernia in a sheep C. Peker, E. H. Uçar, O. Varoğlu, G. Erdoğan	1901	An uncommon fetal retention case: Ruptured ventral hernia in a sheep C. Peker, E. H. Uçar, O. Varoğlu, G. Erdoğan
Complete vaginal stenosis and hematocolpus in two bitches with a history of GnRH treatment to postpone puberty G. Marino, M. Quartuccio, A. Sfacteria, S. Cristarella, A. Zanghì	1905	Complete vaginal stenosis and hematocolpus in two bitches with a history of GnRH treatment to postpone puberty G. Marino, M. Quartuccio, A. Sfacteria, S. Cristarella, A. Zanghì
Arthrectomy for traumatic proximal interphalangeal arthritis in the lateral digit in a heifer A. Goto, N. Tsuzuki, A. Kajihara, T. Moriyama, Y. Sasaki, N. Zushi, K. Hatate, K. Iino, N. Yamagishi	1911	Arthrectomy for traumatic proximal interphalangeal arthritis in the lateral digit in a heifer A. Goto, N. Tsuzuki, A. Kajihara, T. Moriyama, Y. Sasaki, N. Zushi, K. Hatate, K. lino, N. Yamagishi
Conjoined Twins in Red Sokoto Goat I. Ahmad, U.M. Chafe, A.A. Umar, M.D. Salisu	1919	Conjoined Twins in Red Sokoto Goat I. Ahmad, U.M. Chafe, A.A. Umar, M.D. Salisu



History of the Hellenic Veterinary Medical Society

The Hellenic Veterinary Medical Society (HVMS) is one of the oldest Scientific Societies in our Country. It was founded in 1924 and its first scientific journal was published in 1926. Prompter, Founder and Animating Spirit of HVMS was the General Ioannis D. Petridis (1870-1947), first President and for many years Honorary President of the HVMS. Among the 49 founding members of the HVMS there was also the memorable professor Konstantinos Livadas, the founder of the Veterinary School of the Aristotelian University in Thessaloniki. In spite of the disagreements, the HVMS contributed greatly to the foundation of Veterinary School.

During that time there was only one Scientific Society in Greece, the Medical Society of Athens, which was founded in 1835 and published its first scientific journal in 1922. The HVMS dealt not only with scientific but also with professional topics, like the establishment of the invoices for the veterinarians' payment, taxes, insurance etc. Also, at that period, the accession of the Veterinary Branch in the Hygienists' Pension and Self Insurance Treasury (TSAY) was achieved.

The first post-war assembly of the HVMS took place in the private medical office of Petros Kiappe, on Peta Street in Athens. With its post-war first president Konstantinos Melanidis, the HVMS has been working by implementing its old memorandum of association and has been located in the premises of the Veteri- nary Microbiological Institute of Votanicos, from where all mem- bers of the Governing Board and the Editorial Board of the Journal of the HVMS, were coming from. There, the first «nucleus» of the Library of the HVMS, has been created. That is the reason, this second period of the HVMS successor of the «Petridis period», used to be called «Votanikos period, 1944-1965».

Because HVMS's income was very small, it will remain homeless for many years. Looking for a meeting place the HVMS will find positive response from several services and societies (State Veterinary Offices, Greek Chemical Society, Hellenic Agricultural Society, Medical Society of Athens, Insti- tute of Agricultural Studies, State Veterinary Service of Athens, National Organization of Greek Handwork), which during the following years are going to offer its premises, while in the mid 1958 and for a short period, depending on its financing capabil- ities, the HVMS will rent its own room.

In 1944, the HVMS writes down its first post-war Member Book and in 1948 has already acquired its first 74 regular mem- bers. Also, HVMS is actively working with scientific subjects during regular meetings and public seminars, analyzing current veterinary issues, members' proposals and so on. On 29th May 1947 Mr Petridis presented in the Academy of Athens an issue for veterinary science and its contribution to the progress of the agricultural production and safeguard of Public Health. Also, it should be pointed out, that because there was no professional body, the HVMS is also dealing with issues related to the exe- cution of the veterinary profession.

Furthermore, the role of the HVMS has been determinative on the decision making of the Ministry of Agriculture on veter- inary legislation, on the organization of the Veterinary Service in the Ministry of Agriculture as well as on livestock topics. In the decade of 30s the Supreme Veterinary Advisory Council was created mainly dealing with scientific issues and other aims like promotion, publicity and consolidation of the veterinary science and the veterinary profession in our country and internationally.

The Hellenic Veterinary Medical Society publishes a quarterly scientific journal called Journal of the Hellenic Veterinary Medical Society (J Hellenic Vet Med Soc), as well as other scientific publications, organizes Congresses, Symposiums, Meetings, Lectures etc and generally and almost exclusively it has undertaken for life the Continuing Education of the Greek veterinarians and the students of the two Veterinary Schools.

Nowadays, the Hellenic Veterinary Medical Society is governed by a 9 member Governing Board which is elected every 3 years and has 3 branches:

- Branch of Companion Animals
- · Branch of Food Hygiene and Public Health
- Branch for Farm Animals

The HVMS collaborates with the Supreme Educational Foundations, the Technological Educational Institutes, the Veterinary Services, and the Veterinary Associations as well as with Scientific Societies and the Greek and Foreign Chambers.

- The HVMS is member of the:
- Worldwide Veterinary Society
- · Worldwide Veterinary Society for Companion Animals
- Federation of European Veterinary Societies for Compan- ion Animals (founding member)
- Veterinary Society of the Balkan and the Black Sea (found-ing member)

The HVMS has a total of 1220 members many of which have been distinguished in the scientific field (University Profes- sors, Researchers), in the Public Administration, in the Army as well as in the Professional Veterinary Societies and Chambers, in Greece and abroad.

Since 29 May 2001, having signed the contract and since 15 December 2002 the date on which the official opening celebration took place, the Hellenic Veterinary Medical Society is housed in its private premises in a beautiful and majestic one-floor apartment, on the 7th floor of a building in the centre of Athens at 158, Patission street, of 265m2 area, including main lobby (14m2), secretary (13m2), lecture room (91m2), the President's office (22m2), the Governing Board meeting room & library (44m2), the kitchen (18m2), two big baths, a storage room and a large veranda. Al the actions performed for possessing this new private office for the HVMS were performed during the presidency of Dr Theodoros Cl. Ananiadis and the following Governing Board:

President:	Theodoros Cl. Ananiadis†
Vice-President:	Veniamin Albalas
General Secretary:	Athanassios E. Tyrpenou
Spec. Secretary:	Konstantinos Chandras
Treasurer:	Olga Sabatakou
Member:	Emmanuel Archontakis
Member:	Apostolos Rantsios



Feline Epilepsy: An update

R.D. Baka¹, Z.S. Polizopoulou¹

¹Diagnostic Laboratory, School of Veterinary Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Thessaloniki, Greece

ABSTRACT: Epileptic seizures are the most common neurological disorder in the clinical setting. Their etiology is multifactorial and is mainly divided into structural, reactive and idiopathic epilepsy. Structural epilepsy can be caused by vascular events, inflammatory conditions (encephalitis), traumatic injuries, neoplasia, congenital and inherited (degenerative) disorders. Reactive epilepsy is caused by exposure in toxins or metabolic derangements. Although idiopathic epilepsy was thought to be rare in cats, it is now established as a common cause. Epileptic seizures in cats appear with various clinical presentations including generalized, focal with or without secondary generalization epileptic seizures. Diagnostic investigation is crucial in order to establish final diagnosis and to determine the therapeutic plan. Diagnostics include physical and neurological examination with detailed history (drug or toxin exposure), routine hematology (CBC, biochemistry, urinalysis), specific laboratory tests if concurrent or metabolic disease are suspected, advanced diagnostic imaging (CT/MRI) whether intracranial disease is suspected and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) analysis. Most commonly used antiepileptic drugs (AED) in cats are phenobarbital and levetiracetam. Bromide is contraindicated in cats due to severe respiratory disease caused as an adverse life-threatening reaction. Diazepam is an emergency AED used to eliminate cluster seizures or status epilepticus but it should be avoided as a long-term medication because it has been associated with fatal hepatotoxicity. Gabapentin in another potential antiepileptic drug however its longterm efficacy has to be evaluated. Prognosis depends on the underlying etiology and treatment response. In most cats quality of life is improved and (>50% reduction of epileptic seizures) regardless of etiology. The complete remission of epileptic seizures in cats is rare and most cats should be maintained on anti-epileptic therapy.

Keywords: antiepileptic treatment, epilepsy, feline, seizures

Corresponding Author: Rania D. Baka, Stavrou Voutyra str. 11, 54627, Thessaloniki, Greece E-mail address: raniadbaka@gmail.com Date of initial submission: 12-03-2019 Date of revised submission: 18-11-2019 Date of acceptance: 02-12-2019

ETIOLOGY OF SEIZURES IN CATS

E pileptic seizures are the most common neurological condition encountered in companion animal practice with an estimated prevalence (in a referral hospital population) of 0.5% to 3.5% in cats (Pakozdy et al., 2010).

Structural epilepsy appears when an underlying structural lesion or disease is identified (Bailey and Dewey, 2009). The major categories of structural epilepsy in cats include vascular events, inflammatory conditions/ encephalitis, infectious etiologies, traumatic injuries, neoplasia, congenital malformations and degenerative conditions (Bailey and Dewey, 2009).

Reactive seizures may result from a wide variety of extracranial causes, including toxins, drugs and metabolic disease (O' Brien, 1998). Similar findings are reported by Rusbridge (2005) and Barnes (2004), where hepatic encephalopathy was the predominant diagnosis in the metabolic group of diseases. However, Schriefl (2008) reports that the percentage of reactive seizures is higher. Kline (1998) indicated that reactive seizures due to hepatic encephalopathy occurred infrequently in cats. Thus, in cats presented with epileptic seizures history should focus on previous drug administration and potential exposure to toxins (O' Brien, 1998).

Hypertension occurs more frequently as a sequel of chronic kidney disease, hyperthyroidism or hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (Kline, 1998). Hypertensive cats more commonly present with retinopathy and blindness, but vascular changes in the brain may lead to arteriosclerosis, focal hemorrhage, epileptic seizures, ataxia, nystagmus, sudden collapse and paraparesis (O' Brien, 1998). Polycythemia can cause epileptic seizures, blindness, abnormal behavior aggression, ataxia, pupillary dilatation and ptyalism (Kline, 1998). Most cats with clinical signs will have a hematocrit of 63% or greater (Khanna and Bienzle, 1994; Watson et al., 1994). Uremia is a relatively uncommon cause of reactive seizures and is usually quite severe before inducing either focal or generalized seizures (Kline, 1998).

While reactive seizures present a serious clinical manifestation for many of these conditions, they can be controlled or eliminated if the underlying cause is detected and treated (O' Brien, 1998).

Inflammatory diseases have been reported to ac-

count for 32-44% of histologically confirmed central nervous system diseases in cats (Bradshaw et al., 2004; Rand et al., 1994). The most common cause of meningoencephalitis in cats is feline coronavirus, the etiological agent of feline infectious peritonitis (De Risio et al., 2012). Other known etiologies of feline meningoencephalitis are uncommon and include viruses such as feline immunodeficiency virus (FIV), feline leukemia virus (FeLV), feline parvovirus, pseudorabies virus/ porcine herpesvirus 1, rabies virus, Borna disease virus, West Nile virus, encephalomyocarditis virus, and protozoal, bacterial, rickettsial, fungal and parasitic agents (Gunn Moore, 2005; Schwab et al., 2007). In a large number of feline cases with central nervous disease, histopathological changes consistent with lymphohistiocytic (non-suppurative) meningoencephalitis are found (Schwab et al., 2007). Although, lymphohistiocytic meningoencephalitis is usually suggestive of viral infection, the causative agent is often not identified (De Risio et al., 2012). In lymphohistiocytic meningoencephalitis of unknown origin the clinical signs appear at a young age (2 years or less), and the progression is no longer than a couple of weeks (Gunn Moore, 2005; Rand et al., 1994). De Risio (2012) presented different evidence regarding the disease. More specifically, cats with lymphohistiocytic meningoencephalitis appeared with peculiar clinical signs (spastic gait, stiff tail), the onset of the disease was late (mean 9 years) and the progression of signs was very slow (mean 11 months). A causative agent could not be identified. Thus, the cats in this study had been affected by a unique, previously unreported condition (De Risio et al., 2012). MRI images of the brain must be evaluated carefully as many mass lesions regarded as tumors can be fungal or protozoal granulomas (Foster et al., 2001; Pfohl and Dewey, 2005). Brain abscesses due to bite wound were also identified in cats (Costanzo et al., 2011).

Ischemic cerebrovascular accidents rarely appear in cats and they are usually associated with concurrent disease (Whittaker et al., 2018). The prognosis is guarded, although this will be dependent on the severity and type of the relevant concurrent disease (Whittaker et al., 2018).

Head trauma is common in dogs and cats and typically results from kicks, bites, motor vehicle or missile object injuries (Braund, 2003). A relevant previous study indicated that brain injuries in cats were typically caused by crash accidents (Syring et al., 2001). Traumatic brain injury reportedly causes structural epilepsy in companion animals (Bailey and Dewey, 2009; Braund, 2003; Parent and Quesnel, 1996). Although epileptic seizures that appear as a result of traumatic brain injury are often refractory to antiepileptic treatment in humans (Herman, 2002), cats with medical history of mild to moderate head trauma had $\leq 5.6\%$ probability of developing post-traumatic epileptic seizures (Grohmann et al., 2012). However, clinicians are advised to monitor cats with history of head trauma for development of structural epilepsy (Grohmann et al., 2012).

The most common central nervous system neoplasm in cats is meningioma (Kline, 1998; Matoon and Wisner, 2004; Pakozdy et al., 2010). It can occur singly or in multiple sites (Kline 1998). Meningiomas typically affect the older feline patient (>8 years old), males are disproportionally affected over females (Gorden et al., 1996; Kornegay, 1991). Another neoplastic cause of primary or secondary central nervous system neoplasm is lymphoma (Kline, 1998). The signalment of cats with lymphoma differs from than with meningioma, in that these cats tend to be young to middle-aged (between 7-10 years old) (Kline, 1998).

Cats may develop obstructive hydrocephalus secondary to infectious diseases such as feline infectious peritonitis (FIP) (Lavely, 2014). Hydrocephalus can result from autosomal recessive inheritance in Siamese cats (Hoskins, 1990).

Structural epilepsy was more frequent than idiopathic epilepsy in cats (Pakozdy et al., 2010). Idiopathic epilepsy reflects conditions that have no underlying cause (Bailey and Dewey, 2009) and genetic mechanisms are the presumed etiology (Cunningham and Farnbach, 1987). Cats determined as having a seizure disorder with unidentified etiology are referred as idiopathic epileptics (Bailey and Dewey, 2009).

Idiopathic epilepsy is recognized in cats; however, cats are generally older at the onset of seizures than are dogs with idiopathic epilepsy (Bailey et al., 2008). Although idiopathic epilepsy was thought to be rare in cats (Bailey and Dewey, 2009; Berg and Scheffer, 2011;Kline, 1998;Pakozdy et al., 2010;Schrieflet al., 2008), new evidence suggest that between 21% and 59% of cases are idiopathic (Cizinauskas et al., 2011; Quesnel et al., 1997b; Schriefl et al., 2008), another study indicate a 25% of cats with seizures as having idiopathic epilepsy (Schriefl et al., 2008). Other authors have defined idiopathic epilepsy as inherited epilepsy (Parent and Quesnel, 1996; Quesnel et al.,

1997b; Shell, 2000).

In contrast to idiopathic epilepsy in dogs, whose diagnosis was based on age and normal clinicopathological testing, this should not be applied in cats (Schriefl et al, 2008). Additionally, idiopathic epilepsy in dogs is assumed to be genetic in origin but no information support such an assumption in cats (Pakozdy et al., 2010).

In many cases of feline epilepsy, an underlying cause of epileptic seizures was suspected but never proven ante-mortem (Kline, 1998). These include previous post-traumatic, post-inflammatory and post-ischemic lesions that were quiescent and non-progressive (Kline, 1998). This form of idiopathic epilepsy was probably more common than true idiopathic epilepsy in the cat (Parent and Quesnel, 1996).

CLINICAL SIGNS

Epileptic seizures can have a wide range of clinical signs and are not necessarily typical in all cases (Pakozdy et al., 2014). Seizure episodes can be generalized, with tonic-clonic movements as observed in dogs, focal, or focal evolving to generalized epileptic seizure (Bailey and Dewey, 2009; Berendt et al., 2015; Kline, 1998). Cats with focal seizures will twitch the eyelids, whiskers and/or ears either in combination or separately. Head shaking may occur as well as jerking of the body. They may salivate, urinate and their pupils may transiently dilate. Simultaneously, they may vocalize continuously and they may experience a temperature increase caused by hyperthermia (Kline, 1998). Focal episodes are frequently isolated or have a secondary generalization (Bailey and Dewey, 2009; Berendt et al., 2015). Focal continuous epileptic seizures occur more often as a presentation of status epilepticus in cats than in dogs (Kline, 1998).

Etiology was not associated with the type of seizure (Schriefl et al., 2008; Tokem et al., 2006). Idiopathic, generalized seizures are uncommonly observed in feline patients while partial and complex partial seizures prevail (Parent and Quesnel, 1996). Historically, focal epileptic seizures have been associated with structural lesion of the forebrain (Parent and Quesnel, 1996; Quesnel et al., 1997b), although the presence of focal lesions does not rule out a diagnosis of idiopathic epilepsy (Bailey and Dewey, 2009; Quesnel et al., 1997b; Schriefl et al., 2008). Tokem (2006) found that generalized epileptic seizures are the most common seizure pattern in cats with intracranial neoplasia. In feline idiopathic epilepsy, focal and generalized epileptic seizures occur with relatively equal frequency (Schriefl et al., 2008). Focal epileptic seizures occur with near equal frequency in cats with idiopathic and cats with structural epilepsy (Pakozdy et al., 2010; Quesnel et al., 1997b; Schriefl et al., 2008). The frequency of intracranial disease as the most common underlying cause of epileptic seizures in cats is controversial (Barnes et al., 2004; Finnerty et al., 2014; Quesnel et al., 1997a; Schriefl at el., 2008).

Furthermore, a new type of seizure in cats (audiogenic reflex seizures) have been described (Lawrie et al., 2016). This type of seizure was precipitated by sensory stimuli and especially by loud sounds (Lawrie et al., 2016). Clinically, they can appear as generalized tonic-clonic seizures, myoclonic jerks, clinical absences or presumed absence seizures (Lawrie et al., 2016).

Timmann (2008) found that the occurrence of epileptic seizures in FIP cats indicated extensive brain damage and can, therefore, be considered to be an unfavorable prognostic sign.

It was presumed that lunar cycle can affect the frequency of epileptic seizures however Browand-Stainback (2011) reported no difference in seizure occurrence in the different phases of lunar cycle in both dogs and cats.

DIAGNOSIS

The diagnostic work-up for an epileptic cat include a thorough history, clinical and neurological examination, clinicopathological evaluation and advanced imaging (Bailey and Dewey, 2009). The baseline laboratory investigation includes a complete blood count (CBC), serum biochemistry profile, thyroid profile, blood pressure monitoring, measurement of serum bile acids concentration and urinalysis (Bailey and Dewey, 2009). These non-invasive tests may help to diagnose reactive seizures and are useful in planning anesthesia for any advanced imaging (Bailey and Dewey, 2009).

A complete funduscopic examination is imperative in all cases (Gunn-Moore and Reed, 2011). Advanced diagnostics include magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) or computed tomography (CT) and potentially cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) analysis (Bailey and Dewey, 2009). However even in high-field MRI, small cerebrovascular or inflammatory lesions may not be visible and thus whether the etiology cannot be identified by the diagnostic work-up it does not necessary mean that epilepsy is idiopathic (Pakozdy et al., 2010). A CSF tap is indicated if the imaging is normal or suggestive of intracranial disease and the cat is believed to have normal intracranial pressure (Bailey and Dewey, 2009). If there is a space-occupying mass suspected or there is evidence of brain herniation, a CSF tap is contraindicated (Bailey and Dewey, 2009). Normal CSF is clear and colorless with fewer than 5 cells/ µl and less than 27mg/ dl protein (for a cisterna magna tap) (Bailey and Dewey, 2009). Abnormalities in CSF are very sensitive indicators of intracranial disease but they are not specific (Bailey and Dewey, 2009). However, when evaluated with CT/MRI, CSF analysis can be a helpful diagnostic tool (Bailey and Dewey, 2009). Bacterial cultures and infectious diseases titers (Cryptococcus, toxoplasmosis and FIP) may also be useful tests to perform on CSF (Dewey, 2006; Foster et al., 2001; Pfohl and Dewey, 2005; Timmann et al., 2008).

INDICATIONS TO START ANTIEPILEPTIC THERAPY

There is no consensus among veterinary neurologists about when antiepileptic treatment should be started (Pakozdy et al., 2014). It was suggested not to start antiepileptic treatment after a single epileptic seizure, but the occurrence of frequent epileptic seizures over a short period of time warrants treatment commencement (Platt, 2001). Others recommended aggressive treatment for cats after a few seizure episodes (Quesnel et al., 1997a). An aggressive early start of treatment can be beneficial as the cat could avoid cluster seizures and refractory epilepsy (Pakozdy et al., 2014). The decision to start the treatment should be taken on a case-by-case basis after considering the severity of epileptic seizure, ictal signs, risk of treatment, owner compliance, serum monitoring possibilities, and the difficulties with long-term oral application (Pakozdy et al., 2014). Maintenance therapy is specifically recommended when a cat presents with more than one seizure within 6 months (either generalized or focal), has more than one cluster event (defined as more than one seizure in a 24 h period), or experiences status epilepticus (ie, continuous seizure activity that lasts more than 5 minutes or the presence of multiple seizures without returning to normal in between the seizures) (Bailey and Dewey, 2009). Early AED administration in cats with suspected idiopathic epilepsy has been shown to lower the seizure

frequency within the first year of therapy (Pakozdy et al., 2012).

Therapy with antiepileptic drugs is recommended when epileptic seizures occur post-trauma (Bailey and Dewey, 2009). Grohmann (2012) found that cats with medical history of mild to moderate head trauma had $\leq 5.6\%$ probability of developing post-traumatic seizures. In another study, it was mentioned that the seizure could appear immediate after head trauma or delayed and thus the owners should be informed about the potential need for antiepileptic drug either at the time of the trauma or in the future (Kline, 1998).

It is strongly advised to treat cats with antiepileptic drugs when there is evidence of structural forebrain disease (obtained via MRI/CT, CSF analysis) such as neoplasia, infectious or non-infectious encephalitis, or congenital disease. Additional therapy is also warranted to treat the primary cause of the seizures; however, even after appropriate management (ie, surgery to remove a meningioma), AED administration is often necessary and is typically lifelong (Bailey and Dewey, 2009).

ANTIEPILEPTIC TREATMENT

Phenobarbital (PB) is the current drug of choice in cats with multiple seizure episodes (Berg et al., 2006; Dewey, 2006; Finnerty et al., 2014; Thomas and Dewey, 2008). It is available in both oral and intravenous formulations (Bailey and Dewey, 2009). Phenobarbital is relatively affordable and historically has a low incidence of adverse effects, thus PB is an excellent AED choice for cats (Parent and Quesnel, 1996; Platt, 2001;Schwartz-Porsche and Kaiser, 1989).There is one report in which adverse effect of PB in a cat is mentioned; it included depression, anorexia, cutaneous eruptions and severe generalized lymphadenopathy, the signs appeared 21 days after PB administration and resolved 7-14 days after PB discontinuation (Ducote et al., 1999). There are several studies supporting the efficacy of PB of seizure control in epileptic cats (Finnerty et al., 2014). Seizure control was achieved in most cats with serum PB concentrations between 15-45 µg/ml, regardless of the cause of the seizures (Finnerty et al., 2014).

There are few anecdotal reports on levetiracetam as an antiepileptic drug in the clinical setting (Bailey and Dewey, 2009). Levetiracetam was used as an adjunctive anticonvulsant therapy in cats with idiopathic epilepsy (Bailey et al., 2008). There was a marked reduction in seizure frequency (>50% reduction) and in some cases there were no seizures after levetiracetam initiation (Bailey et al., 2008). Levetiracetam is well tolerated in cats and may be useful as an adjunct to phenobarbital in cats with idiopathic epilepsy (Bailey et al., 2008). Levetiracetam proved to be a promising option as a sole antiepileptic treatment in cats with seizure disorders. Despite its association with the honeymoon period in dogs and people (brief decrease in the number of seizures, then return to a frequency similar to what occurred prior to levetiracetam initiation), it did not seem to desensitize cats for over a year after its first administration. (Bailey et al., 2008; Kinirons et al., 2006; Volk et al., 2007).

Although, oral diazepam has a longer elimination time in cats (15-20h) than in dogs (3-4h), and the cats do not appear to develop a functional tolerance to the drug, it has been associated with a potentially fatal idiosyncratic hepatotoxicosis (Center et al., 1996; Hughes et al., 1996).

Bromide has been associated with life-threatening idiosyncratic allergic pneumonitis, reported in 35-42% of cats (Boothe et al., 2002; Wagner, 2001). Further studies report that 40% of cats receiving potassium bromide developed moderate to severe bronchoalveolitis/ pulmonary fibrosis and some of those cats were euthanized due to severity of clinical signs (Folger, 2009).

Gabapentin is another potential AED (Thomas and Dewey, 2008) however, there are no published data regarding chronic gabapentin therapy in feline epilepsy (Pakozdy et al., 2012).

Most cats can improve their quality of life and reduce aggression through a successful control (>50% reduction of seizures) regardless of etiology. Although there are reports showing a long term survival time in epileptic cats (range 3-21 months) (Quesnel et al., 1997a), some others disagree (Barnes et al., 2004; Schriefl et al., 2008). Survival time was shorter in cats with structural epilepsy; however in the same study survival time was longer in cats with probable structural epilepsy (epilepsy without any extracranial or identified intracranial disease that is not suspected to be genetic in origin) (Barnes et al., 2004), indicating that the cause and the degree of the brain damage in structural epilepsy can influence survival time. Euthanasia was elected soon after a diagnosis was established due to poor prognosis (Barnes et al., 2004) in cats. Poor seizure control, despite appropriate AED administration was characterized as refractory epilepsy (Munana, 2013). Refractory epilepsy occurs in cats, less frequently than in dogs (Munana, 2013).

PROGNOSIS

Status epilepticus is a poor prognostic indicator in canine and feline epilepsy (Bateman and Parent, 1999; Schriefl et al., 2008). On the contrary, in epileptic dogs, the type of seizures was not associated with the survival time (Berendt et al., 2007).

Not only the number but also the severity of epileptic seizures is crucial (Pakozdy et al., 2012). It is possible that even a single epileptic seizure per year is harmful for patients because of its severity (status epilepticus, cluster seizures, prolonged post-ictal period); while other patients may not be affected by experiencing one epileptic seizure a week (Berg and Scheffer, 2011). For this reason it is important that not only the number of epileptic seizures, but also the adverse effects and the patient's quality of life are taken into account when evaluating control of epileptic seizures and effects of treatment, although naturally quality of life is a highly subjective variable (Pakozdy et al., 2012). The complete remission of epileptic seizures in cats is rare (Pakozdy et al., 2012) and most cats should be maintained on anti-epileptic therapy (Platt, 2001).

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

None declared.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research is co-financed by Greece and the European Union (European Social Fund- ESF) through the Operational Programme «Human Resources Development, Education and Lifelong Learning» in the context of the project "Strengthening Human Resources Research Potential via Doctorate Research" (MIS-5000432), implemented by the State Scholarships Foundation (IKY).



Operational Programme Human Resources Development, Education and Lifelong Learning Co-financed by Greece and the European Union



- Bailey KS, Dewey CW, Boothe DM, Barone G, Kortz GD (2008) Levetiracetam as an adjuct to phenobarbital treatment in cats with suspected idiopathic epilepsy. J Am Vet Med Assoc 232: 867-872.
- Bailey KS and Dewey CW (2009) The seizuring cat diagnostic work-up and therapy. J Feline Med Surg 11: 385-394.
- Barnes HL, Chrisman CL, Mariani CL, Sims M, Alleman A (2004) Clinical signs, underlying cause, and outcome in cats with seizures: 17 cases (1997-2002). J Am Vet Med Assoc 225:1723-1726.
- Bateman SW, Parent JM (1999) Clinical findings, treatment and outcome of dogs with status epilepticus or cluster seizures:156 cases (1990-1995). J Am Vet Med Assoc 215: 1463-1468.
- Berendt M, Gredal H, Ersbøll AK, Alving J (2007) Premature death, risk factors, and life patterns in dogs with epilepsy. J Vet Intern Med 21: 754-759.
- Berendt M, Farquhar RG, Mandigers PJJ, Pakozdy A, Bhatti SFM, De Risio L, Fischer A, Long S, Matiasek K, Munana K, Patterson EE, Penderis J, Platt S, Podell M, Potschka H, Pumarola MB, Rusbridge C, Stein VM, Tipold A, Volk HA (2015) International veterinary epilepsy task force consensus report on epilepsy definition, classification and terminology in companion animals. Vet Res 182: 1-11.
- Berg AT, Vickrey BG, Testa FM, Levy SR, Shinnar S, DiMario F, Smith S (2006)How long does it take for epilepsy to become intractable? A prospective investigation. Ann Neurol 60: 73–79.
- Berg AT, Scheffer IE (2011) New concepts in classification of the epilepsies: entering the 21st century. Epilepsia 52:1058–1062.
- Boothe DM, George KL, Couch P (2002) Disposition and clinical use ofbromide in cats. J Am Vet Med Assoc221:1131–1135.
- Bradshaw JM, Pearson GR Gruffydd-Jones TJ (2004) A retrospective study of 238 cases of neurological disorders of the cat. J Comp Pathol 131: 112–120.
- Braund KG, Clinical neurology in small animals: localization, diagnosis and treatment,2003, http://ww.ivis.org/advances/Vite/braund28/chapter frm.asp?LA=1#cranial [Accessed Jan15, 2019].
- Browand- Stainback L, Levesque D, McBee M (2011) Canine and Feline epileptic seizures and the lumar cycle: 2,507 seizures (2000-2008). J Am Anim Hosp Assoc, 47: 324-328.
- Center SA, Elston TH, Rowland PH, Rosen DK, Reitz BL, Brunt JE, Rodan I, House J, Bank S, Lynch LR, Dring LA, Levy JK(1996) Fulminant hepatic failure associated with oral administration of diazepam in 11 cats. J Am Vet Med Assoc 209: 618–625.
- Costanzo C, Garosi LS, Glass EN, Rusbridge C, Stalin CE, Volk HA (2011) J Feline Med Surg 13: 672- 680.
- Cizinauskas S, Fatzer R, Schenkel M, Gandini G, Jaggy A (2003) Can idiopathic epilepsy be confirmed in cats?. J Vet Intern Med 17: 246.
- Cuff DE, Bush WW, Stecker MM, Williams C (2014) Use of continuous encephalography for diagnosis and monitoring of treatment of nonconvulsive status epilepticus in a cat. JAm Vet Med Assoc 244: 708-714.
- Cunningham JG, Farnbach GC (1987) Inheritance and idiopathic canine epilepsy. J Am Anim Hosp Assoc 23:421-424.
- De Risio L, Brown R, Tennant B, Sparkes A, Matiasek L, De Stefani A, Weissenbock H, Matiasek K (2012) Slowly progressive lymphohistiocytic memingoencephalomyelitis in 21 adult cats presenting with peculiar neurological signs. J Feline Med Surg 14: 250-256.
- Dewey CW (2006) Anticonvulsant therapy in dogs and cats. Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract36:1107–1127.
- Ducote JM, Coates JR, Dewey CW, Kennis RA (1999) Suspected hypersensitivity to phenobarbital in a cat. J Feline Med Surg 1: 123-126.
- Finnerty K, Barnes HL, Mercier MN, Giovanella CJ, Lau VW, Rylander H (2014) Evaluation of therapeutic phenobarbital concentrations and application of a classification system for seizures in cats: 30 cats (2004-2013). J Am Vet Med Assoc 244: 195-199.
- Folger WR (2009) Treatment of the seizuring cat. J Feline Med Surg 11: 779.
- Foster SF, Charles JA, Parker G, Krockenberger M, Churcher RM, Malik R (2001) Cerebral cryptococcal granuloma in a cat. J Feline Med

Surg3:31-44.

- Gorden LE, Thacher C, Matthisen DT, Joseph RJ(1994) Results of craniotomy for the treatment of cerebral meningioma in 42 cases. Vet Surg 23:94-100.
- Grohmann K, Schmidt MJ, Moritz A, Kramer M (2012) Prevalence of seizures in cats after head trauma. J Am Vet Med Assoc 241: 1467-1470.
- Gunn-Moore D (2005)Infectious diseases of the central nervous system. Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract35: 103–128.
- Gunn-Moore D, Reed N (2011) CNS disease in the cat. J Feline Med Surg13: 824-836.
- Herman ST (2002) Epilepsy after brain insult: targeting epileptogenesis. Neurology 59:21–26.
- Hoskins JD (1990) Clinical evaluation of the kitten: from birth to eight weeks of age.Compend Contin Educ Pract Vet 12:1215–1225.
- Hughes D, Moreau RE, Overall KL, VanWinkle TJ (1996) Acute hepatic necrosis and liver failure associated with benzodiazepine therapy in six cats. J Vet Emerg Crit Care 6: 13–20.
- Khanna C, Bienzle D (1994) Polycythemia vera in a cat: bone marrow culture merythropoietln-deficient medium. JAn Am Hosp Assoc 30:45-49.
- Kinirons P, McCarthy M, Doherty CP, DelantyN (2006) Predicting drug-resistantpatients who respond to add-on therapy with levetiracetam. Seizure15:387–392.
- Kline KL (1998) Feline Epilepsy. Clin TechSmall Anim Pract 13: 152-158.
- Kluger EK, Malik R, Govendir M (2009) Veterinarian's preference for anticonvulsant drugs for treating seizure disorders in dogs and cats. Aust Vet J 87: 445-449.
- Kornegay JN (1991) Altered mental attitude, seizures, blindness, circling, compulsive walking. Forebrain diseases and multiple neurologic deficits. Problems in Vet Med 3:391-449.
- Lavely JA (2014) Pediatric seizure disorders in dogs and cats. Vet Clin Small Anim 44: 275-301.
- Lawrie M, Bessant C, Harvey RJ, Sparkes A, Garosi L (2016) Audiogenic reflex seizures in cats. J Feline Med Surg18: 328-336.
- Matton JS and Wisner ER (2004) What's under the cat's hat: Feline intracranial neoplasia and magnetic resonance imaging. J Vet Inetrn Med 18: 139-140.
- Munana KR (2013) Management of refractory epilepsy. Topics in Comp Anim Med 28: 67-71.
- O'Brien D (1998) Toxic and metabolic causes of seizures, Clin TechSmall Anim Pract 13: 159-166.
- Pakozdy A, Leschnik M, Sarchahi AA, Tichy AG, Thalmammer JG (2010) Clinical comparison of primary versus secondary epilepsy in 125 cats. J Feline Med Surg12: 910-916.
- Pakozdy A, Sarchahi AA, Leschnik M, Tichy AG, Halasz P, Thalhammer JG (2012) Treatment and long-term follow-up of cats with suspected primary epilepsy. J Feline Med Surg 0: 1-7.
- Pakozdy A, Halasz P, Klang A (2014) Epilepsy in cats: theory and practice J Vet Intern Med 28: 255-263.
- Parent JM, Quesnel AD (1996) Seizures in cats. Vet Clin North Am Small Anim Pract26: 811-825.
- Pfohl JC, Dewey CW (2005) Intracranial Toxoplasma gondiigranuloma in a cat. J Feline Med Surg7:369–374.
- Platt SR (2001) Feline seizure control. J Am Anim Hosp Assoc 37:515– 517.
- Quesnel AD, Parent JM, McDonell W (1997) Clinical management and outcome of cats with seizure disorders: 30 cases (1991–1993). J Am Vet Med Assoc 210:72–77(a).
- Quesnel AD, Parent JM, McDonell W, Percy D, Lumsden JH (1997) Diagnostic evaluation of cats with seizure disorders: 30 cases (1991– 1993). J Am Vet Med Assoc 210: 65–71(b).
- Rand JS, Parent J, Percy D and Jacobs R (1994) Clinical, cerebrospinal fluid, and histological data from twenty-seven cats with primary inflammatory disease of the central nervous system. Can Vet J 35: 103–110.

J HELLENIC VET MED SOC 2019, 70(4) ПЕКЕ 2019, 70(4)

- Rusbridge C (2005) Diagnosis and control of epilepsy in the cat. In Pract 27:208-214.
- Schriefl S, Steinberg TA, Matiasek K, Ossig A, Fenske N, Fischer A (2008) Etiologic classification of seizures, signalment, clinical signs, and outcome in cats with seizure disorders:91 cases (2000-2004). J Am Vet Med Assoc 233: 1591-1597.
- Schwab S, Herden C, Seeliger F, Papaioannou N, Psalla D, Polizopoulou Z, Braumgartner W (2007) Non-suppurative meningoencephalitis of unknown origin in cats and dogs: an immunohistochemical study. J Comp Pathol 136: 96–110.
- Schwartz-Porsche D, Kaiser E (1989) Feline epilepsy. Probl Vet Med1: 628–649.
- Shell LG (2000) Feline seizure disorders. In: Bonagura JD, Kirk's current Veterinary therapy XIII: small animal practice. WB Saunders Co, Philadelphia: pp 963–966.
- Syring RS, Otto CM, Drobatz KJ (2001) Hyperglycemia in dogs and cats with head trauma: 122 cases (1997–1999). J Am Vet Med Assoc 218:1124–1129.
- Thomas WB, Dewey CW (2008) Seizures and narcolepsy. In: Dewey

CW A practical guide to canine and feline neurology. 2nd ed. Wiley Blackwell, Ames: 193.

- Timmann D, Cizinauskas S, Tokem A, Doherr M, Vandeverde M, Jaggy A (2008) Retrospective analysis of seizures associated with Feline Infectious Peritonitis in cats. J Feline Med Surg 10: 9-15.
- Tokem A, Cizinauskas S, Doherr M, Gandini G, Jaggy A (2006) Intracranial neoplasia in 61 cats: localization, tumor types and seizure patterns. J Feline Med Surg 8: 243-253.
- Volk HA, Matiasek LA, Feliu-Pascual AL, Platt SR, Chandler KE (2008) The efficacy and tolerability of levetiracetam in pharmacoresistant epileptic dogs. Vet J176: 310-319.
- Wagner SO (2001) Lower airway disease in cats on bromide therapy for seizures. J Vet Intern Med15:562.
- Watson AD, Moore AS, Helfand SC (1994) Primary erythrocytes in the cat: treatment with hydroxyurea. J Small Anim Pract 35:320-325.
- Whittaker DE, Drees RBE (2018) MRI and clinical characteristics of suspected cerebrovascular accident in nine cats. J Feline Med Surg 20: 674-684.

Effect of a nanocomposite containing ostrich eggshell on calvarium healing in the rabbit: a pathologic study

H. Alemi¹, A. Asghari^{1*}, G. Abedi¹, A. Akbarzadeh^{2,3}, P. Mortazavi⁴

¹ Department of Clinical Science, Science and Research Branch, Islamic Azad University, Tehran, Iran

² Drug Applied Research Center, Tabriz University of Medical Sciences, Tabriz, Iran

³ Universal Scientific Education and Research Network (USERN), Tabriz, Iran

⁴ Department of Pathobiology, Science and Research Branch, Islamic Azad University, Tehran, Iran

ABSTRACT. The aim of the current study was to determine effect of a nanocomposite containing ostrich eggshell (NCOE) on the calvarium healing in the rabbit. Fresh ostrich eggshell was ground (300-500 µm), treated in phosphate-containing solutions and sterilized by gamma irradiation. Fifteen New Zealand white adult male rabbits were used. Four full-thickness skull defects were created in the calvarium. The first defect kept unfilled (control). The second defect was filled with autograft bone. The third defect was filled using NCOE. The fourth defect was filled with mixture of the autograft+NCOE bone. At 30, 60 and 90 days after surgery animals were euthanized and tissue specimens were collected and stained with hematoxylin eosin and trichrome staining method. Microsections were examined to assess the extent and intensity of inflammation, calvarium formation status and foreign body reaction. According to the results, filling defect significantly increased in NCOE-treated rabbits compared to the control group at 30 and 60 days post-surgery (P<0.05). There a statistically significant difference between experimental groups compared to the control group at 30 and 60 days post-surgery (P<0.05) while no statistically significant differences were observed among autograft, NCOE, autograft+NCOE (P>0.05). Also, absorb material significantly decreased in NCOE and autograft+NCOE groups compared to the control group at 60 days post-surgery (P<0.05). The filling defect significantly increased in autograft, NCOE and NCOE+autograft groups compared to the control group at 90 days post-surgery (P<0.05). There was no significant difference on inflammation and absorb material among the groups at 90 days post-surgery (P>0.05). These results suggested NCOE+autograft has improved the rate of calvarium healing in rabbits.

Keywords: Nano- composite, Ostrich eggshell, Calvarium autograft, Rabbit

Corresponding Author: A. Asghari, Department of Clinical Science, Science and Research Branch, Islamic Azad University, Tehran, Iran E-mail address: dr.ahmad.asghari@gmail.com

Date of initial submission: 28-08-2018 Date of revised submission: 28-03-2019 Date of acceptance: 02-04-2019

INTRODUCTION

n the last decade, guided tissue regeneration provided new research area in the bone reconstruction field (Lim et al., 2010). One of the most important factors is biocompatibility and degradation rate of the membranes (Lim et al., 2010). Autogenous bone grafts (ABG) are known as the gold standard and preferred augmentation material (Jones et al., 2010). The ABG has high compatibility with the host tissue and effective in bone graft healing without immune response (Lindhe et al. 2008). High costs donor and prolonged operation times are the disadvantages of the ABG (Jones et al., 2010). Combination of the bone grafts with other treatments enhances the engraftment, bone formation and defect healing (Marx, 2004). Application of the adjuvant bone graft as primary goal of guided bone regeneration (GBR) is an alternative method to promote bone regeneration without additional bone grafting (Yang et al., 2014). Several synthetic allografts have been used for bone regeneration, but there is growing interest to use natural allografts (Toker et al., 2012).

Avian egg shell contains calcium carbonate (97.4%), magnesium phosphate (1.9%) and triphosphate (0.7%) (Durmuş et al., 2008), however, the composition differs among species. The high mineral level can accelerate hydroxyapatite formation in bone regeneration (Leung et al., 2005). Also, eggshell matrix contains proteins (70%), Chondroitin sulphates A and B (35%) and polysaccharides (11%) (Dupoirieux et al., 1995). Dupoirieux et al., (2000) studied role of the pericranium and eggshell as space fillers used in combination with GBR in rat and no resorption or osteoconduction was revealed in eggshell powder of the hen eggshell had safe and inexpensive application in rabbit bone defect model (Dupoirieux et al., 1995). Application of the ostrich eggshell powder had no effect on bone regeneration in rabbits (Durmuş et al., 2003).

Large ostrich grafts are suitable as onlay graft, however a complementary osteosynthesis is suggested to improve osteointegration (Dupoirieux et al., 2001). Eggshell powder increased cell growth and tibia remodeling in dogs (Yadegari et al., 2015). Nanocomposites or nanomaterials contain high level of the collagen and hydroxyapatite and their application has drawn attention compared to bone grafts. There is scarce information on effects of the nanomaterials in bone formation. The small molecular structure of the nanocomposites increases the bioactivity of the materials used for bone defect healing and regeneration (Dupoirieux et al., 2001). This is due to composition and structural similarity with natural bone as well as larger surface area and superior mechanical strength (Biazar et al., 2015). Because of complexity of the osteoclast and osteoblasts and the other factors the clinicians were compelled to search for alternative bone graft substitutes in regenerating process in human (Dupoirieux et al., 2001). In a recent study, Alemi et al. (2018) showed that nanocomposite containing ostrich eggshell (NCOE) + autograft has positive effects on bone density without adverse effect on white and red blood cells hemoglobin, hematocrit, mean cell volume and platelets levels in rabbit. There is no information on role of the NCOE in bone formation in the rabbit. The aim of the current study was to determine effect of the NCOE on calvarium healing in rabbits.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals

Fifteen adult male New Zealand white rabbits (3-3.5 kg) were purchased from the Razi Vaccine and Serum Research Institute (Tehran, Iran) (Durmuş et al., 2008; Paknejad et al., 2015). For acclimatization the animals were kept in individual cages in the laboratory at constant and optimum environmental and nutritional conditions (22 °C, relative humidity 50%) with a 12-hour light/dark cycle. During the study animals provided ad libitum commercial chew pellet and tap water. Study procedures were done during the 10:00-17:00 h light phase and executed in accordance with the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals to Investigate Experimental Pain in Animals (Zimmermann, 1983) and National Institutes of Health (USA) and the current laws of the Iranian government. All experiment procedures were approved based on the guidelines for the animal care board of the Islamic Azad University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine and besides, the current study was approved by the university ethics committee (Ethic code:25876).

Ostrich eggshell preparation

Fragmented ostrich eggshells were immersed in boiling sterile distilled water and the outer and inner shell membranes of the eggs were removed with forceps. The shells were crushed and sieved until particles (particle diameter, 1mm; porosity, 75%) were obtained (Uraz et al., 2013). Ostrich eggshell ground the into 300-500 µm pieces using an electrical mill, washed 3 times with distilled water, dried and steril-

ized using ethylene oxide (Durmuş et al., 2003). The eggshell powder was immersed in sodium hypochlorite (5%) and then organic components were removed by sodium hydroxide solution (Durmuş et al., 2003). Eggshell powder subsequently washed in deionized water and heat-treated at 300 °C for 24 h. Then treated in phosphate-containing solutions with different hydrothermal conditions (Pastoureau et al., 2010). Soaked in sealed glass bottles containing phosphate buffer saline at 80 °C for 6 days (the solution replaced every 3 days) (Permuy et al., 2014), then soaked in Teflon lined reactor containing 2 wt % di-ammonium phosphate solution at 150 °C for 24 h, then transferred in a phosphate-containing solution (19.5 mM PO43, 30 mM Nab and 4.3 mM Kb) at 80 °C for 6 days (Permuy et al., 2014). All ostrich eggshell particles were sterilized by gamma irradiation before use (Permuy et al., 2014).

Preparation of nanocomposite containing ostrich eggshell

The composite was prepared from monomer loop polymerization in molten state and presence of a tin octoate catalyst. Capro-lactone with a molecular weight of 1000 was accurately weighed and placed in 3 span balloon equipped with Nitrogen gas inlet and outlet and heated by magnetic stirrer equipped. After melting the PEG, the molten catalysts of tin octoate (0.05 wt % of raw materials), added to begin the polymerization reaction and continued with gentle stirring and nitrogen gas flow. At the end of the polymerization, the solution was cooled to room temperature. Solid polymer was dissolved in dichloromethane and poured into a large volume of dry ethyl ether. The polymer was dried and solvent removed by a vacuum attached to the desiccator. Polycaprolactone nanocomposite-ostrich egg shell (PCL-HA) was prepared by particle flush and freeze drying (Park et al., 2008).

Sample characterization

The characteristics of the prepared samples (NCOE) were evaluated by scanning electron microscope (SEM), powder X-ray diffractometry (XRD, X'Pert-APD; Philips, Netherlands) (Park et al., 2008).

Surgical Protocol

Six hours prior the initiation of the study, animals were food deprived and 1 hour before surgery fasted from drinking. Then animals were anesthetized with an intramuscular (i.m) injection of ketamine hydrochloride 10% (Alafason, Woeden, Holland, 40mg/kg) and 2% xylazine (Alafason, Woeden, Holland, 5mg/ kg) and then were placed in sternal recumbency position on the operating table. The head of the rabbit was shaved and scalp prepared with povidone-iodine solution (Betoni-Junior et al., 2013). A longitudinal anteroposterior incision (10 cm) was made along the midline of the skull from the midpoint of the base of ears using No. 15 surgical blade. Before incising the periosteum, the skin was retracted by a surgical mosquito and then using a periosteal elevator periosteum was separated from the bone surface cranial to caudal. Four bone defects (internal 8 mm diameter) were created in the calvaria (Takauti et al., 2014). Defects were created on both sides of the sagittal suture without crossing the midline using electric 2000 rpm hand piece and 8 mm diameter milling round surgical trephine. To prevent overheating until holes reached the meningeal membrane (the soft meningeal membrane was palpable) 0.9% physiologic saline solution was used (Betoni-Junior et al., 2013). The first defect was maintained unfilled and kept as control. The second defect was filled with autograft bone derived from the site of the defect (Takauti et al., 2014). The third defect was filled using NCOE. The fourth defect was filled with mixture of the autograft + NCOE bone. The filling and placement of the material into the pits was done in a counter clockwise direction and without pressure to ensure the particles did not enter the meningeal space (Betoni-Junior et al., 2013). After placing the materials, the periosteum was sutured with 4/0 simple absorbable sutures (Polyglycolate coated, SUPA, Iran). The calvarium was sutured with 3/0 nylon sutures and skin was sutured with a single simple suture (Monofilament Polyamide, SUPA, Iran). After animal was coming out of anesthesia, they were transferred to a warm place until regaining full consciousness and then into cage. To prevent infection and relieve pain, day post-operative, cefazolin 1g, Exir, Iran (20 mg/kg; i.m) and tramadol 50 mg, Exir, Iran (20 mg/kg; i.m) were injected. If swelling or inflammation appeared in the surgery area, the sutures were removed and the presence of infection or discharge was evaluated but there were no complications in current study. Skin sutures were removed 10 days after surgery (Betoni-Junior et al., 2013).

Assessment of bone regrowth

At 30, 60 and 90 days after surgery, 5 animals were euthanized with pentobarbital (88mg/kg IV) and tissue specimens were collected in 10% for neutral buffered formalin solution to evaluate regrowth. After fixation, tissues were decalcified in 5% nitric acid. Then 5-micron sections were cut using a microtome (Leica RM 2145 Rotary, Germany) for processing and embedding of tissue. Then samples were stained with hematoxylin eosin [H&E] and trichrome staining method (Jörundsson et al. 1999). Microsections were examined with light microscope (Olympus, CX21i, Germany) and MOTIC camera and image analyser software version 1.6.0 to assess the extent and intensity of inflammation, formation status and foreign body reaction. For each section 10 microscopic fields were evaluated.

Evaluation of the formation

Inflammation was graded using a five-tiered grading system as follows: grade (0): no inflammatory mononuclear cells, (grade I): mild inflammation with mononuclear inflammatory cells (<25%), grade (II): presence of the focal mononuclear inflammatory cells (25-50%), grade (III): focal inflammation with presence of the mononuclear inflammatory cells (50-75%) and grade (IV): focal inflammation with presence of the high level of the mononuclear inflammatory cells (>75%). The filling of the defect determined by investigation of the newly formed bone trabecula inside the cannula using a nine-tried grading system as follows: (0): not filling, (I): just fibrous and low cartilage, (II) same percent of fibrous and cartilage, (III) low fibrous and high cartilage, (IV) just cartilage, (V) high cartilage and immature bone, (VI):same percent of cartilage and immature bone, (VII): low cartilage and high level of immature bone, (VIII): healed with immature bone and (VIIII): healed with mature bone. The remodeling was determined using a five-tiered score as follows: (0): not remodeling, (I): <25% remodeling, (II): 25-50% remodeling, (III): 50-75% remodeling and (IV): >75% remodeling. The material absorbance was determined using a 4 grading system as follows: (grade 0): not absorbed, (grade I): 25-50%, (grade II): 50-75% and (grade III) fully absorbed (Huo et al. 1991).

Statistical analysis

The parametric data analyzed with one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) using SPSS 16.0 for Windows (SPSS, Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Data were expressed as mean values \pm standard error of mean (SEM). Where heterogenecity occurred, the groups were separated using Duncan Multiple Range Test. The KruskaleWallis test was used to compare group medians for histopathological scores. P<0.05 was

considered to denote significant differences between groups.

RESULTS

The SEM image of the NCOE is presented in figure 1. The X-ray diffraction pattern of the NCOE is presented in figure 2. The NOCE showed different surface morphology platelet-like, needle-like, or rodlike microstructure.

Effects of NCOE on filling defect, inflammation, remodeling and absorb material on calvaria at 30 days post-surgery is presented in figure 3. Filling defect statistically increased in NCOE-treated rabbits compared to the control group at 30 days post-surgery (P<0.05). There were significant differences between experimental groups compared to the control group at 30 days post-surgery (P<0.05) while no statistical differences observed among autograft, NCOE, autograft + NCOE (P>0.05). The absorbed material significantly decreased in experimental groups compared to control group. No statistically significant differences observed between NCOE and autograft + NCOE (P>0.05).

Effects of the NCOE on filling defect, inflammation, remodeling and absorb material on calvaria at 60 days post-surgery is presented in figure 4. Significant increase was observed on filling defect in NCOE compared to the control group (P<0.05). Significant increase observed on inflammation in experimental groups compared to the control group (P<0.05) while no statistical differences observed among autograft, NCOE, autograft + NCOE (P>0.05). Also, absorb material significantly decreased in NCOE and autograft + NCOE groups compared to the to the control group at 60 days post-surgery (P<0.05).

The filling defect significantly increased in autograft, NCOE and NCOE + autograft groups compared to the control group at 90 days post-surgery (P<0.05). There was no statistical significant difference on inflammation and absorb material among the groups at 90 days post-surgery (figure 5) (P>0.05). The histological images of the tissue at 30, 60 and 90 days post-surgery are presented in figures 6-17.



Figure 1. The electron microscope image of the ostrich Eggshell nanocomposite



Figure 2. X-ray diffraction patterns of the NCOE. Arrows indicate the peaks of hydroxyapatite



Figure 3. Effects of the NCOE on filling defect, inflammation, remodeling and absorb material on calvaria bone at 30 days post-surgery (P<0.05). NCOE: nanocomposite containing ostrich eggshell



Figure 4. Effects of the NCOE on filling defect, inflammation, remodeling and absorb material on calvaria bone at 60 days post-surgery (P<0.05). NCOE: nanocomposite containing ostrich eggshell



Figure 5. Effects of the NCOE on filling defect, inflammation, remodeling and absorb material on calvaria bone at 90 days post-surgery (P<0.05). NCOE: nanocomposite containing ostrich eggshell



Figure 6. Control group (30 day) that is filled with a large amount of fibrous tissue (arrows). A part of the normal calvarium bone (N) is seen. Control group (30 day) that is filled with a large amount of fibrous tissue (arrows). A part of the normal calvarium bone (N) is seen (left: H&E, Right: Masson trichrome, $40\times$)



Figure 7. Autograft group (30-day) with a large amount of cartilage (arrow head) and a few fibrous tissue (arrows) that filled defect. A part of the normal bone (N) is seen. Autograft group (30-day) with a large amount of cartilage (arrow head) and a few fibrous tissue (arrows) that filled defect. A part of the normal bone (N) is seen (left: H&E, Right: Masson trichrome, $40 \times$)



Figure 8. Nano group (30-day) that the defect filled with a large amount of immature bone tissue (arrow head) and a few amount of cartilage tissue (arrow). Nano group (30-day) that the defect filled with a large amount of immature bone tissue (arrow head) and a few amount of cartilage tissue (arrow) (left: H&E, Right: Masson trichrome, 100×)



Figure 9. Nano autograft group (30-day) that the defect filled with a large amount of immature bone tissue (arrow head) and a few amount of cartilage tissue (arrow). Nano autograft group (30-day) that the defect filled with a large amount of immature bone tissue (arrow head) and a few amount of cartilage tissue (arrow) (left: H&E, Right: Masson trichrome, 100×)



Figure 10. Control group (60-day) that the defect filled with a large amount of cartilage tissue (arrow head) and immature bone tissue (arrow). Control group (60-day) that the defect filled with a large amount of cartilage tissue (arrow head) and immature bone tissue (arrow) (left: H&E, Right: Masson trichrome, 100×)



Figure 11. Autograft group (60-day) that the defect filled with a large amount of cartilage tissue (arrow head) and few immature bone tissues (arrow). Autograft group (60-day) that the defect filled with a large amount of cartilage tissue (arrow head) and few immature bone tissues (arrow) (left: H&E, Right: Masson trichrome, $40 \times$)



Figure 12. Nano group (60-day) that the defect filled with a large amount of immature bone tissue (arrow). Nano group (60-day) that the defect filled with a large amount of immature bone tissue (arrow) (left: H&E, 40×, Right: Masson trichrome, 400×)



Figure 13. Nano autograft group (60-day) that the defect filled with a large amount of immature bone tissue (arrow head) and few cartilage tissues (arrow). Nano autograft group (60-day) that the defect filled with a large amount of immature bone tissue (arrow head) and little cartilage tissue (arrow) (left: H&E, 40×, Right: Masson trichrome, 400×)



Figure 14. Control group (90-day) that the defect filled with a large amount of immature bone tissue (arrow). Control group (90-day) that the defect filled with a large amount of immature bone tissue (arrow) (left: H&E, Right: Masson trichrome, 40×)



Figure 15. Autograft group (90-day) that the defect filled with a large amount of immature bone tissue (arrow). Autograft group (90-day) that the defect filled with a large amount of immature bone tissue (arrow) and few cartilage tissues (arrow head) (left: H&E, 40×, Right: Masson trichrome, 100×)



Figure 16. Nano group (90-day) that the defect filled with only large amount of immature bone tissue (arrow). Nano group (90-day) that the defect filled with large amount of immature bone tissue (arrow) (left: H&E, Right: Masson trichrome, 400×)



Figure 17. Nano-autograft group (90-day) that the defect filled with large amount of immature bone tissue (arrow). Nano-autograft group (90-day) that the defect filled with large amount of immature bone tissue (arrow) and little cartilage tissue (arrow head) (left: H&E, 40×, Right: Masson trichrome, 400×)

Table 1. Criteria for scoring histological sections			
Score	Parameter	Criteria	
	Newly formed vessels	None	
0	Numbers of fibroblasts	None to very minimal	
	Osteoid (bone matrix)	None	
	Bone	None	
	Newly formed vessels	Few blood vessels	
1	Numbers of fibroblasts	Few fibroblasts	
	Osteoid (bone matrix)	Evidence of matrix osteoid	
	Bone	Evidence of bone formation	
	Newly formed vessels	Moderate blood vessels number	
2	Numbers of fibroblasts	Predominantly fibroblasts	
	Osteoid (bone matrix)	Moderate bone matrix deposited	
	Bone	Moderate bone cells	
	Newly formed vessels	Extensive blood vessels	
3	Numbers of fibroblasts	Fewer number of fibroblasts	
	Osteoid (bone matrix)	Dense highly organized bone matrix	
	Bone	Extensive bone cells	

J HELLENIC VET MED SOC 2019, 70(4) ПЕКЕ 2019, 70(4)

DISCUSSION

There is growing interest on producing new biocompatible materials from animal products in regeneration (Kattimani et al., 2014). Avian eggshell has similar physical characteristics to the GBR for space filling (Krishna et al., 2007). Additionally, ostrich eggshell has better effect in regeneration physical characteristics (Kattimani et al., 2014). To determine accuracy of the new biocompatible materials for bone healing, bilateral calvarial defect is the common method because of easy handling and low morbidity by minimize damage to the superior sagittal sinus (Park et al., 2008). In the defects we used bilateral calvarial defect to determine effect of the NCOE on calvaria healing in rabbit. According to the results, filling defect significantly increased in NCOE-treated rabbits compared to the control group at 30- and 60-days post-surgery (P<0.05). There was significant difference between experimental groups compared to the control group at 30- and 60-days post-surgery while no differences observed among autograft, NCOE, autograft + NCOE (P>0.05). Also, absorb material significantly decreased in NCOE and autograft + NCOE groups compared to the to the control group at 60 days post-surgery. The filling defect significantly increased in autograft, NCOE and NCOE + autograft groups compared to the control group at 90 days post-surgery (P<0.05). There was no significant difference on inflammation and material absorption among the groups at 90 days post-surgery (P>0.05). The biocompatibility of the filling defect is based on reaction of the surrounding tissue (Yadao et al., 2004). The biocompatibility of the eggshell was expected because the calcium carbonate, as main component of the bone (Yadao et al., 2004). Dense alloplastic materials have higher incidence of extrusion compared to bone grafts (Zingg et al., 1991). The lack of porosity in eggshell implant inhibits the invasion of fibro-vascular network that could help anchor the implant to the underlying bone (Zingg et al., 1991). No change was observed in bone resorption and eggshell graft placed in the craniofacial region of the rabbits 5-20 weeks after implantation (Yadao et al., 2004).

On evaluation of bone healing with eggshell-derived bone graft substitutes in rat calvaria, Park et al. (2008), reported eggshell-treated animal had greater new bone formation and mineralized bone-to-graft contact of surface-modified. Biodegradability and microporous surface structure of bone has key role in bone healing (Park et al., 2008). Biphasic calcium phosphate ceramics has higher osteoconduction than stable hydroxyapatite because of its biodegradability in body fluids and surface microstructures (Furlaneto et al., 2007). Microporosity affects the dissolution rate of bone substitutes in biological fluids (Daculsi et al., 2003). Surface microstructure improves adsorption of proteins and fibronectin which affects cell adhesion, cell proliferation and differentiation. So, based in the above, nano-composite form of the ostrich eggshell was used. Hydrothermal phosphate solutions achieved partial conversion of the particulated hen eggshell to calcium-deficient hydroxyapatite (Rouahi et al., 2006). Calcium-deficient hydroxyapatite has higher biodegradability and rapid surface apatite layer formation and bone bonding (Barrere et al., 2003). These surface properties might contribute to the increased osteoconduction of hydrothermally treated eggshell in the healing of rat calvarial defects (Barrere et al., 2003). The formulations of eggshell used as mineral and trace element supplying agent (Kattimani et al., 2014). In role of the eggshell-derived bone graft substitutes on bone healing in rats, it is reported eggshell-derived bone graft enhances the new bone formation (Uraz et al., 2013).

Small degradation time, poor mechanical possessions and low integrated biological components lead in inability to form, maintain and actively support tissue remodeling. Ostrich shell membranes has gradual degradation than collagen membranes (Park et al., 2008). The main factor for an osteoconductive material is the particle size and foreign body reaction. Based on findings of the current study, no foreign body reaction was observed using NCOE. Based on radiologic report, 50 and 75 µm chick eggshell particles fully absorbed after 60 days and 150-300 µm particles resorbed after 4 months (Dupoirieux et al., 2001). Soluble eggshell matrix proteins are critical for calcium transport (Yadegari et al., 2015). Bone formation and remodelling are controlled by non-collagenous proteins of the bone matrix. Non-collagenous proteins of the bone matrix regulate formation and remodeling (Yadegari et al., 2015). During the chicken eggshell formation, these matrix proteins have effect on calcite crystal morphology. Transforming growth factor β1, lectin-like proteins and Calbindin (calcium binding protein) is isolated form eggshell and stimulate bone formation (Yadegari et al., 2015). Durmus, et al., (2003), reported application of the eggshell powder, the outer and inner ostrich eggshell membranes produced little adjunctive effect. Ococalyxin and ovocleidin are eggshell specific proteins and has the eggshell formation in hen's uterus during the chick-

en embryonic development (Neunzehn et al., 2015). Eggshell is ideal source for hydroxyapatite and calcium carbonate (Neunzehn et al., 2015) which promotes the vascularization and wound procedure in the defect edges (Abdulrahman et al., 2014). Eggshell-derived graft substitutes enhance the new bone formation and higher levels of osteoid formation in the eggshell grafted defects (Uraz et al., 2013). It is suggested enhanced bone regeneration in the defect margins (Baliga et al., 1998) which our result was similar to their report. No inflammation, encapsulation and foreign body reaction reported 3 months after treatment, with larger eggshell particles in dog tibial (Yadegari et al., 2015) which our finding was similar to this report. Using standardized defects (8mm diameters) in the parietal bones of rabbit calvaria allowed large increases in their interface with bone graft materials without any effect on the other defects (Takauti et al., 2014).

In conclusion, bone defects occur because of the

medical operations, social and economic problems in human (Durmuş et al., 2003). These results suggested NCOE + autograft has positive effects on calvaria healing in rabbit. It seems NCOE has potential efficacy of osteoconductive bone substitute in a rat calvarial defect model. Bone regeneration includes several intra cellular and extra cellular signaling pathways which lead to osteoinduction and osteoconduction to increase bone regeneration in human. It seems, merit researches needed to determine direct cellular and molecular mechanisms of action for further application of the NCOE in clinical trials.

ETHICAL ISSUES

All protocol of the study was approved by ethic committee of Islamic Azad University, Science and Research Branch, Tehran, Iran.

CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

Authors declare no conflict of interest.

REFERENCES

- Abdulrahman I, Tijani HI, Mohammed BA, Saidu H, Yusuf H, Ndejiko Jibrin M, et al. From garbage to biomaterials: an overview on egg shell based hydroxyapatite. J Material 2014;2014.
- Alemi H, Asghari A, Abedi G, Akbarzadeh A, Mortazavi P. The Effects of Nanocomposite Containing Ostrich Eggshell on Calvaria Bone Formation in Rabbit: Radiographic and Hematological Survey. Crescent J Med Biol Sci 5(2).
- Baliga M, Davies P, Dupoirieux L. Powdered eggshell in the repair of cystic cavities of the jaw. Preliminary study. Rev Stomatol Chir Maxillofac 1998;99:86-8.
- Barrere F, van der Valk CM, Dalmeijer RA, Meijer G, van Blitterswijk CA, de Groot K, et al. Osteogenecity of octacalcium phosphate coatings applied on porous metal implants. J Biomed Material ResPart A 2003;66(4):779-88.
- Betoni-Junior W, Dechichi P, Esteves JC, Zanetta-Barbosa D, Magalhães AEO. Evaluation of the bone healing process utilizing platelet-rich plasma activated by thrombin and calcium chloride: a histologic study in rabbit calvaria. J Oral Implantol 2013;39(1):14-21.
- Biazar E, Heidari Keshel S, Tavirani MR, Jahandideh R. Bone reconstruction in rat calvarial defects by chitosan/hydroxyapatite nanoparticles scaffold loaded with unrestricted somatic stem cells. Artificial cells Nanomed Biotechnol 2015;43(2):112-6.
- Daculsi G, Laboux O, Malard O, Weiss P. Current state of the art of biphasic calcium phosphate bioceramics. J Material Sci Material Med 2003;14(3):195-200.
- Dupoirieux L, Pourquier D, Neves M, Téot L. Resorption kinetics of eggshell: an in vivo study. J Craniofac Surg 2001;12(1):53-8.
- Dupoirieux L, Pourquier D, Souyris F. Powdered eggshell: a pilot study on a new bone substitute for use in maxillofacial surgery. J Cranio-Maxillofacial Surg1995;23(3):187-94.
- Durmuş E, Celik I, Aydın MF, Yıldırım G, Sur E. Evaluation of the biocompatibility and osteoproductive activity of ostrich eggshell powder in experimentally induced calvarial defects in rabbits. Journal of Biomedical Material Res Part B: Appl Biomaterial 2008;86(1):82-9.

Durmuş E, Celik I, Ozturk A, Ozkan Y, Aydin M. Evaluation of the po-

tential beneficial effects of ostrich eggshell combined with eggshell membranes in healing of cranial defects in rabbits. J Int Med Res 2003;31(3):223-30.

- Furlaneto FA, Nagata MJ, Fucini SE, Deliberador TM, Okamoto T, Messora MR. Bone healing in critical-size defects treated with bioactive glass/calcium sulfate: a histologic and histometric study in rat calvaria. Clin Oral Implant Rres 2007;18(3):311-8.
- Jones MD, Tran CW, Li G, Maksymowych WP, Zernicke RF, Doschak MR. In vivo microfocal computed tomography and micro-magnetic resonance imaging evaluation of antiresorptive and antiinflammatory drugs as preventive treatments of osteoarthritis in the rat. Arthritis Rheumatol 2010;62(9):2726-35.
- Huo MH, Troiano NW, Pelker RR, Gundberg CM, Friedlaender GE. The influence of ibuprofen on fracture repair: biomechanical, biochemical, histologic, and histomorphometric parameters in rats. J Orthop Res 1991; 9(3):383-90.
- Jörundsson E, Lumsden JH, Jacobs RM. Rapid staining techniques in cytopathology: a review and comparison of modified protocols for hematoxylin and eosin, Papanicolaou and Romanowsky stains. Vet Clin Pathol. 1999; 28(3): 100-108.
- Kattimani VS, Chakravarthi PS, Kanumuru NR, Subbarao VV, Sidharthan A, Kumar TS, et al. Eggshell derived hydroxyapatite as bone graft substitute in the healing of maxillary cystic bone defects: a preliminary report. Journal of international oral health: JIOH. 2014;6(3):15.
- Krishna DSR, Siddharthan A, Seshadri S, Kumar TS. A novel route for synthesis of nanocrystalline hydroxyapatite from eggshell waste. J Mater Sci Mater Med 2007;18(9):1735-43.
- Leung JY, Ho AY, Ip T, Lee G, Kung AW. The efficacy and tolerability of risedronate on bone mineral density and bone turnover markers in osteoporotic Chinese women: a randomized placebo-controlled study. Bone 2005;36(2):358-64.
- Lim HC, Sohn JY, Park JC, Um YJ, Jung UW, Kim CS, et al. Osteoconductive effects of calcium phosphate glass cement grafts in rabbit calvarial defects. J Biomed Material Res Part B: Applied Biomaterial 2010;95(1):47-52.

J HELLENIC VET MED SOC 2019, 70(4) ПЕКЕ 2019, 70(4)

- Lindhe J, Nyman S, Ericsson I, Lindhe J, Lang N, Karring T. Trauma from occlusion: Periodontal tissues. Lindhe J, Lang NP, Karring T. Clinical Periodontology and Implant Dentistry 5th ed Oxford: Blackwell Munksgaard. 2008:363-73.
- Marx RE. Platelet-rich plasma: evidence to support its use. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2004;62(4):489-96.
- Neunzehn J, Szuwart T, Wiesmann H-P. Eggshells as natural calcium carbonate source in combination with hyaluronan as beneficial additives for bone graft materials, an in vitro study. Head Face Med 2015;11(1):12.
- Paknejad M, Rokn A, Rouzmeh N, Heidari M, Titidej A, Kharazifard MJ, et al. Histologic evaluation of bone healing capacity following application of inorganic bovine bone and a new allograft material in rabbit calvaria. J Dent (Tehran, Iran). 2015;12(1):31.
- Park JW, Bae SR, Suh JY, Lee DH, Kim SH, Kim H, et al. Evaluation of bone healing with eggshell-derived bone graft substitutes in rat calvaria: A pilot study. J Biomed Material Res Part A 2008;87(1):203-14.
- Pastoureau P, Hunziker EB, Pelletier J-P. Cartilage, bone and synovial histomorphometry in animal models of osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 2010;18:S106-S12.
- Permuy M, Guede D, López-Peña M, Muñoz F, González-Cantalapiedra A, Caeiro J-R. Effects of glucosamine and risedronate alone or in combination in an experimental rabbit model of osteoarthritis. BMC Vet Res 2014;10(1):97.
- Rouahi M, Gallet O, Champion E, Dentzer J, Hardouin P, Anselme K. Influence of hydroxyapatite microstructure on human bone cell response. J Biomed Material Res Part A 2006;78(2):222-35.

- Takauti ACY, Futema F, de Brito Junior RB, Abrahão AC, Costa C, Queiroz C. Assessment of bone healing in rabbit calvaria grafted with three different biomaterials. Brazilian Dental Journal, 25(5): 379-384.
- Toker H, Ozdemir H, Ozer H, Eren K. A comparative evaluation of the systemic and local alendronate treatment in synthetic bone graft: A histologic and histomorphometric study in a rat calvarial defect model. Oral surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol. 2012;114(5):S146-S52.
- Uraz A, Gultekin SE, Senguven B, Karaduman B, Sofuoglu IP, Pehlivan S, et al. Histologic and histomorphometric assessment of eggshell-derived bone graft substitutes on bone healing in rats. J Clin Exper Dent 2013;5(1):e23.
- Yadao RA, Lim GD, Pe LC, Valdez AM, Cristobal S, Sunico ATC, et al. Ostrich eggshell as an onlay bone-graft substitute for orbital blow-out fractures. Philippine J Ophthalmol 2004;29(3):127-30.
- Yadegari M, Karimi M, Sheishi P, Derakhshan S. A radiographic survey of eggshell powder effect on tibial bone defect repair tested in dog. Human Vet Med 2015;7(4):392-6.
- Yang C, Unursaikhan O, Lee JS, Jung UW, Kim CS, Choi SH. Osteoconductivity and biodegradation of synthetic bone substitutes with different tricalcium phosphate contents in rabbits. J Biomed Material Res Part B: App Biomaterial 2014;102(1):80-8.
- Zimmermann M. Ethical guidelines for investigations of experimental pain in conscious animals. Pain 1983;16(2):109-10.
- Zingg M, Chowdhury K, Lädrach K, Vuillemin T, Sutter F, Raveh J. Treatment of 813 zygoma-lateral orbital complex fractures: New aspects. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg 1991;117(6):611-20.

Occurrence of *Campylobacter*, *Salmonella*, and *Arcobacter* in pet birds of northern Iran

S. Seifi¹, R. Khoshbakht¹, A. Azizpour²

¹Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Amol University of Special Modern Technologies, Amol, Iran

² Meshginshahr Faculty of Agriculture, University of Mohaghegh Ardabili, Ardabil, Iran

ABSTRACT. Pet birds can harbor human pathogens and contribute to the transmission of infectious agents to human. Since many people are interested in keeping pet birds, this study was conducted in pet birds from Mazandaran province, northern Iran. Totally, 174 fecal samples of pet birds (cockatiel, canary, lovebird, parrot, mynah, goldfinch, budgerigar, macaw, dove, pigeon, and bulbul) were collected with sterile cotton swabs and submitted to Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Pathobiology (Amol, Iran). After extraction of total DNA, the samples subjected to molecular detection of the Campylobacter, *Salmonella*, and *Arcobacter* using polymerase chain reaction. A total of 114 (65.5%), 28 (16%), and 86 (49.4%) samples were found positive for *Campylobacter*, *Salmonella*, and *Arcobacter*, respectively. Furthermore, some birds showed contamination with two or all three of these bacteria. Results showed that mentioned bacteria can be detected from the apparently healthy pet birds. Therefore pet birds can be considered as potential carriers of these enteropathogens.

Keywords: Pet birds, Enterophatogens, PCR, Fecal samples

Corresponding Author: Saeed Seifi, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Amol University of Special Modern Technologies, 24th Aftab, Imam Khomeini Street, Amol, Iran E-mail address: s.seifi@ausmt.ac.ir

Date of initial submission: 20-04-2019 Date of revised submission: 19-05-2019 Date of acceptance: 20-05-2019

INTRODUCTION

Infectious diarrhea is a major concern for public health worldwide and it caused by contamination of water and food with pathogenic bacteria, viruses, or parasites. Diarrheal disease is the primary cause of morbidity and mortality among children in developing countries (Kotloff et al., 2013). The common bacteria agents causing diarrhea are *E.coli, Salmonella, Campylobacter* and with less importance *Arcobacter* (Neupane et al., 2017). Pet birds have an important role as potential vectors of disease, especially regarding human health. People especially children and the elderly interests to keep pet birds, thus there is potential ability to transmit mentioned pathogens to humans.

In recent years, an increased number of human infections with bacteria of the Campylobacter type are observed (Grzybowska-Chlebowczyk et al., 2013). Worldwide, campylobacteriosis is the most commonly reported enteric bacterial infection in the human population in developed countries (Lyngstad et al., 2008). Although poultry products are important transmission vehicles to humans, the bacterium is common in pet birds, which live in close contact with humans (Griekspoor et al., 2013). Birds are ideal hosts for campylobacters, due to their relatively high body temperature (42 °C), also, the occurrence of Campylobacter spp. in the gut of apparently healthy birds has frequently been reported (Lillehaug et al., 2005). Transmission to humans can occur by aerosols, direct or indirect contact (Belén et al., 2010).

Salmonellosis is an important zoonotic infection seen in all species of animals. A variety of *Salmonella* species have been found in both apparently healthy and obviously diseased birds (Benskin et al., 2009). Transmission to humans was reported in different cases. Salmonellae in humans can cause enteric fever (typhoid) resulting from bacterial invasion of the bloodstream, and acute gastroenteritis resulting from food-borne infection/intoxication (Boseret et al., 2013).

Arcobacter spp. have been considered as potential zoonotic foodborne and waterborne agents and can be found in meat (veal, beef, pork and poultry), milk and water (Lehner et al., 2005). Infection in human patients causes diarrhea, abdominal pain and other symptoms including nausea, vomiting and fever. No association of *Arcobacter* with pathologies in poultry has been reported (Vandenberg et al., 2004).

Understanding the spread of bacterial pathogens in pet birds may help as a useful model for examining the spread of other disease organisms, both amongst birds, and from birds to other species. Thus, the aim of this study was to molecular identification of *Campylobacter*, *Salmonella*, and *Arcobacter* from pet or companion birds.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Sampling: From July to November 2017, 174 fecal swab samples were collected from different species of the companion birds. Fantail pigeon (Columba livia) were the most represented species with 19.5% of the samples, followed by Budgerigar (Melopsittacus undulatus) with 11.5%, White-eared bulbul (Pycnonotus leucotis) 10.3%, Goldfinch (Carduelis carduelis) 9.1%, Cockatiel (Nymphicus hollandicus) 8%, Common mynah (Acridotheres tristis) 6.8%, and Rock pigeon (Columba livia) 5.7%. Other bird species composed less than 30% of the samples. All samples placed in separate sterile plastic bags to prevent spills and cross contamination and immediately transported to the laboratory in a cooler with ice packs. All birds were apparently in healthy condition and none received any antimicrobial treatment during the study period.

DNA extraction and PCR: The cotton swabs were placed in 1.5-ml tubes in 300 µl peptone water and vortexed thoroughly. Fifty microliters of each fecal suspension was used as input for the DNA extraction procedure. DNA extraction was done using stool DNA extraction kit (Bioneer, Daejeon, South Korea) according to the manufacturer recommendations with some modifications. Briefly, 100 mg of each pooled sample was mixed with 20 µl proteinase K and incubated for 10 min at 55 °C. After centrifugation of the mixture at 13000 rpm, the supernatant was mixed with 200 µl binding solution in a new tube and incubated again for 10 min at 60 °C. After incubation, 100 µl isopropanol was added to the tube and then the liquid transferred into the binding column, and centrifuged for 1 min at 8000 rpm. This step was repeated using 500 µl for both washing buffer 1 and 2; then, DNA was precipitated using 100 µl elution buffer and centrifugation at 13000 rpm for 1 min. Extracted DNA was kept at -20 °C until use in PCR. Conventional PCR reaction was done for detection of Salmonella spp., Arcobacter spp., and Campylobacter genus using specific primers (Table 1).

Table 1. The primers used in this study for detection of <i>Satimonetia</i> , Campytobacter and Arcobacter					
Primer sequence (5' to 3')	Target gene	Annealing temperature (°C)	Product size (bp)		
F:ATCTAATGGCTTAACCATTAAAC	16S rRNA	50	875		
R: GGACGGTAACTAGTTTAGTAT	(Campylobacter spp.)	39	075		
F: GTGAAATTATCGCCGCCACGTTCGAA	Inv A	50	284		
R: TCATCGCACCGTCAAAGGAACC	(Salmonella spp.)	38	204		
F: AGAACGGGTTATAGCTTGCTAT	16S rRNA	4.4	101		
R: GATAVAATACAGGCTAATCTCT	(Arcobacter spp.)	44	101		

 Table 1. The primers used in this study for detection of Salmonella, Campylobacter and Arcobacter

The PCR reaction mixtures consisted of 100 ng DNA template, 2.5 µl 10x PCR buffer (75 mM Tris HCl, pH 9.0, 2 mM MgCl2, 50 mM KCl, 20 mM (NH4)2SO4; Bioneer, Daejeon, So uth Korea), 0.2 mM dNTPs (Bioneer, Daejeon, South Korea), 1.5 U AmpliTag DNA polymerase (Bioneer, Daejeon, South Korea), and 10 pmol each primer (Takapouzist, Tehran, Iran). The volume of the reaction mixture was reached to 25 µl using distilled deionized water. The thermal cycler (MJ mini, BioRad, USA) was adjusted under optimum conditions. Briefly, Initial denaturation at 94 °C for 4 min, followed by 33 cycles of denaturation at 94 °C for 1 min, annealing as shown in Table 1 for 1 min and extension at 72 °C for 1 min. Final extension was carried out at 72 °C for 7 min. Amplified products were separated by electrophoresis in 1.5% agarose gel electrophoresis stained with ethidium bromide (Cinnaclone, Tehran, Iran). The 100 bp DNA ladder was used as molecular size marker.

Statistical analysis: Using Chi-squared, all statistical analyses were performed by SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL (v. 18.0). P value less than 0.05 was considered for statistical significance.

RESULTS

Among 174 fecal samples collected from pet birds, a total of 114 (65.5%), 28 (16%), and 86 (49.4%) samples were found positive for *Campylobacter*, *Salmonella*, and *Arcobacter*, respectively. Also, simultaneous contamination with *Campylobacter* and *Salmonella* were shown in 12 (6%) of samples. 50 (28%) and 2 (1%) of samples were positive with dual infection of *Campylobacter* and *Arcobacter*, and *Salmonella* and *Arcobacter*, respectively. In 14 (8%) of samples, the presence of all three bacteria were confirmed. Results are summarized in Table 2 and Figures 1 and 2.

Birds (Scientific name)	Name of Bacteria			
Birds (Scientific name)	Campylobacter	Salmonella	Arcobacter	
Linnet (Carduelis cannabina)	2/4 (50%)	0/4 (0%)	4/4 (100%)	
Goldfinch (Carduelis carduelis)	12/16 (75%)	0/16 (0%)	12/16 (75%)	
Rosy-faced lovebird (Agapornis roseicollis)	8/8 (100%)	0/8 (0%)	4/8 (50%)	
Rose-ringed parakeet (Psittacula krameri)	4/6 (66.6%)	0/6 (0%)	4/6 (66.6%)	
Canary (Serinus canaria)	4/6 (66.6%)	2/6 (33.3%)	6/6 (100%)	
Cockatiel (Nymphicus hollandicus)	10/14 (71.4%)	2/14 (14.2%)	6/14 (42.8%)	
Common mynah (Acridotheres tristis)	2/12 (16.6%)	2/12 (16.6%)	4/12 (42.8%)	
Budgerigar (Melopsittacus undulatus)	8/20 (40%)	2/20 (10%)	8/20 (40%)	
Grey parrot (Psittacus erithacus)	4/8 (50%)	2/8 (25%)	2/8 (25%)	
Alexandrine parakeet (Psittacula eupatria)	2/2 (100%)	0/2 (0%)	0/2 (0%)	
Blue-winged parrot (Neophema chrysostoma)	2/2 (100%)	0/2 (0%)	0/2 (0%)	
Eastern rosella (Platycercus eximius)	2/2 (100%)	0/2 (0%)	0/2 (0%)	
Sun conure (Aratinga solstitialis)	2/2 (100%)	0/2 (0%)	0/2 (0%)	
Blue-and-yellow macaw (Ara ararauna)	2/2 (100%)	0/2 (0%)	0/2 (0%)	
Diamond dove (Geopelia cuneata)	2/2 (100%)	0/2 (0%)	2/2 (100%)	
Rock pigeon (Columba livia)	8/10 (80%)	4/10 (40%)	0/10 (0%)	
Old dutch capuchine (Columba livia)	2/6 (33.3%)	0/6 (0%)	4/6 (66.6%)	
Fantail pigeon (Columba livia)	26/34 (76.4%)	14/34 (41.1%)	18/34 (52.9%)	
White-eared bulbul (Pycnonotus leucotis)	12/18 (66.6%)	0/18 (0%)	12/18 (66.6%)	
Total	114/174 (65.5%)	28/174 (16%)	86/174 (49.4%)	

Table 2. Overall percentages of different types of bacteria isolated from fecal samples collected from pet birds



Fig. 1. Agarose gel electrophoresis of PCR of the *invA* gene (284 bp) for the characterization of the *Salmonella* species. M: 100-bp ladder as molecular DNA marker; Lane 3: negative control; Lane 4: positive control; Lanes 5-8: positive samples.



Fig. 2. Agarose gel electrophoresis of PCR amplification products using 16S rRNA (857 bp) as a specific primer to identify the *Campy-lobacter* species. M: 100-bp ladder as molecular DNA marker; Lane 2: negative control; Lane 3: positive control; Lanes 4-5: negative samples; Lanes 6-10: positive samples.

DISCUSSION

The risk of getting a disease from pet bird is typically highest in people who already have chronic diseases, such as the very young, the elderly, HIV-infected individuals, organ-transplant recipients, and people receiving chemotherapy. Some of the most commonly reported bacterial diseases that can be transmitted through pet birds include Salmonellosis, and Campylobacteriosis. Thus, diagnosis and control of mentioned disease in birds is very important.

Birds are usually considered to be the reservoir of *Campylobacter*, because the body temperature of the birds provides conditions for bacterial growth (Dhama et al., 2013). The overall prevalence of *Campylobacter* spp. for all pet birds sampled in this study was 65.5%. However, the prevalences of *Campylobacter* spp. in members of different pet bird families were

from 16.6% to 100%. Compared with the results of other studies describing Campylobacter in pet bird populations, which reported prevalences ranging from 0% to 50% (Waldenstrom et al., 2002; Colles et al., 2008; Zamani Moghaddam et al., 2011; Ehsannejad et al., 2015), the prevalence reported in this study is relatively high. Prevalence differences between studies may due to the use of different sampling and culture methods, which vary in sensitivity. High prevalence rate of Campylobacter Spp. (75%) in broiler flocks of Iran was reported by Ansari-Lari et al. (2011), but low detection rate of these bacteria from pet birds mentioned in a previous study (Ehsannejad et al., 2015). In a recent research, Dipineto et al. (2017) reported 13.6% of the cage samples of pet birds were positive for Campylobacter coli. One of the possible reasons for the difference in the prevalence can be due to the difference between the bird species. Survival of Campylobacter spp. in fecal samples from different bird species is variable (Waldenstrom et al., 2007). Moreover, the type of sample (e.g., cloacal swab vs. fecal sample) and time of sampling (e.g., seasonal variation) collected from birds to assess the prevalence of this organism can influence research findings. The sensitivity of culture techniques should also be considered as a source of variation for prevalence estimates, especially given the fastidious nature of organisms such as Campylobacter (Mi'kanatha et al., 2012).

Out of 174 sample tested, 28 samples (16%) were positive for salmonella spp. Salmonella were detected from Canary, Cockatiel, Common mynah, Budgerigar, Grey parrot, Rock pigeon and Fantail pigeon. Results of present study showed high prevalence of Salmonella spp. in pet birds in comparison of other researches. Rahmani et al. (2011), reported from 668 samples tested from birds kept in parks and pet shops in Tehran, Iran, 19 isolates (2.8%) were identified. Similar to some previous study, high prevalence of Salmonella spp., was shown in canaries (Georgiades and Iordanidis, 2002; Madadgar et al., 2009; Rahmani et al., 2011). On the other hand, our results is in line with results of Brobey et al. (2017), which reported 17% infection rates of Salmonella in wild birds from southeast Texas. In current research, high prevalence of Salmonella was detected in pigeons. These results are in agreement to Osman et al. (2013) who reported 33.3% incidence in pigeons. Lower incidence rates were recorded by other researchers who recorded incidence rates of 0%, 3.9%, 4% and 7.9%, respectively (Lillehaug et al., 2005; Tanaka et al., 2005; González-Acuña et al., 2007; Sousa et al., 2010).

High percentage of *Campylobacter* and *Salmonella* detection in this study may be due to geographical and environmental connection. Mazandaran is in the north of Iran (53°6′E, 36°23′N) and located along the southern coast of the Caspian Sea which shares borders with Russia, Kazakhstan, Azerbaijan, and Turkmenistan. Each year when the cold seasons arrive, migratory birds come to Mazandaran wetlands and stay until early March. It is possibility that migratory birds to be an important sources for mentioned bacteria and moving of migratory bird can help to spread infection by direct or indirect contact with carrier, reservoir, Salmonella-infected animals and birds.

Regarding to detection of *Arcobacter* in cloacal swabs, in our study, the highest detection was in Linnet, Canary, Diamond dove, and Goldfinch with incidence rates of 100% for the first three and 75% for the last. Data about the presence of *Arcobacter* spp. in wild birds are rare. This is the first report of *Arcobacter* detection in pet birds in Iran. Di Francesco et al. (2014) showed that 19% detection of *Arcobacter* from Eurasian collared doves in Northern Italy. Khoshbakht et al. (2017) reported no detection of *Arcobacter* from quail farms in Northern Iran. Some researchers showed high isolation of *Arcobacter* from chicken farms (Son et al., 2007; Ho et al., 2008).

In conclusion, this study shows that *Campylobacter*, *Salmonella*, and *Arcobacter* may be excreted in the faeces of apparently healthy pet birds; therefore, pet birds may be a potential source of these bacteria transmission to humans. Furthermore, some birds showed contamination with two or all three of these bacteria. To our knowledge, the molecular detection of *Arcobacter* was reported for the first time in pet birds in Iran. Close physical contact with pet birds that are uncertain about their status, can be a potential risk for public health.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research has been financially supported by a grant from the Amol University of Special Modern Technologies, Amol, Iran.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors do not have any potential conflicts of interest to declare.
REFERENCES

- Ansari-Lari M, Hosseinzadeh S, Shekarforoush SS, Abdollahi M, Berizi E. (2011) Prevalence and risk factors associated with Campylobacter infections in broiler flocks in Shiraz, southern Iran. Int J Food Microbiol 144: 475-479.
- Belén V, Esperón F, Neves E, López J, Ballesteros C, Muñoz MJ (2010) Screening for several potential pathogens in feral pigeons (Columba livia) in Madrid. Acta Vet Scand 52(1): 45.
- Benskin CMWH, Wilson K, Jones K, Hartley IR (2009) Bacterial pathogens in wild birds: a review of the frequency and effects of infection. Biol Rev 84: 349-373.
- Brobey B, Kucknoor A, Armacost J (2017) Prevalence of Trichomonas, Salmonella, and Listeria in Wild Birds from Southeast Texas. Avian Dis 6: 347-352.
- Boseret G, Losson B, Mainil JG, Thiry E, Saegerman C (2013) Zoonoses in pet birds: review and perspectives. Vet Res 44: 36.
- Colles FM, Dingle KE, Cody AJ, Maiden MC (2008) Comparison of Campylobacter populations in wild geese with those in starlings and free range poultry on the same farm. Appl Environ Microbiol 74: 3583-3590.
- Dhama K, Karthik K, Chakraborty S, Tiwari R, Kapoor S (2013) Wildlife: a hidden warehouse of zoonosis - a review. Int J Curr Res 5: 1866-1879.
- Di Francesco A, Delogu M, Giacometti F, Stancampiano L, Grilli E, Guarniero I, Serraino A (2014) First detection of Arcobacter sp. in Eurasian collared doves (Streptopelia decaocto). Vet Italiana 50: 313-315.
- Dipineto L, Borrelli L, Pace A, Romano V, D'Orazio S, Varriale L, Russo TP, Fioretti A (2017) Campylobacter coli infection in pet birds in southern Italy. Acta Vet Scand 59: 6.
- Ehsannejad F, Sheikholmolooki A, Hassanzadeh M, Shojaei Kavan R; Soltani M (2015) Detection of cytolethal distending toxin (cdt) genes of Campylobacter Jejuni and Coli in fecal samples of pet birds in Iran. Iranian J Vet Med 9(1): 49-56.
- Georgiades GK, Iordanidis P (2002) Prevalence of Salmonella infection in pigeons, canaries and psittacines. J Hellenic Vet Med Soc 53: 113-118.
- González-Acuña D, Silva GF, Moreno SL, Cerda LF, Donoso ES, Cabello CJ, López MJ (2007) Detection of some zoonotic agents in the domestic pigeon (Columba livia) in the city of Chillán, Chile. Rev Chilena Infectol 24: 199-203.
- Griekspoor P, Colles FM, McCarthy ND, Hansbro PM, Ashhurst-Smith C, Olsen B, Hasselquist D, Maiden MC, Waldenström J (2013). Marked host specificity and lack of phylogeographic population structure of Campylobacter jejuni in wild birds. Mol ecol 22: 1463-1472.
- Grzybowska-Chlebowczyk KB, Wancerz A, Martyna J, Więcek S, Wojcieszyn M, Horowska-Ziaja S, Chlebowczyk W, Woś H (2013) Clinical course of Campylobacter infections in children. Polish Paediatrics 88: 329-334.
- Ho, HT, Lipman LJ, Gaastra W (2008) The introduction of Arcobacter spp. in poultry slaughterhouses. Int J Food Microbiol 125: 223-229.
- Khoshbakht R, Seifi S, Karimi A, Khosravi M (2017) Molecular identification of Campylobacter, Arcobacter, and Salmonella in Japanese quail (Coturnix japonica) reared in farms of northern Iran. J Food Qual Hazards Control 4: 58-62.
- Kotloff KL, Nataro JP, Blackwelder WC, Nasrin D, Farag TH, Panchalingam S, Wu Y, Sow SO, Sur D, Breiman RF, Faruque AS, Zaidi AK, Saha D, Alonso PL, Tamboura B, Sanogo D, Onwuchekwa U, Manna B, Ramamurthy T, Kanungo S, Ochieng JB, Omore R, Oundo JO,

Hossain A, Das SK, Ahmed S, Qureshi S, Quadri F, Adegbola RA, Antonio M, Hossain MJ, Akinsola A, Mandomando I, Nhampossa T, Acácio S, Biswas K, O'Reilly CE, Mintz ED, Berkeley LY, Muhsen K, Sommerfelt H, Robins-Browne RM, Levine MM (2013) Burden and aetiology of diarrheal disease in infants and young children in developing countries (the Global Enteric Multicenter Study, GEMS): a prospective, case-control study. Lancet 382: 209-222.

- Lehner A, Tasara T, Stephan R (2005) Relevant aspects of Arcobacter spp. as potential foodborne pathogen. Int J Food Microbiol 102: 127-135.
- Lillehaug A, Monceyron Jonassen C, Bergsjø B, Hofshagen M, Tharaldsen J, Nesse LL, Handeland K (2005) Screening of feral pigeon (Colomba livia), mallard (Anas platyrhynchos) and graylag goose (Anser anser) populations for Campylobacter spp., Salmonella spp., avian influenza virus and avian paramyxovirus. Acta Vet Scand 46:193-202.
- Lyngstad TM, Jonsson ME, Hofshagen M, Heier BT (2008) Risk factors associated with the presence of Campylobacter species in Norwegian Broiler Flocks. Poult Sci 87: 1987-1994.
- Madadgar O, Zahraei Salehi T, Ghafari MM, Tamai IA, Madani SA, Yahyareyat R (2009) Study of an unusual paratyphoid epornitic in canaries (Serinus canaria). Avian Pathol 38: 437-441.
- Mi'kanatha NM, Dettinger LA, Perry A, Rogers P, Reynolds SM, Nachamkin I (2012) Culturing stool specimens for Campylobacter spp., Pennsylvania, USA. Emerg Infect Dis 18: 484-487.
- Neupane A, Parajuli P, Bastola R., Paudel A (2017) Bacterial etiology of diarrheal disease in children and antibiogram of the isolates. Clin Microbiol 6(2): 1-8.
- Osman KM, Mehrez M, Erfan AM, Nayerah A (2013) Salmonella enterica isolated from pigeon (Columba livia) in Egypt. Food borne Pathog Dis 10: 481-484.
- Rahmani M, Peighambari SM, Yazdani A., Hojjati P (2011) Salmonella infection in birds kept in parks and pet shops in Tehran, Iran. Int J Vet Res 5: 145-148.
- Son I, Englen MD, Berrang ME, Fedorka-Cray PJ, Harrison MA (2007) Antimicrobial resistance of Arcobacter and Campylobacter from broiler carcasses. Int J Antimicrob Agents 29: 451-455.
- Sousa E, Berchieri AJ, Pinto AA, Machado RZ, de Carrasco AO, Marciano JA, Werther K (2010) Prevalence of Salmonella spp. antibodies to Toxoplasma gondii, and Newcastle disease virus in feral pigeons (Columba livia) in the city of Jaboticabal, Brazil. J Zoo Wild Med 41: 603-607.
- Tanaka C, Miyazawa T, Watarai M, Ishi- guro N (2005) Bacteriological survey of feces from feral pigeons in Japan. J Vet Med Sci 67: 951-953.
- Vandenberg O, Dediste A, Houf K, Ibekwem S, Souayah H, Cadranel S, Douat N, Zissis G, Butzler JP, Vandamme P (2004) Arcobacter species in humans. Emerg Infect Dis 10: 1863-1867.
- Waldenstrom J, Broman T, Carlsson I, Hasselquist D, Achterberg RP, Wagenaar JA, Olsen B (2002) Prevalence of Campylobacter jejuni, Campylobacter lari, and Campylobacter coli in different ecological guilds and taxa of migrating birds. Appl Environ Microbiol 68: 5911-5917.
- Waldenstrom J, On SL, Ottvall R, Hasselquist D, Olsen B (2007) Species diversity of Campylobacteria in a wild bird community in Sweden. J Appl Microbiol 102: 424-432.
- Zamani Moghaddam A, Tahmasby H, Mehrabiyan S, Barati S., Hashemi Babaheidari SH, Safarpour M (2011) Molecular detection of Campylobacter in domestic pigeons from Shahrekord, Iran. J Vet Microbiol 7: 63-71.

J HELLENIC VET MED SOC 2019, 70(4) ПЕКЕ 2019, 70(4)

Ultrastructural and molecular characteristics of *Setaria* species based on sequence analysis of genomic and mitochondrial gene markers in cattle (*Bos taurus*) and buffaloes (*Bubalus bubalis*) from Iran

A. Alborzi^{a,*}, P. Haddadmolayan^b, M.R.Tabandeh^c, M. Ghorbanpoor^d

^{*a*,*} Department of Pathobiology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Shahid Chamran University of Ahvaz, Iran.

^b Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Shahid Chamran University of Ahvaz, Iran.

^c Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Shahid Chamran university of *Ahvaz, Iran.*

^d Department of Pathobiology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Shahid Chamran University of Ahvaz, Iran.

ABSTRACT. The aim of the present study was to investigate the ultrastructural characteristics and genetic diversity of *Setaria* parasites from cattle (n=696) and buffalo (n= 522) from Khuzestan province of Iran and to compare them with available data from other countries/regions by sequences analysis of the 12S rDNA and the mitochondrial cytochrome C oxidase subunit I (*cox1*) genes. Based on SEM (Scanning Electron Micrographs) and light microscopy, all the isolated worms were identified as *Setaria labiatopapillosa*. Our results showed that 12.3% of cattle were infected with *Setaria* spp., while no infection was found in buffaloes. The maximal prevalence was observed in cattle younger than one year old. The prevalence rate was not influenced by the season of the year or gender. Comparison of the obtained sequences from *Setaria* with sequences of *Setaria* spp. from GenBank confirmed that all samples belong to the species *S. labiatopapillosa*. Intra-specific variation was observed in 12S rDNA but not in *cox1*. In conclusion, our results indicating that *S. labiatopapillosa* is the main species involved in the spread of setarial infection in south-west of Iran and the identified worms corresponded mostly to worms that reported previously throughout other continents.

Keywords: Setaria species; Ultrastructural; phylogenetic; Iran.

Corresponding Author: M. Ghorbanpoor, Golestan Blvd-Ahvaz- Khuzestan- Iran E-mail address: a.alborzi@scu.ac.ir Date of initial submission: 22-12-2017 Date of revised submission: 24-02-2018 Date of acceptance: 29-02-2018

INTRODUCTION

ilariasis in man and animals is considered as a major health hazard with important medical, veterinary, and economic consequences, affecting millions of people and animals globally (World Health Organization, 2007). Setaria species (Family: Onchocercidae and Subfamily: Setariinae) are filarial nematodes that mainly inhabit the peritoneal cavity of ungulates and rodents. S. digitata, S. marshalli, S. cervi and S. labiatopapillosa are the main species that have been reported from cattle and buffaloes (Anderson, 2000; Islam et al., 1992). Several species of mosquitoes, including Aedes, Culex, Armigeres, Anopheles and Haematobia fly are vectors for Setaria spp. (Anderson 2000; Cancrini et al., 1997). Furthermore, there are some reports about the congenital transmission of S. digitata and S. marshalli in cattle (Fujii et al., 1995; Wee et al., 1996; Anderson, 2000).

Setariosis is a polyorganic parasitic disease. The migration of adult worms to the bladder, heart, lung, mesenteric lymph nodes, liver, spinal cord and eyes have been reported. Adult worms are not pathogenic in the peritoneal cavity, although they may cause a mild fibrinous peritonitis in definitive hosts (Golovko and Shchetinsky, 2005; Sundar and D'Souza, 2015). Ectopic migration of microfilariae in the central nervous system of nonspecific hosts (sheep, horses, goats and man) and sometimes even in the specific host can cause cerebrospinal nematodiasis or cerebrospinal setariosis that is recognized with clinical signs such as ataxia, lack of motor coordination and paralysis (Tung et al., 2003; Mahmoud et al., 2004). Additionally, in some areas of the world such as Iran and Romania, human infection with larval and adult stages of Setaria spp. have also been reported (Talu et al., 2012; Nabie et al., 2017).

Several methods have been used for epidemiological studies and discrimination of species diversity. Traditionally, these worms are identified based on morphological features including cuticular ring, dorsal, ventral and lateral lips, lateral appendages, mouth opening, terminal knob in female worms and spicules and patterns of cloacal papillae in male worms (Shoho and Uni, 1977). Conventionally, the light microscope is used to identify the various species of *Setaria* spp. but, additional studies are needed to evaluate and confirm their morphological variations. SEM (Scanning Electron Micrographs) is a powerful tool with high quality that may facilitate the identification of the *Setaria* spp. morphological variations (Almeida et al., 1991; Ronghang and Roy, 2013; Kumar and Kumar, 2016). So far, no study has been carried out to determine the morphological differences between *Setaria* species in Iran.

Genetic diversity of the parasite spp. may produce different phenotypes which can be associated with host-parasite interaction (Brunner and Eizaguirre, 2016; Viney and Diaz, 2012). Although a few light microscopic studies have been reported on the prevalence of *Setaria* in the cattle and buffaloes particularly from north of Iran (Dawoodi, 2014; Bazargani et al., 2008; Khedri et al., 2014; Nabie et al., 2017), there is no information about the prevalence of setariosis in the southern Iran and ultrastructural and molecular characteristics of parasites have not been studied so far. Thus, the purpose of this study was to determine the prevalence, ultrastructural and phylogenic characteristics of *Setaria* spp. in cattle and buffaloes in Khuzestan province of Iran.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Sampling

During the period from November 2014 to October 2016, a total of 696 cattle (437 male and 259 female) and 522 buffaloes (341 male and 181 female) in different age groups (Table 2) and examined for detection of infection with Setaria spp. The slaughterhouse of Ahvaz is a centre for receiving animals from different areas of Khuzestan province. After slaughtering the animals, blood samples were taken from each one, and the abdominal cavity was carefully examined for the presence of Setaria spp. The worms were collected and transferred to containers containing phosphate buffered saline (pH = 7.4). Season of sampling, the number of isolated worms, gender and age of each animal were recorded. Some of the specimens were fixed in 70% ethanol for light microscopic examination and DNA extraction. The Modified Knott's technique was used to detect microfilariae in the blood as described by Watanabe et al. (2004), and the numbers and length size of microfilariae were recorded.

Morphological examination

After the relaxation of the worm samples in hot water and transparency within lacto phenol, they were mounted using the glycerine-gelatine solution and examined under light microscope.

The methods of Ronghang and Roy (2013) and Kumar and Kumar (2016) with some modification were used for ultrastructural study of samples by SEM. Briefly, worms were washed in PBS, and the anterior and posterior ends of the worms were cut and fixed in 5% glutaraldehyde (Sigma, USA) for 24h at 4 °C. Some samples were post fixed in 1% osmium tetroxide (Sigma, USA) for 4h at 4 °C. Then the dehydration process of all samples was performed with a gradient series of ethanol at 4 °C and the samples were dried using Tetramethylsilane (Sigma, USA). Finally, specimens were mounted on aluminium stubs, coated with a thin layer of gold, and examined with Leo 1455 VP SEM (Carl-Zeiss, Germany) at 18-23 KV. *Setaria* species were determined according to diagnostic keys (Shoho and Uni, 1977).

Template DNA from whole blood samples and adult Setaria worms were extracted using Genomic DNA extraction Kit (SinaClon Bioscience, Iran) according to manufacturer's instruction. In order to identify microfilariae in blood samples that were negative based on modified Knott's test (97 cattle and 30 buffaloes), PCR reaction was performed on tandemly repeated DNA using M2F and M2R primers as described by Wijesundera et al. (1999). For molecular characterization and phylogenetic analysis of Setaria spp., mitochondrial cytochrome c oxidase subunit 1 (cox1) and 12S rDNA genes were amplified by PCR according to methods that previously described by Yatawara et al. (2007) and Casiraghi et al. (2001). Characteristics of primers that were used in the present study are shown in table 1.

PCR Amplification

Table 1. PCR conditions and primer sequences for tandemly repeated DNA, <i>cox1</i> and 12Sr DNA.								
Target gene	Organism	Primer sequence (5'→3')	Annealing temperature (°C)	Product size (bp)				
tandemly repeated DNA	Microfilariae	M2F:CCGACATCAAGTTCATG M2R: GATTCAAGAACATGGTG	48	Ladder like				
cox1	Adult worm	COX1intF: TGATTGGTGGTTTTTGGTAA COX1intR: ATAAGTACGAGTATCAATATC	54	680				
12S rDNA	Adult worm	12SF:GTTCCAGAATAATCGGCTA 12SR:ATT GACGGATG (AG) TTTGTACC	54	450				

All PCR reactions were performed in a 20 µl volume containing: 10 µl of Taq DNA polymerase master mix Red (Amplicon, Denmark, MgCl2: 1.5 mM), 0.5 μ l of each primer (10 μ M) (Macrogen, South Korea) and 3 µl of DNA template (~100 ng) and 6 µl of DNase free water. PCR cycling included an initial denaturation at 94°C for 5 min, followed by 30 cycles of denaturation at 94°C for 1 min, specific annealing for 45s, and extension at 72 ° C for 1 min. Then a final extension at 72°C for 5 min was performed as well. PCR reactions included a negative control, consisting of the reaction mix and 3 µl of DNase free water instead of template DNA. A positive control consisting of DNA sample isolated from intact worm was used for PCR reaction on blood samples. PCR products were electrophoresed on 1.5% agarose (SinaClon Bioscience, Iran) in Tris-acetate-EDTA (TAE) buffer, stained with Green SafeStain (SinaClon Bioscience, Iran) and visualized under ultraviolet light.

Phylogenetic analyses

PCR products of *cox1* and 12s rDNA were purified using Gel recovery kit (Vivantis, Malaysia) and sequenced on both strands using Big Dye Terminator V.3.1 Cycle Sequencing kit in an ABI 3130 Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems, USA).

Sequences were aligned together using ClustalW (Larkin et al., 2007) software to determine the consensus sequences. Consensus 12S rDNA and cox1 sequences were subjected to BLASTn analysis (http://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov) and compared to all nucleotide sequences of *Setaria* species available in the current databases. Sequence identities (in %) were calculated by pairwise comparisons. Subsequently, the consensus sequences were aligned with a selected subset of closely related sequences of the genus *Setaria*. Phylogenetic relationships were inferred based on analyses employing the Neighbor-Joining (NJ) method using MEGA7. The topological stability of the tree was evaluated by 1000 bootstrap replications.

Statistical analysis

The findings of this study were analyzed using SPSS software (version 21). The associations between age, gender, season and infection were analyzed by Chi-square test (X²-test). The level of significance was at 5%.

RESULTS

Prevalence

As shown in table 2, 12.3% (95% CI: 9.9-14.8%) of cattle were infected with S. labiatopapillosa, while no infection was found in buffaloes. The prevalence rate of infection with adult worm, microfilariae and the both were 9.77% (68 out of 696), 8.76% (61 out of 696) and 6.17%

(43 out of 696), respectively. Out of the 437 male cattle screened, 56 (12.8 %) were infected, while the prevalence rate of infection in females was 11.5% (30 out of 259). There was no statistically significant difference in infection between genders (P=0.633). The prevalence of infection in cattle younger than one year, one to three years and more than three years was 19.18% (40 out of 228), 9.79% (28 out of 286) and 9.89% (18 out of 182), respectively. There were significant differences between age groups and infection (P= 0.015). The prevalence rate of infection in spring, summer, autumn and winter was 16.57%, 12.19%, 9.45% and 11%, respectively. The prevalence of infection with Setaria in spring (16.57%) was greater than other seasons, but there was no statistically significant difference between different seasons (P=0.224) (table 3).

Table 2. Prevalence of Setaria infection in cattle and buffaloes.									
Animala	(Gender	— Total	Age					
	Male	Female	- Iotai	<1	1 - <3	3 ->3			
Cattle examined	437	259	696	228	286	182			
Infected Cattle (%)	56 (12.8)	30 (11.5)	86 (12.3)	40 (17.5)	28 (9.7)	18 (9.8)			
Buffalos examined	341	181	522	133	247	142			
Infected buffaloes (%)	0	0	0	0	0	0			

Variables	Parameters	No. examined	No. positive (%)	<i>P</i> -value	
Candan	Male	437	56 (12.8)	0 (22	
Gender	Female	259	30 (11.5)	0.633	
	Spring	175	29 (16.57)		
C	Summer	164	20 (12.19)	0.224	
Season	Autumn	148	14 (9.45)	0.224	
	Winter	209	23 (11)		
	<1	228	40 (19.18) ^a		
Age	1 - <3	286	28 (9.79)	0.015	
-	3 ->3	182	18 (9.89)		
Total		696	86 (12.3)		

* Figures in columns with different characters are statistically significant.

The first stage microfilariae were isolated from 61 out of 696 (8.76%) blood samples of cattle by the modified Knott's test. PCR amplification of tandemly repeated DNA of Setaria genome in negative blood samples (negative on modified Knott's test) revealed that 47.42% (46 out of 97) of cattle blood samples were positive and ladder-like pattern was seen in gel electrophoresis

(Fig. 3A) while no filarial DNA was detected in blood samples of buffaloes. This suggests that Knott's test (8.76%) in comparison to PCR technique (47.42%) cannot indicate up to thirty percent (38.6%) of the negative blood samples.

Morphology

A total of 101 worms (4 male and 97 female) were isolated from examined cattle. The average number of recovered worms in each animal was 1.36 (range: 1-15). All isolated worms were identified as *S. labiatopapillosa* based on light microscopy and SEM. The average lengths of male and female worms were 4.9 and 9.6 cm, respectively. At the anterior end of female and male worms, cuticular peribuccal ring existed with dorsal and ventral lips with notched elevation, lateral lips and elliptical shaped mouth opening (Fig. 1A, 1B and 2A). A pair of amphids with cuticular mosaic appearance was located in the lateral sides of the

peribuccal ring (Fig 1C and 1D). Genital pore in female worms was situated on the ventro-lateral side (Fig 1A and 1B). Lateral appendages were seen at posterior end in both sexes (Fig 1E and 1G). A knob was detected at the end of the tail in female worms with blunt papilla and transverse lines at the base (Fig. 1E and 1F). Male *S. labiatopapillosa* had coiled tail with three pair of pre-cloacal, one pair ad-cloacal and four pair of post-cloacal papilla. Furthermore, ventral bands and a single blade-like spicule emerging from the cloaca were seen at the posterior end of male worms (Fig. 1G and 1H).



Fig. 1. Morphological characteristics of *S. labiatopaoillosa* studied by SEM. A: Anterior end of Female worm (140X). B: Genital pore (3000X). C: Anterior end of Female worm (300X). D: Amphid (3000 X). E: Posterior end of Female worm (500X). F: Blunt papilla and transverse lines at the tail end in female worm (3000X). G: Posterior end of male worm (250X). H: Spicule (3000X). ACP: Ad-Cloacal Papilla, AM: Amphid, DL: Dorsal Lip, GP: Genital pore, LA: Lateral Appendages, LL: Lateral Lips, MO: Mouth Opening, PA: Papilla, PCP: Pre Cloacal Papilla, POCP: Post-Cloacal Papilla, SP: Spicule, TK: Terminal Knob, TL: Transverse Lines, VB: Ventral Bands and VL: Ventral Lip.



Fig. 2. Light Microscopic Images of adult female *S. labiatopaoillosa* and microfilariae. A: Anterior end of Female. B: Posterior end of Female worm. C: Sheathed first stage microfilaria in blood of infected cattle. DVL: Dorsal or Ventral Lips. LA: Lateral Appendages, LL: Lateral Lips, SH: Sheath and TK: Terminal Knob.

The average length of sheathed first stage microfilariae was 304.6 μ m (Fig. 2C). The average number of microfilaria in blood samples of infected cattle was 537.25 \pm 74.89 /ml (range: 45-2520/ml).

Molecular characteristics of *cox1* and 12S rDNA genes

PCR amplification of the *cox1* and 12S rDNA genes of *S. labiatopapillosa* produced 680 and

450 base pairs fragments, respectively (Fig. 3B). The DNA sequences of cox1 (6 variable sites) and 12S rDNA (53 variable sites) obtained in the present study shared 82-99% identities with other *Setaria* species (Table 4 and 5). DNA sequences obtained in the present study showed the highest identity (>98%) to cox1 and 12S rDNA of *S. labiatopapillosa*, while the lowest similarity was found to sequences from *S. equina*.



Fig. 3. A: PCR amplification of tandemly repeated DNA isolated from blood of cattle infected with *S. labiatopaoillosa* microfilariae (N: negative control, P: positive sample). B: The PCR products of 450 bp and 680 respectively, for *cox1* (1-3) and 12s rDNA (4-6) obtained from adult worm. Lane M is a 100 bp ladder.

Table 4. Similarity values of *cox1* gene of *S. labiatopapillosa* obtained from cattle of Khuzestan province and those from other filarial species and related nematodes. Data was analysed using nBLAST tool.

Species	Accession No.	Maximal identity (%)
Setaria labiatopapillosa	AJ544872.1	99
Setaria digitata	EF174425.1	91
Setaria cervi	JF800924.1	91
Setaria tundra	KF692106.1	91
Dirofilaria repens	KX265048.1	90
Setaria equina	AJ544873.1	90
Wuchereria bancrofti	JQ316200.1	90
Brugia timori	AP017686.1	89
Onchocerca ochengi	KX181289.1	89
Dipetalonema evansi	KR184805.1	88
Brugia pahangi	AP017680.1	88

 Table 5. Similarity values of 12S rDNA gene of S. labiatopapillosa obtained from cattle of Khuzestan province and those from other filarial species and related nematodes. Data was analysed using nBLAST tool.

Species	Accession number	Maximal identity (%)
Setaria labiatopapillosa	KP760354.1	98
Setaria digitata	EF179382.1	89
Setaria tundra	AM779828.1	87
Setaria equina	KU291446.1	82
Piratuba scaffi	AM779831.1	82
Cercopithifilaria tumidicervicata	AM779788.1	82
Litomosoides brasiliensis	KP760336.1	81
Thelazia gulosa	AJ544857.1	80
Thelazia callipaeda	LK984781.1	77

Sequences of *cox1* and 12S rDNA (supplementary files 1 and 2) from all isolates had more than 99% similarity to each other and to *S. labiatopapillosa* sequences that have been previously deposited in GenBank (12S rDNA: KP760354.1, *cox1*: AJ544872.1). 12S rDNA sequences were

deposited in GenBank under the accession numbers MF589577, MF589578, MF589579 and MF589580. *Cox1* sequences were deposited in GenBank under the accession numbers MF589581, MF589582, MF589583, MF589584 and MF589585.



Supplementary 1. Multiple sequence alignment of the *cox1* sequences of *S. labiatopaoillosa* obtained from cattle of Khuzestan province and Reference GeneBank sequence (Accession NO: AJ544872.1) using ClustalW alignment tool. Different nucleotides in each position are shown with no colour while identical amino acid residues are colored.



Supplementary 2. Multiple sequence alignment of the 12S rDNA sequences of *S. labiatopaoillosa* obtained from cattle of Khuzestan province and Reference GeneBank sequence (Accession NO: KP760354.1) using ClustalW alignment tool. Different nucleotides in each position are shown with no colour while identical amino acid residues are colored.

According to the phylogenetic tree of *cox1* (Fig 4), the Khuzestan isolates were clearly grouped with *S. labiatopapillosa* in one node that had high bootstrap values for NJ (0.98). However, sequence analysis showed slight variability within the Khuzestan isolates, which was reflected in their topology in the phylogenetic tree. Accordingly, the Khuzestan isolates were grouped in two clusters. Cluster I (1, 2, 3, 4, 8 and 9 isolates) were more closely related with *S. labiatopapillosa* when compared with cluster II (5, 6, 7 isolates). Due to the lower bootstrap values (0.62), other *Setaria* species including *S. digitata, S.cervi, S.tundra* and *S. equina* were grouped in separate clades based on *cox1* sequence.



Fig. 4. Neighbor-Joining phylogenetic relationship of 9 isolates of *S. labiatopapillosa* from cattle of Ahvaz, Iran. The analysis was based on *cox1* gene sequences (680 bp). Percentage bootstrap support (more than 50%) from 1000 replicate samples is indicated at the right of the supported node. Accession numbers for sequences obtained from GenBank are shown, followed by different Filarioidea species. The scale bar indicates distance.

As shown in Fig 5 based on 12s rDNA sequences of Khuzestan isolates and the other 10 filarial nematodes downloaded from GenBank, all Khuzestan isolates with *S. labiatopapillosa* were grouped in one clade. Other *Setaria* spp. including *S. cervi*, *S. digitata*, *S. tundra* and *S. equina* formed a sister clade well separated from the one consisting of *S. labiatopapillosa* and Khuzestan isolates. Based on 12s rDNA sequence Khuzestan isolates divided into two subclades. Isolates 1, 4, 6, 7, 9 and 10 showed the highest relationship with *S. labiatopapillosa*, while isolates 2, 3 and 8 had the highest genetic variation in relation to *S. labiatopapillosa*.

Our results have also shown that intra-specific variation was observed in *cox1* but not in 12S rDNA.



Fig. 5. Neighbor-Joining phylogenetic relationship of 10 isolates of *S. labiatopapillosa* from cattle of Ahvaz, Iran. The analysis was based on 12s rDNA gene sequences (450 bp). Percentage bootstrap support from 1000 replicate samples is indicated at the right of the supported node. Accession numbers for sequences obtained from GenBank are shown, followed by name of Filarioidea species. The scale bar indicates distance.

DISCUSSION

Setariosis is one of the most important parasitic disease in cattle which caused by different species of *Setaria* in different countries of the world. The implementation of molecular techniques for the identification of the parasite species is an important requirement to plan effective control strategies for the emerging parasite infections. This study was undertaken to evaluate the morphological and phylogenetic characteristics of *Setaria* spp. in cattle and buffaloes in Southwest of Iran (Khuzestan region) The climatic conditions of Southwest of Iran favour the presence of mosquitoes at almost 5 months of the year. Sixteen species of mosquitoes belonging to five genera, including *Aedes* (2 Species), *Anopheles* (5 Species), *Culex* (6 Species), *Culiseta* (2 Species) and *Ochlerotatus* (1 Species) were reported from this region which can transmit *Setaria* spp. (Navidpour et al., 2012; Nasirian et al., 2014; Maghsoodi et al., 2015; Farhadinejad et al., 2015).

In this study, the overall prevalence of Setarial infection in cattle was 12.3%, which reflects the considerable prevalence rate of infection in cattle. There were no significant association between seasons and infection which might be due to high longevity of adult worms, absence of periodicity of microfilaria in the blood and seasonal distribution of mosquitoes as well. Our findings showed that the prevalence rate of infection in cattle below 1 year of age was higher than other age groups. This might be attributed to the weakness of the immune system in younger animals and providing more opportunities for the development of the parasite. It seems that the onset of the parasite infection and its complete development occur in calves; thus allowing them to continue in older animals.

Despite the fact that female animals are slaughtered at an older age, no significant differences were observed between the gender and the infection. Several surveys have been carried out to determine the prevalence of Setaria spp. around the world. The prevalence ranges from 11.11% to 47% in different regions (North, Northwest and East) of Iran have previously been reported (Bazargani et al., 2008; Khedri et al., 2014; Dawoodi, 2014). In previous studies, S. digitata, S. marshalli, and S. labiatopapillosa have been isolated from cattle and buffaloes from different regions of Iran, while in our study, S. labiatopapillosa was the only isolated Setaria species from cattle of southwest of Iran. The difference between the findings may be due to differences in climate, the presence of a suitable intermediate hosts and livestock management systems in various regions.

Setariosis in buffaloes has been reported from

different countries such as India and Iran. The prevalence rate of infection varies from 0.9% to 54% (Dawoodi, 2014; Siddiqui et al., 1996; Patnaik, 1989; Chauhan and Pande, 1980) but in this study, no infection with Setaria parasite was observed in buffaloes. The reasons for the lack of setarial infection in buffaloes in this area have not been clarified yet. It may be related to presence of genetic resistance, differences in the structure of the skin and the absence of specific intermediate host for development and transmitting the parasite to the buffaloes. To strengthen one of the previous assumptions it has been found that buffaloes have genetic resistance to some internal and external parasitic infection such as tick infestation, fascioliasis and theileriosis (FAO, 2007).

The present study provides detailed information about the ultrastructures of S. labiatopapillosa. Conventionally, the light microscope is used to identify the Setaria spp. but, sometimes due to the low-resolution images, an accurate identification of some species (i.e., S. labiatopapillosa and S. marshalli) becomes difficult and leads to a misdiagnosis; on the contrary, ultrastructural images prepared by the SEM are of high quality and facilitates the identification of the Setaria spp. (Almeida et al., 1991; Ronghang and Roy, 2013; Kumar and Kumar, 2016). Some morphological features such as amphid, ventral bands, patterns of cloacal papillae in male worms and the genital pore in female worms were clearly visible with SEM. These structures were not detectable with light microscope. It should be noted that SEM (Scanning Electron Micrographs) of samples which were prepared with the osmium tetroxide lacked adequate quality sometimes were collapsed and some structures such as amphids were not detectable while these problems did not exist in samples that were only fixed with 5% glutaraldehyde. According to our results, it seems that the use of osmium tetroxide is not suitable for the preparation of Setaria spp.

Different studies have shown that larval stages of filarial species usually cannot be differentiating by classical morphology. Analysis of genetic markers can also be reliable for the accurate differentiation of Setaria spp. and the determination of genetic diversity in parasites originated from different geographical areas. In the present study, molecular characteristics and genetic variations of Setaria spp. isolated from cattle and originated from southwestern Iran were determined by PCR-sequencing of the 12S rDNA and cox1 genes. In fact, previous studies have shown that these sequences provide reliable genetic markers for the accurate differentiation and identification of Setaria spp. The analyses confirmed that all the sequences from the cattle and localities are identical to those of previously submitted to GenBnak for S. labiatopapillosa. These results indicated that this species is the main Setaria species involved in the spread of Setariosis in southwestern Iran.

The 12S rDNA sequences of *S. labiatopapillosa* obtained in this study showed nucleotide variations in 53 positions. The comparisons of all obsereved *cox1* sequences with related sequences of *cox1* of *S. labiatopapillosa* from other geographical areas showed lower nucleotide differences in compared with 12S rDNA. Yatawara et al. (2007) noted that mitochondrial *cox1* and 12S rDNA genes are conserved in *S. digitate*. They also mentioned that *S. digitata* and *S. labiatopapillosa* appear to be sister species.

The phylogenetic tree constructed using *cox1* and 12S rDNA genes of several other filarial nematodes showed that the Khuzestan isolates share a common branch with *S. labiatopapillosa*. Low intra-specific variation was observed in 12S rDNA but not in *cox1*. In fact, groups of multiple closely related genotypes of *S. labiatopapillosa* obtained in the present study are broadly sympatric. Such pattern is expected for species with high gene flow, whose populations have not been sundered by long-term biogeographic barriers.

The genetic characterization of *Setaria* Spp. present in southwestern Iran is useful to achieve the basic information necessary for the field control of this parasite and may have implications for the diagnosis and control of the disease. To better understand the genetic variability and population genetic structure of *Setaria* spp. in Iran and in oth-

er neighboring areas a wide range of isolates from different hosts and geographical localities and the use of more variable genetic markers are needed

In conclusion, our results showed that infection of cattle with *S. labiatopapillosa* is common in southwestern Iran while buffalo may be free from filarioid nematodes. From the above findings, it can be proved that DNA sequences of 12S rDNA and *cox1* genes are useful molecular tools for accurate identification of *Setaria* species. Further studies are necessary in order to recognizing the molecular and morphological characteristics of other filarial species infecting cattle in Iran, its vectors and possible prevention.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors gratefully acknowledge the search councils of Shahid Chamran University of Ahvaz, Iran, for providing financial assistance.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors confirm that there is no conflict of interest.

REFERENCES

- Almeida AJ, Deobhankar KP, Bhopale MK, Zaman V, Renapurkar, DM (1991) Scanning electron microscopy of *Setaria cervi* adult male worms. Int J Parasitol 21:119-121.
- Anderson RC (2000) Nematode Parasites of Vertebrates: Their Development and Transmission. 2nd Ed. New York: CABI Publishing. pp 467-529.
- Bazargani T, Eslami A, Gholami GR, Molai A, Ghafari-Charati J, Dawoodi J, Ashrafi J, (2008). Cerebrospinal Nematodiasis of Cattle, Sheep and Goats in Iran. Iran J Parasitol 3(1): 16-20.
- Brunner FS, Eizaguirre C (2016) Can environmental change affect host/ parasite-mediated speciation? Zoology 119 (4): 384-394.
- Casiraghi M, Anderson TJC, Bandi C, Bazzocchi C, Genchi C, 2001. A phylogenetic analysis of filarial nematodes: comparison with the phylogeny of *Wolbachia* endosymbionts. Parasitology 122: 93-103.
- Cancrini G, Pietrobelli M, Frangipane Di Regalbonot A, Tampieri MP (1997) Mosquitoes as vectors of *Setaria labiatopapillosa*. Int J Parasitol 27(9): 1061-1064.
- Chauhan PPS, Pande BP (1980). On the occurrence of *Setaria labiatopapillosa* in the intestinal lining of buffalo calf. Indian J Parasitol 4: 89-91.
- Davoodi J (2014) Prevalence of setariosis in small and large ruminant in Miyaneh city, Northwest of Iran. Sci J Vet Adv 3(1): 1-5.
- Eamsobhana P, Lim PE and Yong HS, (2013) Molecular phylogeny of filarial worms (Nematoda: Filarioidea). Raffles B Zool 29: 99-109.
- FAO (2007) The State of the World's Animal Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture. Edited by Barbara Rischkowsky and Dafydd Pilling. Rome. pp. 101-112.
- Farhadinejad R, Mousavi M, Amraee K (2015). The species composition of mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae) in the Mahshahr district, Khuzestan province, southwest of Iran. Arch Razi Inst 70(2): 89-95.
- Fujii T, Hayashi T, Ishimoto A, Takahashi S, Asano H, Kato T (1995) Prenatal infection with *Setaria marshalli* (Boulenger 1921) in cattle. Vet Parasitol 56: 303-309.
- Golovko V, Shchetinsky I (2005) Some more precise data on clinical and pathomorphological characteristic of bovine stariosis. XIIth International Congress, Warsaw, Poland. Animals and environment proceedings, 1: 241-243.
- Islam FSH, Rahman FH, Chowdhury, SMZH (1992) Prevalence of parasites of water buffaloes in Bangladesh. Asian-Australas J Anim Sci 5(4): 601-604.
- Khedri J, Radfar MH, Borji H, Azizzadeh M (2014) An epidemiological survey of *Setaria* in the abdominal cavities of Iranian Sistani and Brahman cattle in the Southeastern of Iran. Iran J Parasitol 9(2): 249-253.
- Kumar LR, Kumar MU (2016) Ultrastructural studies on Setaria digitata by scaning electron microscopy. J Parasit Dis 40(4): 1199-1203.
- Larkin MA, Blackshields G, Brown NP, Chenna R, McGettigan PA, McWilliam H, et al. (2007) Clustal W and Clustal X version 2.0. Bioinfomatics Application Note 23(21): 2947-2948.
- Maghsoodi N, Ladonni H, Basseri HR (2015) Species Composition and Seasonal Activities of Malaria Vectors in an Area at Reintroduction

Prevention Stage, Khuzestan, South-Western Iran. Iran J Arthropod Borne Dis 9(1): 60-70.

- Mahmoud OM, Haroun EM, Omer OH (2004) An outbreak of neurofilariosis in young goats. Vet Parasitol 120: 151-156.
- Nabie R, Spotin A, Rouhani S (2017). Subconjunctival setariasis due to Setaria equina infection; a case report and a literature review. Parasitol Int 66: 930-932.
- Nasirian H, Taghi Sadeghi SM, Vazirianzadeh B, Moosa-Kazemi SH (2014) New record of *Aedes vittatus* and *Culiseta subochrea* (Diptera: Culicidae) and their distribution from Shadegan Wetland, South Western Iran. J Entomol Zool Stud 2(5): 271-275.
- Navidpour S, Vazirianzadeh B, Harbach R, Jahanifard E, Moravvej SA (2012) The identification of culicine mosquitoes in the Shadegan wetland in south western Iran. Int J Insect Sci 12: 105.
- Patnaik MM (1989) On filarial Nematodes in Domestic animals in Orissa. Indian Vet J 66: 573-574.
- Ronghang B, Roy B, 2013. Filarial infections in semi-wild cattle of Northeast India: first record of *Setaria digitata* (von Linstow 1906) in Bos frontalis (Lambert 1804). J Parasit Dis 39(4): 693-696.
- Shoho C, and Uni SK (1977). Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) of some Setaria species (Filaroidea, Nematoda). Z Parasitenkd 53: 93-104.
- Siddiqui AA, Sharma SP, Kumar M. 1996. Prevalence of Setaria infection in buffaloes and horses. Indian J Anim Sci 66: 243-245.
- Sundar STB, D'Souza E (2015) Morphological characterization of Setaria worms collected from cattle. J Parasit Dis 39(3): 572-576.
- Talu SD, Stefanut AC, Mihalica AD, Coroiu Z (2012) Subconjunctival infestation with *Setaria*. J Helminthol 49(2): 119-121.
- Tung KC, Lai CH, Ooi HK, Yang CH, Wang JS (2003). Cerebrospinal nematodiasis with *Setaria marshalli* and *Setaria digitat*a infection in cattle. J Vet Med Sci 65(9): 977-983.
- Viney ME, Diaz A (2012) Phenotypic plasticity in nematodes: evolutionary and ecological significance. Worm 1: 98-106.
- Watanabe Y, Yang CH, Tung KC, Ooi HK (2004) Comparison of microfilaria concentration method for *Setaria digitata* infection in cattle and for *Dirofilaria immitis* infection in dogs. J Vet Med Sci 66(5): 543-545.
- Wee SH, Jang H, Joo HD, Kang YB, Lee CG (1996) Setaria marshalli infection in neonatal calves. Korean J Parasitol 34(3): 207-210.
- Wijesundera WWS, Chandrasekharan NV, Karunanayake EH (1999) A sensitive polymerase chain reaction based assay for the detection of *Setaria digitata*: The causative organism of cerebrospinal nematodiasis in goats, sheep and horses. Vet Parasitol 81: 225-233.
- World Health Organization (2007) Global programme to eliminate lymphatic filariasis: annual report on lymphatic filariasis 2006. Wkly Epidemiol Rec, 82, 361-380.
- Yatawara L, Wickramasinghe S, Nagataki M, Rajapakse RPVJ, Agatsuma T (2007) Molecular characterization and phylogenetic analysis of *Setaria digitata* of Srilanka based on CO1 and 12SrDNA genes. Vet Parasitol 148: 161-165.

J HELLENIC VET MED SOC 2019, 70(4) ПЕКЕ 2019, 70(4)

The Phenotype Variability, of the Racka Sheep in the Republic of Serbia

I. Pihler^{1*}, J. Ćirić¹, D. Kučević¹, S. Dragin¹, M. Al-Hasant², M. Šaran¹, B. Zarubica¹, I. A. Tsakmakidis³

¹Department of Animal Science, Faculty of Agriculture, University of Novi Sad

²National project Director Mainstreaming Biodiversity Conservation in Tourism sector development in Jordan UNDP

³Faculty of Health Sciences, School of Veterinary Medicine, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki

ABSTRACT. The intensification of sheep production, by permanent genetic selection and the development of breeding technology, has led to the creation of highly productive sheep breeds. In this way, many highly productive breeds were created which could demonstrate their high production potentials only under perfect conditions of nutrition, accommodation and care. Preservation of indigenous breeds is of great importance in order to protect and safeguard those breeds and, in this way, it is possible to restore some of the characteristics that are lost during intensive selection, which are mostly related to resistance. The Racka sheep (Serbian: Vitoroga žuja) is considered to be an autochthonous breed and a genetic resource in the Republic of Serbia. As a primitive breed with low productivity, it offers no economic profitability and, thus, there is no great interest in its breeding. According to the FAO data from 2008-2014, the number of these sheep ranges from 500 to 1000. The objective of this study was to determine the phenotypic variability and to assess the external measurements of the Racka sheep. One-hundred fifty Racka breed ewes were included in this study. The effects of three farms on the phenotypic characteristics and their body indexes were calculated. The significance of the research is reflected in the advancement of this breed and in the assessment of the possibilities of selection work in these herds.

Keywords: The Racka sheep, phenotypic characteristics, variability of characteristics.

Corresponding Author: Ivan Pihler, Department of Animal Science, Faculty of Agriculture, University of Novi Sad, Square Dositeja Obradovica 8, 21000 Novi Sad E-mail address: ivan.pihler@stocarstvo.edu.rs

Date of initial submission: 29-06-2018 Date of revised submission: 13-06-2019 Date of acceptance: 09-07-2019

INTRODUCTION

The indigenous sheep breeds have originated in one geographical area, and they have been adapted to the specific living conditions. Most commonly, those are primitive sheep. A breed becomes a genetic resource if the number of sheep of that breed is below 1000. Genetic resources are of fundamental importance, and so is their conservation. Although"Vitoroga žuja", or the Racka sheep, belongs to the group of animal genetic resources of the Republic of Serbia, indigenous breeds are also an important source of genetic potential for future work in livestock husbandry (Drobnjak, 2012).

The research work of Savić et al., (2014) found a favorable ratio of fatty acids and good sensory properties of lamb meat in the age of 100 days. The milk of Racka sheep has a good chemical composition (Viturro et al., 2015), suitable for the production of traditional dairy products.

The population of the autochthonous breeds is getting smaller and there are often cases of inbreeding, which increases the frequency of homozygosity within the population and creates a real risk of losing certain genes (Drobnjak, 2012).

The Racka sheep is one of the many strains of the pramenka sheep. It is considered an autochthonous breed and a genetic resource in the Republic of Serbia. The largest population is found in the Banat region of Vojvodina. According to Gáspárdy (2010), the Racka sheep (in Germany "Zackel-Schaf"), is a group of sheep that relates to sheep of a similar form, which were kept in regions where they were originally found - "Vlaska" (Slovakia), "Tschekel" (Ukraine), "Turcana" (Romania), "Racka" (Hungary), "Vlasko-Vitoroga" (Serbia).

It appears in two variants: white (yellowish-brown) and black. It is used in the production of meat, milk and wool (combined type). Its phenotype is characterized by their long horns - ewes (~ 20 cm) and rams (~ 50 cm). The horns are grayish to yellow and they are elongated and spirally twisted. The quality of the wool is very low and its diameter ranges from 12-40 microns. The body weight of the ewes is about 40 kg and the rams weigh about 60 kg. The milk yield after lactation is small and it ranges between 50 and 180 l (Nagy, 2006).



Figure 1. Ewes of the Racka sheep that were used in this research



Figure 2. A Racka sheep ram of the researched herd

As a low productive and primitive breed, there is no economic profitability to it and there is no great interest in its breeding. Another factor which causes a decrease in the number of sheep are dwindling pasture areas. Unfortunately, the breeders often cross this sheep breed with other breeds of higher productivity in order to achieve greater growth, which threatens the survival of the Racka sheep.

The population of the Racka sheep is small in our area. According to the FAO data from 2008-2014, the number of heads ranges from 500 to 1000. In the Republic of Serbia, the Racka sheep is considered an endangered autochthonous breed. According to the data supplied by the Main Breeding Organization of the Department of Animal Husbandry, Novi Sad, there are around 900 sheep under controlled production (Professional report and results of controls of implemented breeding programs in APV for 2017). The first step in preserving this genetic resource is to determine the phenotypic breed characteristic and its similarity to the same or similar breeds in the region. The most recent analysis of the Racka sheep was done in Hungary, where the largest population of this breed is located. In Serbia, the region of the South Pannonian Plain, extending to the south of the country, the Racka sheep is a common breed, but it has never been sufficiently described, and so far there has been no serious and detailed measurement and standardization of the exterior features of this race.

Taking into account the above mentioned, the aim of the study was to create a valid set of data of exterior measurements, which may be used as a base for determination (and further research) of the genetic structure of the breed.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The research was conducted on the population of the Racka sheep located in the territory of the Autonomous Province of Vojvodina. All sheep were in the pasture-based rearing system. A total of 150 ewes were measured on three different farms.

All sheep were between first and third month of pregnancy. The farms use extensive breeding and pastures as a feed source throughout the year. The measurement was conducted by a single person, with an assistant's help. The influence of the evaluator is excluded in this study.

The measurement of exterior dimensions is important in order to gather data on the corpulence of each animal. The measurements were made using a height measuring stick and tape. Each sheep was measured on a flat surface. Measures were taken from the left side of the animal. The collected data were placed in ratio formula, in order to make the calculations comparable. In this way, 10 body indexes were obtained.

The measurements that were used include:

- The height of the wither - it was measured with a measuring stick, from the surface behind the lower rear edge of the foreleg cloven hoof, vertically to the highest edge of the wither,

- The height of the back - vertically from the surface to the highest point of the back line of the last chest vertebra,

- The height of the loin - vertically from the surface to the highest point of the loin,

- The body length - horizontally from the shoulder joint to the rear point of the rump

- The depth of the chest - from the chest bone to the vertical back line behind the wither

- The length of the chest - from the shoulder joint to the last rib

- The width of the chest - the width in the line of the third vertebra

- The circumference of the chest - measured with a tape measure, behind the shoulder blades

- The width of the pelvis - from the external of one side to the external of the other side of the rump

- The circumference of the shin - it was measured with a tape on the thinnest part of the shin

- The width of the forehead - the width of the widest part of the forehead

- The length of the head - from the upper part of the forehead bone to the nasal bone

- The length of the horns - from the root to the end of the horn, twisting a tape on the external horn groove

- The length of the ears - from the root to the end of central exterior line of the ears



Figure 3. External dimensions - the wither height, the back height and the loin height, which have been used during the measurement.



Figure 4. External dimensions - the chest length, the body and the chest length which have been used during the measurement.



Figure 5. External dimensions - the circumference of the chest, the pelvis width and the circumference of the shin, which have been used during the measurement.



Figure 6. External dimensions - the horn length, the length of the head and the length of the ears, which have been used during the measurement.

The calculated indexes:

The body form index represents the ratio between the body length and the wither height

$$Index = \frac{body \ length}{wither \ height} \ X \ 100$$

The chest index represents the ratio between the chest width and its depth

$$Index = \frac{\text{chest width}}{\text{chest depth}} \times 100$$

The chest depth index represents the ratio of the chest width and the wither height

$$Index = \frac{\text{chest depth}}{\text{wither height}} X 100$$

The body compactness index represents the ratio between the circumference of the chest and the body length

$$Index = \frac{\text{chest girth}}{\text{body length}} \times 100$$

The mass index represents the ratio between the circumference of the chest and the height of the wither

$$Index = \frac{\text{chest girth}}{\text{wither height}} X 100$$

The partition index represents the ratio between the height of the loins and the height of the wither

$$Index = \frac{loins height}{wither height} X 100$$

The pelvis-chest index represents the ratio between the width of the chest and the width of the pelvis

$$Index = \frac{\text{chest width}}{\text{pelvis width}} X 100$$

The leg length index represents the ratio between the difference of the wither height and the chest depth and the wither height

$$Index = \frac{\text{wither height - chest depth}}{\text{wither height}} X 100$$

The gauntness index represents the ratio between the circumference of the shin and the height of the wither

$$Index = \frac{\text{circumference of the skin}}{\text{wither height}} X 100$$

The forehead width index represents the ratio of the forehead width and its length

$$Index = \frac{\text{forehead width}}{\text{forehead length}} X 100$$

Statistical processing of measured and calculated data, such as the average (mean) value (\bar{x}), minimum and maximum were processed in Microsoft Excel 10 software package, while standard deviation (SD), coefficient of variability (CV), standard error (S.E.), and determination of the location's influence on certain characteristics (analysis of variance) were calcu-

lated in Statistica 13.3. program.

RESULTS

Table 1 shows descriptive statistical analysis for the entire population used during the research. In table 1 we can see that traits horn length and tail length have highest values of coefficient of variability, 16.86 and 13.37, respectively.

In order to determine the influence of the location (farm) on some of the external dimensions, a variance analysis was performed. The results are shown in Table 2.

Table 1. Phenotype Variab	ility of exterior bo	ody traits for Racka	sheep population	n					
Podu traita	Descriptive statistics for all farms								
	N	$\overline{\mathbf{x}}$ (cm)	SD	CV	S.E.	Min - Max			
Wither height	150	64.31	3.78	5.87	0.31	54.0 to 74.0			
Back height	150	64.69	3.95	6.10	0.32	54.0 to 79.0			
Loin height	150	64.25	3.92	6.10	0.32	54.0 to 73.0			
Body length	150	69.56	2.35	3.38	0.19	60.0 to 75.0			
Chest length	150	37.97	2.31	6.08	0.19	32.0 to 46.0			
Chest depth	150	30.26	2.49	8.24	0.20	21.0 to 38.0			
Chest width	150	18.89	1.70	9.01	0.14	14.0 to 22.0			
Pelvis width	150	19.82	1.47	7.44	0.12	16.0 to 25.0			
Chest girth	150	85.25	3.83	4.50	0.31	77.0 to 96.0			
Shin circumference	150	7.99	0.44	5.45	0.04	7.0 to 9.5			
Tail length	150	38.01	5.08	13.37	0.41	17.0 to 50.0			
Head length	150	19.25	0.66	3.43	0.05	16.0 to 21.0			
Forehead width	150	10.47	0.68	6.54	0.06	9.0 to 13.0			
Horn length	150	26.72	4.50	16.86	0.37	12.0 to 38.0			
Ears length	150	10.50	0,97	9.20	0.08	9,0 to 13.0			

 \overline{x} - average value, SD - Standard deviation, CV - Coefficient of Variability, S.E. - Standard Error

Table 2. The results of variance analysis, for stastistical differences of the measured external dimen	ions of the Racka sheep
--	-------------------------

-				^					
Variance analysis for all dimensions									
	SS	MS	F	Р					
Wither height	975.29	487.65	62.28	0.00**					
Back height	1015.05	507.53	57.07	0.00**					
Loin height	1022.01	511.01	59.13	0.00**					
Body length	6.84	3.42	0.62	0.54					
Chest length	4.89	2.45	0.46	0.63					
Chest depth	124.36	62.18	11.39	0.00**					
Chest length	58.97	29.49	11.65	0.00**					
Pelvis width	5.32	2.66	1.23	0.30					
Chest girth	440.09	220.05	18.48	0.00**					
Shin circumference	0.63	0.32	1.68	0.19					
Tail length	54.97	27.49	1.07	0.35					
Head length	2.41	1.21	2.84	0.06					
Forehead width	2.29	1.15	2.50	0.09					
Horn length	574.24	287.12	17.23	0.00**					
Ears length	24.96	12.48	16.09	0.00**					

** Highly significant statistical difference (p<0.01), SS - Square sum, MS -Mean sum, f - f value

Statistical differences (p < 0.01) of the Racka sheep from different locations were noticed for 8 external measures. Those characteristics are underlined in Table 2.

Indexes are absolute values of a measurement relative to some other body measurement, expressed as a percentage. These indexes serve to determine the proportions of the animal body and for a more precise comparison of the individual's development, (Ćinkulov et al., 2003). By calculating the external measurements, the obtained indexes were statistically analyzed. Table 3 shows the average values of calculated indexes. Based on the coefficient of variability, we can see that the values of individual indexes are very variable. The form index and the chest index had the highest degree of variability. Comparisons between the farms were made by the variance analysis, as shown in Table 4. Statistical differences (p<0.01) of the Racka sheep from different locations were noticed for 6 body indexes.

Table 3. Phenotype Variability of exterior body indexes for Racka sheep population from all farms.								
Dody traits]	Descriptiv	e statistics f	or all farm	IS		
	N	$\overline{\mathbf{X}}$	SD	CV	S.E.	Min - Max		
The form index	150	108.49	6.74	6.21	0.55	85.71 - 131.48		
The chest index	150	62.75	6.88	10.96	0.56	45.16 - 86.36		
The chest depth index	150	47.11	3.71	7.88	0.30	33.33 - 55.88		
The body compactness index	150	122.67	6.39	5.21	0.52	105.48 - 142.42		
The mass index	150	132.86	7.44	5.60	0.61	117.81 - 150.85		
The partition index	150	99.94	3.03	3.03	0.25	90.91 - 115.00		
The pelvis-chest index	150	95.53	8.49	8.89	0.69	73.68 - 125.00		
The leg length index	150	52.89	3.71	7.02	0.30	44.12 - 66.67		
The gauntness index	150	12.46	0.92	7.39	0.08	10.00 - 14.81		
The forehead width index	150	54.44	4.26	7.82	0.35	45.00 - 81.25		

 \overline{x} - the average value, SD - Standard Deviation, σ^2 - Variance, CV - Coefficient of Variability, S.E. - Standard Error

Table 4.	The variance a	analysis, for s	statistical difference	es of the body i	indexes of the Racka sheep.	

The variance analysis						
SS MS F						
The form index	2987.59	1493.79	58.07	0.00**		
The chest index	329.76	164.88	3.61	0.03**		
The chest depth index	32.64	16.32	1.19	0.31		
The body compactness index	1005.89	502.94	14.55	0.00**		
The mass index	1888.05	944.03	21.85	0.00**		
The partition index	8.37	4.18	0.45	0.64		
The pelvis-chest index	1741.72	870.86	14.22	0.00**		
The leg length index	32.64	16.32	1.19	0.31		
The gauntness index	24.34	12.17	17.54	0.00**		
The forehead width index	29.15	14.57	0.80	0.45		

** Highly significant statistical difference; SS - Square sum MS - Mean sum f - f value

DISCUSSION

Small differences in the average measurements of wither height (64.31), height of the back (64.69) and height of the loin (64.25) (Table 1) show the flat backline of the Racka sheep population in Serbia. The observed average wither height is lower than that of the Hungarian Racka ewes as shown in the research paper of Nagy (2006), 66,97 for black and 68.20 for white sheep, but higher than in the ewes from a research carried out in Banat, which were 54,24 cm high (Savić et al., 2013).

Statistically significant differences in measured body dimensions (Table 2) between the three observed sites occurred in 8 of the 15 observed characteristics. Statistically significant differences are related to body dimensions, which describe the animals' form. The most important are the height of the withers, the height of the back, the height of the loins as well as the width and the circumference of the chest. This indicates that the herds exhibit no uniformity either in their physical fitness or constitution. Such differences occur due to unequal keeping and nursing conditions (primarily because of unequal nutrition) (Ćinkulov et al., 2003).

The length of the head and the ears, and the width of the forehead describe the Racka sheep as a sheep with a small and narrow head. The width of the forehead, the length of the head and the circumference of the shin did not show statistically significant differences. These measurements are one of the important racial features that are hardly variable (Krajinović, 2006).

Statistically significant differences were not found in the body length of animals in the observed locations. This trait ranged from 60.00 to 75.00 cm, while the mean value of the body length was 69.56 cm. Similar results for this feature were also indicated by Savić et al. (2013). But they are shorter in comparison to the sheep from Hungary, with average length of 73,36 and 70.77 (Bodó, 1994). The length of the body is a measurement that is very important in the phenotypic assessment and selection of animals used for further reproduction based on phenotype. A statistically significant difference did not occur in the length of the chest, as expected, given the fact that it is a measurement that is linearly related to the length of the body (Krajinović, 2006).

Statistically significant differences occurred in 6 of 10 analyzed indexes observed in these locations. This is expected, given the fact that a larger number of external measurements also showed statistically significant differences. The chest index had a statistically significant difference on the observed sites, while the chest depth index did not have statistically significant differences.

On the basis of the average index of the body compactness, it can be seen that the depth of the chest had a higher value than the length of the body and this index shows a great degree of variability since there are statistically significant differences on the observed sites. The mass index also showed a statistically significant difference between the observed sites. The mass index of our indigenous breeds is always closer to 100% (Ćinkulov et al., 2003). The determined values of the mass index were higher than those (125.6 and 127.6) which Bodó (1994) found in Hungary. The reason for the differences between the populations in Serbia and Hungary may be geographical isolation and different genetic makeup. According to Dudu et al., (2016) starting from 1960, Hungary imported sheep from Romania and afterwards the breed was exposed to an intensive process of selection and conservation.

The partition index did not have statistically significant differences. The height of the wither (64.25 cm) and the loin (64.31 cm) of the whole population was very similar (small coefficient of variation), which is the consequence of a uniformed partition index. The value of this index was around 100, which is highly desirable.

A large statistically significant difference was found in the pelvis-chest index, while the indexes of the leg length and forehead width did not have statistically significant differences between the farms.

CONCLUSIONS

By measuring external measurements of, practically, one quarter of the Racka sheep population in the Republic of Serbia, it can be concluded that the highest variability of the characteristics occurs when it comes to the form of each individual sheep, while the measurements that are part of the important breed characteristics did not show important statistical differences. The influence of exterior factors, such as the nutrition patterns, breeding technology and the keeping conditions of the animals, above all, represent the causes of the differences. The display of the phenotypic characteristics of the Racka sheep has opened up the possibility for further research of this breed, which has lived in the Pannonian plain for more than 1,000 years. The next logical step is to determine genetic differences, and similarities within different strains of this breed in the region, and to create a detailed regional preservation plan.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

REFERENCES

- Bodó I. (1994) The Hungarian racka. Animal Genetic Resources Information 13 (April): 75-82.
- Ćinkulov M., Krajinović M., Pihler I. (2003) Phenotypic differences between two types of Tsigai breed of sheep. Lucrari stiintifice Zootehnie si Biotehhnologii 36: 295-300.
- Drobnjak D., Urošević M., Matarugić D. (2012) Conservation of genetic resources of autochthonous breeds domestic animals in Serbia. In: Book of abstracts of the I International symposium and XVII scientific conference of agronomists of Republic of Srpska, Trebinje, BiH: p 131.
- Dudu A., Ghiţă E., Costache M., Georgescu S.E. (2016) Origin and Genetic Diversity of Romanian Racka Sheep Using Mitochondrial Markers. Small Ruminant Research 144 (November): 276-82.
- FAOSTAT. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (2014) FAO Statistical Yearbook.
- Gáspárdy A. (2010) Those Racka horns. In: Proceedings of DAGENE annual meeting, Brazi, Romania: pp 1-5.
- Krajinović M. (2006): Sheep and goat breeding. University of Novi Sad, Faculty of Agriculture, Novi Sad.

- Nagy L. (2006) Evaluation of the performance of the Hungarian Racka sheep, PhD dissertation. Faculty of Agricultural and Food Sciences and Environmental Management, University of Debrecen.
- Savić M., Baltić M., Becskei Z., Dimitrijević B., Dimitrijević V., Savić D., Vegara M. (2014) Evaluation of Zackel Lamb Meat Quality with the Aim of Increasing the Conservation Value of the Breed. Acta Veterinaria 64 (4): 438-46.
- Savić M., Trailović R., Petrujkić B., Becskei Z., Dimitrijević B., Dimitrijević V. (2013) Determining the Value of Vlashko-Vitoroga Zackel Sheep for the Conservation Process. Acta Veterinaria 63 (5-6): 621-629.
- The main breeding organization for domestic animals of Autonomous Province of Vojvodina (APV) Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Animal science (2018) Professional report and results of controls implemented breeding of programs in APV for 2017. Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Animal science: p 128.
- Viturro E., Schlattl M., Kienberger H., Rychlik M., Pfaffl M.W., Frölich K. (2015) Differences in Milk Fat Composition from Four Old Sheep Breeds. Archives Animal Breeding 58 (2): 351-353.

Analyzing risk factors for lumpy skin disease by a geographic information system (GIS) in Turkey

O.B. Ince^{1*}, T. Türk²

¹ Province Directorate, Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, Afyonkarahisar, Turkey

²Department of Geomatics Engineering, Cumhuriyet University, Sivas, Turkey

ABSTRACT. Lumpy skin disease (LSD) is caused by the virus of the same name and has major economic impacts on cattle breeding. In Turkey, frequent cases of cattle LSD have been reported over the last years. The present study aimed to analyze potential risk factors for LSD and provide information for controlling the spread of infectious diseases by a geographic information system (GIS). The research included cross-sectional and retrospective studies with active disease follow-up and semi-structured interviews (SSI) from August 2013 to December 2014 in Turkey. Potential risk factors for LSD were evaluated based on environmental conditions and provincial demographic and epidemiological data. Of the total of 562 observed animals, 27.22% and 2.67% of cattle were sick and died due to LSD, respectively. The morbidity rate was 26.04% in mixed and 38.18% in local breeds. The animal-level prevalence significantly differed among animals of different age, sex, and with different vaccination status (P<0.05). It was more serious in younger animals and females and during drier weather conditions. A trend of seasonality was observed in LSD occurrence. Significant risk factors affecting the prevalence of LSD were proximity to the southern border of Turkey, animal movements, and animal markets. In this process, geographical query, analysis, and thematic map production were performed by GIS.

Keywords: LSD, Epidemiology, Risk factors, GIS, Animal Movement

Corresponding Author: O.B.Ince, Province Directorate, Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, 03100, Afyonkarahisar, Turkey E-mail address: incebaris@gmail.com, omerbaris.ince@tarimorman.gov.tr

Date of initial submission: 04-12-2018 Date of revised submission: 14-05-2019 Date of acceptance: 15-05-2019

INTRODUCTION

umpy skin disease (LSD) is a poxviral infection ✓ of cattle caused by lumpy skin disease virus of the genus Capripoxvirus. It is a Neethling virus. This pox virus causes an acute to a sub-acute systemic disease characterized by mild to severe symptoms including fever, nodules in the skin, mucous membranes, and internal organs, and sometimes death (Davies, 1982). In general, mortality is low (1-3%), but up to 75% mortality has been reported (Babiuk et al., 2008). LSD is associated with significant production losses. It is therefore defined as a notifiable disease by the World Organization for Animal Health (OIE, 2000). LSD is related to various factors that cause significant financial losses on a national scale: restrictions on the global trade of live animals and their products (Rich and Perry, 2011, Tuppurainen and Oura, 2012).

LSD infection has a wide distribution in most African countries (Niger, Sudan, Uganda, Ethiopia, Somalia, etc.) and has recently entered into the Middle East (EFSA, 2015). In this study, we assess risk factors in the spread of LSD in Turkey from the Middle East as well as the risks of further spread. Moreover, the present study aimed to analyze potential risk factors for LSD. We address the epidemiology of LSD, its mechanisms of transmission, the potential role of risk factors in reducing spread, and currently available control strategies. The first findings on LSD in Turkey were reported in mid-2013, and potential LSD vectors, such as animal movement (Alemayehu et al., 2013) and blood-sucking insects (Tuppurainen et al., 2011), were identified. Despite this knowledge, the epidemiological status of cattle LSD in Turkey and its risk factors are not completely understood. This study aims to reveal LSD-infected cattle farm areas and analyze risk factors such as cattle sex, increasing age, cattle breed, season, and vaccination using a Geographic Information System (GIS).

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Epidemiological data and GIS

The study was conducted in nine Turkish provinces: Kahramanmaraş, Batman, Hakkari, Malatya, Adıyaman, Osmaniye, Hatay, Sivas, and Adana (Fig.1). These provinces are located along the southern border of Turkey and have a large number of family-run small- and medium-sized dairy farms. Data on LSD outbreaks, farms, and cattle movements were obtained from the animal registration system and the World Organization for Animal Health (OIE). The assessment was based on a combination of active disease follow-up and questionnaire and retrospective data collection that focused on 70 pastoral and agro-pastoral farms. The study was conducted with a cross-sectional and retrospective design which employed active disease follow-up and semi-structured interviews (SSI) from August 2013 to December 2014. SSIs were used to generate information about the prevalence and history of LSD, bio-data for individual animals, and disease-related losses including death and abortion. Cattle owners were selected randomly based on the willingness to complete the questionnaire. Questionnaire interviews were carried out in these provinces face-to-face. The sample included 562 animals of different ages, sexes, and breeds (Local breeds: Eastern Anatolian Red (25), Southeast Anatolian Red (30); Mixed breeds: Holstein-Friesian (215), Brown Swiss (227), and Fleckvieh (65)). All farms were reported to have had LSD outbreaks. These provinces have a mean annual minimum and maximum temperature of -7°C and 41.3°C, respectively.

A GIS is an information system that collects and stores data for queries, documenting (producing maps and creating tables), and spatial analysis. It has been used in various fields by many researchers, including animal health studies (Michel et al., 2002, Soumare et al., 2007, Tuma et al., 2007, Carpenter, 2011). A user interface program ensures interaction between the user and the computer. Although many processes are performed for complex spatial analysis and queries in GIS software, these processes can be executed by means of pressing a button in developed user interface programs (Türk et al., 2012). Thus, the program can be used easily without manuals, and effective and efficient results can be produced (Türk et al., 2012, Türk, 2013). Due to the fact that maps are a visual communication tool, GIS offers a means to interpret and understand the data better. For example, you cannot know the border of provinces or countries without thematic maps. Consequently, GIS users have got the possibility to access information easily via query and to analyze spatial data by GIS. In this study, a GIS-based system was created to query, analyze and document data related to animal health, so that the related institutions and users could use it. All data were integrated into the GIS environment. User interface programs were developed (Fig. 2).



Fig 1. The study area



Fig 2. The GIS based system

1799

J HELLENIC VET MED SOC 2019, 70(4) ПЕКЕ 2019, 70(4)

Data management and analysis

Data were entered and stored in Microsoft Excel spreadsheets. The univariate association of potential risk factors with the animal-level prevalence of LSD and statistical significance were evaluated using the Chi-square $(\gamma 2)$ test. Logistic regression analysis was used to compute the strength of contribution of the risk factors to LSD occurrence. Data were analyzed in R version 3.1.2 (R Core Team, 2014) and SPSS V21. The Odds ratio (OR) was calculated for each risk factor for animals sick with LSD. In all the analyses, confidence levels at 95% were calculated, and a value of P < 0.05 was accepted as statistically significant. The OR was calculated for the risk factors and animals sick with the disease to determine the degree of association between the risk factors and the disease. Descriptive statistics such as prevalence were used to calculate rates by dividing the number

of animals sick with LSD by the total number of animals at risk. Finally, data were integrated with ESRI ArcGIS 10.1 GIS software, which was also used to query and analyze the data. Variables with P < 0.25were shortlisted to consider in the final multivariable logistic regression analysis. The model was built stepwise by forward selection, adding shortlisted factors and removing the factors when P > 0.05. The effects of interactions among significant variables in the final model were tested by pairwise interactions in the multivariable logistic models. The model fitness was assessed by the likelihood-ratio test. The mortality odds ratio, prevalence odds ratio, and case fatality rate were determined by comparing cases/death/healthy animal number in different periods. These processes are performed automatically by the user interface program developed in the GIS-based system.

Table 1. Morbidity, mortality, case fatality rates and odds ratio of LSD for each investigated risk factors in Turkey between 2013 and 2014.

Breed	Variables	Factor Levels	No. at risk	No. of sick	No. of death	Morbidity rate	Mortality rate	Case fatality rate	Odds Ratio	95%CI	p-Value
		<24 month *	151	93	10	61.59	6.62	10.75			
	Age	24-48 month	174	27	3	15.52	1.72	11.11	0.11	0.06-0.19	0.001
		>48 month	182	12	0	6.59			0.04	0.02-0.08	0.001
	Sov	Female*	401	120	9	29.93	2.24	7.5			
p	SEX	Male	106	12	4	11.32	3.77	33.33	3.35	1.76-6.32	0.001
lixe	Vaccination	Vaccinated*	484	121	12	25.00	2.48	9.92			
2	vaccination	Non-Vaccinated	23	11	1	47.83	4.35	9.09	0.36	0.15-0.84	0,01
		Autumn*	121	35	0	28.93					
	Season	Winter	82	24	0	29.27			1.01	0.54-1.88	0.95
		Spring	30	4	0	13.33			0.37	0.12-1.16	0.08
		Summer	274	69	13	25.18	4.74	18.84	0.82	0.51-1.33	0.43
		Total	507	132	13	26.04	2.56	9.85			
		<24 month *	7	3	2	42.86	28.57	66.67			
	Age	24-48 month	17	5	0	29.41			0.55	0.08-3.44	0.42
		>48 month	31	13	0	41.94			0.96	0.18-5.05	0.64
	Sov	Female*	27	15	2	55.56	7.41	13.33			
al	SEA	Male	28	6	0	21.43			4.58	1.4-14.90	0.009
00;	Vaccination	Vaccinated*	24	15	2	62.50	8.33	13.33			
Π	vacemation	Non-Vaccinated	31	6	0	19.35			6.94	2.05-23.44	0.001
		Autumn*	23	8	0	34.78					
	Saasan	Winter	2	1	0	50.00			1.87	0.10-34.13	0.59
	Season	Spring	8	2	0	25.00			0.62	0.10-3.84	0.48
		Summer	22	10	2	45.45	9.09	20.00	1.56	0.47-5.18	0.46
		Total	55	21	2	38.18	3.64	9.52			

*ref:<24-month, female, vaccinated, autumn

RESULTS

All farms were within pastoral and agro-pastoral areas. The average herd size was 15 and ranged from 5 to 42 animals. A mixture of farming systems was practiced in each province: 30% of farms in Hakkari and Batman provinces were pastoral; 40% of farms in Osmaniye, Adana, and Hatay provinces were agro-pastoral.

Only 54 out of 562 animals were not vaccinated against LSD. It was recorded that 9.61% (54/562) of animals were affected by the disease and 2.67% (15/562) eventually died of it. Most infected animals (27.22% or 153/562) and all dead animals, except for one, were vaccinated against LSD. Breed-specific morbidity, mortality, and fatality rates were analyzed. The morbidity rate for mixed and local breeds was 26.04% (132/507) and 38.18% (21/55), respectively. The mortality and fatality rates were 2.56%, 9.85% (mixed breeds) and 3.64%, 9.52% (local breeds), respectively. In mixed breeds, the morbidity rate was 25.00% (121/484) in vaccinated and 47.82% (11/23) in non-vaccinated cattle (P < 0.05). In local breeds, the morbidity rate was 62.50% (15/24) in vaccinated and 19.35% (6/31) in non-vaccinated cattle (P<0.05). In mixed breeds, the morbidity and mortality rates decreased with age. For animals under 24 months of age, they were 61.59%, 6.62%, for those aged 24-48 months, they were 15.52%, 1.72%, and in adults over 48 months of age, the morbidity rate was 6.59%, respectively (P < 0.05). The detailed results are presented in Table 1.

A trend of seasonal distribution of LSD was observed in 2014. The month of August had the highest number of outbreak reports. Outbreaks increased from June to October 2014. The multivariable logistic regression analysis revealed that age, sex, and vaccination status were risk factors associated with the occurrence of LSD. By using the Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit statistics, the Chi-square value was calculated as 2.15, the related significance value as 1.000, the model's Pseudo R² value as 0.725, and the model's overall classification ratio as 85.4%. According to the multivariable logistic regression analysis results, age and sex of animals showed a significant association with LSD. The results are presented in Table 2.

The disease was identified for the first time in Kahramanmaras province on August 6, 2013, and spread to Batman, Hakkari, Malatya, Adıyaman, Osmaniye, Hatay, Sivas, and Adana provinces. As of June 17, 2014, it has spread to Mersin, Kayseri, and Sanlıurfa provinces. Within the framework of the EU and national legislation, there is a struggle against the disease. There were 91 outbreaks in nine provinces over the nine-month period from August 6, 2013, to May 8, 2014. Eighty-eight outbreaks (96.70%) occurred in seven provinces: Kahramanmaras, Malatya, Sivas, Adıyaman, Osmaniye, Hatay, and Adana. The remaining three outbreaks (3.30%) occurred in two provinces: Batman and Hakkari. Eighteen outbreaks (19.78%) occurred in 2013 and 73 (80.22%) in 2014. There were 76 outbreaks (87.51%) occurred in three provinces: 45 (51.14%) in Osmaniye, 23 (26.14%) in Adana and 8 (10.23%) in Kahramanmaraş. There were outbreaks on 624 of 187.199 farms (0.33%) in all nine provinces, in which there are a total of 1.269.976 susceptible animals. In farms with outbreaks, 860 of 131.708 susceptible cattle had the disease (Prevalence Rate: 0.65%) and 249 cattle died (Mortality Rate: 0.19%) (Türkvet, 2014). Outbreak reports showed that there was a decrease in disease transmission in 2014, probably as a result of successful disease control precautions, quarantines, and vaccinations carried out in 2013. There is still a risk of the disease spreading to other provinces. The mortality, prevalence, and fatality rates observed in 2013 were higher than in 2014.

Osmaniye province had the highest rate of infected farms (1.87%) followed by Adana province (0.83%). The animal-level prevalence rates were the highest in Hakkari (28.57%) and Batman provinces (18.75%), lower in Osmaniye (0.3%) and Malatya (0.25%), and the lowest in Sivas province (0.14%).

 Table 2. Values with multivariable logistic regression for investigated risk factors for LSD in Turkey between 2013 and 2014.

Factors		S.E.	Wald-value	Odds Ratio	95% CI	<i>P</i> - value
Age*	3.049	0.444	47.07	21.10	8.83-50.43	0.001
Sex*	2,960	1,051	7.94	19.29	2,46-151,32	0.005
Vaccination*	-2.030	0.480	17.90	0.13	0.05-0.34	0.001
Constant	-0.087	0.417	1.71	0.91		

*ref:<24 month; female, vaccinated

Regarding animal movement from infected provinces to non-infected ones, it was observed that Kayseri, Düzce, Kırşehir, İzmir, Konya, and Gaziantep provinces are under risk of transmission. Kayseri borders three infected provinces (Sivas, Kahramanmaraş, and Adana), and Gaziantep borders four infected provinces (Adıyaman, Kahramanmaraş, Osmaniye, and Hatay) (Türkvet, 2014).

In this study, a GIS-based system was created by

the integration of all data. Geographical queries and analysis were performed by user interface programs developed using ArcGIS 10.1 GIS software (Fig. 2). The risk assessment in different periods and queries were implemented by pressing one button after entering the necessary parameters. Additionally, thematic maps such as prevalence, case fatality, and mortality rates were produced for facilitating interpretations about animal health by the GIS-based system (Fig. 3).



Fig 3 Prevalence Rate (PR), Mortality Rate (MR) and Case Fatality Rate (CFR) maps produced by GIS platform.

250

500 Kilometers

DISCUSSION

LSD prevalence and its association with different risk factors were analyzed. Mixed and local breeds of cattle were examined in terms of variable morbidity and fatality rates. Mixed and local breeds had almost the same rate, 26.04% and 38.18%, respectively. LSD morbidity ranged from 3% to 85%, and mortality was limited to 3% (Babiuk et al., 2008, Tuppurainen and Oura, 2012, Alemayehu et al., 2013).

The mortality and fatality rates were 2.56% and 9.85%, respectively, which showed that mixed breed was more resistant than local breed against the disease. In the present study, an attempt was made to compare the susceptibility of the mixed and local breeds of cattle raised in the same farming system. Analysis of the association among age, sex and vaccination status of animals sick with LSD revealed statistically significant results. This agrees with previously conducted studies on breed-specific LSD tendencies (Woods, 1988, Davies, 1991, Ayelet et al., 2013).

Vaccinations with the SP(Bk) sheep pox vaccine strain were used to control LSD. There were various reasons for failure of vaccination such as a low titer of the vaccine, different field and vaccination strains, vaccination of calves with maternal antibodies, and mishandling of vaccines in transport or storage. In reports from Israel (Brenner et al., 2006) and Egypt (Fayez and Ahmed, 2011), results are similar.

In terms of age, morbidity was higher in 24-monthold cattle, 24-48-month cattle, and cattle older than 48 months in mixed breeds. The results agree with those from Israel (Fayez and Ahmed, 2011) and Egypt (Ayelet et al., 2013). Morbidity is higher in females because the lactation or pregnancy period causes physiological stress and lowers immunity. Another attempt was made in the present study to compare the season during which an outbreak of the disease can occur. It was high in the summer season (45.45%) and the lowest in the spring season (13.33%) in the area. LSD outbreaks occurred during dry seasons and were more common while traveling at long distances (Brenner et al., 2006, Kumar, 2011, Magori-Cohen et al., 2012), similarly to the 2014 outbreaks in Turkey. LSD appeared in Egypt and then spread to the Middle East and Israel (Tuppurainen and Oura, 2012) as well as Kuwait, Lebanon, the UAE, Israel, and Oman in 1990. The occurrence of the disease depends on factors such as animal movements, immune status, wind, and the amount of rainfall (Brenner et al., 2006). According to the OIE reports, legal or illegal animal

movements in Azerbaijan, Iran, Lebanon, Egypt, and Palestine are likely to have caused the virus to spread after the 2014 outbreaks (EFSA, 2015).

Analyses of morbidity risk factors showed that cattle purchased from other farms are at risk. For the transmission of LSD among farms, the most significant factor was cattle movement. The transmission of the disease to Turkey may be from Syria and Iraq since there is a movement of live animals across the Syria–Iraq border. Furthermore, the first outbreak near the border enables airborne vectors. According to the study, LSD prevalence was significantly associated with purchasing infected animals that were not tested or quarantined. This situation is similar to the situation in Ethiopia (Gari et al., 2010, Gari et al., 2011, Gari et al., 2012) and Egypt (Salib and Osman, 2011).

It is likely that live animal movements and smuggling occur across the south-eastern border with Syria and Iraq. This study's results agree with those from Jordan (Abutarbush et al., 2013).

The results of the present study are consistent with those that have been previously reported. LSD occurs based on factors such as the prevalence of insect vectors, number of livestock and transportation of animals that have not been tested (Ali et al., 1990, Tuppurainen and Oura, 2012). It is more likely to occur via animal movements than through arthropod vectors (Tuppurainen and Oura, 2014).

Hence, the main factor in LSD distribution is animal and insect movement. Importing infected animals is the main cause of LSD, so the disease has begun to spread over long distances. Further spread can be prevented by stopping the movement of sick animals to unaffected areas (Işıdan et al.,2014).

According to the 2014 reports (Işıdan et al., 2014), disease outbreaks in Sivas province, 400 km north of the initial outbreak, supported the possibility that LSD spread depending on arthropod vectors and illegal animal movements. The illegal movement of sick or asymptomatic infected animals was the possible cause (EFSA, 2015).

CONCLUSIONS

In conclusion, control strategies for LSD infection on farms should focus on these risk factors. These risk factors could relapse the spread of LSD, and it could be found spreading to new regions that have been previously considered as a free region and will be a major livestock breeding health problem. The findings of this study also attach attention to the distribution of LSD in the area and can assist decision-makers, planners, and researchers in their efforts. Briefly, all queries, spatial analysis, and documentation processes can be performed on the GIS-based system developed. Thus, risk assessments and evaluations about animal health can be performed easily and effectively by GIS.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

REFERENCES

- Abutarbush SM, Ababneh MM, Al Zoubi IG, Al Sheyab OM, Al Zoubi MG, Alekish MO and Al Gharabat RJ (2013) Lumpy Skin Disease in Jordan: Disease Emergence, Clinical Signs, Complications and Preliminary-associated Economic Losses. Transboundary and emerging diseases 62(5):549-554
- Alemayehu G, Zewde G, Admassu B (2013) Risk assessments of lumpy skin diseases in Borena bull market chain and its implication for livelihoods and international trade. Trop Anim Health Prod 45: 1153-1159
- Ali AA, Esmat M, Attia H, Selim A, Abdel-hamid YM (1990) Clinicaland pathological studies of the lumpy skin disease in Egypt. Vet Rec 127: 549-550.
- Ayelet G, Abate Y, Sisay T, Nigussie H, Gelaye E, Jemberie S, Asmare K (2013) Lumpy skin disease: Preliminary vaccine efficacy assessment and overview on outbreak impact in dairy cattle at Debre Zeit, central Ethiopia. Antiviral Research 98(2); 261-265
- Babiuk S, Bowden TR, Boyle DB, Wallace DB, Kitching RP (2008) Capripoxviruses: an emerging worldwide threat to sheep, goats and cattle. Transboundary and Emerging Diseases 55: 263-272.
- Brenner J, Haimovitz M, Orone E, Stram Y, Fridgut O, Bumbarov V, Kuznetzova L, Oved Z, Waerrman A, Garazzi S (2006) Lumpy skin disease (LSD) in a large dairyherd in Israel. Isr J Vet Med 61: 73-77.
- Carpenter TE (2011) The spatial epidemiologic (r)evolution: A look back in time and forward to the future. Spatial and Spatio-temporal Epidemiology 2: 119-124.
- Davies FG (1982) Observations on the epidemiology of lumpy skin disease in Kenya. Journal of Hygiene 88: 95-102.
- Davies FG (1991) Lumpy skin-disease, an African capripox virus-disease of cattle. Br Vet J 147: 489-503.
- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority) (2015) Scientific Opinion on lumpy skin disease EFSA Panel on Animal Health and Welfare (AHAW) EFSA Journal 13: 3986-3988
- Fayez A, Ahmed H (2011) Incidence of lumpy skin disease among Egyptian cattle in Giza Governorate, Egypt. Vet World 4: 162-167.
- Gari G, Bonnet P, Roger F, Waret Szkuta A (2011) Epidemiological aspects and financial impact of lumpy skin disease in Ethiopia. Prev Vet Med 102: 274-283.
- Gari G, Grosbois V, Waret-Szkuta A, Babiuk S Jacquiet P, Roger F (2012) Lumpy skin disease in Ethiopia: seroprevalence study across different agro-climate zones. Acta Trop 123: 101-106.
- Gari G, Waret-Szkuta A, Grosbois V, Jacquiet P, Roger F (2010) Risk factors associated with observed clinical lumpy skin disease in Ethiopia. Epidemiol Infect 138: 1657-1666.
- Işıdan H, Sözdutmaz I, Turan T (2014) Spreading Lumpy Skin disease to the North. Proceedings of the Epizone 2014. Copenhagen, Denmark pp.183-214
- Kumar SM (2011) An outbreak of Lumpy skin disease in a Holstein dairyherd in Oman: a clinical report. Asian J Anim Vet Adv 6: 851-859.

- Magori-Cohen R, Louzoun Y, Herziger Y, Oron E, Arazi A, Tuppurainen E, Shpigel NY, Klement E (2012) Mathematical modelling and evaluation of the different routes of transmission of lumpy skin disease virus. Vet Res 43: 9-15
- Michel JF, Dray S, Rocque SL, Desquesnes M, Solano P, Wispelaare GD, Cuisanne D (2002) Modelling bovine trypanosomosis spatial distribution by GIS in an agro-pastoral zone of Burkina Faso. Preventive Vet Med 56:5-18.
- OIE (2000) Terrestrial Animal Health Code Article 14.10.2. Paris, France: OIE pp:635-638
- R Core Team (2014) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. Available online: http://www.R-project.org.
- Rich KM, Perry BD (2011) The economic and poverty impacts of animal diseases in developing countries: new roles, new demands for economics and epidemiology. Preventive Veterinary Medicine 101: 133–147.
- Salib FA, Osman AH (2011) Incidence of lumpy skin disease among Egyptian cattle in Giza Governorate, Egypt. Vet World 4:162-167.
- Soumare B, Tempia S, Cagnolati V, Mohamoud A, Huylenbroeck GV, Berkvens D (2007) Screening for Rift Valley fever infection in northern Somalia: A GIS based survey method to overcome the lack of sampling frame. Veterinary Microbiology 121: 249-256.
- Tuma S, Puotinen ML, Skerratt LF, Chan B, Sothoeun S (2007) Validation of a geographic information system model for mapping the risk of fasciolosis in cattle and buffaloes in Cambodia. Veterinary Parasitology 143: 364-367.
- Tuppurainen E, Oura C (2012) Review: Lumpy skin disease: An Emerging Threat to Europe, the Middle East and Asia. Transboundary and Emerging Diseases 59: 40-48.
- Tuppurainen E, Oura C (2014) Lumpy skin disease: an African cattle disease getting closer to the EU. Vet Rec 175: 300-301
- Tuppurainen E, Stoltsz WH, Troskie M, Wallace DB, Oura C, Mellor PS, Coetzer JA, Venter EH (2011) A potential role for ixodid (hard) tick vectors in the transmission of Lumpy Skin Disease virus in cattle. Transboundary and emerging diseases 58(2):93-104
- Türk T, Gümüşay U, Tatar O (2012) Creating infrastructure for seismic microzonation by Geographical Information Systems (GIS): A case study in the North Anatolian Fault Zone (NAFZ). Computers & Geosciences 43: 167-176.
- Türk T (2013) Investigating Of Environmental Health Studies by Geographical Information Systems: Cancer Case Study. Polish Journal of Environmental Studies 22: 1505-1517.
- TÜRKVET (2014) Turkish Veterinary Information System. http://www. turkvet.gov.tr/ [accessed 23 May 2016]
- Woods JA (1988) Lumpy skin-disease a review. Trop Anim Health Prod 20: 11-17.

Influence of dietary *Moringa oleifera* on broilers performance, intestinal microbial population and humoral immune competence

W. A. Abd El-Ghany^{*1}, R. D. Eraky²

¹Cairo University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Poultry Diseases, Giza, Egypt

²Animal Health Research Institute (Damietta branch), ²Bacteriology Department, Damietta, Egypt

ABSTRACT: This study was designed to evaluate the effect of using different levels of phytobiotic containing *Moringa oleifera* (*M. oleifera*) leaf powder (MOLP) on broiler chickens body growth performance parameters, intestinal microbial population, and the humoral immune response. Day-old Hubbard broiler chicks (n = 200) were randomly allocated into 4 treatment diet. Basal diet was supplied with treatments T0, T1, T2 and T3 representing (0, 1%, 5% and 7.5% MOLP); respectively. Chickens were kept under observation for 5 weeks. Body performance parameters, total viable bacterial and coliform counts and humoral immune response to Newcastle disease (ND) virus vaccine were detected using the haemagglutination inhibition (HI) test. The results revealed significant (P < 0.05) improvement in performance parameters in groups supplemented with dietary MOLP. However, the best significant (P < 0.05) performance was observed in the group fed 1% MOLP. There was no significant (P < 0.05) increase in the means of HI in dietary MOLP supplemented groups was observed, where the highest means were seen in 1% MOLP treated birds. In conclusion, dietary supplementation with MOLP could improve the performance parameters and the immune response while reducing the total viable intestinal bacterial and coliform counts of broiler chickens. The study recommended using of dietary level of 1% MOLP to improve performance, intestinal health, and immune competence.

Keywords: M. oleifera, chickens, growth, bacterial count, HI

Corresponding Author: Wafaa Abd El-Ghany Abd El-Ghany, Poultry Diseases Department, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Cairo University, Egypt, Giza Square, 12211 E-mail address: wafaa.ghany@yahoo.com

Date of initial submission: 12-01-2019 Date of revised submission: 28-11-2019 Date of acceptance: 29-11-2019

INTRODUCTION

A ntibiotic growth promoters have been widely used for the prevention of poultry infection and improvement of meat and egg production. Using antibiotics as growth promoters have been banned in several countries due to the development of bacterial drug resistance, presence of drug tissue residues and destruction of normal gut microflora (Hong et al., 2012; Kostadinović et al., 2019). Nowadays, supplementation of alternatives phytogenic feed additives in poultry ration is commonly anticipated as growth promoters to enhance the performance of broiler chickens (Hashemipour et al., 2016; Popović et al., 2018).

Leaf powder of *M. oleifera* is considered as chep source of poultry ration protein (Tesfaye et al., 2013), in addition to vitamins, acids, minerals, and various phenolics compounds (Moyo et al., 2012). Dietary supplementation of poultry with *M. oleifera* leaf powder (MOLP) improved the body performance traits (Okafor et al., 2014; Mousa et al., 2017), as well as enhanced both the intestinal health (Gomashe et al., 2014) and the humoral immune response (Eze et al., 2013 and 2014).

Therefore, this work was planned to detect the influence of using different levels of MOLP on body growth performance parameters, intestinal microbial population and humoral immune response of broiler chickens.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Experimental chickens and design

Day-old Hubbard broiler chicks were obtained from a commercial hatchery. Birds were fed on starter, grower and finisher diets at ages 2, 2-4 and 4-5 weeks, respectively. No antibiotics or coccidiostats was added to the ration. The ration was formulated to meet the nutrient requirements of broiler chicks according to NRC (1994) which were formulated from the local feed ingredients commonly used for poultry feed in Egypt. The main ingredients composition of diets is represented in Table 1. Feed and water were given ad libitum. Vaccination was done against Newcastle disease (ND) and infectious bronchitis viruses using living Hitchner HB1 and H120 strains, respectively at 5 days old, against avian influenza (AI) virus using inactivated H5N1 strain at 7 days old, against Gumboro disease virus using intermediate strain at 12 days old and against ND virus using La Sota strain at 19 days old. Vaccines were administrated using eye drop method except AI vaccine using a subcutaneous

inoculation method. A total of two hundred, one day old mixed broiler chicks were randomly allocated into 4 equal groups of 50 chicks. Each group was further subdivided into 2 replicates with 25 chicks per each. The chicks of each replicate were housed in thoroughly cleaned and disinfected deep litter houses. Basal diet was supplied with different levels of MOLP. Treatments were T0, T1, T2, and T3 representing 0, 1%, 5% and 7.5% MOLP, respectively they were fed for 5 weeks of experimental study. The study was done in accordance with the National regulations on animal welfare and Institutional Animal Ethical Committee recommendations and approval.

M. oleifera plant

The leaf of *M. oleifera* was obtained from the Agricultural Research Center, Giza, Egypt. They are dried and ground as a powder. The powder of MOLP was subjected to proximate analysis according to the Association of Official Analytical Chemists (AOAC, 2000) methods. The composition of plant leaves extract was the followings; 26.2% crude protein, 18.0% crude fiber, 3.0% crude fat, 6.0% ash and 10.0% moisture content. It was added to the ration in different concentrations (0, 1%, 5% and 7.5%).

Studied parameters

Performance variables

At day old arrival, all birds were weighed and then weekly weighed till the end of the experiment (5 weeks old). The feed consumption was also recorded weekly (g feed/g body weight). The FCR was estimated by dividing the total feed consumption/Kg by the total body weights/Kg. The performance parameters variables were estimated according to Bell and Weaver (2002). The birds were observed daily for signs or mortalities. The European production efficiency factor (EPEF) for each group was calculated at the end of the study as the following; [Average live body weight (Kg) × Liveability (%)] × 100 / [Marketing age (day) × FCR].

Intestinal bacterial count

At the end of the study (5 weeks old), ten birds from each treatment were sacrificed and the intestinal contents were collected for determination of total viable bacterial count and coliform count (ISO, 1995). The results of the total bacterial count were expressed as the number of the organism of colony-forming units per gram (CFU/g) contents of the intestine.

Humoral immune response

Blood samples were collected weekly from the wing vein of ten birds in each treatment. The serum was separated by blood centrifugation. The blood was kept in refrigerator for several hours, and then centrifuged for serum. The titers of humoral immune response were investigated using the haemagglutination inhibition (HI) test with 8 haemagglutinating units (Swayne et al., 1998).

Statistical analysis

The results were statistically analyzed using the General Linear Model procedure of the Statistical Analysis System software (SAS[®], 2000). Overall data were analyzed using one way ANOVA test.

Significant differences between treatment means were considered significant at level P < 0.05.

Table 1. Main ingredier	nts composition	of diets given fo	or broiler chicke	ns for 5 weeks
	1	0		

Elemente (alleg food)	Type of diets				
Elements (g/kg leed)	Starter	Grower	Finisher		
Metabolized energy (kcal/kg)	3000	3150	3200		
Crude protein %	23.0	22.0	19.0		
Soybean meal (45%)	330.5	302.7	250.9		
Yellow maize (9%)	57.94	57.94	57.94		
Maize gluten meal (60%)	70.2	70.1	65.7		
Fat	32	45	41		
Lysine	2.9	2.7	3.5		
Methionine	2.2	2.0	2.2		
Dicalcium phosphate	18	18	18		
Sodium chloride	4	4	4		

Each g of the mineral mixture of the diet contained: IU: vit. A 9000, vit. D3 2500, vit. E 17; mg, vit. K3 2.5, vit. B1 1.7, vit. B2 6.6, vit. B6 2.4, vit. B12 0.015; mg choline chloride 400, Mn 80, Fe 40, Zn 70, Cu 8, Se 0.3.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

There was no clinical signs or mortalities was recorded during the experimental period.

The results of Table 2, showed significant (P <0.05) improvement in broilers body weights with different levels of MOLP (1, 5 and 7.5%). Similarly, Nkukwana (2012) found that birds supplemented with MOLP had higher body weight than the birds fed the control diets throughout the production period. Treatment fed on a diet with 1% M. oleifrea leaf meal gained significantly (P < 0.05) higher body weights than the control group and other treatments with higher levels (5 and 7.5%). Lower concentrations of MOLP were found to induce a positive significant effect on broilers performance than a higher one. This observation is supported by the study of Olugbemi et al. (2010) found that increasing the inclusion level of M. oleifera leaf meals in broiler diets results in depressed growth performance. Khan et al. (2017) observed that among the levels of MOLP included in the basal diets (i.e., 0.6, 0.9, 1.2 and 1.5%), only MOLP at the level of 1.2% that increased the body weight gain, whereas the other levels did not exert any effect. Kout et al. (2015) and Agashe et al. (2017) observed significantly higher body weights on diets containing

different levels (0.2, 0.4 and 0.6%) of *M. oleifera* leaf meal. Divya et al. (2014) demonstrated that addition of MOLP at 0.5, 1.0, 1.5 and 2.0% levels or antibiotic slightly decreased body weight. Ochi et al. (2015) also found significant reduction in weight gain and body weight at inclusion level of 2% *M. oleifera*, while supplementation with 0.5% resulted in significant increase in feed consumption. Authors have speculated that this may be due to the presence of phytate which acted as an anti-nutritional factor. Bitter test of *M. oleifera* leaves (tannin at 1-23 g/kg) inducing reduced palatability and feed intake of birds when consumed in higher levels (Onunkwo and George, 2015).

Dietary treatments with *M. oleifera* showed better FCR when compared with control treatment. The best FCR was obtained by using 1% MOLP in all periods compared to other higher treatment levels and control (Table 3). These results are in agreement with Banjo (2012) who found that inclusion of *M. oleifera* leaf meal at 1, 2 and 3% in the diet did not significantly enhance FCR. Onunkwo and George (2015) reported a significant decrease in FCR of the birds fed MOLP levels 0.0, 5.0, 7.5 and 10%. Inoculation of low levels of MOLP was investigated by Aderinola et al. (2013) who recorded better FCR after feeding of broilers with *M. oleifera* leaves meal-based diets (0, 0.5, 1.0, 1.5 and 2.0%) than control. Also, Kout et al. (2015) recorded the best FCR in birds fed on 0.2% MOLP.

The results showed no significant (P < 0.05) difference among treated groups and the control one (Table 4). The improvement in the performance of broilers observed due to the supplementation of MOLP may also be attributed to the significant quantities of vitamins (A, B and C), calcium, iron, and protein. The leaves of *M. oleifera* have been reported to have an antioxidant activity due to the higher amount of polyphenols, tannins, anthocyanin, glycosides, and thiocarbamates, which remove free radicals, activate antioxidant enzymes and inhibit oxidases (Moyo et al., 2012).

Table 5 reveals that there was no significant (P > 0.05) difference in the means of mean total viable intestinal bacterial and coliform count among different treatments. Nevertheless, 1% MOLP revealed the lowest total vial intestinal bacterial count as compared with control. Parallel results were seen by Moez et al. (2014) who detected enhancement of the antimicrobial activity of dry M. oleifera leaves. Divya et al. (2014) detected that supplementation of MOLP (0.5, 1.0, 1.5 and 2.0%) significantly reduced the gut microflora and coliform population. Moreover, Onsare et al. (2013), Gomashe et al. (2014) and Hossam et al. (2016) observed that M. oleifera leaf extract inhibited the growth of Escherichia coli and Salmonella spp. and act as antibacterial. Yang et al. (2006) and Younis and Elbestawy (2017) proved the positive effect of M. oleifera (3% dried leaves) on the enhancement of duodenum traits, reduced E. coli and increased Lactobacillus spp. counts which helped in improving the intestinal health of broilers and increasing the production of digestive secretions and nutrient absorption. Al-Husnan and Alkahtani (2016) demonstrated that MOLP possesses antibacterial properties that may be beneficial in lowering the populations of potentially pathogenic bacteria in broilers intestine. Extracts of *M. oleifera* seeds may contain antibiotic metabolites, such as carboxylic acid, 2,4-diacetyl phloroglucinol, and cell wall-degrading enzymes and chitinases. It also possesses antimicrobial activity due to its principle component pterygospermin which kills bacteria by blocking the enzymes cysteine proteinase and al-cohol dehydrogenase and thus blocks bacteria metabolism and survival (Yang et al., 2006).

Our findings showed that there were significant (P < 0.05) differences in the means of HI titers between MOLP and the control where the highest means were seen in 1% MOLP treated birds (Table 6). Several investigations are indicative of beneficial effects of M. oleifera in boosting the immune systems (Olugbemi et al., 2010; Al-Majali et al., 2017). The study of Yang et al. (2006) showed that dietary dehydrated leaves of Moringa induce a significant increase in the concentrations of total globulin, y-globulin and lymphocyte ratio, antibody titer levels with comparison to the standard (sheep erythrocytes), and delayed-type hypersensitivity of broiler chickens. Comparable results also were obtained by Chollom et al. (2012), Eze et al. (2013), Hossam et al. (2016) and Younis and Elbestawy (2017) who demonstrated that M. oleifera extracts have nutritional value as well as strong antiviral activity against ND virus.

Table 2. The effect of different treatments level of MOLP on body weights of broiler chickens							
Traatmonts	Age in weeks						
Treatments	0	1	2	3	4	5	
T0	46.61±0.7	86.10 ± 1.6^{b}	253.31±3.0°	675.01 ±6.9°	970.80±12.1°	1296.19±16.9°	
T1	45.82±0.6	109.40±1.4ª	310.65±5.0ª	786.76±5.7ª	1290.72±11.7ª	1907.45±14.3ª	
T2	44.91 ± 0.3	102.75±1.1ª	296.93±4.6b	754.84±5.9 ^b	1198.52±11.9ª	1710.21±14.6 ^b	
Т3	45.35±0.5	107.98 ± 1.5^{a}	291.87±4.0b	715.93±5.1 ^{ab}	1065.43±12.0 ^b	1800.76±14.9 ^b	

Means with different superscripts, within age, are significantly different (P < 0.05)

Table 3. The effect of different treatments level of MOLP on FCR of broiler chickens						
Treatmonts		Age in weeks				
Treatments	1	2	3	4	5	
Т0	$1.50{\pm}0.20$	3.10±0.41ª	$2.97{\pm}0.31^{a}$	$2.76\pm0.72^{\rm a}$	$3.09\pm0.21^{\mathtt{a}}$	
T1	1.21 ± 0.03	1.56±0.05°	1.42±0.02°	1.63±0.04°	1.27±0.03°	
T2	1.35 ± 0.02	$1.90{\pm}0.03^{b}$	$1.69{\pm}0.01^{ab}$	1.87 ± 0.03^{b}	1.63 ± 0.02^{b}	
Т3	1.38 ± 0.01	2.09±0.02 ^b	1.90±0.01 ^b	1.94±0.02 ^b	1.67±0.02 ^b	

Means with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05)

Table 4. The effect of different treatments level of MOLP on EPEF of broiler chickens

Treatments	European Production Efficiency Factor (EPEF)
T0	275.5±7.91
T1	298.3±6.84
T2	$283.7{\pm}8.0$
T3	279.9±9.76

Table 5. The effect of different treatments level of MOLP on total viable count and Coliform count in broiler chickens					
Treatment	Total viable count log10 (CFU/g)	Coliform count log10 (CFU/g)			
ТО	6.2	5.8			
T1	5.7	4.9			
T2	5.9	5.2			
Т3	6.1	5.6			

Table 6. The effect of different treatments level of MOLP on HI antibody titers against ND virus vaccine in broiler chickens

			Age in weeks		
Treatments	1	2	3	4	5
T0	$4.7\pm3.0^{\mathrm{a}}$	3.9±3.5ª	4.8±3.0ª	5.1±3.2ª	5.03±2.2ª
T1	$5.9{\pm}2.5^{b}$	4.7 ± 2.9^{b}	6.5±2.1 ^b	6.3 ± 2.8^{b}	6.8 ± 1.7^{b}
T2	5.6±2.3 ^b	4.7 ± 2.9^{b}	6.3 ± 3.4^{b}	$6.0{\pm}2.8^{b}$	6.5±1.7 ^b
Т3	$5.4{\pm}2.3^{b}$	4.2 ± 3.7^{b}	6.1±3.4 ^b	6.1 ± 3.0^{b}	6.2 ± 1.8^{b}

Means with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05)

CONCLUSIONS

In conclusion, dietary supplementation of broiler chickens with levels 0, 1%, 5% and 7.5% MOLP could improve the body weight, FCR and EPEF, enhance the gut health by reducing the total and coliform bacterial count as well as boost the titers of HI humeral immune response to ND virus vaccine. However, 1% of MOLP induced the best results among the other levels. So, it is recommended to include this level in broiler ration.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

REFERENCES

- Aderinola OA, Rafiu TA, Akinwumi AO, Alabi TA, Adeagbo OA (2013) Utilization of *Moringa oleifera* leaf as feed supplement in broiler diet. Int J Food Agric Vet Sci 3: 94-102.
- Agashe JL, Manwar SJ, Khose KK, Wade MR (2017) Effect of supplementation of *Moringa oleifera* leaf powder on growth performance of broilers. J Poult Sci Technol 5: 28-34.
- Al-Husnan LA, Alkahtani MDF (2016) Impact of Moringa aqueous extract on pathogenic bacteria and fungi *in vitro*. Annals Agric Sci 61: 247-250.
- Al-Majali IS, Al-Oran SA, Hassuneh MR, Al-Qaralleh HN, Abu Rayyan W, Al-Thunibat OY, Mallah E, Abu-Rayyan A, Salem S (2017) Immunomodulatory effect of *Moringa peregrina* leaves, ex vivo and in vivo study. Cent Eur J Immunol 42: 231-238.
- Association of Official Analytical Chemists (AOAC) 2000. Official Methods of Analysis. 17th edition. The Association, Washington DC. USA.
- Banjo OS (2012) Growth and performance as affected by inclusion of *moringa oleifera* leaf meal in broiler chicks diet. J Biol Agric Healthcare 2: 35-39.
- Bell DD, Weaver JrWD (2002) Commercial Chicken Meat and Egg Production. 5 Ed. Kluwer academic Publishers. USA.
- Chollom SC, Agada GOA, Gotep JG, Mwankon SE, Dus PC, Bot YS, Nyango DY, Singnap CL, Fyaktu EJ, Okwori AEJ (2012) Investiga-

tion of aqueous extract of *Moringa oleifera* lam seed for antiviral activity against Newcastle disease virus *in ovo*. J Med Plant Res 6: 3870-3875.

- Divya ABM, Biswas AK, Yadav AS (2014) Effect of dietary *Moringa* oleifera leaves powder on growth performance, blood chemistry, meat quality and gut microflora of broiler chicks. Anim Nutr Feed Technol 14: 349-357.
- Eze DC, Okwor EC, Ehirim CH, Ibu JO, Shoyinka SVO (2014) Comparative evaluation of *Moringa oleifera* and vacci-boost immunomodulators. S Asian JExploration Biol 4: 42-47.
- Eze DC, Okwor EC, Okoye JOA, Onah DN (2013) Immunologic effects of *Moringa oleifera* methanolic leaf extract in chickens infected with Newcastle disease virus (kudu 113) strain. Afr J Pharmacol 7: 2231-2237.
- Gomashe AV, Gulhane PA, Junghare MP, Dhakate NA (2014) Antimicrobial activity of Indian medicinal plants *Moringa oleifera* and *Saraca Indica*. Int J Curr Microbiol App Sci 3: 161-169.
- Hashemipour H, Khaksar V, Rubio LA, Veldkamp T, van Krimpen MM (2016) Effect of feed supplementation with a thymol plus carvacrol mixture, in combination or not with an NSP degrading enzyme, on productive and physiological parameters of broilers fed on wheatbased diets. Anim Feed Sci Technol 211: 117-131.

J HELLENIC VET MED SOC 2019, 70(4) ПЕКЕ 2019, 70(4)

- Hong JC, Steiner T, Aufy A, Lien TF (2012) Effects of supplemental essential oil on growth performance, lipid metabolites and immunity, intestinal characteristics, microbiota and carcass traits in broilers. Livestock Sci 144: 253-262.
- Hossam A, Abdelazem MA, Farag HS, Hamed A (2016) Some hemato-biochemical, bacteriological and pathological effects of *Moringa oleifera* leaf extract in broiler chickens. Int J Basic App Sci 5: 99-104.
- ISO (1995). Recommendation of the meeting of the subcommittee, International Organization for Standardization, on meat and meat products. ISO/TC-36/Sc-6. The Netherlands. 10-18.
- Khan I, Zaneb H, Masood S, Yousaf MS, Rehman HF, Rehman H (2017) Effect of *Moringa oleifera* leaf powder supplementation on growth performance and intestinal morphology in broiler chickens. J Anim Physiol Anim Nutr 101: 114-121.
- Kout E, Moustafa ME, Riry FH, Mousa S, Hanan MAM, Alghonimy AH, Youssef SF (2015) Effect of using *Moringa oleifera* leaf meal on performance of Japanese quail. Egypt Poult Sci J 35: 1095-1108.
- Kostadinović Lj, Popović S, Ljubojević Pelić D, Čabarkapa I, Đuragić O, Lević J (2019) Medicinal plants as natural alternative to coccidial synthetic drugs in broiler chicken production. J Agron Technol Eng Manag 2(5): 325-334.
- Moez SI, Badawi AY, Omer HAA (2014) Assessment of antimicrobial effect of Moringa: *In vitro* and *in vivo* evaluation. Afr J Microbiol Res 8: 3630-3638.
- Mousa MA, Osman AS, AbdelHady HAM (2017) Performance, immunology and biochemical parameters of *Moringa oleifera* and/or *Cichorium intybus* addition to broiler chicken ration. J Vet Med Anim Health 9: 255-263.
- Moyo B, Oyedemi S, Masika PJ, Muchenje V (2012) Polyphenolic content and antioxidant properties of *Moringa oleifera* leaf extracts and enzymatic activity of liver from goats supplemented with *Moringa oleifera* leaves/sunflower seed cake. Meat Sci 91: 441-447.
- Nkukwana TT (2012) Effect of *Moringa oleifera* leaf meal on growth performance, gut integrity, bone strength, quality and oxidative stability of meat from broiler chickens. Thesis Ph. D (Animal Sciences), Faculty of Science and Agriculture, University of Fort Hare, Alice, South Africa, 2–3.
- National Research Council (NRC) (1994) Nutrient Requirements of Poultry. 9th Rev. ed., National Academy Press, Washington, DC.

- Ochi EB, Elbushra ME, Fatur M, Abubakr Ismail O, Hafiz A (2015) Effect of moringa (*Moringa oleifera* lam) seeds on the performance and carcass characteristics of broiler chickens. J Natural Sci Res, 5: 66-73.
- Okafor IN, Ezebuo FC, Azodo NT (2014) Effect of *Moringa oleifera* leaf protein concentrate supplemented feed on growth and nutritional parameters in broilers. World App Sci J 32: 133-138.
- Olugbemi TS, Mutayoba SK, Lekule FP (2010) Effect of moringa (Moringa oleifera) inclusion in cassava based diets fed to broiler chickens. Int J Poult Sci 9: 363-367.
- Onsare JG, Kaur H, Arora DS (2013) Antimicrobial activity of *Morin-ga oleifera* from different locations against some human pathogens. Acad J Med Plants 1: 080-091.
- Onunkwo DN, George OS (2015) Effects of *Moringa oleifera* leaf meal on the growth performance and carcass characteristics of broiler birds. IOSR J Agric Vet Sci 8: 63-66.
- Popović S, Kostadinović Lj, Đuragić O, Aćimović M, Čabarkapa I, Puvača N, Ljubojević Pelić D (2018) Influence of medicinal plants mixtures (*Artemisia absinthium, Thymus vulgaris, Menthae piperitae* and *Thymus serpyllum*) in broilers nutrition on biochemical blood status.J Agron Technol Eng Manag 1(1): 91-98.
- SAS Institute (2000). SAS[®] User's Guide: Statistics. Version & Edition. SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA.
- Swayne DE, Glisson JR, Jackwood MW, Pearson JE, Reed WM (1998) A Laboratory Manual for the Isolation and Identification of Avian Pathogens. 4 Ed, American Association of Avian Pathologist Inc, Kennett Square, Pennsylvania, USA.
- Tesfaye E, Animut G, Urge M, Dessie T (2013) Moringa olifera leaf meal as an alternative protein feed ingredient in broiler ration. Int J Poult Sci 12: 289-297.
- Yang R, Chang L, Hsu J, Weng BBC, Palada MC, Chadha ML, Levawsseur V (2006) Nutritional and functional properties of Moringa leaves-from germplasm, to plant, to food, to health. Proceedings of the Workshop on Moringa and other Highly Nutritious Plant Resources: Strategies, Standards and Markets for a Better Impact on Nutrition in Africa, November, 16-18, 2006, Accra, Ghana, pp: 1-9.
- Younis Mona EM, Elbestawy AR (2017) Water supplementation of *Moringa oleifera* and its effect on performance, blood antioxidant and immune response of two broiler breeds. J Biol Sci 17: 52-60.

Investigation of serum homocysteine levels in relation to age and sex

N. H. Aksoy

Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Aksaray University, 68100 Aksaray, Turkey

ABSTRACT. Homocysteine is a non-proteinogenic and a derived amino acid in the methionine metabolism and is a risk factor for cardiovascular and many other metabolic diseases. In this study, the purpose was to determine serum homocysteine levels in healthy sheep based on differences in age and gender. 220 healthy Akkaraman sheep, composed of both females (n=55 lambs and 55 ewes) and males (n=55 lambs and 55 rams), were used as animal samples. The measurements of serum homocysteine concentrations were performed with ELISA-HCY kit. The levels of serum homocysteine of sheep were detected in ewes, female lambs, rams and male lambs as $2,91\pm0,50$; $2,99\pm0,42$; $11,22\pm3,10$; $6,43\pm1,26 \mu mol/L$, respectively. The primary intent of this study was to investigation and characterization the serum Hcy concentrations in healthy sheep broken down by different ages in both genders As a result, the serum homocysteine values that can constitute a reference value for healthy breeds of sheep were determined in this study.

Keywords: Sheep, homocysteine, gender differences, age differences

Corresponding Author: N. H. Aksoy, Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Aksaray University, 68100 Aksaray, Turkey E-mail address: nhaksoy@gmail.com

Date of initial submission: 08-02-2019 Date of revised submission: 03-08-2019 Date of acceptance: 11-08-2019
INTRODUCTION

Homocysteine (Hcy), a sulphur-including amino acid that does not participate in protein construction and DNA structure, was first isolated from urine bag by Vincent du Vigneaud in 1933 and in 1955, for which he received the Nobel Prize in Chemistry (McCully 1969; Wijekoon et al., 2006; Graham et al., 1997; Ramakrishnan et al., 2006).

For the first time, McCully (1969) proposed a "homocysteine theory in atherosclerosis" and has developed the hypothesis that homocysteine may lead to vascular diseases (McCully 1969; Graham et al., 1997; Wijekoon et al., 2006).

Hcy is an intermediary product in methionine metabolism. Hcy, which mediates methionine metabolism, is catabolized in the reaction with the vitamin B6 cofactor of Cysteine (Cys). In most tissues, Hcy can be converted back to methionine by this re-methylation reaction, catalyzed by the enzyme "methionine synthase," requiring 5-methylene tetrahydrofolate (THF4) in the form of reduced folate as the methyl donor with vitamin B12 cofactor (Finkelstein et al., 2000; Ravaglia et al., 2005; Wijekoon et al., 2006; Ramakrishnan et al., 2006; Martinez et al., 2017; Mohammad et al., 2010; Kumar et al., 2017; Škovierová et al., 2016).

The Hcy formed inside the cell is released into the blood and urine. Vitamin B12, folate and B6 are essential cofactors in Hcy re-methylation and trans-sulfation pathways. Plasma total Hcy levels are known and accepted to be important biochemical parameters as determinants of possible cardiovascular conditions and consequent mortality in patients with neuronal disorders, renal insufficiency, diabetes, systemic lupus erythematosus and venous thromboembolism, especially coronary-heart disease (Martinez et al., 2017; Ramakrishnan et al., 2006; Kumar et al., 2017). The conclusions of different studies clearly showed that insufficiencies of folate, vitamin B12, or methionin are affecting serum and cellular levels of S-adenosylmethionine (SAM), S-adenosylhomocysteine and homocysteine and are linked with molecular processes leading to oncogenesis and also carcinogenesis (Murin et al., 2017; Martinez et al., 2017).

Human studies have shown that plasma Hcy concentrations increase with age (higher in adults than in pediatric periods), and are higher in males than females. It is known that the most important factors affecting Hcy level are genetic and nutritional factors (vitamin B6 and B12 or folate deficiencies), age, gender difference, physiological periods, especially the postmenopausal period and some metabolic disorders (Robinson et al., 1994; Mohammad et al., 2010; Piccione et al., 2008; Masuda et al., 2008; Škovierová et al., 2016).

While slight age-related increases are considered physiological, the high Hcy levels observed at younger ages are linked to genetic predisposition and environmental factors (smoking, toxic carcinogenic substances and drugs) (Corrales et al., 2002; Carmel and Jacobsen, 2001; Refsum 1998; Wijekoon et al., 2006; Varga 2005; Richards 2008; Hankey and Eikelboom 1999; Graham et al., 1997; Martinez et al. 2017; Ramakrishnan et al., 2006; Piccione et al., 2008). An increase in the homocysteine level is an indicator of lower intake of foods containing vitamin B12, or malfunction of renal functions or possibly a low enzyme activity in the metabolism of homocysteine (Martinez et al., 2017; Furlong et al., 2010; Murin et al., 2017).

With this current preliminary research, is aimed that, to reveal and compare the presence of homocysteine in sheep, depending on age and gender differences.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethical scope

This study was conducted in accordance with the principles of the Local Ethics Committee in the framework of the ethics confirmed by the Bahri Dagdas International Agricultural Research Institute, Directorate of Local Ethics Committee of Animal Experiments (14.01.2015 / 35 and 0088).

Sample collection

The sample collection was done during May 2016. The sheep were on pasture free-ranging and normal-fed, and the ambient temperature was $1.5 \,^{\circ}$ C above the normal seasonal average for May. In this study, blood samples were collected from animals in private enterprises located in Aksaray, Turkey. The animal material in this study consisted of 220 healthy Akkaraman sheep. The sheep originated from Aksaray and its vicinity. All animals were found healthy by clinical examination and general clinical perspective. The animals were separated into four groups of 55 sheep each, based on sex and age. Two hundred and twenty totally healthy sheep, both females (n=55 lambs and 55 ewes) and males (n=55 lambs and 55 rams), were used as animal material.

Blood samples were simultaneously collected during morning hours from each animal. 15 mL of animal blood was taken from the jugular vein and placed into ice-bed-cold vacuum serum-separating tubes as appropriate for the blood-collection procedure. Blood samples, which were collected into anticoagulant-free serum tubes, were centrifuged 10 minutes at 3000 rpm (Coles, 1986) in biochemistry laboratory. Hemolysis-free sera obtained after centrifugation were separated into the micro (Eppendorf) tubes and labeled and stored at -25 °C deep freeze until analyzed. These samples were used for homocysteine analysis.

Hcy assays

For the Hcy assay, previously frozen serum samples were dissolved (at RT) and assayed at without wasting time. They were analyzed in the same experimental set and against the blind.

Levels of serum peptides were measured blindly by using commercially available enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits to detect peptides in the biological fluids and were read with using the ELISA plate reader.

In the scope of the study quantities of Hcy peptides in sera were studied by commercial quantification (Shangai Sunred, Biological Tech., China) using the ELISA method. HCY-ELISA-Plates were read on the ELISA-Plate Reader (450 nm) (ELx800 Absorbance Microplate Reader-Biotek). Homocysteine concentrations were calculated from standard curves.

Assay range: 0.6µmol/L→100µmol/L.

Sensitivity:0.31µmol/L.

CV(%) = SD/meanX100

Intra-Assay: CV<10%

Inter-Assay: CV<12%

Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics for the properties studied; Mean, Standard Deviation, Standard Error, Minimum and Maximum values.

Data were analyzed using the SPSS 15.0 for WindowsTM statistical software (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Differences among the groups were analyzed by Student t-test. "One-way ANOVA" was performed to compare the group averages in terms of continuous variables. The Duncan multiple comparison test was used to identify the different groups following the analysis of variance. The data are given as the means \pm standard error (X \pm SH). Statistical significance was accepted as p<0.05 level.

RESULTS

The serum Hcy levels of the four groups, which differs based on age and sex, were presented in table 1. In the current study, serum homocysteine levels (table 1) were found to be higher in males than in females when examined without regard to age (figure 3, 4). It was found that in females, age difference in Hcy values was not found statistically significant (Hcy values were found to be close to each other in female lambs and ewes, figure 1). In males, it was much lower in lambs than in rams (figure 2). These differences were significant compared to rams (p<0.05) (table 1).



Fig. 1. Levels of serum Hcy in ewes and female lambs



Fig. 2. Levels of serum Hcy in rams and male lambs





Fig. 3. Comparing the serum Hcy levels of ewes and rams

Fig. 4. Comparing the serum Hcy levels of female and male lambs

Table 1. Levels of serum Homocysteine of Akkaraman sheep							
Polypeptide (Unit)	Ewes (n=55)	Female lambs (n=55)	Rams (n=55)	Male lambs (n=55)			
Homocysteine (µmol/L)	2,91±0,50a	2,99±0,42a	11,22±3,10ab	6,43±1,26ab			

DISCUSSION

From 1969 until today, a variety of research was performed based on different viewpoints on Hcy. These first studies have been carried out in especially humans (Carson et al., 1963; Gibson et al., 1964; McCully 1969; Graham et al., 1997).

Hcy is known to be an important biochemical parameter, primarily as a cardiovascular marker, as a determinant of neuronal disorders, renal health, renal failure, diabetes and venous thromboembolism, and even carcinogenesis (Finkelstein et al., 2000; Ravaglia et al., 2005; Wijekoon et al., 2006; Martinez et al., 2017; Ramakrishnan et al., 2006; Kumar et al., 2017). Levels of the advanced biochemical research marker Hcy are a current and reliable tool for the evaluation of the health conditions of humans and animals in different metabolic and endocrinal periods in which the homeostatic continuum of organisms is altered. The analysis of Hcy amounts is a valuable parameter for the assessment of the health status of an animal in different endocrinal periods such as the pre-menopausal, post-menopausal or lactation period, etc (Piccione et al., 2008). Also in terms of homocysteine, gene, breed, age and sex differences influences the biochemical, physiological, endocrinal and all metabolic variables of organisms. Therefore, it is important to consider the homocysteine levels as a trustworthy marker of human and animal welfare in order to demonstrate possible preventive changes of the healthy states and the beginning of the diseases and metabolic disorders.

The main goal of this research was to analysis and qualifies the serum Hcy concentrations in healthy sheep broken down by different ages and genders. It could not found many research reference amounts for small ruminants (especially for sheep) on this subject. The current research was performed to find out normal physiological values of serum Hcy concentrations in the healthy Akkaraman breed sheep.

In human studies have shown that concentrations of plasma Hcy increase with age and are higher in males than females. This result shows that homocysteine levels are determined by both genetic and nutritional factors and gender differences are important (Robinson et al., 1994; Graham et al., 1997; Hankey and Eikelboom 1999; Corrales et al., 2002; Varga 2005; Wijekoon et al 2006; Richards 2008; Piccione et al., 2008; Masuda et al., 2008; Mohammad et al., 2010; Škovierová et al., 2016).

In the present study, results were obtained in a similar framework. Compared to the submitted work, homocysteine levels were found to be higher in males than females without regard to age. Levels were much lower in male lambs than in rams and it was observed that these results were statistically significant compared to rams (p<0.05). It was detected that for Hcy values, age differences were not very important in females (levels were found to be close to each other in female lambs and ewes).

In the literature, related research on the topic is sparse.

A study conducted by Furlong and colleagues in 2010 aimed to assess the possible diagnostic role of plasma Hcy in relation to methylmalonic acid and vit B12, in pregnant Romney ewes (3 years). They reported the mean concentrations of Hcy remained within the range of $1.5-3.0 \,\mu$ mol/L (Furlong et al., 2010). Its seen that, this result is very close to our Hcy levels in 1-4 years old ewes (2,91±0,50 μ mol/L).

In other research Rezaei and Dalir-Naghadeh specified that, homocysteine amounts in lambs with the acute cardiac disease were higher than in lambs with the muscular dystrophy. Also they proved that Hcy concentrations in healthy lambs were lower than in with the cardiac form of acute selenium deficiency ones. The researchers declared that in sheep, increased plasma Hcy amounts would be a risk factor for myocardial disease (Rezaei and Dalir-Naghadeh, 2009). In another study, Kozat and coworkers had compared amounts of Hcy between healthy lambs and subclinical lambs with white muscle disease. They found that patient lambs have higher values of Hcy than healthy lambs (p < 0.05). Compared with the present study (particularly male lambs, Hcy $(6,43\pm1,26 \mu mol/L)$, the Hcy levels of healthy lambs (without sex discrimination) is very similar and values may be close (healthy lambs control group Hcy=5.10±3.33 µmol/L) (Kozat et al., 2011).

In a study managed by Piccione and his colleagues intended to investigate the effect of Hcy levels and the antioxidant stress of lactation in sheep, considering the lactation periods, only female sheep were selected (Piccione et al., 2008). In this study, serum Hcy was 2.91 ± 0.50 (µmol/L) in female sheep (ewes) between 1-4 years old. It is observed that in Piccione's study, the level of serum Hcy determined on the first day of lactation was slightly higher $(3.40\pm0.17 \mu mol/L)$ than the level in the current study ($2.91\pm0.50 \mu mol/L$). In a research study conducted in 2015, (Razavi et al., 2015), serum levels measured in relation to a parasitic infections (Malignant Ovine Theileriosis) in sheep were found to be lower in controls than in patient samples (control animal hcy level: 7.29±0.54; non-infected animal hcy level: 12.18±0.50; infected animal Hcy level: 11.16±0.57 µmol/L). In 2010, Mohammad and co-workers analyzed levels of serum homocysteine in male and female subjects below and above 50 years of age who have coronary heart disease with or without diabetes mellitus (Mohammad et al, 2010). Serum homocysteine levels were higher in patients with coronary heart disease and diabetes than in healthy controls. Further, serum homocysteine levels were lower in women than in men. This study additionally proved that the level of Hcv increases with age. But interestingly, in women over 50 years of age (post-menopausal period), the increase in Hcy level was slightly higher than in men.

CONCLUSIONS

If we support our research with these and similar studies, measuring quantities of Hcy in plasma or serum as a metabolic indicator in sheep, especially the methylation capacity, and as a general health parameter will provide vital information on animal health.

Considering all conditions, differences in region, breeds, sex, age, season and nutritional sources could affect homocysteine levels and cause changes in the present study.

Consequently, it is intended that in presented study Hcy variables of age and gender of clinicaly healthy sheep were based on the reference values for healthy sheep. Amounts of blood Hcy get on the basis of breed, age and gender of sheep should meet the requirement for diagnosis of healthy conditions. This value might be a reference value for serum Hcy levels in healthy Akkaraman sheep.

The purpose of current work is to identfy and detect the serum Hcy values that are a biochemical, physiological, endocrinological, cardiological parameter and even carcinogenic biomarker of healthy sheep. These results will provide valuable contributions to the literature, for both academicians and veterinarians.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research was supported by Aksaray University Scientific Research Projects Coordination Unit (Project No: **2015-084**).

I would like to thank Dr. Tahir Karasahin for his support and the always fruitful cooperation.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

The author has nothing to disclose. No conflicts of interest exist. The author has no financial or personal relationship that could inappropriately influence or bias the content of this paper.

REFERENCES

- Carmel R, Jacobsen, D.W. (2001) Homocysteine in health and disease, Cambridge University Press, England.
- Carson NAJ, Cusworth DC, Dentt CE, Field CMB, Neill DW, Westallt RG (1963) Homocystinuria: A New Inborn Error of Metabolism Associated with Mental Deficiency. Arch. Dis. Childl., 38, 425.
- Coles, E.H. (1986) Veterinary Clinical Pathology 4th Edition. W.B. Saunders Co. Philadelphia.
- Corrales F.J, Pérez-Mato I, Sánchez Del Pino M.M., Ruiz F., Castro C., Trevijano E.R., et al., (2002) Regulation of mammalian liver methionine adenosyltransferase. J Nutr 132:2377-2381.
- Furlong JM, Sedcole JR, Sykes AR. (2010) An evaluation of plasma homocysteine in the assessment of vitamin B12 status of pasture-fed sheep. New Zealand Veterinary Journal. 58:11-16.
- Finkelstein JD, Martin JJ. (2000) Homocysteine. The International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology. 32:385-89.
- Gibson JB, Carson NAJ, Neill DW (1964) Pathological findings in homocystinuria. Journal of Clinical Pathology. 17:427-437.
- Graham IM., Daly LE, Refsum HM, Robinson K, Brattström LE, Ueland PM, Palma-Reis RJ., et all. (1997) Plasma homocysteine as a risk factor for vascular disease. The European Concerted Action Project. JAMA. 277:1775-81.
- Hankey GJ, Eikelboom JW. (1999) Homocysteine and vascular disease. Lancet. 354:407-413.
- Kozat S, Altuğ N, Yüksek N, Özkan C. (2011) Evaluation of the levels of homocysteine, troponin I, and nitric oxide in lambs with subclinical white muscle disease. Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg.17: 441-4.
- Kumar A, Palfrey HA, Pathak R, Kadowitz PJ, Gettys TW, Murthy SN. (2017) The metabolism and significance of homocysteine in nutrition and healthy. Nutr Metab (Lond). 14: 78.
- Martinez Y, Li X, Liu G, Bin P, Yan W, Más D, Valdivié M, Hu CA, Ren W, Yin Y. (2017) The role of methionine on metabolism, oxidative stress, and diseases. Amino Acids 49:2091-2098.
- Masuda Y, Kubo A, Kokaze A, Yoshida M, Fukuhara N, Takashima Y. (2008) Factors associated with serum total homocysteine level in type 2 diabetes. Environ Health Prev Med. 13:148–155.
- McCully, KS. (1969) Vascular pathology of homocysteinemia: implications for the pathogenesis of arteriosclerosis. Am J Pathol. 56:111-28.
- Murín R, Vidomanová E, Kowtharapu BS, Hatok J, Dobrota D. (2017) Gen Physiol Biophys. Role of S-adenosylmethionine cycle in carcinogenesis. 36:513-520.

- Mohammad FI, Awawdeh S, Saleh A, and Bashir NA. (2010) Total Level of Serum Homocysteine in Males and Females with Coronary Heart Disease of Different Age Groups American Journal of Biochemistry and Biotechnology. 6:116-119.
- Piccione G, Casella S, Assenza A, Fazio F, Caola G. (2008) Evaluation of serum homocysteine and oxidative stress during lactation in ewes Czech J. Anim. Sci. 53: 462–465.
- Ramakrishnan S, Sulochana KN, Lakshmi S, Selvi R, Angayarkanni N. (2006) Biochemistry of homocysteine in health and diseases Indian J Biochem Biophys. 43:275-283.
- Ravaglia G, Forti P, Maioli F, Martelli M, Servadei L, Brunetti N, Porcellini E, Licastra F. (2005) Homocysteine and folate as risk factors for dementia and Alzheimer disease. Am J Clin Nutr. 82:636-643.
- Razavi SM, Nazifi S, Mokhtari N, and Rakhshandehroo E. (2015) Correlations Among the Level of Homocysteine, Antioxidant Enzymes, Antioxidant Vitamins and Lipid Peroxidation of Erythrocytes in Malignant Ovine Theileriosis. Research Journal of Parasitology. 10:42-49.
- Refsum H. (1998) Homocysteine and cardiovascular disease. Ann Rev Med. 49, 31–62.
- Rezaei SA, Dalir-Naghadeh B. (2009) Association of plasma and heart homocysteine and blood malondialdehyde with cardiovascular diseases induced by acute selenium deficiency in lambs. Small Rum Res. 83:22-28.
- Richards JB. (2008) Homocysteine levels and leukocyte telomere length. Atherosclerosis. 200:271-277.
- Robinson K, Mayer E, Jacobsen DW. (1994) Homocysteine and coronary artery disease. Cleveland Clinic Journal of Medicine. 61:438-450.
- Škovierová H, Vidomanová E, Mahmood S, Sopková J, Drgová A, Červeňová T, Halašová E, Lehotský J. (2016) The Molecular and Cellular Effect of Homocysteine Metabolism Imbalance on Human Health. Int J Mol Sci.17:1733.
- Varga EA. (2005) Cardiology patient pages. Homocysteine and MTHFR mutations: relation to thrombosis and coronary artery disease. Circulation. 111:289-293.
- Wijekoon EP, Brosnan ME, Brosnan JT. Chapter Ed: Dhalla N.S., (2006) Chapter 15: Homocysteine Metabolism, Vol.1: Biochemistry of Atherosclerosis. Advances in Biochemistry in Health and Disease, p:329-357. (ISBN-10: 0-387-31252-8 / ISBN-13: 978-0387-31252-1) Springer Science, Business Media, LLC.

Parasite infection in *Serranus cabrilla* (Perciformes, Serranidae): histopathological aspects and new host record for nematode genus *Philometra* from Aegean Sea, Turkey

D. Innal^{1*}, M. M. Stavrescu-Bedivan², O. Ozmen³

¹Burdur Mehmet Akif Ersoy University, Department of Biology, Burdur, Turkey

² University of Agronomic Sciences and Veterinary Medicine of Bucharest, Faculty of Agriculture, Romania

³Burdur Mehmet Akif Ersoy University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Pathology, Burdur, Turkey

ABSTRACT. This study was conducted to determine infection with nematode parasite *Philometra* sp. in gonads of *Serranus cabrilla* recorded in Izmir Gulf between October 2016 and July 2017. The overall prevalence was 14.46% and the mean intensity of infection 1.2 parasites per fish. The occurrence of philometrid infection on comber hosts was assessed according to several risk factors (fish length class, sex and season). Our findings suggest that the highest rates of parasite infection occur in larger sized fish, hermaphrodite individuals and during April month.

The present report also revealed that marked hyperemia was the major findings of infected gonads of *S. cabrilla*, where parasitic nematodes caused a marked inflammatory reaction at the histopathological examination.

As far as we know, this paper represents the first mention of genus *Philometra* in *S. cabrilla* from Turkey and the first presence of philometrid parasites in Aegean coast of Turkey. Furthermore, the present work is the first record of the effects of *Philometra* sp. parasitism on a serranid species in Izmir Gulf.

Keywords: gonad, histopathology, infection, Philometra, Serranus cabrilla

Corresponding Author: D. Innal, Burdur Mehmet Akif Ersoy University, Department of Biology, Burdur, Turkey E-mail address: innald@yahoo.com

Date of initial submission: 28-02-2019 Date of revised submission: 31-08-2019 Date of acceptance: 01-09-2019

INTRODUCTION

The gonad-infecting parasites of *Philometra* (Nematoda: Phylometridae) occur in marine waters, causing harmful effects to their hosts (Perdikaris et al., 2003). These nematodes have a wide distribution in Atlantic, Indian and Pacific Oceans, damaging wild or cultured commercially important fish (Moravec et al., 2008). According to Moravec and de Buron (2013), the members of the Philometridae family are the most important group of dracunculoid nematodes parasitizing in the teleost fish.

The presence of four species of Philometra parasite genus has been already documented for helmintofauna of seven marine perciformes from Turkey: P. filiformis (Stossich, 1896) in Common pandora Pagellus erythrinus (Linnaeus, 1758); P. globiceps (Rudolphi, 1819) in Mediterranean horse mackerel Trachurus mediterraneus (Steindachner, 1868) and Stargazer Uranoscopus scaber (Linnaeus, 1758); P. lateolabracis (Yamaguti, 1935) in White grouper Epinephelus aeneus (Geoffroy Saint-Hilaire, 1817), Dusky grouper Epinephelus marginatus (Lowe, 1834) and Mottled grouper Mycteroperca rubra (Bloch, 1793); P. saltatrix (Ramachandran, 1973) in Bluefish Pomatomus saltatrix (Linnaeus, 1766); additionally, unnamed helminthes Philometra sp. were found in Goldblotch grouper Epinephelus costae (Steindachner, 1878) from Mediterranean Sea (Moravec and Genc, 2004; Öktener, 2014). Except the P. globiceps founded in the Black Sea, the other three knowing species of Philometra in Turkey were encountered in the Mediterranean Sea (Öktener, 2014).

The comber, *Serranus cabrilla* (Linnaeus, 1758) is a perciform species with minor commercial value, occurring in the Eastern Atlantic and the Mediterranean Sea (Ilhan et al., 2010). Along the Turkish coast of Aegean Sea, an important region for fishing industry, *S. cabrilla* is one of the main species captured by fishing trawlers and the most abundant comber encountered in the Turkish Sea, unlike its congeners (Brown comber *S. hepatus* Linnaeus, 1758; painted comber *S. scriba* Linnaeus, 1758) (Torcu-Koc et al., 2004). This member of Serranidae family was previously registered in Izmir Bay, Central Aegean Sea (Özaydın et al., 2007; Ilhan et al., 2010).

The comber was analysed before in many aspects, concerning: growth and reproduction (Ilhan et al., 2010); feeding habits (Çakir and Koç, 2002); or spatio-temporal patterns of abundance and biomass (Özbek et al., 2016). However, there is still a lack

of knowledge regarding the parasites of *S. cabrilla*. As Genc et al. (2005) postulated, since Serranids are predators, the prevalence of infestation in those fish deserves a great deal of attention.

To date, only few parasite species have been reported worldwide on the comber host: the trematode Lecithochirium musculus (Paradižnik and Radujković, 2007); the isopods Ceratothoa steindachneri (Öktener et al., 2007), Gnathia sp. (Alaş et al., 2009) and Nerocila orbigyni (Özcan et al., 2015); the anisakid nematodes such as Anisakis and Hysterothylacium (Kassem and Bowashi, 2015); the copepod Anchistrotos laqueus n. sp. (Leigh-Sharpe, 1935) and monogenoidean species Megalocotyle hexacantha and Protolamellodiscus serranelli (Strona et al., 2010). Among the 14 nominal recognized species of nematodes Philometra parasiting the gonads of marine fishes, only P. serranellicabrillae Janiszewska, 1949 was described in comber, from the Adriatic Sea and from Mediterranean Sea, in southern Corsica (Moravec et al., 2006).

Until now, in Aegean coast of Turkey no *Philometra* species was founded. Also, there is not yet any evidence of philometrid nematode parasitizing *S. cabrilla* in Turkey. Therefore, this study aimed to investigate for the first time the occurrence of nematode *Philometra* sp. in comber from Aegean coast of Turkey and the aspects of pathogenity within the host.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Overall, 83 comber fishes were collected on seasonally basis, during October 2016 and July 2017 along the coasts of Izmir City. Two stations (1) Foça (38°36'58.N; 26°42'59.E) and (2) Sığacık (38°09'19.N; 26°42'29.E) were selected and samplings were carried out by using fishnets of mesh size of 20-24 mm. Each fish individual was examined to evaluate the parasite community.

The total body length of *Serranus cabrilla* was measured and three length-groups were established: 10-14.9, 15-19.9 and 20-25 (cm). Sex of each host was determined at necropsy by macroscopic investigation. During the dissection, internal organs (gastrointestinal tract, liver, kidney, heart, swim bladder, gallbladder and gonads), and body surfaces were examined separately under a dissecting microscope. Fixation, staining and preparation process of the determined parasites was done according to Pritchard and Kruse (1982). The parasites were identified up to genus level using selected identification keys (Chabaud, 1975; Moravec, 2004, 2006).

Prevalence (Pr %), expressed as the percentage of hosts infected with a particular parasite species or taxonomic group and mean intensity (Int), defined as the total number of individuals of a parasite species per individual infected host were calculated following Bush et al. (1997). Infection rates and statistical analyses were conducted by using Quantitative Parasitology 3.0 web application (Rozsa et al., 2000), Excel programme and SPSS 15. The χ 2-test was performed to test for significant differences between the infection rates over the three length classes. A Kruskal– Wallis test was applied to find significant differences in the mean intensity of the parasite species for host fish size, sex and seasons. Differences were considered to be significant when p ≤ 0.05 .

During the necropsy of comber, gonad samples were collected and fixed in 10% neutral formalin solution for histopathological assessment. After routinely preparation by an automatic tissue processing equipment (Leica ASP300S, Leica Microsystem, Nussloch, Germany), samples were embedded in paraffin and 5µm sections were taken by a Leica RM 2155 rotary microtome (Leica Microsystem, Nussloch, Germany). Then sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (HE) and examined under the 40X objective of an Olympus CX41 light microscope. Morphometric evaluation and microphotography was performed using the Database Manual cellSens Life Science Imaging Software System (Olympus Corporation, Tokyo, Japan).

RESULTS

Among the total number of 83 specimens of *Serra*nus cabrilla examined for parasites, only 12 fish were infected with nematode *Philometra* sp. (Table 1). The prevalence of infection was 14.46% (sexes combined), while the mean intensity of infection during the study was 1.2 parasites per fish. The highest mean intensity (1.3 parasites/fish) was recorded in hermaphrodite host individuals. Overall, the nematode infection was higher in female fishes whilst no worm was found in comber male individuals.

There were significant differences (P ≤ 0.05) in the infection rates of *S. cabrilla* between length groups, sexes and seasons. The risk factors associated with the highest prevalence of philometrid infection in comber hosts were assessed as follows: hermaphrodite sex of examined individuals, length-group 20-25 cm and spring season (April 2017), respectively. The lowest infection rate was found in autumn (October 2016), and in small comber hosts (15-19.9 cm length-group), respectively. No infection was registered in the warmest month (July 2017). Also, no *Philometra* nematode was detected in the smallest length-group of hosts (10-14.9 cm).

In addition to *Philometra* parasites, in the gonads of some fish individuals were found larvae of anisakid nematodes.

Table 1. Seasonal prevalence and intensity of *Philometra* sp. infestation in *Serranus cabrilla* from Izmir Gulf (2016-2017) (N=total number of hosts examined; N'= number of infected fishes; NP=number of collected parasites; Pr=prevalence; Int=mean intensity of infection)

Parameters	N	N'	Pr (%)	NP	Int				
Length class (cm)									
10.0-14.9	16	0	0	0	0				
15.0-19.9	44	3	6.82	3	1				
20.0-25	23	9	39.13	11	1.2				
Sex									
Female	52	8	15.38	9	1.1				
Male	6	0	0	0	0				
Hermaphrodite	25	4	16	5	1.3				
		Seaso	n						
October	27	2	7.41	2	1				
February	12	1	8.33	1	1				
April	36	9	25	11	1.2				
July	8	0	0	0	0				
Total	83	12	14.46	14	1.2				

With respect to histopathological findings, it was generally noticed that parasites were attached to the fibrous capsule around the gonads of *S. cabrilla*. Some nematodes were localized inside of the gonads. Hyperemia was the prominent finding. When *Philometra* sp. parasites were localized in the gonadal tissue, they caused a marked inflammatory reaction while slight inflammatory reaction was observed around the parasites disposed the gonads (Fig. 1-3).



Figure 1. Histopathological appearance of the *Philometra* sp. parasites (black arrows) located gonad of *S. cabrilla* (arrow head). Marked hyperemia (white arrow) at the capsular vessels, HE, Bar=200µm.



Figure 2. A parasite section (arrow) localized outside of the gonad capsule (arrow head), HE, Bar=200µm.



Figure 3. Inflammatory cell infiltrations (thin arrows), between *Philometra* sp. parasite (thick arrow) and gonad of *S. cabrilla* (arrow head), HE, Bar=200µm.

DISCUSSION

The fact that both values of prevalence and mean intensity in nematode infections increase with the body length of the host has been noticed before by various authors who suggested that as fish growth, chances of infection are higher either due to the exposure time or the increase of the internal organs of the fish that a parasite can use to attach itself (Moravec and Scholz, 1995; Al-Zubaidy, 2009; Ahmad et al., 2018). Our data are also consistent with some studies that revealed the relation between the sexually mature fish and occurrence of nematodes, younger fish being less infected or even not infected at all than older fish (Bergmann and Motta, 2004; Szostakowska et al., 2005; Perez et al., 2009). It has been postulated that S. cabrilla individuals reach sexual maturity at 3 years old, having an estimated standard length of 15.2 cm at first maturity, and a maximum life span ranged between 4 and 9 years (Torcu-Koc et al., 2004). Taking into account these growth features, we could conclude that the highest prevalence (39.13%) of philometrid infection was reached in sexually mature comber specimens from Izmir Gulf. The reduced percentages of prevalence of Philometra infection registered in October and February could be correlated with the fact that these months are out of the reproductive season for the host, since it was assumed that the spawning season on S. cabrilla from Mediterranean lasts from April to August, with a mass period in April (García-Días et al., 1997). In agreement with this statement, in the present study, the highest prevalence of parasitic nematodes (25%) was recorded in April. On the one hand, the absence of nematodes in

fish collected during July, in full spawning season can be explained by the type of fish reproduction in the spawning season, when host repetitively expels in the water column its own eggs, along with those belonging to the parasite (Cháves and Oliva, 2011). On the other hand, prevalence of infection categorized as none in July 2018 may be underestimated, as a result of a reduced number of fish collected in this month from the study area and further studies based on larger samples size are needed to clarify this aspect. A possible explanation for the limitations of using a small sample size in the parasitological analyses is given by Marques and Cabral (2007). It was already shown that prevalence and intensity of philometrid infections varies with many factors, including fish species, fishing area, food intake or season (Ali and Afsar, 2018). A relation between the prevalence of infection with Philometra adult female worms and the spawning season of its fish host has been suggested by various parasitologists (Genc et al., 2005; Perez et al., 2009; Selvakumar et al., 2015).

Moreover, the lack of parasitic infection in males of *S. cabrilla* could be attributed to the absence of a female-specific physiological trigger responsible for molting larval *Philometra* into adults, as Perez et al. (2009) suggested. The highest prevalence (16%) attributed to hermaphrodite comber individuals may be explained by the reproductive nature of *S. cabrilla*. As García-Días et al. (1997) pointed out, this fish is a synchronous hermaphrodite species, meaning that the ovarian and testicular tissue mature simultaneously.

Factors that influence the prevalence of *Philometra* sp. nematodes have not been documented before in comber host from Aegean Sea. Our data suggest that host body size, sex and season are important risk factors for parasite infection on *S. cabrilla* from Izmir Gulf.

Similar host response was registered by Ali and Afsar (2018), who found that a range of signs and symptoms as inflammation, necrosis and destruction of gonadal tissues are caused by the penetration of nematodes into gonadal wall. Genc et al. (2005) also noticed hyperemia and edema in the ovary of groupers serranid fish from Iskenderun Bay, Northeast Mediterranean Sea, infected with *Philometra lateo-labracis*. Study of parasitic nematodes infecting the fish gonad is important, due to the fact that, sometimes, the host is an economically important species. Potential pathogenic effects of parasites belonging to the family Philometridae could result in significant

damage to the gonads, including severe changes of reproductive fitness of the host (Cháves and Oliva, 2011; Bakenhaster et al., 2014; Selvakumar et al., 2015). In massive infections, when *Philometra* nematodes feed on ovarian fluid, the parasitic castration and loss of reproductive function in female hosts may occur (Ali and Afsar, 2018).

However, Bakenhaster et al. (2014) have not detected negative effects of *P. floridensis* on the overall health of the red drum *Sciaenops ocellatus*, mentioning that the question regarding how philometrid nematodes affects reproduction in their fish hosts is still a subject to be elucidated.

Concerning the presence of anisakid parasites in the gonads of *Serranus cabrilla*, it must be mentioned that this fish species has been recognize as host for these nematodes by various authors. Thus, Figus et al. (2005) registered adult forms of anisakid genus *Hysterothylacium* from comber fish from southwestern Mediterranean Sea. Kasem and Bowashi (2015) recorded larvae of anisakid parasites belonging to *Anisakis*, *Contracaecum*, *Hysterothylacium* and *Pseudoterranova* taxa in *S. cabrilla* and other marine fishes sampled on Lybian coast.

CONCLUSIONS

The present paper provides first evidence for the nematode parasites of genus *Philometra* in comber fish from Turkey. Overall, the occurrence of parasite infection was prevalent in the gonads of hermaphrodite and female sexually mature individuals of *Serranus cabrilla*. Our histopathological results show that marked hyperemia occurs when infection caused a marked inflammatory reaction. Since pathological changes in gonadal tissues induced by parasites, both philometrids and anisakids could lead to severe consequences of reproduction of their host, representing also a major concern for fisheries and home cooking, further studies are needed to assess the presence of nematodes and associated zoonoses in fish populations of Izmir Gulf and Aegean coast of Turkey.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

REFERENCES

- Ahmad F, Sheikh BA, Sofi OM, Sofi TA (2018) Prevalence of helminth parasites in fishes (*Salmo trutta* and *Schizothorax plagiostomus*) in India. Rev. Vet. 29 (1): 45-51.
- Al-Zubaidy AB (2009) Prevalence and densities of *Contracaecum* sp. larvae in *Liza abu* (Heckel, 1843) from different Iraqi water bodies. Mar. Sci. 20: 3-17.
- Alaş A, Öktener A, Yilmaz M (2009) *Gnathia* sp. (Gnathiidae) infestations on marine fish species from Turkey. Kafkas Univ. Vet. Fak. Derg. 15 (2): 201-204.
- Ali M, Afsar N (2018) A report of occurrence of gonad infecting nematode *Philometra* (Costa, 1845) in host *Priacanthus* sp. from Pakistan. International Journal of Biology and Biotechnology, 15(3): 575-580.
- Bakenhaster MD, Lowerre-Barbieri S, Kiryu Y, Walters S, Fajer-Avila EJ (2014) *Philometra floridensis* (Nematoda: Philometridae) damages ovarian tissue without reducing host (*Sciaenops ocellatus*) fecundity. Dis. Aquat. Org. 108: 227–239.
- Bergmann GT, Motta PJ (2004) Infection by anisakid nematodes Contracaecum spp. in the Mayan cichlid fish 'Cichlasoma (Nandopsis)' urophthalmus (Gunther 1862). J Parasitol. 90(2): 405-407.
- Bush AO, Lafferty KD, Lotz JM, Shostak AW (1997) Parasitology meets ecology on its own terms: Margolis et al. revisited. J. Parasitol. 83: 575-583.
- Çakir DT, Koç HT (2002) Feeding habits of Serranus cabrilla (Serranidae) in Edremit Bay (North Aegean Sea). Pakistan Journal of Biological Sciences 5: 1131-1134.
- Cháves RA, Oliva ME (2011) Philometra chilensis (Nematoda, Philometridae) affects the fecundity of the red cusk-eel, Genypterus chilensis (Guichenot) (Pisces, Ophidiidae) in Chile. Acta Parasitologica 56(2): 236-237.
- Chabaud AG (1975) Keys to genera of the order Spirurida. Part 1. Camallanoidea, Dracunculoidea, Gnathostomatoidea, Physalopteroidea, Rictularoidea and Thelazioidea. In: R.C. Anderson, A.G. Chabaud and S. Willmott (Eds.), CIH Keys to the Nematode Parasites of Vertebrates. No. 3. Commonwealth Agricultural Bureaux, Farnham Royal, Bucks (UK), 27 pp.
- García-Díaz MM, Tuset VM, González JA, Socorro J (1997) Sex and reproductive aspects in *Serranus cabrilla* (Osteichthyes: Serranidae): macroscopic and histological approaches. Marine Biology (1997) 127: 379-386.
- Figus V, D'Amico V, Loddo SL, Siddu NL, Canestri Trotti G. (2005). Elminti parassiti di Serranus cabrilla (L.) (Osteichthyes, Serranidae) del Golfo di Cagliari, Mediterraneo sud-occidentale. Ittiopatologia, 2: 207-215.
- Genc E, Genc MA, Genc E, Cengizler I, Can MF (2005) Seasonal variation and pathology associated with helminthes infecting two Serranids (Teleostei) of Iskenderun Bay (Northeast Mediterranean Sea), Turkey. Turk. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 5: 29-33.
- Ilhan D, Akalin S, Tosunoğlu Z, Özaydin O (2010) Growth characteristics and reproduction of comber, *Serranus cabrilla* (Actinopterygii, Perciformes, Serranidae), in the Aegean Sea. Acta Ichthyologica Et Piscatoria 40 (1): 55-60.
- Kassem HH, Bowashi SM (2015). Prevalence of Anisakid nematode larvae infecting some marine fishes from the Libyan Coast. J. Egypt. Soc. Parasitol. 45(3): 609-616.
- Leigh-Sharpe WH (1935) Anchistrotos laqueus n. sp. a parasitic copepod of Serranus cabrilla. Parasitology 27: 266-269.
- Marques JF, Cabral H (2007) Effects of sample size on fish parasite prevalence, mean abundance and mean intensity estimates. Journal of Applied Ichthyology 23(2): 158-162.
- Moravec F (2004) Some aspects of the taxonomy and biology of dracunculoid nematodes parasitic in fishes: a review. Folia Parasitol. 51: 1-13.
- Moravec F (2006) Dracunculoid and Anguillicoloid Nematodes Parasitic

in Vertebrates. Academia, Prague, 634 pp.

- Moravec F, Scholz T (1995) Life history of the nematode *Rhabdochona hellichi*, a parasite of the barbel in the Jihlava River, Czech Republic. Journal of Helminthology 69(1): 59-64.
- Moravec F, Genc E (2004) Redescription of three *Philometra* spp. (Nematoda: Philometridae) from the gonads of marine perciform fishes of Iskenderun Bay (North-East Mediterranean), Turkey. Acta Parasitologica 49: 31-40.
- Moravec F, Ternengo S, Levron C (2006) Three species of *Philometra* (Nematoda, Philometridae) from marine fishes of Corsica, France. Acta Parasitologica, 2006, 51(2): 111-118.
- Moravec F, de Buron I, Baker TG, González-Solís D (2008) Some gonad-infecting species of *Philometra* (Nematoda, Philometridae) from offshore fishes of South Carolina and Georgia, USA, including *Philometra charlestonensis* sp. nov. from the scamp *Mycteroperca phenax*. Acta Parasitologica 53(4): 382–391.
- Moravec F, de Buron I (2013) A synthesis of our current knowledge of philometrid nematodes, a group of increasingly important fish parasites. Folia Parasitologica 60(2): 81-101.
- Öktener A, Trilles JP, Leonardos I (2007) Five ectoparasites from Turkish fish. Türkiye Parazitoloji Dergisi, 31 (2): 154-157.
- Öktener A (2014) An updated checklist of parasitic helminths of marine fish from Turkey. Transylv. Rev. Syst. Ecol. Res. 16 (2): 55-96.
- Özaydın O, Uçkun D, Akalın S, Leblebici S, Tosunoğlu Z (2007) Length– weight relationships of fishes captured from Izmir Bay, Central Aegean Sea. J. Appl. Ichthyol. 23: 695–696.
- Özbek EÖ, Kebapçioğlu T, Çardak M (2016) Serranus species in the trawl catches of the Gulf of Antalya, Turkey (Eastern Mediterranean Sea). J. Black Sea/Mediterranean Environment 22 (3): 218-236.
- Özcan T, Kirkim F, Sakalı U (2015) Serranus cabrilla (Linnaeus, 1758) (Perciformes, Serranidae) a new host record for Nerocila orbigyni (Guérin-Mèneville, 1832) (Isopoda, Cymothoidae). Iranian Journal Fisheries Sciences 14(4): 1083-1088.
- Paradižnik V, Radujković B (2007) Digenea trematodes in fish of the North Adriatic Sea. Acta Adriat., 48(2): 115-129.
- Perdikaris C, Grigoriou P, Leonardos I (2003) Infestation of sand smelt (Atherina boyeri and Atherina hespetus) by nematode parasites of the species Philometra tauridica Ivaskin, in the North Aegean Sea. 7th Symposium of Oceanography and Fisheries: 184.
- Perez GR, Roumillat WA, Levesque EM, Connors VA, de Buron I (2009) Synchronization of occurrence of the ovarian philometrid, *Philometra carolinensis*, with the spawning season of its fishhost, the spotted seatrout, *Cynoscion nebulosus*. Parasitology Research 104 (5): 1079-1085.
- Pritchard MH, Kruse GO (1982) The Collection and Preservation of Animal Parasites. University of Nebraska Press, Lincoln, Nebraska. 141 pp.
- Rózsa L, Reiczigel J, Majoros G (2000) Quantifying parasites in samples of hosts. Journal of Parasitology. 86, 228–232. doi:10.1645/0022395 (2000)086[0228:QPISOH]2.0.CO;2
- Selvakumar P, Gopalakrishnan A, Sakthivel A (2015) Occurrence and prevalence of *Philometra* sp. (Nematoda: Philometridae) infection in the ovary of *Lutjanus russelli* (Bleeker, 1849) in southeast coast of India. Indian Journal of Geo-Marine Sciences 44 (8): 1245-1251.
- Strona G, Stefani F, Galli P (2010) Monogenoidean parasites of Italian marine fish: An updated checklist. Italian Journal of Zoology 77(4): 419-437.
- Szostakowska B, Myjak P, Wyszynski M, Pietkiewicz H, Rokicki J (2005) Prevalence of Anisakin Nematodes in Fish from southern Baltic Sea. Polish Journal of Microbiology 54: 41-45.
- Torcu Koc H, Türker Cakır D, Dulcic J (2004) Age, growth and mortality of the comber, *Serranus cabrilla* L. (Serranidae) in the Edremit Bay (NW Aegean Sea, Turkey). Cybium 28(1): 19-25.

J HELLENIC VET MED SOC 2019, 70(4) ПЕКЕ 2019, 70(4)

Dietary medicinal plants enhance the chemical composition and quality of broiler chicken meat

T. Tashla¹, N. Puvača^{1,*}, D. Ljubojević Pelić², R. Prodanović¹, S. Ignjatijević¹, J. Bošković¹, D. Ivanišević¹, M. Jahić¹, O. Mahmoud¹, I. Giannenas³, J. Lević⁴

¹University Business Academy, Faculty of Economics and Engineering Management, Department of Engineering Management in Biotechnology, Novi Sad, Serbia

²Scientific Veterinary Institute "Novi Sad", Novi Sad, Serbia

³Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Thessaloniki, Greece

⁴University of Novi Sad, Scientific Institute of Food Technology, Novi Sad, Serbia

ABSTRACT. The use of nutritional strategies to improve the quality of meat is a relatively new approach that has emerged at the interface of animal science and food science. The effects of dietary medicinal plants (*Allium sativum* L., *Piper nigrum* L., and *Capsicum annuum* L.) addition to chicken nutrition on quality characteristics of breast and thigh with drumstick meat, as well as caloric value of chicken meat were investigated. Quality measurements included meat sensory (colour, smell, taste, softness, chewiness, juiciness and overall impression), physical (pH, colour – CIE $L^*a^*b^*$ and drip-loss) and chemical (moisture, protein, fat and ash content) characteristics. Herbs showed significant (P < 0.05) influence in altering most examined quality parameters of chicken meat, especially when adding red hot pepper. Caloric value of chicken meat was improved which makes garlic, black pepper and hot red pepper valuable natural feed additives in improvement of meat quality as well as a natural growth promoter. In conclusion, herbs had positive influence on chicken meat quality, however the knowledge of their mode of action is still limited and thus requires further investigation.

Keywords: Medicinal plants, nutrition, meat quality, sensory, physical characteristics

Corresponding Author: Nikola Puvača, University Business Academy, Faculty of Economics and Engineering Management, Department of Engineering Management in Biotechnology, Cvećarska 2, 21000 Novi Sad, Serbia E-mail address: nikola.puvaca@gmail.com

Date of initial submission: 11-03-2019 Date of revised submission: 28-06-2019 Date of acceptance: 29-06-2019

INTRODUCTION

n last decade, consumers have become more con-Lerned about the processed food they consume. Synthetic preservatives, which have been used in food industry, may lead to negative health consequences. The use of synthetic compounds have significant drawbacks, such as increasing cost, handling hazards, concerns about residues on food and threat to human environment. Therefore, there has been increasing interest to replace synthetic with natural, effective and nontoxic compounds (Puvača, 2018). Those, in the first place are extracts and essential oils (Giannenas et al., 2013; Puvača et al., 2019), spices (Puvača et al., 2015; Popović et al., 2018) and medicinal plants (Kostadinović et al., 2015; Puvača et al., 2018). As natural foodstuffs, spices and medicinal plants appeal to all who question safety of synthetic food additives and demand high quality products that at the same time are safe and stable. Medicinal plants have been extensively used in the therapy of some diseases for a long time. Interest in plants, plant extracts and derived phytochemicals as components of livestock feedstuffs has increased during the last years (Puvača et al., 2013). Moreover, medicinal plants and aromatic plants possess many antioxidants which are effective in preventing oxidative changes and, thus, can minimize off-odour production in meat (Najafi and Torki, 2010). The use of nutritional strategies to improve the quality of meat is a relatively new approach that has emerged at the interface of animal science and food science (Džinić et al., 2015; Puvača et al., 2016; Spasevski et al., 2018). Nutritional approaches are often more effective than direct addition of the additive to meat since the compound is preferably deposited where it is most needed (Govaris et al., 2004). As in other animal species, the physical quality of broiler meat is of major importance, since broiler chicken meat is nowadays usually consumed as cuts or as processed products rather than as whole carcasses. Physical quality refers to several meat properties, including pH and colour values. Meat quality is closely related to the decrease in muscle pH postmortem. Rapid postmortem decline in pH results in PSE (pale, soft and exudative) meat with a pale aspect and reduced water-holding capacity (Owens et al., 2000; Puvača and Stanaćev, 2011). The variations in colour of broiler breast meat fillets are significant correlated with muscle pH and extremes in colour variations (Khalafalla et al., 2011). Low ultimate pH results in "acid meat", with similar defects to those of PSE meat (Barbut, 1997), while high ultimate pH leads

to DFD (dark, firm and dry) meat with dark colour and poor storage quality (Allen et al., 1997; Laudadio and Tufarelli, 2011). Beside physical meat quality, the economic importance is also related to sensory and chemical characteristics of meat which should not be forgotten. To ensure optimum quality, it is necessary to consider the entire production chain from farm to fork (Khalafalla et al., 2011). Many studies focused on the impact of many dietary supplemental components with the aim to find more efficient alternatives or combinations of different alternatives for maintaining health and improving performance of poultry and meat quality and safety, without antibiotics residues.

Therefore, the aim of this study was to investigate the influence of three different medicinal plants (garlic, black pepper and hot red pepper) in broiler diet on meat sensory, physical and chemical characteristics.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animal housing and nutrition

Biological tests were carried out under production conditions at the experimental farm "Pustara" of the Faculty of Agriculture in Novi Sad, Serbia. All experimental procedures have been approved by the competent Veterinary Authority according to the National legislation (Presidential Degree 56/2013 on harmonization of the Directive 2010/63/EU on the protection of animals used for scientific purposes) under registered number I-2015-02. At the beginning of the experiment, a total of 1200 one-day old Hubbard broilers strain, of mixed sex, were distributed into eight dietary treatments with four replicates each (Table 1).

Every dietary treatment included 150 chickens, which were divided in four pens (37-38 chicken per pen). Feeding program included three-phase diet as starter, grower and finisher, respectively. For the first 14 days, during the acclimation period, chicks were fed with starter diet, then birds were fed with grower diet for the next 21 days and then for the last 7 days of fattening period with finisher diet. During the whole trial feed and water were provided *ad libitum*. Microclimate conditions were regularly monitored. Rearing and housing condition were previously described in detail by Puvača et al. (2015), while the nutrition of the chickens were previously described in detail by Puvača et al. (2016).

E	Concentration of additives in chicken diets						
Experimental	Additive	Starter	Grower	Finisher			
treatments	Additive -	1 – 14 days	15 – 35 days	36–42 days			
T1	Control treatment	0.0	0.0	0.0			
T2	Garlic powder	0.0	0.5	0.5			
T3	Garlic powder	0.0	1.0	1.0			
T4	Black pepper powder	0.0	0.5	0.5			
T5	Black pepper powder	0.0	1.0	1.0			
T6	Hot red pepper powder	0.0	0.5	0.5			
Τ7	Hot red pepper powder	0.0	1.0	1.0			
T8	Mixture of garlic, black pepper and	0.0	0.5	0.5			
	hot red pepper (1:1:1)	. •		0.0			

Table	1. Ex	perimental	design	with	chickens	and d	ietary	treatments,	g/	100	g
									<u> </u>		_

Sample collections

At the end of 42nd day of the experiment, 12 broiler chicks, six male and six female of an average body weight of each treatment group were selected for meat quality evaluations. Before slaughtering broiler chickens were starved for 12 h, and afterword slaughtered were processed by bloodletting, scalding, plucking and evisceration and chilled. Upon slaughter, dressed cold carcasses were dissected into primal cuts such as breast, thighs with drumsticks, wings, back, head, neck and legs following the method prescribed by the Regulation on Poultry Meat Quality (Official Gazette of the SFRY No. 1/81 and 51/88). After 24 hours post-mortem breast (Musculus pectoralis) and thigh with drumstick (Tibialis anterior and Biceps femoris) were further analysed for their sensory, physical and chemical characteristics.

Sensory analyses

Sensory assessment was conducted at the laboratory of Scientific Institute of Food Technology in Novi Sad, Serbia, equipped in accordance with the ISO standard (8589:2012) of Sensory analyse -General guidance for the design of test rooms. Five trained panellists with expertise in sensory evaluation of meat and meat products evaluated selected properties for breast (colour, smell, taste, softness, chewiness and juiciness) and thigh with drumstick (colour and smell and taste) meat. Sensory analyses were evaluated using a point system of analytical descriptive tests with a scale from 1 to 5, for the colour (1=very bad; 2=bad, 3=good; 4=very good; 5= extremely good), for the smell and taste (1=extremely unpleasant; 2=unpleasant; 3=insufficiently pleasant; 4=pleasant, good; 5=extremely pleasant, excellent), for softness (1=moderately tender; 2=tightly; 3=moderately tightly; 4=moderately soft; 5=soft), for chewiness (1=moderately toughened; 2=poor toughened; 3=chewable; 4=moderately gentle; 5=gentle), for juiciness (1=dry; 2=moderately dry; 3=moderately juicy; 4=juicy; 5=extremely juicy) and for overall impression (1=sufficient; 2=suit; 3=good; 4=very good; 5=excellent). Panellists were randomly supplied with thermally processed meat samples. Between each sample evaluation, panellists were cleaning their palate with distilled water, bread or apple. Between each repetition period of samples evaluation, 1 h was awarded to panellists for senses resting.

Physical analyses

The pH values of breast meat and thigh with drumstick were measured using the portable pH meter (Consort C931, Turnhout, Belgium) equipped with an insertion glass combination electrode (Mettler Toledo Greifensee, Switzerland). Means of twelve measurements were presented. Colour measurements of breast and thigh with drumstick meat were carried out using photo-colorimeter Minolta Chroma Meter CR-400 (Minolta Co., Ltd., Osaka, Japan). Colour characteristics are given in the CIE $L^*a^*b^*$ system ($L^*a^*b^*$) = lightness; a^* = redness and b^* = yellowness). Two measurements were taken on surfaces and cut places of meat samples for each treatment. Data presented are means of 24 measurements. For drip-loss of heat processing determination, samples of meat were measured before heat processing and after the treatment samples were cooled at room temperature for 1 h, and measured in order to determine the loss.

Chemical analyses and meat caloric value

Meat chemical characteristics were determined according to the ISO recommended standards for moisture, protein, fat and ash contents. Data presented are means of twelve measurements. The caloric value of 100 g of white and dark meat by influence of dietary spice plants addition to chicken daily nutrition was calculated according to the following equation:

Caloric value (kcal) = (protein $(g/100g) \times 4$ kcal) + (fat $(g/100g) \times 9$ kcal)

Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses were conducted using statistical software program Statistica 13 for Windows, to determine if variables differed between treatments. Significant effects were further evaluated using analysis of variance (ANOVA), least square means (LSM) and standard errors of least square means (SE_{LSM}). Fisher's LSD *post-hoc* multiple range test with Bonferroni corrections were used to ascertain differences among treatments. A significance level of P<0.05 was used.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Results in this paper are presented in a form of tables with the least square means and standard errors of least square means, while in available literature there is no sufficient data on meat quality regarding the medicinal plants we used, which makes this investigation a novelty in field of chicken meat quality. Therefore, discussion will go in way of presenting of our findings compared with published works regarding the sensory, physical and chemical quality of broiler meat.

Sensory characteristics

Results for sensory characteristics (colour, smell, taste, softness, chewiness, juiciness and overall impression) of breast and thigh with drumstick meat of broiler chickens fed with different dietary spice addition are presented in Table 2. Supplementing medicinal plants in broiler ration such as garlic, black pepper and hot red pepper and their combined mixture led to significant differences (P < 0.05) in meat quality characteristics. The T1 muscles of breast meat had the significantly (P < 0.05) lowest visual colour score compared to the other experimental treatments. The highest visual colour score of thigh with drumstick meat was recorded in treatment with 1.0 g/100g (T7, 4.9) of hot red pepper with significant (P < 0.05) differences compared to treatments T2, T4 (4.5) and T5, T6 (4.6), respectively. When it comes to the scores of breast meat smell, significant differences (P > 0.05) were absent, but the highest score of 4.9 was recorded in thigh with drumstick meat in treatment T5 followed by 4.8 (T3, T7, T8), 4.7 (T1), 4.6 (T4), 4.4 (T2) and 4.3 (T6), respectively. Similar tendency was observed in breast meat taste. As it was the case with the breast meat smell, the same highest score of meat softness was observed with the addition of 1.0 g/100g of hot red pepper in treatment T7, which get the score of soft meat. The lowest score of softness was recorded in breast meat of chickens fed 1.0 g/100g of garlic powder, but again higher then score point of 3, resulting as moderately soft which is very acceptable by consumers. Gentle and moderately gentle scores of breast meat was recorded in control treatment (T1), 1.0 g/100g hot red pepper (T7), 0.5 g/100g black pepper and hot red pepper (T4, T6) with significant (P < 0.05) differences compared to treatments T2 and T8, respectively. Hot red pepper at both concentrations have positively influenced on the breast meat juiciness with the highest scores of 4.5 and 4.4, respectively. When it comes to overall impression, dietary of hot red pepper showed the highest scores of sensory meat quality, while the lowest was observed in garlic treatment groups with an average score of 4.3.

Table 2. Effect of garlic, black pepper and hot red pepper dietary supplementation on sensory quality of broiler chicken breast and thigh with drumstick (Least squares means)

				-						
Expe	rimental	Quality parameters of breast meat							Quality parameters of thigh with drumstick	
trea	iments	Colour	Smell	Taste	Softness	Chewiness	Juiciness	Overall impression	Colour	Smell and taste
T1	LSM	4.9 ^b	4.8ª	4.7ª	4.5 ^{abc}	4.5ª	4.3 ^{ab}	4.5 ^{ab}	4.7 ^{abc}	4.7 ^{abc}
T2	LSM	5.0ª	4.7ª	4.5 ^{ab}	4.4 ^{abcd}	4.2 ^{ab}	4.0 ^{bd}	4.3 ^b	4.5 ^{bc}	4.4 ^{cd}
T3	LSM	5.0ª	4.8ª	4.6 ^{ab}	4 .1 ^d	4.2 ^{ab}	3.8 ^d	4.3 ^{ab}	4.7 ^{ac}	4.8 ^{ab}
T4	LSM	5.0ª	4.9ª	4.8ª	4.5 ^{abc}	4.4 ^{ab}	4.2 ^{abc}	4.5 ^{ab}	4.5°	4.6 ^{bcd}
T5	LSM	5.0ª	4.7ª	4.5 ^{ab}	4.3 ^{bcd}	4.3 ^{ab}	4.3 ^{ab}	4.4 ^{ab}	4.6 ^{bc}	4.9ª
T6	LSM	5.0ª	4.7ª	4.5 ^{ab}	4.6 ^{ab}	4.4 ^{ab}	4.5ª	4.6ª	4.6 ^{bc}	4.3 ^d
T7	LSM	5.0ª	4.8ª	4.7 ^{ab}	4.7ª	4.5ª	4.4ª	4.6 ^{ab}	4.9ª	4.8 ^{ab}
T8	LSM	5.0ª	4.7ª	4.4 ^b	4.2 ^{cd}	4.0 ^b	3.9 ^{cd}	4.3 ^{ab}	4.8 ^{ab}	4.8 ^{ab}
Poole	ed SE _{ISM}	0.01	0.11	0.11	0.12	0.14	0.14	0.10	0.1	0.08

Means in the same column with a common superscript letter are not significantly different (P < 0.05)

Sensory analysis is one of the oldest means of meat quality control which also allowing manufacturers to identify, understand and respond to consumer preferences more effectively (Saha et al., 2009), helping manufacturers to increase competition on the market (Ponte et al., 2004). In our experiment, the sensory quality of meat shows very high scores for smell, juiciness and overall impression, which leads to conclusion that the addition of medicinal plants didn't have adverse effect on meat quality and that the amount of added plants in chicken diet was adequate. Contrary to our results, investigation of Džinić et al. (2015) evaluated the sensory quality of breast chicken meat with the addition of 2.0% of garlic powder showing characteristic taste and pungent smell of garlic from broiler feed which was transferred to meat. This characteristic flavour can be both non-beneficial and beneficial depending of consumers affinities and demands. In the same investigation, the addition of garlic led to excellent meat quality regarding the juiciness and tenderness of breast meat, in accordance with our study. Similar results were obtain by Popović et al. (2016) using selected essential oils in broiler diet on sensory meat quality, which reviled significant influence of this phytobiotic in altering of taste, juiciness and tenderness of chicken meat. Addition of 30 mg/kg of Macleava cordata (Zdunczyk et al., 2010) which is from same alkaloid family as black pepper shows overall intensive smell for breast meat without any atypical smell. As for the breast meat, similar results were obtained for the thigh meat sensory evaluation. According to our findings, also the study of Waskar et al. (2011) reported that supplementation of polyherbal feed supplement in basal diet was effective in improving overall meat quality attributes such as fillet and

tender yield, sensory meat characteristics, organoleptic cooked meat parameters, overall palatability and acceptability of meat. The natural products such as garlic, black pepper and hot red pepper did not have any residual or adverse effect on eating and cooking quality of meat, and hence resulted safe for usage. This study have confirmed that the direct influence on meat quality have nutrition of chickens what is in accordance with previous mentioned findings.

Physical characteristic

Results for meat physical characteristics (pH value, colour – CIE $L^*a^*b^*$ values and drip-loss of heat treatment) of all eight dietary treatments are presented in Tables 3 and 4, respectively.

Slightly small numerical average values of breast meat pH with significant (P<0.05) differences (ranged from 5.5 to 5.7) which are smaller than 0.3 can be explained as a possible statistical error (Table 3). One of the basic tenets of meat science is that accelerated or extended postmortem glycolysis may cause the development of PSE. There are implicit interrelationships between temperature and pH because glycolysis is exothermic, and the effects of pH are severe when a carcass is still near body temperature. Meat with a low pH appears pale because it scatters more light back to the observer than meat with a high pH which appears dark because it transmits more light into its depth than meat with a low pH. In this experiment the lowest pH of 5.5 was recorded in breast meat of chicken in dietary treatment T4 fed 0.5 g/100g of black pepper powder, while the highest pH (5.7) was observed in treatments T2 and T6 with dietary addition of 0.5 g/100g of garlic and hot red pepper powder.

means)									
E····	Experimental		Physical parameters of breast meat						
treatments			(Colour values					
		рн -	L*	a*	b*	Drip-loss			
T1	LSM	5.6 ^{ab}	57.4ª	2.5ª	5.8ª	22.9 ^{cd}			
T2	LSM	5.7 ^{ab}	57.0 ^{ab}	2.5ª	5.4ª	31.4ª			
T3	LSM	5.6 ^{ab}	54.3 ^{ab}	2.9ª	6.3ª	29.9ª			
T4	LSM	5.5 ^b	56.5 ^{ab}	2.0ª	4.2ª	26.1 ^b			
T5	LSM	5.6 ^{ab}	53.4 ^{ab}	2.3ª	4.3ª	23.1 ^{cd}			
T6	LSM	5.7ª	53.1 ^b	2.3ª	3.9ª	20.5 ^d			
Τ7	LSM	5.6 ^{ab}	57.1 ^{ab}	2.4ª	6.3ª	24.3 ^{bc}			
T8	LSM	5.6 ^{ab}	55.6 ^{ab}	2.4ª	4.4 ^a	31.1ª			
Poo	led SE _{LSM}	0.04	1.38	0.49	0.87	0.93			

Table 3. Effect of garlic, black pepper and hot red pepper dietary supplementation on physical parameters of breast meat (Least squares means)

Means in the same column with a common superscript letter are not significantly different (P < 0.05)

When it comes to a CIE $L^*a^*b^*$ colour values, from the results given in Table 3, it can be observed that the differences in a^* (redness) and b^* (yellowness) colour system is present between dietary treatments (a^* : 2.0-2.9; b*: 3.9-6.3) but without significant differences (P > 0.05). Colour values for L^* (lightness) show significant differences (P < 0.05) among dietary treatments. The lowest value for lightness was observed in breast meat of chickens on dietary treatment including 0.5 g/100g of hot red pepper, while the highest value for the lightness of breast meat was observed in control treatment. Based on the results of pH and colour values, breast meat could be classified as PSE, but if we take in account the scores of sensory analyses of meat, and that the white meat is in question it could be classified as meat of normal quality, with the significant influence of dietary spice plants addition.

Heat processing of meat had a significant influence on meat drip-loss (P < 0.05). Hot red pepper in treatment T6 showed the highest positive influence, where the lowest drip-loss of meat after heat treatment was observed (20.5%). In the other experimental dietary treatments meat drip-loss ranged from 23.1 to 31.1%, with the highest value observed in treatment with the addition of 0.5 g/100g of garlic powder.

Data on physical quality of chicken red meat (thigh with drumstick) are shown in Table 4. From our findings it can be noticed a very small average differences in pH values, but with significant differences (P < 0.05), as it was case with breast meat. Values of pH ranged from 5.9 to 6.0, so the thigh with drumstick can be classified as a normal quality meat. The highest value of redness (a^*) was observed in treatment with the addition of 1.0 g/100g of hot red pepper with significant (P < 0.05) differences compared to other experimental dietary treatments. The lowest a^* value was recorded in treatment T4 with the addition of black pepper powder. Contrary to white meat, significant differences (P < 0.05) were observed and in b^* colour values of thigh and drumstick meat, which ranged from 4.2 (T3) to 6.2 (T2), respectively. The highest lightness (61.0) combined with high redness (3.6) was observed in meat of control treatment (P < 0.05) and it could be classified as reddish, soft and exudative (RSE) meat, while the addition of spices especially hot red pepper had positive influence of red meat, which could be classified as normal.

Dietary addition of hot red pepper also shows its positive influence on meat drip-loss after heat treatment. Experimental treatment T7 recorded lowest drip-loss value (27.3%).

(Zeast squares	means)								
D	Even anima antal		Physical parameters of thigh with drumstick						
Experimental			(Colour values					
tre	atments	рп	L*	a*	b*	Drip-loss			
T1	LSM	6.0 ^{ab}	61.0ª	3.6 ^{ab}	5.4 ^{ab}	30.2 ^{ab}			
T2	LSM	6.0 ^{ab}	60.7 ^{ab}	2.9 ^{bc}	6.2ª	31.2ª			
Т3	LSM	6.0 ^{ab}	57.2 ^{bc}	2.4 ^{bc}	4.2 ^{ab}	31.6ª			
T4	LSM	5.9 ^b	60.3 ^{abc}	2.3°	4.4 ^{ab}	32.6ª			
T5	LSM	6.0 ^{ab}	57.0°	2.4 ^{bc}	4.5 ^{ab}	31.1ª			
T6	LSM	6.0ª	58.9 ^{abc}	2.9 ^{bc}	3.6 ^b	33.7ª			
Τ7	LSM	5.9 ^{ab}	58.2 ^{abc}	4.2ª	5.5 ^{ab}	27.3 ^b			
T8	LSM	5.9 ^{ab}	59.0 ^{abc}	3.2 ^{abc}	5.3 ^{ab}	31.9ª			
Pool	ed SE _{LSM}	0.04	1.21	0.44	0.74	1.2			

Table 4. Effect of garlic, black pepper and hot red pepper dietary supplementation on physical parameters of thigh with drumstick (Least squares means)

Means in the same column with a common superscript letter are not significantly different (P < 0.05)

Considering the glycolytic process, initial pH value provides best information for physiological meat quality. Highly accelerated as well as accelerated pH decline are related to a light meat colour and poor juice retention, which in the majority of cases is the same for pH values ranging from 5.8 to 6.0 concerning exudative meat composition. Besides pH value many other sensory, instrumental and biophysical methods are involved in determination of chicken meat quality (Damez and Clerjon, 2008). During recent years, deviations in meat quality which did not show typical characteristics of PSE and DFD were repeatedly reported. There was acceptable colour and increased wateriness (RSE) as well as pale colour and good juice retention (PFN). Of especially interest is RSE meat, as drip-loss means a loss in weight and therefore economic losses. In our experiment, pH value of chickens breast meat ranged from 5.5 to 5.7 and in thigh and drumstick between 5.9 and 6.0 with observed significant (P < 0.05) differences, while the Qiao et al. (2001) in their investigation reported pH values of

the lighter than-normal, normal and darker-than-normal groups with 5.81, 5.96, and 6.23, respectively, which were significantly different from each other. Stanaćev et al. (2011) recorded pH value of 5.6 in meat from chickens fed 2% of garlic powder. According to Karunanayaka et al. (2016), meat with the pH higher than 5.8 is classified as normal meat quality. Several researchers have demonstrated a significant relationship between raw meat colour and raw meat pH (Allen et al., 1997, 1998; Fletcher, 1999). Barbut (1993) reported that lightness (L*) had the highest correlation of the L*, a^* , b^* colour values with PSE conditions. In our experiment, the dietary addition of garlic, black pepper and hot red pepper had influence on broiler chicken meat colour. The relationship between muscle pH, colour, and meat quality in red meat species is well established. As noted earlier, the relationship between poultry meat colour and pH has also been well documented, but the relative influence on poultry meat quality is not as well established as in the extremes of PSE and DFD conditions in pork and beef (Qiao et al., 2001). Positive influence of medicinal plants addition in broiler chicken diet on meat quality was also observed by Savković et al. (2008) using a mixture of different spice and aromatic herbs. Hot red pepper in the current experiment showed the highest positive influence with the lowest drip-loss of breast meat after heat treatment (20.5%), while the higher addition of same spice (T7) in thigh with drumstick also showed positive influence and lowest drip-loss of 27.3%. Allen et al. (1998) reported that initial and tumbled L^* values are correlated positively with drip-loss and cook-loss of chicken meat. Their results were in agreement with the previous findings of Barbut (1993), who observed a high correlation between L^* and cooking loss, whereas the Allen et al. (1998) found no correlation between raw meat pH and drip-loss or cook-loss. In our trial, the highest drip-loss of breast meat was observed in treatment T2 with L^* of 57.0 and in treatment T6 with L^* of 58.9 of red meat, which is in agreement with earlier findings.

Chemical characteristics and caloric characteristic of chicken meat

From the results given in Table 5, it can be observed no significant (P > 0.05) differences in moisture content in both breast and thigh with drumstick meat. Moisture in white meat ranged from 71.8 to 73.9 g/100g and 72.5 to 74.8 g/100g in red meat, respectively. The highest content of protein (24.0 g/100g) was observed in treatment T5 with significant (P < 0.05) differences compared to treatments T2 (22.3), T1 (22.1) and T8 (21.8 g/100g), respectively. The lowest amount of fat was observed in treatment T5 (0.16 g/100g) what was expected because of the negative correlations between the content of protein and fat. The highest fat content was recorded in control treatment T1 (0.55 g/100g) with significant (P <(0.05) differences compared to the other treatments. Significant differences between the groups (P < 0.05) were found in for the ash content of both breast meat and thigh with drumstick meat. The highest content of protein (20.6 g/100g) in thighs with drumsticks was observed in dietary treatment with addition of hot red pepper (T7). Interesting is that the same treatment also contains highest content of fat (3.86 g/100g). This could be explained by the influence of capsaicin as the active compound in hot red pepper on the metabolism of fat and the highest utilisation from the feed which is incorporated in the body. The lowest content of protein in meat, as in the breast meat was observed in control treatment (18.6 g/100g) with the fat content of 2.59 g/100g, which could be a sign of positive influence of dietary medicinal plants addition to alteration of chicken meat nutritive quality.

with dia	Instick (Lous	t squares means	,						
Experimental Quality parameters of breast meat			meat	Quality par	Quality parameters of thigh with drumstick				
trea	atments	Moisture	Protein	Fat	Ash	Moisture	Protein	Fat	Ash
T1	LSM	73.8ª	22.1 ^b	0.55ª	1.12 ^{bc}	74.7ª	18.6 ^b	2.59°	1.00 ^b
T2	LSM	73.4ª	22.3 ^b	0.48 ^b	1.19 ^{ab}	74.3ª	18.7 ^b	3.74ª	1.06ª
T3	LSM	73.9ª	22.6 ^{ab}	0.30°	1.18 ^{ab}	72.7ª	19.8 ^{ab}	2.79 ^d	1.09ª
T4	LSM	73.3ª	22.6 ^{ab}	0.28°	1.16 ^{abc}	74.2ª	19.4 ^{ab}	2.99°	1.00 ^b
T5	LSM	72.3ª	24.0ª	0.16 ^d	1.24ª	72.5ª	20.0ª	2.26 ^f	1.07ª
T6	LSM	71.8ª	22.7 ^{ab}	0.49 ^b	1.17 ^{ab}	74.3ª	19.5 ^{ab}	3.24 ^b	1.08ª
T7	LSM	72.6ª	21.8 ^b	0.18 ^d	1.06°	73.3ª	20.6ª	3.68ª	1.06ª
T8	LSM	72.4ª	22.5 ^{ab}	0.27°	1.17 ^{ab}	74.8ª	19.7 ^{ab}	2.13 ^f	1.08ª
Pool	ed SE _{LSM}	0.81	0.53	0.02	0.02	0.81	0.44	0.04	0.02

Table 5. Effect of garlic, black pepper and hot red pepper dietary supplementation on chemical characteristic of breast meat and thigh with drumstick (Least squares means)

Means in the same column with a common superscript letter are not significantly different (P < 0.05)

1830

Moisture content of white and red meat was almost equal among dietary groups. Similarly, research reported that broiler chickens feed supplementation with Echinacea (Echinacea purpurea), garlic (Allium sativum) and ginger (Zingiber officinale) resulted in no effect on meat moisture content. In our experiment, the highest protein content of breast (24.0 g/100g) and thigh with drumstick (20.6 g/100g) meat was observed in treatments T5 and T6, respectively. From this fact, it can be noticed that the dietary addition of black pepper and hot red pepper to chicken ration led to significant improvement of meat quality. In a previous research of Stanaćev et al. (2011), dietary garlic powder addition to chickens diet at level of 2.0 g/100g, resulted in significant differences in protein content (22.9 g/100g) in breast meat compared to control diet (21.8 g/100g). The lowest protein content of 18.6 g/100g was observed in red meat from control treatment. Souza et al. (2011) reported that protein content of chicken breast meat ranged from 22.48 to 22.61 g/100g without significant differences. Content of protein in chicken breast meat in range from 20.7 to 32.1% was reported by Mohammed (2013) with energy value between 160.0 and 212.0 kcal. In our experiment, the energetic value of breast meat was influenced by dietary medicinal plants addition and it ranged from 92.5 kcal (T8) to 97.5 kcal (T5). Onibi et al. (2009) reported significant influence of spice and herbs in broiler nutrition on fat content, where the thigh muscle had the highest fat content (82.9 g/kg), followed by drumstick muscle (66.9 g/kg) and lowest for breast muscle (49.1 g/kg). Lowest fat content of breast meat in the current experiment was recorded when birds fed 1.0 g/100g of black pepper powder (0.16 g/100g) and 2.13 g/100g in red meat of chicken fed with mixture of garlic, black pepper and hot red pepper powder at 0.5 g/100g. Similarly, fat deposition has been reported to be higher in red meat than in breast meat (Onibi, 2006). Breast meat fat content was affected by the interaction between sex and genetic strain, with males presenting the highest values as found by Souza et al. (2011). On the other hand, Lonergan et al. (2003) reported higher fat content values in females as influenced by the interaction between sex and genetic group fed with the same dietary mixtures. Addition of black pepper powder had high influence on mineral content of breast meat in our experiment. Significantly higher ash content of chicken meat was reported by Mohammed (2013) who is in accordance with our results.

Addition of medicinal plants to broiler chickens diet resulted in significant (P < 0.05) differences in meat caloric value (Table 6). Chickens fed with 1.0 g/100g of black pepper had the highest energetic value (97.7 kcal), while the chickens fed with the same amount of hot red pepper showed the lowest energetic value (88.9 kcal) of breast meat (P < 0.05). Small differences between the other treatments were observed (P > 0.05). When it comes to caloric value of red meat, conversely to white meat, the addition of hot red pepper (T7) influenced in high energetic value (115.5 kcal) of meat with statistically significant (P < 0.05) differences compared to all other treatments. The lowest energetic value of red meat was recorded in treatments T5 and T8, while the high energetic value (108.5 kcal) was recorded in red meat of chickens fed with dietary addition of garlic at the level of 0.5 g/100g.

When it's come to energetic value of chicken meat, it can be observed that the addition of spices to chicken nutrition had significant influence on altering caloric value of meat.

Table 6. Effect of garlic, black pepper and hot red pepper dietary supplementation on caloric values of chickens breast meat and thigh with drumstick (Least squares means)

Туре о	f meat	Dietary treatments							
		T1	T2	T3	T4	T5	T6	Τ7	T8
White	LSM	93.5 ^{ab}	93.8 ^{ab}	93.4 ^{ab}	93.2 ^{ab}	97.7ª	95.4 ^{ab}	88.9 ^b	92.5 ^{ab}
meat	SE_{LSM}	2.26	2.26	2.26	2.26	2.26	2.26	2.26	2.26
D 1 (-	LSM	98.0°	108.5 ^b	104.5 ^{bc}	104.5 ^{bc}	100.6 ^{cd}	107.1^{bd}	115.5ª	98.2°
Red meat	SE _{lsm}	2.23	2.23	2.23	2.23	2.23	2.23	2.23	2.23

Means in the same row with a common superscript letter are not significantly different (P < 0.05)

CONCLUSIONS

Based on our findings, it can be concluded that the dietary addition of garlic, black pepper and hot red pepper to broiler diet showed significant influence in improvement of sensory, physical and chemical characteristics of meat. It is important that meat from chicken fed with medicinal plants resulted in higher energetic value which is of practical importance for human nutrition. Moreover, it can be concluded that administrative and technological as well as nutritional and sensory quality of chicken meat can only be reached with proven feed supplements, because of not all of the additives may have beneficial effects on meat quality, but can have the opposite tendency. From this trial, the used medicinal plants showed significant effect on chicken meat quality, but the knowledge of their use is still limited, and thus further investigation is still necessary.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The paper is a part of the research work on the project III 46012 financed by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

REFERENCES

- Allen CD, Fletcher DL, Northcutt JK, Russell SM (1998) The relationship of broiler breast color to meat quality and shelf-life. Poult Sci 77: 361–366.
- Allen CD, Russell SM, Fletcher DL (1997) The relationship of broiler breast color and pH to shelf-life and odor development. Poult Sci 76: 1042–1046.
- Barbut S (1993) Colour measurements for evaluating the pale soft exudative (PSE) occurrence in turkey meat. Food Res Int 26: 39–43.
- Barbut S (1997) Problem of pale soft exudative meat in broiler chickens. Br Poult Sci 38: 355-358.
- Damez JL, Clerjon S (2008) Meat quality assessment using biophysical methods related to meat structure. Meat Sci 80: 132–149.
- Džinić N, Puvača N, Tasić T, Ikonić P, Okanović Đ (2015) How meat quality and sensory perception is influenced by feeding poultry plant extracts. Worlds Poult Sci J 71: 673-681.
- Fletcher DL (1999) Color variation in commercially packaged broiler breast fillets. J Appl Poult Res 8: 67–69.
- Giannenas I, Bonos E, Christaki E, Florou-Paneri P (2013) Essential oils and their applications in animal nutrition. Med Aromat Plants 2: 1–12.
- Govaris A, Botsoglou N, Papageorgiou G, Botsoglou E, Amvrosiadis I (2004) Dietary versus postmortem use of oregano oil and/or α-tocopherol in turkeys to inhibit development of lipid oxidation in meat during refrigerated storage. Int J Food Sci Nutr 55: 115-123.
- Karunanayaka DS, Jayasena DD, Jo C (2016) Prevalence of pale, soft, and exudative (PSE) condition in chicken meat used for commercial meat processing and its effect on roasted chicken breast. J Anim Sci Tech 58: doi:10.1186/s40781-016-0110-8.
- Khalafalla FA, Fatma HM, Dalia A, Zahran A, Mosa, AMMA (2011) Influence of feed additives in quality of broiler carcasses. J Worlds Poult Res 2: 40-47.
- Kostadinović Lj, Lević J, Popović S, Čabarkapa I, Puvača N, Đuragić O, Kormanjoš Š (2015) Dietary inclusion of *Artemisia absinthium* for management of growth performance, antioxidative status and quality of poultry meat. Eur Poultry Sci 79: doi: 10.1399/eps.2015.75.
- Laudadio V, Tufarelli V (2011) Pea (*Pisum sativum* L.) seeds as an alternative dietary protein source for broilers: Influence on fatty acid composition, lipid and protein oxidation of dark and white meats. J

Am Oil Chem Soc 88: 967-973.

- Lonergan SM, Deeb N, Fedler CA, Jamont SJ (2003) Breast meat quality and composition in unique chicken populations. Poult Sci 82: 1990-1994.
- Mohammed HN (2013) Study of some chemical, physical, sensory and bacteriology characteristics of canned chicken meat imported to Sulaymaniyah markets, Iraq. Int J Nutr Met 5: 128-133.
- Najafi P, Torki M. (2010) Performance, blood metabolites and immunocompetaence of broiler chicks fed diets included essential oils of medicinal herbs. Asian J Anim Vet Adv 9: 1164-1168.
- Onibi GE (2006) Dietary oil quantity and vitamin E supplementation. II: Effect on carcass and meat quality of broiler chickens. Bowen J Agric 3: 106-115.
- Onibi GE, Adebisi OE, Fajemisin AN, Adetunji AV (2009) Response of broiler chickens in terms of performance and meat quality to garlic (*Allium sativum*) supplementation. Afr J Agric Res 4: 511-517.
- Owens CM, Hirschler EM, Mckee SR, Martinez-Dawson R, Sams AR (2000) The characterization and incidence of pale, soft, exudative turkey meat in a commercial plant. Poult Sci 79: 553-558.
- Ponte PI, Mendes I, Quaresma M, Aguiar MN, Lemos JP, Ferreira LM, Soares MA, Alfaia CM, Prates JA, Fontes CM (2004) Cholesterol levels and sensory characteristics of meat from broilers consuming moderate to high levels of alfa. Poult Sci 83: 810-814.
- Popović S, Kostadinović Lj, Đuragić O, Aćimović M, Čabarkapa I, Puvača N, Ljubojević Pelić D (2018) Influence of medicinal plants mixtures (Artemisia absinthium, Thymus vulgaris, Menthae piperitae and Thymus serpyllum) in broilers nutrition on biochemical blood status. J Agron Technol Eng Manag 1: 91-98.
- Popović S, Puvača N, Kostadinović Lj, Džinić N, Bošnjak J, Vasiljević M, Đuragić O (2016) Effects of dietary essential oils on productive performance, blood lipid profile, enzyme activity and immunological response of broiler chickens. Eur Poultry Sci 80: doi: 10.1399/ eps.2016.146.
- Puvača N, Stanaćev V. (2011) Selenium in poultry nutrition and its effect on meat quality. Worlds Poult Sci 67: 479-484.
- Puvača N (2018) Bioactive compounds in selected hot spices and medicinal plants. J Agron Technol Eng Manag 1: 8-17.

- Puvača N, Čabarkapa I, Bursić V, Petrović A, Aćimović M (2018) Antimicrobial, antioxidant and acaricidal properties of tea tree (*Melaleuca alternifolia*). J Agron Technol Eng Manag 1: 29-38.
- Puvača N, Kostadinović Lj, Ljubojević D, Lukač D, Lević J, Popović S, Novakov N, Vidović B, Đuragić O (2015) Effect of garlic, black pepper and hot red pepper on productive performances and blood lipid profile of broiler chickens. Eur Poultry Sci 79: doi: 10.1399/ eps.2015.73.
- Puvača N, Kostadinović Lj, Popović S, Lević J, Ljubojević D, Tufarelli V, Jovanović R, Tasić T, Ikonić P, Lukač D (2016) Proximate composition, cholesterol concentration and lipid oxidation of meat from chickens fed dietary spice addition (*Allium sativum, Piper nigrum, Capsicum annuum*). Anim Prod Sci 56: 1920-1927.
- Puvača N, Stanaćev V, Glamočić D, Lević J, Perić L, Stanaćev V, Milić D (2013) Beneficial effects of phytoadditives in broiler nutrition. Worlds Poult Sci 69: 27-34.
- Puvača N, Čabarkapa I, Petrović A, Bursić V, Prodanović R, Soleša D, Lević J (2019) Tea tree (*Melaleuca alternifolia*) and its essential oil: antimicrobial, antioxidant and acaricidal effects in poultry production. Worlds Poult Sci 75: in press.
- Qiao M, Fletcher DL, Smith DP, Northcutt JK (2001) The effect of broiler breast meat color on pH, moisture, water-holding capacity, and emulsification capacity. Poult Sci 80: 676–680.
- Saha A, Perumalla AV, Lee Y, Meullenet JF, Owens CM (2009) Tender-

ness, moistness, and flavor of pre- and postrigor marinated broiler breast fillets evaluated by consumer sensory panel. Poult Sci 88: 1250-1256.

- Savković T, Džinić N, Tojagić S (2008) Herbs as the addition to broiler's nutrition and sensoric quality of broiler's meat. Meat Tech 49: 75-81.
- Souza XR, Faria PB, Bressan MC (2011) Proximate composition and meat quality of broilers reared under different production systems. Braz J Poultry Sci 13: 15-20.
- Spasevski N, Puvača N, Pezo L, Tasić T, Vukmirović Đ, Banjac V, Čolović R, Rakita, S, Kokić B, Džinić N (2018) Optimisation of egg yolk colour using natural colourants. Eur Poultry Sci 82: doi: 10.1399/ eps.2018.246.
- Stanaćev V, Glamočić D, Milošević N, Puvača N, Stanaćev V, Plavša N (2011) Effect of garlic (*Allium sativum* L.) in fattening chicks nutrition. Afr J Agric Res 6: 943-948.
- Waskar VS, Ravikanth K, Maini S (2011) Effect of polyherbal feed supplement and antimycotic product on meat quality attributes of chicken. J S Afr Vet Assoc 9: 39-45.
- Zdunczyk Z, Gruzauskas R, Juskiewicz J, Semaskaite A, Jankowski J, Godycka-Klos I, Jarule V, Mieželiene A, Alencikiene G (2010) Growth performance, gastrointestinal tract responses, and meat characteristics of broiler chickens fed a diet containing the natural alkaloid sanguinarine from *Macleaya cordata*. J Appl Poult Res 19: 393–400.

Assessment of plasma nitric oxide concentration and erythrocyte arginase activity in dairy cows with traumatic reticuloperitonitis

A. Kirbas^{1*}, E. Baydar², F.M. Kandemir³

¹Department of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Ataturk University, Erzurum/Turkey

²Department of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Balıkesir University, Balıkesir/Turkey

³Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Ataturk University, Erzurum/Turkey

ABSTRACT. The aim of this study was to evaluate plasma nitric oxide (NO) concentrations, erythrocyte arginase (ARG) activity, plasma fibrinogen (Fb) and serum iron (Fe) levels and some biochemical parameters in dairy cows with traumatic reticuloperitonitis (TRP). The animal material of the study consisted of 14 Swiss Brown cows diagnosed with TRP (TRP group) between 4-8 years old brought to Firat University Animal Hospital Clinics and 14 healthy Swiss Brown cows (control group) aged 4-8 years obtained from dairy farms in different regions. Blood samples were taken from the vena jugularis of the animals. Concentrations of plasma NO, Fb, erythrocyte ARG activity, and some biochemical markers were determined after the serum and plasma of the receiving blood were separated. While the NO (318.9 \pm 5.8 vs. 270.3 \pm 9.6 μ mol/L) concentrations of the TRP group were found to be significantly higher than the control group (P<0.001), the erythrocyte ARG activity (29.5 \pm 0.5 vs. 35.2 \pm 1.0 U/hb) was found to be higher in the control group (P<0.001). It was also observed that total protein (TP) (6.6 ± 0.5 vs. 7.8 ± 0.1 g/dL) (P<0.05) and Fb (914.3±68.6 vs. 265.4±19.8 mg/dL) (P<0.001) concentrations were higher in the TRP group, compared to the control group, while albumin (ALB) (1.9±0.2 vs. 3.1±0.1 g/dL) and Fe (47.00±5.29 vs.106.79±9.44 µg/dL) concentrations were significantly lower than the control group (P < 0.001). In addition, a positive correlation was found between NO and Fb concentrations and between erythrocyte ARG activity and Fe concentrations. As a result, it was determined that NO concentrations were increased and erythrocyte ARG activity was not significant in dairy cows with TRP. In addition, increased plasma Fb concentration and decreased serum Fe concentration were determined in dairy cows with TRP. This study demonstrated that plasma NO, Fb and serum Fe concentrations in dairy cows with TRP may be useful markers for prognosis.

Keywords: Arginase, dairy cows, iron, nitric oxide, traumatic reticuloperitonitis

Corresponding Author: Akin Kirbas, Ataturk University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, 25240, Erzurum, Turkey Email address: akindahiliye55@yahoo.com; akirbas@atauni.edu.tr

Date of initial submission: 28.03.2019 Date of revised submission: 14.07.2019 Date of acceptance: 03.08.2019

INTRODUCTION

raumatic reticuloperitonitis (TRP) is a common L disease in adult cattle caused by the ingestion and migration of foreign bodies in the reticulum. Perforation of the wall of the reticulum allows leakage of ingesta and bacteria, which contaminate the peritoneal cavity, resulting in local or diffuse peritonitis (Constable 2010; Constable et al., 2017). Especially pica occurring as a result of malnutrition is a disease risk factor for TRP (Ocal et al., 2008). These foreign bodies, such as nails or pieces of wire, perforate the wall of the reticulum and cause various complications, including reticulitis, peritonitis, pericarditis, pleuritis, hepatitis, and septicaemia (Ward and Ducharme 1994; Constable 2010; Braun et al., 2018). The clinical signs of cattle with TRP are variable, depending on the severity, duration, and involvement of other organs. Fever, increased heart and respiratory rates, anorexia, dehydration, decreased milk production, weight loss, ruminal atony, tympani, abdominal tension, abdominal pain and grunting are the most common clinical signs observed in cattle with TRP (Ward and Ducharme 1994; Constable 2010; Constable et al., 2017).

Nitric oxide (NO) is released from a variety of cells. It is generated from the terminal guanidine nitrogen atom of L-arginine by NO synthase (Marletta 1989; Gokce and Woldehiwet 2002). NO is an important molecule involved in physiological and pathological processes in animals. It can be protective or hazardous for organs or tissues in which it is present in biological fluids (Zelnickova et al., 2008). It has been reported that NO has pro-inflammatory and injurious effects on several systems (Van Der Vielt et al., 2000; Sharma et al., 2007). NO is known to play a major role in the primary defence against several species of bacteria (Degroote and Fang 1999; Nisbet et al., 2007; Hanedan et al., 2017), viruses (Issi et al., 2010; Kandemir et al., 2011) and parasites (Kontas and Salmanoglu 2006; Hanedan et al., 2015). NO also regulates the motility of the rumen and reticulum in cattle (Onaga et al., 2001). The activity of NO in cellular defence mechanisms includes participation in tissue injury and the mediation of inflammatory processes and apoptosis (Boucher et al., 1999; Wallace 2005).

Arginase (ARG) is the final enzyme of the urea cycle, and catalyze the hydrolysis of L-arginine to ornithine and urea. ARG has two isoforms. While ARG I is localized in the cytoplasm, ARG II is found in the mitochondria (Kepka-Lenhart et al., 2008). Although the urea cycle is present only in hepatocytes, the ARG enzyme is seen in many other cells. The liver has the highest content and it is active in the urea cycle to transform ammonia to non-toxic components (Spector et al., 1982; Fuentes et al., 1994). It has been reported to be present serves special functions, such as polyamine synthesis and the production of the proline required for protein biosynthesis, in addition to its functions in the urea cycle (Ozcelik and Ozdemir 2003).

Although there are studies on biochemical (Balikci and Gunay 2004; Bozukluhan and Gokce 2007a; Kirbas et al., 2015; Braun et al., 2018) and hematological parameters (Bozukluhan and Gokce 2007a; Kirbas et al., 2015; Braun et al., 2018), coagulation profile (Gokce et al., 2007), and some acute phase protein concentrations (Bozukluhan and Gokce 2007b; Kirbas et al., 2015) in cattle with TRP, there are not enough studies on erythrocyte ARG activity and plasma NO concentration. Therefore, in this study, we aimed to determine plasma NO concentration, erythrocyte ARG activity and fibrinogen (Fb) levels as well as serum iron (Fe) concentration and some biochemical parameters in TRP disease frequently encountered in dairy cattle.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals. 14 Swiss brown breed dairy cows with TRP referred to the Veterinary Teaching Hospital School of Veterinary Medicine, Firat University, were included in the study as an experimental group (TRP). 14 clinically healthy Swiss brown breed dairy cows were obtained from the dairy farm of the different region as a control group (CG). The animals in the TRP and CG consisted of cows in the lactation period and have given birth 4 to 6 times on average. All cows were adult ageing 4 to 8 years old. This study was conducted in accordance with ethical rules.

Clinical examination and diagnosis. The diagnosis of TRP was determined according to clinical, ferroscopy (Hauptner Ferroscope, Art-Nr 39500; H. Hauptner & Richard Herberholz GmbH & Co. KG, Solingen, Germany) and ultrasonographic findings and responses to pain tests. The CG consisted of cows with a negative response to these findings and tests. In the clinical examination of cows with TRP and healthy cows; rectal temperature (RT), heart (HR) and respiration (RR) rates and rumen contractions (RC) numbers were determined. It was detected that sick animals were brought to Veterinary Teaching Hospital

School of Veterinary Medicine, Firat University 1-2 days after clinical findings appeared. For the cows in the TRP group, slaughtering was recommended for those with Fb levels above 1000 mg/dl and conservative and platform treatments were recommended for those with Fb levels below 1000 mg/dl.

Sampling. Blood samples were taken only before treatment. Blood samples were taken from the jugular veins into vacuum tubes with anticoagulant (EDTA, 3.6 mg K_2E , Vacutainer, BD-Plymouth, UK) for plasma analyses and without anticoagulant tubes (Vacutainer, BD-Plymouth, UK) for serum analyses. Plasma and serum samples were separated by centrifugation at 3000 g for 10 minutes at room temperature and stored at -80°C until analyses. In addition, blood samples were also collected into vacuum tubes with heparin (Lithium heparin, Vacutainer, BD-Plymouth, UK) for the determination of ARG analysis.

Biochemical assays

Plasma total NO. A commercial NO detection kit (Enzo Life Science, Switzerland) was used for measuring plasma total NO level. The kit involves the enzymatic conversion of nitrate to nitrite, by the enzyme nitrate reductase, followed by the colourimetric detection of nitrite as a coloured azo dye product of the Griess reaction that absorbs visible light at 540 nm.

Erythrocyte ARG activity. The erythrocyte ARG activity was determined using the thiosemicarbazide diacetyl-monoxime urea (TDMU) method (Geyer and Dabich 1971). The haemoglobin amount necessary for the determination of the erythrocyte ARG activity was ascertained with the Drabkin method depending on the cyanmethemoglobin formation (Drabkin and Austin 1932). In the present study, 1 unit of the enzyme was defined as the amount of enzyme generating 1 µmol urea from L-arginine in 1 hour at 37°C and stated as specific activity urea/hour/g haemoglobin.

Plasma fibrinogen (Fb). Plasma Fb concentrations were measured using the heat-precipitation method and were measured using a refractometer (Beijing, China) (Coles 1986).

Serum biochemistry. Serum enzyme activities alkaline phosphatase (ALP), aspartate aminotransferase (AST), total bilirubin (TBIL), albumin (ALB), total protein (TP), and iron (Fe) concentrations were determined with commercial test kits by a biochemistry autoanalyzer (Beckman Coulter, AU5800, USA). The concentration of total globulin (GLOB) was calculated by subtracting the ALB concentration from the TP concentration (Roussel et al., 1997; Gokce et al., 2007).

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS® (SPSS 16.0, Chicago, IL, USA) program package. Distribution of the data within groups was evaluated using a Shapiro-Wilk test. Parametrically distributed groups were compared using T-test (Independent-Samples T-Test). Levene's test was used to test whether variances were homogenous. Correlation between parameters was performed by Pearson Correlation test. Data were expressed as the mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). The significance degree between two groups was determined to be P<0.05.

RESULTS

Clinical signs. Mean values of clinical signs of dairy cows with TRP and CG were shown in Table 1. Body temperature (P<0.05), respiratory rate and heart rate of cows with TRP significantly increased compared to the control group (P<0.001) and the numbers of rumen contraction significantly decreased (P<0.001).

Additional findings of the cows with TRP were anorexia, grunting, constipation, tympani, ruminal stasis, impaction, abdominal pain and tension. Ferroscopy detected metallic foreign bodies with different response to the device (as 10-30 μ A) around the reticulum and the cranio-ventral region of the rumen in the left side of the cows with TRP.

While there was a positive correlation between NO concentrations and heart and respiratory rates of TRP group, there was a negative correlation between NO concentrations and rumen contractions. In addition, there was a positive correlation between erythrocyte ARG activity and rumen contractions of the TRP group and a negative correlation between erythrocyte ARG activity and heart and respiratory rates (Table 4).

Biochemical findings

ARG activity, NO, Fb and Fe concentrations. The mean values of erythrocyte ARG activity, NO, Fb and Fe concentrations of dairy cows in TRP and CG were given in Table 2. In the TRP group, plasma NO $(318.9\pm5.8/\mu mol/L-270.3\pm9.6/\mu mol/L)$ and Fb $(914.3\pm68.6/mg/dL$ and $265.4\pm19.8/mg/dL)$ concentrations were higher than CG (P<0.001). However, in the TRP group, the serum Fe concentrations (47.0 \pm 5.3/ µg/dL and 106.8 \pm 9.4/µg/dL) and erythrocyte ARG activity (29.52 \pm 0.5/Ug hemoglobin and 35.2 \pm 1.0/ Ug hemoglobin) were lower than CG (P<0.001). In addition, in the TRP group, a positive correlation was found between plasma NO and Fb concentrations and between erythrocyte ARG activity and serum Fe concentrations. However, a negative correlation was

determined between plasma NO concentrations and erythrocyte ARG activity (Table 4).

Serum biochemistry. The serum biochemical parameters of dairy cows with TRP and CG were shown in Table 3. Concentrations of TBIL, TP (P<0.05) and AST activity of TRP group were found higher than in CG (P<0.001), but concentrations of ALB of TRP group were determined lower than in CG (P<0.001).

Table 1. Mean values and standard error of the mean of clinical signs in dairy cows with TRP and control group.								
Parameters	Control group (n=14)	TRP group $(n=14)$	P value					
RT (°C)	38.5±0.1	39.0±0.1	< 0.05					
HR (beat/min)	69.3±1.7	86.6±3.5	< 0.001					
RR (breaths/min)	23.1±0.6	27.7±0.9	< 0.001					
RC (cyle/5 min)	8.7±0.2	4.6±0.4	< 0.001					

RT: rectal temperature; HR: heart rate; RR: respiration rate; RC: rumen contraction

Table 2. Mean values and standard error of the mean of erythrocyte ARG activity, NO, Fb and Fe concentrations in dairy cows with TRP and control group.

Parameters	Control group (n=14)	TRP group (n=14)	P value
ARG (U/g haemoglobin)	35.2±1.0	29.52±0.5	< 0.001
NO (μmol/l)	270.3±9.6	318.9±5.8	< 0.001
Fb (mg/dl)	265.4±19.8	914.3±68.6	< 0.001
Fe (µg/dl)	106.8±9.4	47.0±5.3	< 0.001

ARG: arginase; NO: nitric oxide; Fb: fibrinogen; Fe: iron.

Table 3. Mean values and standard error of the mean of serum biochemical parameters in dairy cows with TRP and control group.							
Parameters	Control group (n=14)	TRP group (n=14)	P value				
AST (U/l)	60.5 ± 6.4	90.1±4.2	< 0.001				
ALP (U/l)	58.0±9.6	96.8±27.7	-				
TBIL (mg/dl)	$0.2{\pm}0.0$	$0.4{\pm}0.1$	< 0.05				
ALB (g/dl)	3.1±0.1	$1.9{\pm}0.2$	< 0.001				
GLOB (g/dl)	4.9 ± 0.2	4.9±0.5	-				
TP (g/dl)	7.8±0.1	6.6±0.5	< 0.05				

AST:aspartate transaminase; ALP:alkhaline phosphatase; TBIL:total bilirubin; ALB: albumin; GLOB: globulin; TP: total protein; -: P>0.05.

Table 4. Correlation between	NO, ARG, Fb, Fe, RT, HR,	RR and RC in dairy cows with TRP.
------------------------------	--------------------------	-----------------------------------

rubic in contena		n 100,1 mo, 1 0,	, 1 0, 101, 1110, 10	ire una ree in au		i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i		
Parameters	NO	ARG	Fb	Fe	RT	HR	RR	RC
NO	1	-0.551**	0.544**	-0.582**	0.250	0.480**	0.523**	-0.506**
ARG		1	-0.569**	0.640**	-0.218	-0.489**	-0.462**	0.649**
Fb			1	-0.586**	0.320	0.582**	0.504**	-0.827**
Fe				1	-0.152	-0.565**	-0.603**	0.617**
RT					1	0.506**	0.252	-0.441**
HR						1	0.549**	-0.550**
RR							1	-0.398**
RC								1

NO: nitric oxide; ARG: arginase; Fb: fibrinogen; Fe: iron; RT: rectal temperature; HR: heart rate; RR: respiration rate; RC: rumen contraction; **: P<0.01

DISCUSSION

Traumatic reticuloperitonitis progresses in cattle as reticulitis, acute local and diffuse peritonitis, or chronic local and diffuse peritonitis. Besides, depending on contamination stages to surrounding organs, inflammation in reticulum and complications may also occur (Constable 2010; Constable et al., 2017). Progress of inflammation in the reticulum from acute process to chronic process makes treatment and healing process difficult. Therefore, the aim of this study was to determine plasma NO concentration, erythrocyte ARG activity and Fb levels as well as serum Fe concentration and some biochemical parameters in the dairy cows with TRP.

In the present study, a significantly different rectal temperature, respiratory and heart rates and rumen contractions were detected in the TRP group compared to the control group. It can be said that this situation may be due to the local or widespread inflammation in the reticulum region.

Nitric oxide is a signaling molecule that plays a key role in the pathogenesis of inflammation (Sharma et al., 2007). It involves in immune responses by cytokine-activated macrophages, which release NO in high concentrations (Wallace 2005). In consequence, large amounts of NO are synthesized, exceeding the physiological NO production by up to 1000-fold (Wallace 2005; Sharma et al., 2007). It was reported that NO concentrations in animals with bacterial (Nisbet et al., 2007; Li et al., 2010; Hanedan et al., 2017), viral (Kandemir et al., 2011; Bozukluhan et al., 2013) and parasitic diseases (Kontas and Salmanoglu 2006) increased compared to healthy controls. It was determined that NO concentrations increased in cattle with TRP (Atakisi et al., 2010) and traumatic pericarditis (Ozkan et al., 2012). The presence of pathogens, such as bacteria, and mucosal trauma resulting from TRP irritate the reticulum wall and stimulate mucosal NO production, thereby increasing NO synthesis (Yagmurca et al., 2009). The higher NO concentrations detected in the cows with TRP in the present study might be due to stimulation of the reticular mucosa by trauma caused by foreign bodies and possibly by entry of bacteria into the peritoneal cavity.

Arginase is a key enzyme of the urea cycle, an essential metabolic pathway for the removal of highly toxic ammonium ions resulting from protein degradation (Sharma et al., 2007). ARG activity is reduced by NO in the inflammatory process. It has been determined that ARG activity increases according to healthy animals in some viral (Issi et al., 2010; Kandemir et al., 2011), bacterial (Kandemir et al., 2013) and parasitic (Hanedan et al., 2015) diseases of cattle. In the present study was determined that ARG activity of TRP group was significantly lower than control group (Table 2). These findings supported the hypothesis that increased NO concentration in the inflammatory process decreased ARG activity.

Fb is one of the acute phase proteins (APPs) used to evaluate the inflammatory process in cattle (Cole et al., 1997; Jones and Allison 2007). Fb has been used for many years in inflammatory and traumatic diseases. It is characterized by a significant increase in response to trauma and infection. Plasma Fb concentrations in cattle increase within two days after trauma, inflammation and infection (Cole et al., 1997; Hirvonen and Pyörala 1998; Jones and Allison 2007). Hirvonen and Pyörälä (1998) have stated that Fb is useful for distinguishing TRP from other gastrointestinal diseases and pre-determination of the healing process of abdominal disorders. Gokce et al. (2007) stated that TRP is indicative of hyperfibrinogenemia. Therefore, Fb concentration is known to be useful for the diagnosis of TRP (Bozukluhan and Gokce 2007b; Kirbas et al., 2015). Kirbas et al. (2015) stated the increase in the Fb concentration was associated with the severity of inflammation process. Similarly, in this study, the Fb concentration of cows in the TRP group was significantly higher than in the control group (Table 2).

It was reported that Fe deficiencies were triggered by cytokines in the time of the inflammatory response. It is stated that Fe concentrations decrease during the acute phase response (APR) in the organism due to inflammation in horses (Borges et al., 2007), dogs (Torrente et al., 2015), adult cattle (Baydar and Dabak 2014) and calves (Aydogdu et al., 2018). Baydar and Dabak (2014) stated that serum Fe concentration in cattle with mastitis and TRP is significantly decreased compared to the control group and serum Fe concentration may be a useful parameter for the determination of inflammation. Borges et al. (2007) reported that the decrease in serum Fe concentration in horses is a sensitive marker of acute, subacute and chronic systemic inflammation, and the change in Fe concentration may be a useful parameter for monitoring response to treatment. Torrente et al. (2015) stated that serum Fe concentrations might also be a useful marker for the detection of acute inflammation in dogs with systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS). In a recent study was indicated that serum Fe concentrations were significantly reduced in calves with SIRS compared to the control group, and serum Fe concentrations could be a useful parameter for the determination of inflammatory response in calves with SIRS (Aydogdu et al., 2018). Similarly, in the present study, was determined that the Fe concentrations of the TRP group were significantly lower than that of control group (Table 2). Thus, it was determined that Fe could be a useful marker in the monitoring of the inflammatory process in cows with TRP.

Changes in TP, GLOB and ALB concentrations were expected in response to inflammation during the clinical form of TRP. In previous studies, TP concentrations have been determined as normal (Ozdemir 1989; Balikci and Gunay 2004; Kirbas et al., 2015; Braun et al., 2018), low (Batmaz 1990; Braun et al., 2018) or high (Ok and Aslan 1994; Gokce et al., 2007; Bozukluhan and Gokce 2007a; Braun et al., 2018) under these circumstances. In this study, TP concentrations of TRP group were low. Reticular abscess associated with TRP have been found to result in hyperglobulinemia (Balikci and Gunay 2004). Ok and Aslan (1994) stated that total globulin concentrations decreased during the disease as a result of protein migration into the inflammatory area. In this present study, mean GLOB concentrations in the TRP group were not found to be statistically different than the control group. The decrease in ALB may be linked

to the synthesis of APPs (Kirbas et al., 2015), starvation, malnutrition and/or digestive failure (Balikci and Gunay 2004; Bozukluhan and Gokce 2007a). In this study, mean ALB concentrations in TRP group were different from control group. This result may reflect that hepatic ALB synthesis was affected by APR synthesis. Statistically significant differences in serum AST activity and TBIL concentration of TRP group compared to control group were detected (Table 3). These findings could be indicate that hepatocyte integrity of the liver was impaired in the cows with TRP.

In conclussion, it was determined that NO concentrations were increased and erythrocyte ARG activity was not significant in dairy cows with TRP. In addition, increased plasma Fb concentration and decreased serum Fe concentration were determined in dairy cows with TRP. This study demonstrated that plasma NO, Fb and serum Fe concentrations in dairy cows with TRP may be useful markers for prognosis.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Study abstract was present as poster presentation in the 1st International Herd of Health and Management Congress, October 14-17, 2018, Antalya, Turkey.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

- Atakisi E, Bozukluhan K, Atakisi O, Gokce HI (2010) Total oxidant and antioxidant capacities and nitric oxide levels in cattle with traumatic reticuloperitonitis. Vet Rec 167: 908-909.
- Aydogdu U, Coskun A, Yildiz R, Guzelbektes H, Sen I (2018) Changes of hematological parameters and serum iron levels in calves with systemic inflammatory response syndrome. Eurasian J Vet Sci 34: 56-59.
- Balikci E, Gunay C (2004) The comparison of some clinical, hematological, biochemical and electrocardiographic findings at before and after ruminatomy in cows with traumatic reticuloperitonitis. Fırat Univ J Health Sci 18: 13-19.
- Batmaz H (1990) Klinik olarak normal sığırlar ile retiküloperitonitis travmatikalı sığırların teşhis ve prognozunda serum protein elektroforezi ve SGOT, SGPT ve LDH enzim düzeyleri üzerine karşılaştırmalı araştırmalar. Turk J Vet Anim Sci 14: 476-479.
- Baydar E, Dabak M (2014) Serum iron as an indicator of acute inflammation in cattle. J Dairy Sci 97: 222-228.
- Braun U, Warislohner S, Torgerson P, Nuss K, Gerspach C (2018) Clinical and laboratory findings in 503 cattle with traumatic reticuloperitonitis. BMC Vet Res 14: 66.
- Borges AS, Divers TJ, Stokol T, Mohammed OH (2007) Serum iron and plasma fibrinogen concentrations as indicators of systemic inflammatory diseases in horses. J Vet Intern Med 21: 489-494.
- Boucher JL, Moali C, Tenu JP (1999) Nitric oxide biosynthesis, nitric oxide synthase inhibitors and arginase competition for L-arginine utilization. Cell Mol Life Sci 55: 1015-1028.
- Bozukluhan K, Gokce HI (2007a) Investigation of clinical, haematological, and biochemical parameters in cattle with traumatic reticuloperitonitis or with traumatic pericarditis. J Fac Vet Med Erciyes Univ 4: 97-106.
- Bozukluhan K, Gokce HI (2007b) Investigation of some acute phase proteins in cattle with traumatic reticuloperitonitis or with traumatic pericarditis. J Fac Vet Med Erciyes Univ 4: 107-113.
- Bozukluhan K, Atakisi E, Atakisi O (2013) Nitric oxide levels, total antioxidant and oxidant capacity in cattle with foot-and-mouthdisease. Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg 19: 179-36.
- Cole DJ, Roussel AJ, Whitney MS (1997) Interpreting a bovine CBC: Evaluating the leukon and acute-phase proteins. Vet Med 92: 470-478.
- Coles EH: Veterinary Clinical Pathology. 4th ed. W.B.Saunders Copmpany, Philadelphia, PA and London, UK, 1986, 90–91.
- Constable PD: Traumatic reticuloperitonitis. In: Khan C (ed.). The Merck Veterinary Manual, 10th ed. Merck & Co., Inc., Whitehouse, USA, 2010, 209-211.
- Constable PD, Hinckliff KW, Done SH, Grunberg W: Veterinary Medicine. 11th ed. W.B.Saunders Copmpany, London, 2017, 482-490.
- Degroote MA, Fang FC: Antimicrobial properties of nitric oxide. In: Fang FC (ed.). Nitric Oxide and Infection. Kluwer Academic/Plenum,1999, 231- 261.
- Drabkin DL, Austin JM (1932) Spectrophotometric studies, spectrophtometric constants for common haemoglobin derivatives in human, dog and rabbit blood. J Biol Chem 98: 719-733.
- Fuentes JM, Campo ML, Soler G (1994) Kinetics and inhibition by some aminoacids of lactating rat mammary gland arginase. Arch Int Physiol Biochem Biophys 102: 255-258.
- Geyer JW, Dabich D (1971) Rapid method for determination of arginase activity in tissue homogenates. Anal Biochem 39: 412-417.
- Gokce HI, Woldehiwet Z (2002) Production of tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-a) and reactive nitrogen intermediates by ovine peripheral blood leucocytes stimulated by *Ehrlichia (Cytoecetes) phagocytophila*. J Comp Pathol 126: 202-211.

- Gokce HI, Gokce G, Cihan M (2007) Alterations in coagulation profiles and biochemical and haematological parameters in cattle with traumatic reticuloperitonitis. Vet Res Commun 31: 529-537.
- Hanedan B, Kirbas A, Kandemir FM, Ozkaraca M, Kilic K, Benzer F (2015) Arginase activity and total oxidant/antioxidant capacity in cows with lung cystic echinococcosis. Med Weter 71: 167-170.
- Hanedan B, Kirbas A, Kandemir FM, Aktas MS, Yildiz A (2017) Evaluation of arginase activity, nitric oxide, and oxidative stress status in sheep with *Contagious agalactiae*. Acta Vet Hung 65: 394-401.
- Hirvonen J, Pyörälä S (1998) Acute-phase response in dairy cows with surgically treated abdominal disorders. Vet J 155: 53-61.
- Issi M, Kandemir FM, Basbug O, Gul Y, Ozdemir N (2010) Saliva and erythrocyte arginase activity in beef cattle with foot-and mouth disease. YYU Vet Fak Derg 21: 91-93.
- Jones ML, Allison RW (2007) Evaluation of the ruminant complete blood cell count. Vet Clin North Am Food Anim Pract 23: 377-402.
- Kandemir FM, Issi M, Benzer F, Gul Y, Basbug O, Ozdemir N (2011) Plasma nitric oxide concentrations and erythrocyte arginase activities in lambs with contagious ecthyma. Revue Méd Vét 162: 275-278.
- Kandemir FM, Yuksel M, Ozdemir N, Deveci H (2013) A different approach to diagnosis of subclinical mastitis: milk arginase activity. Vet Arhiv 83: 603-610.
- Kepka-Lenhart D, Ash DE, Morris SM (2008) Determination of mammalian arginase activity. Method Enzymol 440: 221-230.
- Kirbas A, Ozkanlar Y, Aktas MS, Ozkanlar S, Ulas N, Erol HS (2015) Acute phase biomarkers for inflammatory response in dairy cows with traumatic reticuloperitonitis. Isr J Vet Med 70: 23-29.
- Kontas T, Salmanoglu B (2006) Tumour necrosis factor-α, adenosine deaminase and nitric oxide levels in cattle babesiosis before and after treatment. Bull Vet Inst Pulawy 50: 485-487.
- Li D, Liu Y, Li Y, Lv Y, Pei X, Guo D (2010) Significance of nitric oxide concentration in plasma and uterine secretes with puerperal endometritis in dairy cows. Vet Res Commun 34: 315–321.
- Marletta MA (1989) Nitric oxide: biosynthesis and biological significance. Trends Biochem Sci 14: 488-492.
- Nisbet C, Yarim GF, Ciftci A, Cenesiz S, Ciftci G (2007) Investigation of serum nitric oxide and malondialdehyde levels in cattle infected with *Brucella abortus*. Ankara Univ Vet Fak Derg 54: 159-163.
- Ocal N, Gokce G, Gucu AI, Uzlu E, Yagci BB, Ural K (2008) Pica as a predisposing factor for traumatic reticuloperitonitis in dairy cattle: serum mineral concentrations and hematological findings. J Anim Vet Adv 7: 651-656.
- Ok M, Aslan V (1994) The importance of blood proteins and glutaraldehyde coagulation test in the diagnosis and prognosis of cattle with traumatic reticuloperitonitis. Eurasian J Vet Sci 10: 90-95.
- Onaga T, Okada H, Hagiwara S, Nagasiima C, Inoue H, Orczynski W, Kato S (2001) Effects of nitric oxide donor and nitric oxide synthase inhibitor on ruminal contractions in conscious sheep. Res Vet Sci 71: 189-195.
- Ozcelik M, Ozdemir N (2003) Some biochemical properties of arginase in sheep mammary tissue. Turk J Vet Anim Sci 27: 719-725.
- Ozdemir H (1989) Retikuloperitonitis travmatika olgularında klinik ve hematolojik çalışmalar ile serum protein fraksiyonları üzerine araştırmalar. Turk J Vet Anim Sci 13: 213-231.
- Ozkan C, Altug N, Kaya A, Basbugan Y (2012) Serum nitric oxide concentrations in cattle with traumatic pericarditis. YYU Vet Fak Derg 23: 131-135.
- Roussel AJ, Whitney MS, Cole D (1997) Interpreting a bovine serum

J HELLENIC VET MED SOC 2019, 70(4) ПЕКЕ 2019, 70(4) chemistry profile: Part: 1. Vet Med 92: 551-558.

- Sharma JN, Al-Omran A, Parvathy SS (2007) Role of nitric oxide in inflammatory diseases. Inflammopharmacol 15: 252–259.
- Spector EB, Rice SCH, Moedjeno S, Bernard B, Cederbaub SD (1982) Biochemical properties of arginase in human adult and fetal tissues. Biochem Med 28: 165-175.
- Torrente C, Manzanilla EG, Bosch L, Fresno L, Rivera Del Alamo M, Andaluz A, Saco Y, Ruiz De Gopegui R (2015) Plasma iron, C-reactive protein, albumin, and plasma fibrinogen concentrations in dogs with systemic inflammatory response syndrome. J Vet Emerg Crit Care 25: 611-619.

Van Der Vielt A, Eiserich JP, Cross CE (2000) Nitric oxide: a pro-in-

flammatory mediator in lung disease? Respir Res 1: 67-72.

- Wallace JL (2005) Nitric oxide as a regulator of inflammatory processes. Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz, 100 (Suppl. I): 5-9.
- Ward JL, Ducharme NG (1994) Traumatic reticuloperitonitis in dairy cattle. J Am Vet Med Assoc 204: 874-877.
- Yagmurca M, Ucar M, Fadillioglu E, Erdogan H, Ozturk F (2009) The effects of nitric oxide on rat stomach injury induced by acetylsalicylic acid. Turk J Med Sci 39: 13-19.
- Zelnickova P, Matiasovic J, Pavlova B, Kudlackova H, Kovaru F, Faldyna M (2008) Quantitative nitric oxide production by rat, bovine and porcine macrophages. Nitric Oxide 19: 36-41.

Effects of Indigenous Spore-Forming Probiotic as Feed Supplement on Performance and Safety in Broilers

N.G. Hosseini¹, M.H. Modarressi¹, S.N. Mousavi², M.T. Ebrahimi^{3*}

¹Department of Biology, Science and Research Branch, Islamic Azad University, Tehran, Iran

² Departments of Animal Science, Varamin-Pishva Branch, Islamic Azad University, Varamin, Iran

³ Department of Biology, Faculty of Sciences, Central Tehran Branch, Islamic Azad University, Tehran, Iran

ABSTRACT. Probiotics colonize the intestine of animals and birds and provide useful effects on their performance and immune status. This study describes a high throughput screening and characterization of spore-forming bacteria from Iranian poultry farms with the aim to identify potential probiotic native Bacillus spp. and determine its effects on growth performance, hemato-biochemical parameters, immunity, intestinal microflora, morphology and MUC2 gene expression of broiler chickens. A total of 300 one-day-old female Ross 308 broilers (42.6 ± 0.6 g) were used in a 6-wk study. Broilers were randomly allotted to 1 of 3 dietary treatments consisting of 4 replicate cages with 25 broilers each: 1- Control (Corn-soy-based diet: C), 2- C + 200 g/ton of the GalliPro® (Bacillus subtilis DSM 17299, 4×10⁹ CFU/g, as positive control group: PC), 3- C + 200 g/ton of the native probiotic (B. tequilensis K03, 4×10^9 CFU/g: NP) identified in this study. During the experiment parameters were measured weekly. The results revealed that birds of the NP and PC groups exhibited improved feed conversion ratio (FCR) and increased body weight (BW), carcass and breast meat yield compared with the birds of the C group (P<0.05). Also, lymphocytes level, antibody titers against Newcastle diseases virus (NDV) and infectious bronchitis virus (IBV) of vaccinated birds were increased, while serum triglycerides, total cholesterol levels and abdominal fat of birds fed NP and PC were decreased compared to birds of the C group (P < 0.05). The villus height, the relative expression of MUC2 gene and Bacillus spp. populations were increased, while E. coli was significantly decreased in the ileum content of treated groups (P < 0.05). These results indicate that the identified native *B.tequilensis* K03 strain can improve immunity and broiler performance by modifying intestinal microflora and morphology. Studied native probiotic Bacillus tequilensis K03 has useful effects on health status and it can be used as poultry feed supplement.

Keywords: Broiler, Probiotic, Bacillus, Performance, Mucin

Corresponding Author: Maryam Tajabadi Ebrahimi, Department of Biology, Faculty of Sciences, Central Tehran Branch, Islamic Azad University, Tehran, Iran Email address: m.tajabadi@iauctb.ac.ir

Date of initial submission: 19-04-2019 Date of revised submission: 27-08-2019 Date of acceptance: 05-09-2019

INTRODUCTION

ntibiotics have been used in commercial poultry Adjust due to their growth-promoting and prophylactic effects for over 50 years (Coates et al., 1963). Antibiotic intake of food animals, as well as the resulted antibiotic residue in food, has been noticed as one leading cause of the rapid spread of antimicrobial resistance in human populations. Reducing antibiotics in animal agriculture is one key in struggle against the spread of antibiotic resistance (Ghadban, 2002; Kabir, 2009). Increasing information on healthy food has led to increasing interests on natural food products such as probiotics. Probiotics have been demonstrated to improve intestinal microbial balance, provide protection against gut pathogens and modulate immune system. (Khaksefidi and Ghoorchi, 2006; Mingmongkolchai and Panbangred, 2018). These products have been identified as a safe feed additive in animal industry (Nawab et al., 2019). Lactic acid bacteria (LAB), mainly from genus Lactobacillus, consist the most important microbial population in the intestine of broiler chickens that have been used as probiotics in poultry industry (Huang et al., 2004). Encapsulation technologies are used to keep probiotic cell viable all over storage, commercialization and use in food products, so that these cells are active during their passage through the gastrointestinal tract (Tellez et al., 2012). Bacillus spp. is a genus of Gram-positive, rod shaped, and spore-forming bacteria. The spores present in vegetative cells allow long-term storage, and survival at the harsh environmental and processing condition and low pH of the gastrointestinal tract (Cutting, 2011).

The Bacillus spp. have been known as probiotics for chickens feed because it secretes antimicrobials compounds and suppress the colonization of gut pathogens (Hong et al., 2008; Knap et al., 2011; Guyard-Nicodeme et al., 2016). This probiotic with improve immunity (Melegy et al., 2011) and changes in the intestine morphology of broilers (Sen et al., 2012) lead to promote growth (Melegy et al., 2011) and improves the quality of meat (Xu et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2016). Also, reported that Bacillus spp. decrease NH₂ emission from poultry manure (Jeong and Kim, 2014). Nonetheless, a few of them such as B. subtilis, B. cereus, and B. licheniformis are currently used in poultry industry, and the probiotic potential of other Bacillus spp. has been less studied (Cutting, 2011; Mingmongkolchai and Panbangred, 2018). The potential and efficacy of probiotics depend on the bacterial species and host origin, as well as on the application levels (Mountzouris et al., 2007; Amerah et al., 2013). Moreover, the antibiotic resistance of Bacillus spp. is another matter of concern. Therefore, exploring native or new probiotic strains is important to obtain very efficient probiotics for chicken feed. There is little information about the probiotic potential of Bacillus tequilensis, which biochemically is quite similar to B. subtilis, and can be differentiated by lysine decarboxylase, positive arginine hydrolases, ornithine decarboxylase and acid production from rhamnose (Gatson et al., 2006). It is reported that Bacillus tequilensis K03 have the highest attachment ability to intestinal epithelium cells and inhibits the growth of Salmonella Typhimurium (Ghorban Hosseini et al., 2019). Therefore, in the present study, we investigated the effects a selected native strain (B. tequilensis K03) on performance and carcass traits, hemato-biochemical parameters, immunity, and intestinal morphology, microflora and MUC2 gene expression of broiler chickens.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Bacterial isolation and characterization

Bacterial isolates were obtained from fecal samples (n=86) collected from poultry farms in Golestan province in the north-east of Iran. The samples were serially diluted and spread plated on nutrient agar (QueLab-393506) followed by incubation at 37°C for 48 h. Discrete bacterial colonies (n=34) were picked and characterized according to Wu et al., (2011). Then, probiotic characteristics (acid and antibiotic resistance, bile salt, the ability to attach to intestinal epithelial cells, and inhibit Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium invasion), as well as ability of producing amylase and phytase of Bacillus spp. isolates were analyzed (Latorre et al., 2016; Thirabunyanon and Thongwittaya, 2012). The 16S ribosomal typing was also performed for identification of the selected strain (Jeevana Lakshmi et al., 2013). All isolates were catalase-positive, oxidase-positive and non-hemolytic. The K03 strain was the superior bacterium, and had desirable probiotic characteristics, with production of 4.56 ± 1.1 U/ml phytase and 36.7 ± 1.3 U/ml α -amylase enzymes, and the highest adherence ability (1.9 log CFU/well) to intestinal epithelial cells. The strain had more inhibitory strength than the other isolates using exclusion assay to inhibit Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium attachment, up to 53% compared to control. The analysis of 16S rDNA gene sequences showed the highest similarity (% 99) of the K03 strain to Bacillus tequilensis KCTC 13622^T, indicating the auto probiotic (indigenous bacteria) potential of the strain for use in chicken diet (Ghorban Hosseini *et al.*, 2019).

Birds and experimental design

Three hundred one-day old healthy female broilers (Ross 308) with the initial weight of 42.6 ± 0.6 g were obtained from a local hatchery (Tehran, Iran), and randomly allocated to three dietary treatments (n=100) with four replicates (25 birds/pen) and raised for 42 days. The broiler chickens were fed a basal diet (Control; C) as well as basal diet + 200 g/ton of the GalliPro® commercial probiotic (*B. subtilis* DSM

17299, 4×10^9 CFU/g) as positive control group (PC). The birds in the native probiotic (NP) group were fed with basal diet + 200 g/ton of the native probiotic (*B. tequilensis K03*, 4×10^9 CFU/g) isolate. In broiler diets 8×10^5 viable spores/g was evaluated. Feed ingredients and nutrient composition of basal diet are shown in the Table 1. The environmental temperature was maintained at 32°C during the first week and gradually decreased (2°C per week) to 22°C, and then maintained constant until the end of the experiment. All guidelines for the ethical use and care of animal were followed, and approved by the Islamic Azad University Ethics Committee for Animal Experimentation.

Table1. Feed ingredients and nutrient composition of basal diet

8 1			
Ingredients (%)	Starter (1-10 d)	Grower (11-21d)	Finisher (22-42d)
Corn	54.91	56.80	60.54
Soybean meal (44% CP)	38.00	36.22	32.03
Soy oil	2.51	3.00	3.83
Limestone	1.10	1.01	0.94
Di-calcium phosphate	1.93	1.65	1.42
Vitamin and Mineral premix*	0.50	0.50	0.50
DL-methionine	0.30	0.26	0.24
L-lysine HCl	0.25	0.13	0.10
L-threonine	0.11	0.06	0.03
Common Salt	0.20	0.23	0.24
Sodium bicarbonate	0.19	0.14	0.13
Nutrient composition			
Metabolizable energy (kcal / kg)	2950	3000	3100
Crude protein (%)	22.61	20.80	18.89
Digestible lysine (%)	1.26	1.11	0.99
Digestible methionine + cysteine (%)	0.93	0.84	0.77
Digestible threonine (%)	0.84	0.74	0.66
Calcium (%)	0.94	0.84	0.75
Available Phosphorus (%)	0.47	0.42	0.38
Sodium (%)	0.16	0.15	0.15

* The vitamin-mineral premix provided the following quantities per kg of diet: vitamin A, 9000 IU; vitamin D3, 2000 IU; vitamin E, 18 IU; vitamin K3, 2 mg; vitamin B1, 1.8 mg; vitamin B2, 6.6 mg; vitamin B3, 10 mg; vitamin B5, 30 mg; vitamin B6, 3 mg; vitamin B9, 1 mg; vitamin B12, 0.015 mg; biotin, 0.1 mg; choline chloride, 250 mg; antioxidant, 100 mg; Mn, 100 mg; Zn, 84.7 mg; Fe, 50 mg; Cu, 10 mg; I, 1 mg; Se, 0.2 mg.

Growth performance

Growth performance parameters, including body weight gain (BWG) and feed intake (FI) were measured while feed conversion ratio (FCR) was calculated for starter (1-10 d), grower (11-21 d), finisher (22-42 d), and overall period (1-42 days).

Carcass yield and relative weight of organs

On day 42, four birds from each replicates were randomly selected, weighed and slaughtered for carcass analysis, and determination of relative weight of organs. The weight of carcass, breast, thigh, gizzard, liver, heart, spleen and abdominal fat for each slaughtered bird was calculated as a relative percentage of live body weight (Zaghari *et al.*, 2016).

Hematological parameters

At the end of experiment, blood samples were collected from wing vein of four birds from each replicates, and divided into two aliquots. The first aliquot was transferred to a 2 ml heparinized tube containing EDTA to determine leukocytes, and other one in the same tube without anticoagulant and left to clot then serum was collected for humoral and biochemical analyses. Blood smears were prepared from each samples by Giemsa staining, and were examined under a compound microscope for leukocyte differential count according to Beski and Al-Sardary (2015). Moreover, 100cells from the slides were evaluated to determine the heterophil to lymphocyte ratio.

Serum biochemical analysis

The collected blood samples (4 birds per replicate) in the 2 ml tube without anticoagulant left to clot, then serum was collected by centrifuging (1500 g for 15 min at 4°C), and stored at -20°C.

The concentration of serum total protein (TP), triglyceride (TG), glucose, total cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol, and low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol were measured by commercial kits (Parsazmon Co. Iran) according to the manufacturer protocols, using the Eppendorf Auto analyzer (Epos5060).

Humoral immune parameters (Antibody titers)

The broilers were vaccinated against Newcastle, Influenza, and Infectious Bronchitis as described by Rahmani *et al.* (2005). On day 28 of the experiment, four birds from each replicate were bled by wing vein for serum antibody titer analysis (Rowghani *et al.*, 2007). The samples were tested for Newcastle and Influenza disease by HI test (Xu *et al.*, 1997), and were analyzed by an ELISA kit (Bronchitis, IDEXX Kit) for bronchitis diseases according to manufacturer's instruction.

Determination of ileum microflora

On day 42, four birds from each replicate were randomly selected and slaughtered, and then their ileum contents (1 g) were removed to determine microflora. The samples were diluted from 10^{-1} to 10^{-7} in normal saline solution, and then to determine *Bacillus* spp., *Lactobacillus* spp., and *Escherichia coli* counts, the diluted samples were seeded on Nutrient agar (QueLab-393506), MRS agar (Merck, Germany), and MacConkey agar (Merck, Germany), respectively, and incubated at 37°C for 48 h. The numbers of colony-forming units (CFUs) were expressed as log10 CFU per gram (Wu *et al.*, 2011).

Ileum morphological examination

At the end of experiment, 4 birds per replicate were sampled, and ileum (5 cm after Meckel's diverticulum) was taken, and fixed in 10% formalin. The 5 μ m sections were prepared and stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) for light microscopic (E600; Nikon) examination. Morphological experiments were performed according to Iji *et al.* (2001) methods, using Image-J software (http://rsb.info.nih.gov/ij/).

MUC2 gene expression

Total RNA was extracted from the 20 mg of the homogenized ileum intestinal samples (3 birds from each replicates) using the RNA Isolation Kit (QIA-GEN, Cat. No. 74104), and then cDNA synthesis was performed in a total volume of 25 µl from 5 µl of extracted RNA using Quantifast Reverse-Transcriptase cDNA synthesis kit (QIAGEN, Cat. No. 205311) according to the manufacturer's recommendations. Relative expression of MUC2 gene was quantified in duplicate for each cDNA sample on the Real-Time PCR detection system (Applied Biosystems) using Quanti Fast Syber Green PCR kit (QIAGEN, Cat. No. 204052), and specific primer pairs (BX930545; F: 5'-ATGCGATGTTAACACAGGACTC-3'; R:5'-GTGGAGCACAGCAGACTTTG -3') with cycling parameters of 95°C for 10 min for 1 cycle, 95°C for 15 s, 60°C for 20 s, and 72°C for 40 s for 40 cycles, as described previously by Forder et al. (2012). The melting curve of each amplicon was examined, and the expression of the MUC2 gene was corrected based on the endogenous control expression (GAPDH gene: NM 204305; F: 5'-TGTGACTTCAATGGTGA-CAGC-3', R: 5'-GCTATATCCAAACTCATTGT-CATACC-3') and calculated as fold change according to the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001).

Statistical analysis

The data were analyzed using the statistical package SAS software (SAS Institute, 2007) by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Tukey's pairwise multiple comparison test. Values of P<0.05 were considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Growth performance

The results of growth performance of broilers fed with diets containing native strain (*B. tequilensis* K03) and commercial product (*B. subtilis* DSM 17299) of *Bacillus* spp. probiotic are presented in Table 2. The results showed that dietary supplementation of *Bacillus* spp. probiotics (both native strain and commercial product) significantly improved BW, FCR of birds compared to the control group (P<0.05) during the overall period, while there was no significant difference (P>0.05) for starter, grower, and finisher periods. Feed intake was not affected by treatments. No significant differences were found in growth performance parameters between birds fed native strain and commercial *Bacillus* spp. probiotic supplemented diets (P>0.05).

Table 2. Growth performance of broiler chickens fed Bacillus spp. probiotics at different periods of experiment						
Parameters	С	РС	NP	SEM	P-value	
1 – 10 days	_					
BW (g)	238.3	243.7	244.8	2.0	0.4	
FI (g)	266.2	235.2	233.8	11.3	0.4	
FCR	1.1	0.9	0.9	0.05	0.3	
11 – 21 days						
BW (g)	601.4	625.9	627.5	7.5	0.3	
FI (g)	852.1	835.2	834.4	16.3	0.9	
FCR	1.4	1.33	1.3	0.02	0.2	
22 – 42 days						
BW (g)	1720.6	1763.7	1762.5	10.1	0.1	
FI (g)	3676.9	3663.8	3662.1	19.0	0.9	
FCR	2.1	2.0	2.0	0.01	0.06	
1 – 42 days	_					
BW (g)	2602.3	2675.4	2676.9	15.3	0.05	
FI (g)	4795.3	4734.3	4730.4	42.8	0.8	
FCR	1.8 ª	1.7 ^b	1.7 ^b	0.01	0.04	

Different letters indicate significant differences between groups at P < 0.05.

BW, Body weight; FI, Feed intake; FCR, Feed conversion ratio

C, Control; NP, Native Probiotic (200 g/ton, *B. tequilensis* K03, 4×10⁹ CFU/g); PC, Positive Control (200g/ton, *B. subtilis* DSM 17299, 4×10⁹ CFU/g); SEM, Standard error of means.

Carcass yield and relative weight of organs

The results of carcass yield and relative weight of organs of broiler chickens are shown in Table 3. The relative weight of carcass, breast, thigh, and spleen were significantly increased and abdominal fat was decreased (P \leq 0.05) in the birds fed with diets supplemented with *Bacillus* spp. probiotics (native strain and commercial product) as compared to the control

during the overall experimental period. However, dietary *Bacillus spp*. probiotics had no significant effects on relative weight of liver, gizzard, and heart of the birds (P>0.05). No significant differences in carcass yield and relative weight of organs were observed between birds fed dietary native strain and commercial *Bacillus* spp. probiotics (P>0.05).

Table 3. Carcass yield and relative organ weight in broiler chickens fed Bacillus spp. probiotic diets at 42 d of age							
Parameters (%)	С	PC	NP	SEM	P-value		
Carcass yield	66.2 ª	67.3 ^b	67.4 ^b	0.2	0.05		
Breast	22.4 ª	23.3 ^b	23.4 ь	0.1	0.05		
Thigh	16.1 ª	16.8 ^b	16.8 ^b	0.1	0.04		
Liver	1.6	1.6	1.8	0.03	0.11		
Gizzard	1.6	1.7	1.8	0.03	0.17		
Spleen	0.1 ª	0.2 ^b	0.2 ^b	0.01	0.04		
Heart	0.8	0.9	0.8	0.07	0.96		
Abdominal fat	1.6ª	1.4 ^b	1.3 ^b	0.04	0.04		

Different letters indicate significant differences between groups at P < 0.05.

C, Control; NP, Native Probiotic (200 g/ton, *B. tequilensis* K03, 4×10⁹ CFU/g); PC, Positive Control (200g/ton, *B. subtilis* DSM 17299, 4×10⁹ CFU/g); SEM, Standard error of means.

Hematological parameters (leukocytes)

The effects of dietary supplementation of native strain and commercial *Bacillus* spp. probiotics on leukocytes differential count of broiler chickens are shown in Table 4. Diets containing native strain and commercial *Bacillus* spp. probiotics (K03 and DSM 17299, respectively) significantly increased the percentage of lymphocytes compared to the control group (P<0.05), however, no significant differences were found between K03 and DSM 17299 groups (P>0.05). There was no significant differences in the percentage of heterophile, eosinophil, basophile, monocyte, as well as heterophile/lymphocytes ratio of birds fed diets containing native strain and commercial *Bacillus* spp. probiotics compared to the control group (P>0.05).

Table 4. Hematological parameters of broiler chickens fed <i>Bacillus</i> spp. problotics based diets at 42 d of age						
Parameters (%)	С	РС	NP	SEM	P-value	
Heterophile	31.6	31.5	31.3	0.3	0.9	
Lymphocytes	51.8 ª	53.4 ^b	53.9 ^b	0.3	0.02	
Monocyte	7.7	7.2	7.3	0.1	0.52	
Eosinophil	2.6	2.7	2.7	0.05	0.74	
Basophile	2.5	2.5	2.6	0.03	0.69	
Heterophile/Lymphocytes	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.01	0.56	

 Table 4. Hematological parameters of broiler chickens fed Bacillus spp. probiotics based diets at 4

Different letters indicate significant differences between groups at P < 0.05.

C, Control; NP, Native Probiotic (200 g/ton, *B. tequilensis* K03, 4×10⁹ CFU/g); PC, Positive Control (200g/ton, *B. subtilis* DSM 17299, 4×10⁹ CFU/g); SEM, Standard error of means.

Serum biochemical parameters

The results of serum biochemical analysis of broilers fed with diets containing probiotic are shown in Table 5. The results revealed significant decrease in serum triglycerides and total cholesterol levels of birds fed dietary native strain and commercial *Bacillus* spp. probiotics (K03 and DSM 17299) compared to the control group (P<0.05), however, no significant differences were found between K03 and DSM 17299 dietary groups (P>0.05). No significant differences were also found in serum glucose, total protein, High density lipoprotein (HDL), and Low density lipoprotein (LDL) levels among treatments (P>0.05).

Table 5. Serum biochemical parameters in broiler chickens fed Bacillus spp. probiotics based diets at 42 d of age.

Parameters	С	РС	NP	SEM	P-value
Glucose (mg dl ⁻¹)	261.0	235.9	246.9	12.6	0.75
Total protein (g dl-1)	3.2	3.6	3.4	0.1	0.74
Triglycerides (mg dl ⁻¹)	79.5 ª	66.9 ^b	67.9 ^b	2.2	0.02
Total Cholesterol (mg dl ⁻¹)	163.2 ª	147.9 ^b	149.3 ^b	2.7	0.01
HDL (mg dl ⁻¹)	65.3	59.8	62.4	1.7	0.49
LDL (mg dl ⁻¹)	54.2	49.6	52.2	2.3	0.76

Different letters indicate significant differences between groups at P<0.05

C, Control; NP, Native Probiotic (200 g/ton, *B. tequilensis* K03, 4×10⁹ CFU/g); PC, Positive Control (200g/ton, *B. subtilis* DSM 17299, 4×10⁹ CFU/g); SEM, Standard error of means.

Humoral immune parameters (Antibody titers)

The results of humoral immune responses of birds are shown in Table 6. Results revealed a significant increase (P<0.05) in antibody titers against Newcastle diseases virus (NDV) and infectious bronchitis virus (IBV) of vaccinated birds fed with diets containing native strain and commercial *Bacillus* spp. probiotics (K03 and DSM 17299) in comparison with the control group (P<0.05), however, no significant differences were seen between K03 and DSM 17299 dietary groups. Moreover, diets containing *Bacillus spp*. probiotics had no significant effects on antibody titer against Influenza.

Table 6. Effect of Bacillus spp. Probiotics on immune response (antibody body production) of broiler chickens at 28 d of age							
Parameters	С	PC	NP	SEM	P-value		
Bronchitis	2676.2 ª	2772.7 ь	2784.5 ^b	18.88	0.01		
Newcastle	3.6 ^a	4.6 ^b	4.6 ^b	0.19	0.03		
Influenza	1.3	1.3	1.4	0.01	0.12		

Different letters indicate significant differences between groups at P < 0.05.

C, Control; NP, Native Probiotic (200 g/ton, *B. tequilensis* K03, 4×10⁹ CFU/g); PC, Positive Control (200g/ton, *B. subtilis* DSM 17299, 4×10⁹ CFU/g); SEM, Standard error of means.

Ileum microflora

The effect of treatments on ileum microflora of broilers (42 d) is shown in Table 7. The results revealed that the native strain and the commercial *Bacillus* spp. probiotics (K03 and DSM 17299) significantly increased the *Bacillus spp*. Populations. *E. coli* was significantly

decreased in the ileum content of birds fed with diets supplemented with probiotics as compared to control (P<0.05), however, no significant differences were found between the treated groups (P>0.05). Despite the slight increase in *Lactobacillus spp*. there were no significant differences between treated and control groups.

Table 7. Ileum bacterial counts [log (cfu/g)] of broiler chickens fed <i>Bacillus</i> spp. problotic diets at 42 d of age							
Parameters	С	PC	NP	SEM	P-value		
Lactobacillus spp.	6.6	7.3	7.4	0.1	0.09		
Bacillus spp.	5.6 ª	6.1 ^b	6.3 ^b	0.1	0.03		
Escherichia coli	7.0 ^a	6.2 ^b	6.1 ^b	0.1	0.04		

Different letters indicate significant differences between groups at P < 0.05.

C, Control; NP, Native Probiotic (200 g/ton, B. tequilensis K03, 4×10° CFU/g); PC, Positive Control (200g/ton, B. subtilis DSM 17299, 4×109 CFU/g); SEM, Standard error of means.

Ileum morphology

The result of morphological analysis of ileum is shown in Table 8. No histopathological changes were observed in the intestine tissue of any birds of all feeding groups (Fig. 1). Morphological analysis of ileum revealed significant increases (P<0.05) in the villus height in birds fed with dietary containing Bacillus

spp. probiotics (Native strain and commercial product) as compared to the control group, however, no significant differences were found between native and commercial probiotic dietary groups (P>0.05). There were no significant differences in the villus width, crypt depth, as well as villus height/crypt of ileum between experimental and control groups (P>0.05).

Table 8. Ileum morphology of broiler chickens fed *Bacillus* spp. probiotic diets at 42 d of age

Parameters (µm)	С	PC	NP	SEM	P-value		
Villus height	769.0 ª	859.3 ^b	889.7 ^b	17.8	0.01		
Villus width	153.6	154.2	165.2	4.7	0.53		
Villus height/crypt	6.0	6.7	7.0	0.2	0.17		
Crypt depth	133.1	134.5	132.6	3.9	0.97		

Different letters indicate significant differences between groups at P < 0.05.

C, Control; NP, Native Probiotic (200 g/ton, B. tequilensis K03, 4×10° CFU/g); PC, Positive Control (200g/ton, B. subtilis DSM 17299, 4×10⁹ CFU/g); SEM, Standard error of means.



Fig. 1. Histological section (H&E) showing ileum morphology (Villus height, Crypt depth, and Villus width) of broiler chickens fed Bacillus spp. probiotics based diets at 42 d of age. C, Control; NP, Native Probiotic (200 g/ton, B. tequilensis K03, 4×109 CFU/g); PC, Positive Control (200g/ton, B. subtilis DSM 17299, 4×10^9 CFU/g); SEM, Standard error of means.

Intestinal MUC2 gene expression

The effects of probiotic treated diets on expression of the intestinal MUC2 gene are shown in the Fig. 2. The expression of intestinal MUC2 gene was quantified by qPCR assay, and expressed relative to expression of the GAPDH gene. The relative expression of MUC2 gene was significantly increased in the dietary native strain and commercial probiotics (K03 and DSM 17299, respectively) compared to the control group (P<0.05). No significant differences were found in MUC2 gene expression between birds fed with K03 and DSM 17299 probiotic supplemented diets (P>0.05).



Fig. 2. The relative expression of muc2 gene in the intestine tissue of broiler chickens fed Bacillus spp. probiotics diets at 42 d of age. C, Control; NP, Native Probiotic (200 g/ton, B. tequilensis K03, 4×109 CFU/g); PC, Positive Control (200g/ton, B. subtilis DSM 17299, 4×109 CFU/g); Data were normalized based on endogenous GAPDH gene and presented as mean fold increase relative to the control (2-DACT method). Different letters indicate significant differences between groups at P < 0.05.
DISCUSSION

The present study showed that consumption of diets supplemented with NP and PC significantly improved FCR and increased BW. The beneficial effects of dietary Bacillus spp. probiotic supplementation on FCR and increased BW of broilers are well documented in many studies (Opalinski et al., 2007; Melegy et al., 2011; Yang et al., 2016; Reis et al., 2017). Spore-forming Bacillus spp. have been noticed as probiotic candidates due to their beneficial effects on animal health and growth, as well as their survivability under the harsh environment of the gastrointestinal tract, and stability during processing and long-term storage (Elshaghabee et al., 2017). Probiotics can modulate intestinal microflora, change intestinal morphology or secretion of enzymes and produce antimicrobial compounds. They can regulate immune system, increase the digestibility and the absorption of dietary nutrients and consequently improve the broiler performance (Ghadban, 2002; Elshaghabee et al., 2017). However, since the host origin microbes are quite familiar with the environment of gastrointestinal tract, the native and species-specific probiotic are highly preferred (Kabir, 2009). Similar studies showed that the improvement of broiler performance can be caused by beneficial changes of intestinal morphology and microflora (Ghadban, 2002; Elshaghabee et al., 2017). In this investigation increased BW and decreased FCR could be attributed to the growth of beneficial bacteria in the digestive tract, digestive enzymes production by these bacteria and improved digestion and absorption processes. The lack of impact in the initial period may be explained by the fact that probiotic bacteria are required to longer time for localization in the digestive tract. Our results showed that supplementation with the B. tequilensis K03 strain and commercial B. subtilis DSM 17299 have no effect on feed intake of chickens. Several studies (Opalinski et al., 2007; Melegy et al., 2011) have shown that feed intake of chickens was not affected by supplementation of Bacillus spp., suggesting that these strains cannot affect their appetite (Ferket and Gernat, 2006).

In our present study, increase in spleen relative weight, carcass, thigh and breast meat yield and decrease in abdominal fat of broiler chicks have been found when compared with the control group. These results are in agreement with those of Hatab *et al.* (2016), who reported that dietary supplementation with *Bacillus spp.* probiotics (*B. tequilensis* K03 strain and *B. subtilis* DSM 17299) rose carcass and

relative organ weights due to increase of cell growth and turnover, while other researchers reported that (Afsharmanesh et al., 2014; Park et al., 2014; Reis et al., 2017; Shokryazdan et al., 2017), using the same or different probiotic species did not affect the relative organ weights of broilers. The reason for these contradictions may be due to differences in conditions of chickens, methods of administration, viability and concentrations of used bacteria, as well as the strain sources (Shokryazdan et al., 2017). Therefore, it seems probably that increase in carcass, thigh and breast meat yield of broiler in our present study can due to useful effect of probiotics in the growth of intestinal microbiota. In the report of Santoso et al. (2001) decrease synthesis and storage of fat in adipose tissue lead to decrease the percentage of abdominal fat.

Our results showed a significant increase in lymphocytes level, antibody titers against NDV and IBV of vaccinated birds. Lymphocytes play a crucial role in innate immune response, especially during stressful conditions, and participate in inflammation responses and phagocytosis. The increase in lymphocytes level indicates stimulation of the immune properties by *Bacillus* spp. probiotics that lead to increase in relative lymphoid organ weights (such as spleen). This assumption is supported by report of Neveling *et al.* (2017), who reported higher lymphocytes level in birds after dietary supplementation with probiotics.

It is strongly possible that probiotic microorganisms as an external organism stimulate the immune system, increase production the number of white blood cells and other immune compounds, the percentage of lymphocytes increased. Moreover, the ability of probiotics to promote humoral immunity in chickens vaccinated against Newcastle disease and infectious bronchitis reported by Rowghani et al. (2007), and in present study confirmed the immunostimulatory effects of the selected strain and the commercial Bacillus spp. probiotics. Probiotics control the balance of pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines. Cytokinins have an important role in immune responses. IFN- γ is a subset of the cytokine T-helper 1 that lead to killing organisms and protecting against all types of intracellular infections. Moreover interleukin-4 also can stimulate the differentiation of B cells and increase the production of antibodies to B cells (Belardelli, 1995). Therefore, the probable reason of increase in NDV and IBV of vaccinated birds is the stimulation of the immune system by probiotic native Bacillus spp. and probiotic Galpiro.

Our results showed a significant decrease in triglyceride and total cholesterol concentration in the serum of broilers fed with *B. tequilensis* K03 strain and *B. subtilis* DSM 17299 compared with the control group. Probiotics increase deconjucation of biliary acids excretion and since cholesterol is a substrate for the synthesis of bile acids, cholesterol molecules are used to produce bile acids (De Smet *et al.*, 1998). Therefore they decrease the lipids level of blood.

In our present study, *Bacillus* spp. populations increased in the intestine of broilers fed the *B. te-quilensis* K03 strain and *B. subtilis* DSM 17299. Several studies have demonstrated that dietary supplementation with *Bacillus* spp. modulate the microflora of broilers (Knap *et al.*, 2011; Sen *et al.*, 2012; Guyard-Nicodeme *et al.*, 2016). Probiotics which increase the number of lactic acid bacteria in the gastrointestinal reduce its pH. Therefore, an unsuitable environment for the growth of harmful bacteria such as *E.coli* and *Salmonella* spp. is provided (Deniz1 *et al.*, 2011). Therefore, it seems probably that probiotic native *Bacillus spp.* and probiotic Galpiro by pH reduction, increase beneficial bacteria and decrease *E. coli* population.

Our results indicated that the *B. tequilensis* K03 strain and *B. subtilis* DSM 17299 significantly increased villus height in ileum of the chickens. The effect of dietary *Bacillus* spp. probiotics on intestinal morphology of broilers has been well documented. Sen *et al.* (2012) reported the increased villus height and villus height to crypt depth ratio in chicken fed *Bacillus* spp. dietary. Deng *et al.* (2012) also found that dietary *Bacillus licheniformis* increased villus height in the ileum under heat stress conditions. It

is showed that the digestive function of the intestine is related to villi structure and mucosal architecture, which influence absorptive capacity (Sen *et al.*, 2012; Neveling *et al.*, 2017). Moreover, probiotics by shortchain organic acids formation stimulate the proliferation of epithelial cells and lead to increased villus height (Ichikawa *et al.*, 1999).

The mucin secreted by goblet cells in the villi of the intestine is the main glycoprotein component of the mucus layer that it has role in modulation of intestinal microflora and health (Forder *et al.*, 2007). In this study, intestinal MUC2 gene expression under influence of two types of *Bacillus* spp. probiotic was significantly increased, suggesting that the probiotics may bind to specific receptor sites on the enterocyte and stimulate MUC2 gene expression (Mattar *et al.*, 2002).

CONCLUSION

From this study, it can be concluded that the identified native *B. tequilensis* K03 strain can improve immunity, hemato-biochemical parameters, as well as broiler performance, which can be explained by the modified intestinal microflora, intestinal morphology changes and increase of *MUC2* gene expression. Since the effects of selected strain (*B. tequilensis* K03) were similar with the GalliPro® commercial probiotic (*Bacillus subtilis* DSM 17299) it can be used as probiotic potential for broilers feed.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research did not receive any specific funding.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

REFERENCES

- Afsharmanesh M, Sadaghi B, Silversides FG (2011) Influence of supplementation of prebiotic, probiotic, and antibiotic to wet-fed wheatbased diets on growth, ileal nutrient digestibility, blood parameters, and gastrointestinal characteristics of broiler chickens. Comp Clin Path 22:245-251.
- Amerah AM, Quiles A, Medel P, Sánchez J, Lehtinen MJ, Gracia MI (2013) Effect of pelleting temperature and probiotic supplementation on growth performance and immune function of broilers fed maize/ soy-based diets. Anim Feed Sci Tech 180:55-63.
- Belardelli FI (1995) Role of interferons and other cytokines in the regulation of the immune response. Aprils 103:161-179.
- Beski SSM, Al-Sardary SYT (2015) Effects of dietary supplementation of probiotic and synbiotic on broiler chickens hematology and intestinal integrity. Int J Poult Sci 14:31-36.
- Coates ME, Fuller R, Harrison GF, Lev M, Suffolk SF (1963) A comparision of the growth of chicks in the Gustafsson germ-free apparatus

and in a conventional environment, with and without dietary supplements of penicillin. Br J Nutr 17:141-150.

Cutting SM (2011) Bacillus probiotics. Food Microbiol 28:214-220.

- De Smet I, De Boever P, Verstraete W (1998) Cholesterol lowering in pigs through enhanced bacterial bile salt hydrolase activity. Br J Nutr 79:185-194.
- Deng W, Dong XF, Tong JM, Zhang Q (2012) The probiotic *Bacillus licheniformis* ameliorates heat stress-induced impairment of egg production, gut morphology and intestinal mucosal immunity in laying hens. Poult Sci 91:575-582.
- Deniz G, Orman A, Cetinkaya F, Gencoglu H, Meral Y, Turkmen II (2011) Effects of probiotic (*Bacillus subtilis* DSM 17299) supplementation on the caecal microflora and performance in broiler chickens. Revue Med Vet 11:538-545.
- Elshaghabee FMF, Rokana N, Gulhane RD, Sharma C, Panwar H (2017) Bacillus as potential probiotics: status, concerns, and future perspec-

J HELLENIC VET MED SOC 2019, 70(4) ПЕКЕ 2019, 70(4) 1850

tives. Front Microbiol 8:1490.

- Ferket PR, Gernat AG (2006) Factors that affect feed intake of meat birds: A review. Int J Poult Sci 5:905-911.
- Forder REA, Howarth GS, Tivey DR, Hughes RJ (2007) Bacterial modulation of small intestinal goblet cells and mucin composition during early potshatch development of poultry. Poult Sci 86:2396-2403.
- Forder RE, Nattrass GS, Geier MS, Hughes RJ, Hynd PI (2012) Quantitative analyses of genes associated with mucin synthesis of broiler chickens with induced necrotic enteritis. Poult Sci 91:1335-1341.
- Gatson JW, Benz BF, Chandrasekaran C, Satomi M, Venkateswaran K, Hart ME (2006) *Bacillus tequilensis* sp. nov., isolated from a 2000-year-old mexican shaft-tomb, is closely related to *Bacillus sub-tilis*. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 56:1475-1484.
- Ghadban GS (2002) Probiotics in broiler production- a review. Arch Geflugelkd 66:49-58.
- Ghorban Hosseini N, Modarressi MH, Mousavi SN, Tajabadi Ebrahimi M (2019) Evaluation of novel probiotic *Bacillus* strains based on enzyme production and protective activity against salmonellosis. J HELL VET MED SOC 69:1205-1212.
- Guyard-Nicodeme M, Keita A, Quesne S, Amelot M, Poezevara T, Le Berre B, Sánchez J, Vesseur P, Martín Á, Medel P, Chemaly M (2016) Efficacy of feed additives against *Campylobacter* in live broilers during the entire rearing period. Poult Sci 95:298-305.
- Hatab MH, Elsayed MA, Ibrahim NS (2016) Effect of some biological supplementation on productive performance, physiological and immunological response of layer chicks. J Radiat Res Appl Sci 9:185-192.
- Hong HA, Huang JM, Khaneja R, Hiep LV, Urdaci MC, Cutting SM (2008) The safety of *Bacillus subtilis* and *Bacillus* indicus as food probiotics. J Appl Microbiol Biochem 105:510-520.
- Huang MK, Choi YJ, Houde R, Lee JW, Lee B, Zhao X (2004) Effects of *Lactobacilli* and an acidophilic fungus on the production performance and immune responses in broiler chickens. Poul Sci 83:788-795.
- Ichikawa H, Kuroiwa T, Inagaki A, Shineha R, Nishihira T, Satomi S, Sakata T (1999) Probiotic bacteria stimulate gut epithelial cell proliferation in rat. Dig Dis Sci 44:2119-2123.
- Iji PA, Saki AA, Tivey DR (2001) Intestinal development and body growth of broiler chicks on diets supplemented with non-starch polysaccharides. Anim Feed Sci Tech 89:175-188.
- Jeevana Lakshmi P, Kumari Chitturi CM, Lakshmi VV (2013) Efficient degradation of feather by keratinase producing *Bacillus* sp. Int J Microbiol 7.
- Jeong JS, Kim IH (2014) Effect of *Bacillus subtilis* C-3102 spores as a probiotic feed supplement on growth performance, noxious gas emission, and intestinal microflora in broilers. Poul Sci 93:3097-3103.
- Kabir SM (2009) The role of probiotics in the poultry industry. Int J Mol Sci 10:3531-3546.
- Khaksefidi A, Ghoorchi T (2006) Effect of probiotic on performance and immunocompetence in broiler chicks. Poul Sci 43:296-300.
- Knap I, Kehlet AB, Bennedsen M, Mathis GF, Hofacre CL, Lumpkins BS, Jensen MM, Raun M, Lay A (2011) *Bacillus subtilis* (DSM17299) significantly reduces *Salmonella* in broilers. Poul Sci 90:1690-1694.
- Latorre JD, Hernandez-Velasco X, Wolfenden RE, Vicente JL, Wolfenden AD, Menconi A, Bielke LR, Hargis BM. Tellez G (2016) Evaluation and selection of *Bacillus* species based on enzyme production, antimicrobial activity, and biofilm synthesis as direct-fed microbial candidates for poultry. Front Vet Sci 3:95.
- Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD (2001) Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2^{-ΔΔCt} method. Methods 25:402-408.
- Mattar A, Teitelbaum DH, Drongowski R, Yongyi F, Harmon C, Coran A (2002) Probiotics up-regulate MUC-2 mucin gene expression in a Caco-2 cell-culture model. Pediatr Surg Int 18:586-590.
- Melegy T, Khaled NF, El-Bana R, Abdellatif H (2011) Effect of dietary supplementation of *Bacillus subtilis* PB6 (Clostat TM) on performance, immunity, gut health and carcass traits in broilers. AM SCI 7:891-

898.

- Mingmongkolchai S, Panbangred W (2018) *Bacillus* probiotics: an alternative to antibiotics for livestock production. J Appl Microbiol Biochem 124:1334-1346.
- Mountzouris KC, Tsirtsikos P, Kalamara E, Nitsch S, Schatzmayr G, Fegeros K (2007) Evaluation of the efficacy of a probiotic containing *Lactobacillus*, *Bifidobacterium*, *Enterococcus*, and *Pediococcus* strains in promoting broiler performance and modulating cecal microflora composition and metabolic activities. Poul Sci 86:309-317.
- Nawab A, Liu W, Li G, Ibtisham F, Fox DP, Zhao Y, Wo J, Xiao M, Nawab Y, An L (2018) The potential role of probiotics (nutraceuticals) in gut health of domestic animals; an alternative to antibiotic growth promoters. J HELL VET MED SOC 69:1169-1188.
- Neveling DP, Van Emmenes L, Ahire JJ, Pieterse E, Smith C, Dicks LMT (2017) Safety assessment of antibiotic and probiotic feed additives for *Gallus gallus* domesticus. Sci Rep 7:12767.
- Opalinski M, Maiorka A, Dahlke F, Cunha F, Vargas FSC, Cardozo E (2007) On the use of a probiotic (*Bacillus subtilis* strain DSM 17299) as growth promoter in broiler diets. Braz J Poultry Sci 9:99-103.
- Park JH, Kim IH (2014) Supplemental effect of probiotic *Bacillus subtilis* B2A on productivity, organ weight, intestinal *Salmonella* microflora, and breast meat quality of growing broiler chicks. Poul Sci 93:2054-2059.
- Rahmani HR, Speer W, Modirsanei M (2005) The Effect of Intestinal pH on Broiler Performance and Immunity. In: The 15th European Symposium on poultry nutrition, Balatonfüred, Hungary: pp 338-340.
- Reis MP, Fassani EJ, Júnior AG, Rodrigues PB, Bertechini AG, Barrett N, Persia ME, Schmidt CJ (2017) Effect of *Bacillus subtilis* (DSM 17299) on performance, digestibility, intestine morphology, and pH in broiler chickens. J Appl Poult Res 26:573-583.
- Rowghani E, Arab M, Akbarian A (2007) Effects of a probiotic and other feed additives on performance and immune response of broiler chicks. Int J Poult Sci 6:261-265.
- Santoso U, Tanaka K, Ohtani S, Sakaida M (2001) Effect of fermented product from *Bacillus subtilis* on feed conversion efficiency, lipid accumulation and ammonia production in broiler chicks. Asian-Australas J Anim Sci 14:333-337.
- Sen S, Ingale SL, Kim YW, Kim JS, Kim KH, Lohakare JD, Kim EK, Kim HS, Ryu MH, Kwon IK, Chae BJ (2012) Effect of supplementation of *Bacillus subtilis* LS 1-2 to broiler diets on growth performance, nutrient retention, caecal microbiology and small intestinal morphology. Res Vet Sci 93:264-268.
- Shokryazdan P, Jahromi MF, Liang JB, Ramasamy K, Sieo CC, Ho YW (2017) Effects of a *Lactobacillus salivarius* mixture on performance, intestinal health and serum lipids of broiler chickens. PLoS one 12:e0175959.
- Tellez G, Pixley C, Wolfenden RE, Layton SL, Hargis BM (2012) Probiotics/direct fed microbials for *Salmonella* control in poultry. Food Res Int 45:628-633.
- Thirabunyanon M, Thongwittaya N (2012) Protection activity of a novel probiotic strain of *Bacillus subtilis* against *Salmonella enteritidis* infection. Res Vet Sci 93:74-81.
- Wu BQ, Zhang T, Guo LQ, Lin JF (2011) Effects of *Bacillus subtilis* KD1 on broiler intestinal flora. Poult Sci 90:493-2499.
- Xu CL, Ji C, Ma Q, Hao K, Jin ZY, Li K (2006) Effects of a dried *Bacillus* subtilis culture on egg quality. Poult Sci 85:364-368.
- Yang J, Qian K, Zhang W, Xu Y, Wu Y (2016) Effects of chromium-enriched *Bacillus subtilis* KT260179 supplementation on chicken growth performance, plasma lipid parameters, tissue chromium levels, cecal bacterial composition and breast meat quality. Lipids Health Dis 15:188.
- Zaghari M, Zahroojian N, Riahi M, Parhizkar S (2015) Effect of *Bacillus subtilis* spore (GalliPro®) nutrients equivalency value on broiler chicken performance. Ital J Anim Sci 14:3555.



Trans-diaphragmatic pressure measurement as a prognostic factor in the Intensive Care Unit in dogs

K. Pavlidou^{1,*}, I. Savvas¹

¹Unit of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care, School of Veterinary Medicine, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Greece

ABSTRACT. In the last decade, attempts to improve the quality of the services provided to the critically ill patients in the Intensive Care Unit (ICU) are of great interest in human medicine. The aim of the majority of the clinical studies is the correlation of the survival rate of a critically ill patient with specific prognostic factors at the time of admission. The detailed assessment of a patient at admission in the ICU and during hospitalization seems to affect the management and the outcome. The main aim of this study was to evaluate if the trans-diaphragmatic pressure measurement can be a prognostic factor of the outcome in the ICU in dogs. Thirty-one dogs, 21 male and 10 female was included in this prospective, cohort study. Age, breed, sex, body weight and clinical diagnosis were recorded. The type of admission, the mentation status, physiological and biochemical parameters were measured at the admission of the dog in the ICU. All the variables were assessed over the first 24 hours following ICU admission. The animals were allocated into six groups: peritonitis/intra-abdominal surgery, intra-thoracic surgery, respiratory disease, neurologic disease, neoplasia, and systematic disease. The trans-diaphragmatic pressure (P_{4i}) was measured under the same anesthetic level in all animals with two oesophageal balloon catheters. The most frequent problem for admission in ICU was peritonitis (5/31). Seventeen out of 31 were admitted in acute status while 14/31 had a chronic problem. Mean±standard deviation of P_{di} was 10.7±5.6 mmHg and of lactate concentration 2.3±1.2 mmol/L. Both, they can predict outcome (p=0.071 and p=0.076, respectively). Seven out of 31 dogs died, 2 were euthanized and 22 were discharged from the ICU after hospitalization. The technique of P_{a} measurement with balloon catheters can be successfully applied in dogs in the ICU. P_{di} measurement, as well as lactate concentration may be used as prognostic indicators for the outcome, in dogs in the ICU. However, a bigger sample size is need to support these findings.

Keywords: trans-diaphragmatic pressure, outcome, prediction, dog, ICU

Corresponding Author: Kiriaki Pavlidou, 11 Stavrou Voutyra St, GR-546 27 Thessaloniki, Greece E-mail address: kellypav@gmail.com Date of initial submission: 20-04-2019 Date of revised submission: 19-05-2019 Date of acceptance: 21-05-2019

INTRODUCTION

in the last decade, attempts to improve the quality Lof the services provided to the critically ill patients in the Intensive Care Unit (ICU) are of great interest in human medicine (Kuzniewicz et al., 2008; Kvåle and Flaatten, 2002). The aim of the majority of the clinical studies is the correlation of the survival rate of a critically ill patient with specific prognostic factors at the time of admission. The detailed assessment of a patient at admission in the ICU and during hospitalization seems to affect the management and the outcome. In human medicine, the clinical condition of a patient in the ICU is assessed according to particular objective risk models. Scoring systems for illness severity are based on a number of clinical variables that predict mortality risk, and provide an objective basis for patient triage. These systems should be based on objective criteria, be accurate and easy to use (Gunning and Rowan, 1999). According to the human literature, the most used objective risk model that is applied in the ICU is the APACHE II (Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation System). The basis for the APACHE development was the hypothesis that the severity of acute disease can be measured by quantifying the degree of abnormality of multiple physiological parameters. In particular, the APACHE II is formed based on three parameters: the assessment of 12 physiological parameters (e.g. heart rate, respiratory rate, mean arterial pressure, temperature, oxygenation, arterial pH, hematocrit), the age of the patient and the presence of chronic surgical disease (Knaus et al., 1985; Niewiński, 2014).

The physiological status of the critical ill patients is characterized by rapid and frequent life-threatening alterations in organ function. The respiratory function is often affected during the hospitalization of a patient in the ICU. Respiratory muscle fatigue may develop, either in primary or secondary respiratory disease, or as a complication during the hospitalization. According to the literature, the majority of the cases in the ICU involve the respiratory system (Eng et al., 1992). Despite the evidence that respiratory muscle dysfunction develops in critically ill patients which contributes to weaning failure, the respiratory muscles are poorly monitored in the ICU (Hermans et al., 2010; Jaber et al., 2011; Laghi et al., 2003). Three factors may contribute to this: 1. the limited knowledge on the effects of critical illness on respiratory muscle function, 2. the lack of knowledge and availability of tools to monitor respiratory muscle function, and 3. the perception that the monitoring of respiratory function has no clinical

consequences (Doorduin et al., 2013).

The diaphragm is the main respiratory muscle and it is thought to be very sensitive to respiratory muscle fatigue (Jonville et al., 2002; Moxham et al., 1981b, Moxhman et al., 1981a; Zakynthinos and Roussos, 2005). As respiratory muscle fatigue is defined the inability of the muscle to produce pressure in order to maintain the alveolar ventilation, and it is reversible during rest (Lumb, 2010; Zakynthinos and Roussos, 2005). The effects of critical illness on respiratory function are often part of a generalized phenomenon which is known as "ICU-acquired weakness". The main causes of this phenomenon may be systemic inflammation, drugs, electrolyte disturbances and immobility (Jolley and Bunnell, 2016). Additionally, the prolonged mechanical ventilation in the ICU patients leads to decreased diaphragmatic strength, known as "ventilator-induced diaphragmatic dysfunction" (Vassilakopoulos, 2012).

There are many methods to monitor the respiratory muscle function. Pressure and flow recordings, electromyography, ultrasonography, circulatory biomarkers, computed tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) (Doorduin et al., 2013). However, the best indicator of diaphragmatic contractility seems to be the trans-diaphragmatic pressure (P_{di}) measurement. Specifically, the measurement of P_{di} during a maximum inspiratory effort ($P_{di max}$) is an indicator of the strength of the diaphragm and it helps to assess patients with respiratory muscle weakness (Chen et al., 2000; Ferguson, 1994; Man et al., 2004; Man et al., 2002).

P_{di} is defined as the difference between the intra-abdominal pressure (P_{abd}) and the intra-pleural pressure (P₁) (Adams et al., 1988; Gilbert et al., 1979; Hubmayr et al., 1990). However, the measurement of P_{abd} and P₁ is not straightforward under clinical conditions and therefore alternative, less invasive techniques have been proposed, replacing the measurement of P_{abd} and P_{pl} by the measurement of the intra-gastric pressure (P_{east}) and the intra-oesophageal pressure (P_m), respectively (Benditt, 2005). This approach has been adapted for use in dogs allowing the monitoring of P_{di} in a clinical setting (Pavlidou et al., 2014). In experimental studies in humans and in animals, the maximum inspiratory pressure is achieved by the electrical stimulation of the phrenic nerves (Hubmayr et al., 1990; Leduc et al., 2008) However, non-invasive methods (Mueller's manoeuvre) have been used in co-operative patients for the measurement of P_{dimax} .

With this method, the maximum P_{gast} , P_{oes} and P_{di} can be measured in one respiratory cycle (De Troyer and Estenne, 1981).

In human medicine, there is an effort to apply P_{di} measurement in the ICU in a routine setting in order to assess the critical ill patients. Recent studies have shown that respiratory muscle fatigue can develop in mechanically ventilated patients in the ICU and this can result in respiratory failure (Demoule et al., 2013; Hermans et al., 2010; Supinski and Ann Callahan, 2013). The respiratory muscle weakness is the result of the absence of diaphragmatic activity, because of the application of mechanical ventilation, and it is worsened with the prolongation of the mechanical ventilation (Petrof, 2013). However, other factors such as hyperglycemia, azotemia and hypoalbuminemia can cause respiratory muscle weakness in critically ill patients in the ICU (Hermans et al., 2007; Modawal et al., 2002; Wu et al., 2009).

Recently, in veterinary clinical practice, the detailed assessment of the critical ill patients in the ICU has been studied. The APPLE (Acute Patient Physiologic and Laboratory Evaluation) score system is the risk model that can be used in the veterinary ICU. Physiological parameters (e.g. sex, age, weight), hematological and biochemical profile, chronic diseases, previous surgical procedures and therapeutic treatments are some of the factors that are assessed in the APPLE score system (Hayes et al., 2010b). Although, critically ill dogs are monitored carefully in the ICU, the evaluation of the respiratory function is not a routine procedure in a clinical setting in these patients. There are few available data for the measurement of P_{di} in veterinary practice, as the most studies were "in vitro" and the diaphragmatic contractility was evaluated after the electrical stimulation of the phrenic nerves. However, there are two recent clinical studies in dogs where the modified Mueller's manoeuvre was applied for the P_{di} measurement, with the placement of two oesophageal balloon catheters, one in the oesophagus and one into the stomach, and the effect of different anesthetic protocols on diaphragmatic contractility was studied (Pavlidou et al., 2014, Pavlidou et al., 2013).

To our knowledge, there is no clinical study in veterinary medicine on the measurement of P_{di} as a prognostic factor for the outcome of a clinical case in critically ill dogs. The aim of this study was the evaluation of the P_{di} measurement in animals admitted and hospitalized in the ICU as prognostic factor for the outcome, among other clinical measurements, in

a clinical setting.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Approval from the Ethics Committee of the Aristotle University of Thessaloniki was obtained (2016-050-0503-8401). All the dog owners were informed in detail about the study protocol and a signed written consent was obtained. The study population was dogs admitted to the Intensive Care Unit of Companion Animal Clinic of Aristotle University. The animals were excluded from the study when the collection of the data was impossible (e.g. ineffective measurement of P_{di}). Another exclusion criterion was obesity which has been shown to decrease diaphragmatic contractility (De Keulenaer et al., 2009; Lambert et al., 2005; Ora et al., 2011).

Thirty-one client-owned dogs were enrolled in this observational prospective cohort study. In each dog, age, breed, sex, body weight, clinical diagnosis, and the acute or chronic onset of illness were recorded within the first 24 hours following ICU admission; mentation score was assessed at admission in order to estimate the true baseline mental status before the administration of any analgesia or sedation (Hayes et al., 2010a).

The primary system affected at admission was identified and the dogs were allocated to six groups: peritonitis/intra-abdominal surgery, intra-thoracic surgery, respiratory disease, neurologic disease, neoplasia and systematic disease.

Physiological and biochemical parameters were measured at the admission of the dog in the ICU. Full clinical examination and estimation of consciousness status were performed. The dogs were assigned to one of five levels of consciousness: normal mentation, depression, lethargy, coma and excitement (Hayes et al., 2010b). Heart rate (HR), auscultation of the thorax, electrocardiography (ECG), mucous membrane color, pulse quality and invasive arterial blood pressure (systolic/SAP, diastolic/DAP and mean/MAP) were measured (Mindray, iPMI 12 Vet, Shenzen Mindray Bio-Medical Electronics CO, LTD, Nanshan, China). Respiratory rate (RR) was measured by observation and capnography (Datex-Ohmeda S/5, GE Healthcare, Finland) and the end-tidal carbon dioxide concentration (ETCO₂) was estimated also by capnography. Oxyhemoglobin saturation (O₂SAT) was estimated indirectly by pulse oximetry (Mindray, iPMI 12 Vet, Shenzen Mindray Bio-Medical Electronics CO, LTD, Nanshan, China) and calculated from the oxygen partial pressure measured by arterial blood gases analysis (Siemens RapidPoint 500, Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics, New York, USA). The laboratory parameters were hematocrit (HCT), white blood cells (WBC) and platelets (PLT) count, total solids (TS), urea, creatinine (Crea), alanine aminotransferase (ALT), alkaline phosphatase (ALP), glucose (Glu) and electrolytes (K⁺, Na⁺, Ca⁺²). Lactate concentration was also measured at the time of admission (Accutrend Plus System, Roche Hellas, Greece). The arterial blood gases analysis gave information about the pH, oxygen partial pressure (PO₂), carbon dioxide partial pressure (PCO_2) , bicarbonate concentration (HCO_2) , O_2SAT and the ratio oxygen partial pressure/fraction of inspired oxygen (PO₂/FiO₂) (Siemens RapidPoint 500, Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics, New York, USA).

The trans-diaphragmatic pressure was measured under the same anesthetic level in all animals. When the anesthetic level was deep (lack of reflexes, adequate muscle relaxation, lack of response to surgical stimulation), two 90 cm long oesophageal balloon catheters with guide wires (Esophageal Balloon Catheter Set; Coopersurgical Company, CT, USA) were introduced orally. Using the landmarks that have been described (Pavlidou et al., 2014; Waterman and Hashim, 1991), the balloon of the first catheter was introduced into the stomach for the measurement of P_{gast} and the distal end of the second catheter was positioned in the mid-third of the oesophagus for the measurement of P_{oes}. The correct positioning of the balloon catheters was confirmed by the observation of positive and negative pressure tracings of P_{gast} and P_{oes} , respectively on a computer screen. The catheters were secured in place by fixing them on the endotracheal tube. The guide wires were removed, the catheters were connected to the pressure transducers and the balloons were inflated with 0.5-1 ml of air. The electrical connections from the transducers were attached to a pressure monitoring device with the appropriate software (Pressure Monitoring system Buzzer-II; Michael Roehrich, Austria) and then to a computer. The pressure transducers were zeroed to the atmospheric pressure prior to each measurement.

In order to obtain the maximum P_{oes} , P_{gast} and P_{di} , a modified Mueller's manoeuvre was applied. Particularly, the endotracheal tube was disconnected from the anaesthetic circuit and the proximal end of the tube was tightly closed with a thumb during the respiratory pause after the end of expiration, and thus forcing the dog to breath against the obstructed airway (modified

Mueller's manoeuvre (Pavlidou et al., 2014).

As the animals were critically ill patients, the anaesthetic protocol could not be the same for all of them. In each case, the anaesthetic protocol was based on the clinical condition of the animal and it was selected in a way to minimally affect the P_{di} (Pavlidou et al., 2013). Specifically, the premedication differed among the animals, whereas the induction and the maintenance of anaesthesia was the same in all animals. Anaesthesia was induced with propofol (Propofol MCT/LCT, Fresenius, Fresenius Kabi, Greece) intravenously to effect. An initial dose 1-2 mg/kg was given followed, if needed, by incremental doses of 0.5-1 mg/kg until endotracheal intubation could be easily performed. Anaesthesia was maintained with isoflurane (Isoflurane, Merial, Italy) in oxygen. All animals were breathing spontaneously. Fresh gas (100% oxygen) flow was delivered at 1.5 L/min through a circle rebreathing system. The days of the hospitalization were recorded in all animals and the outcome was assessed as alive, dead or euthanized.

The recorded data of the P_{di} were saved in as spreadsheet and analyzed with a signal analysis software (Qtiplot, MicroCal, Northampton, Massachussets, USA). A positive curve of the gastric pressure and a negative curve of the oesophageal pressure, were drawn. The baseline of gastric and oesophageal curves was zeroed and the P_{di} value was calculated (difference between P_{gast} and P_{ocs}). Binary Logistic Regression Analysis was used to evaluate the effect of the predictive variable on the patient outcome. Predictive variables included in the model were group, problem, admission, mental status, lactate concentration, and P_{di} value. The designed model was: log(p/1-p) = constant + b1 x problem + b2 x admission + b3 x mental $status + b4 x lactate concentration + b5 x <math>P_{di}$, where p is the probability of a dog to be alive.

RESULTS

Thirty-one dogs (21 male, 10 female), 1-15 (6.7 ± 4) years (mean±standard deviation) old, weighing 3-40 kg (16.8 ± 12.3) were included in the study. The most frequent problem for the hospitalization in the ICU was peritonitis (5/31), followed by brachycephalic upper airway syndrome, Wobbler syndrome and status epilepticus (Table 1). Seventeen out of 31 were admitted after an acute onset, while 14/31 had a chronic problem. Moreover, 51.6% were in normal mentation and 48.4% were in depression.

Table 1.	The causes	for ac	lmission	in	ICU

Problem	Frequency
peritonitis/intra-abdominal surgery	11
ileus	1
laparotomy	1
peritonitis	5
pyometra	1
splenectomy	1
gastric dilation/volvulus	2
intra-thoracic surgery	5
pericardiectomy	1
patent ductus arteriosus	2
diaphragmatic hernia	2
respiratory	5
Brachycephalic upper airway syndrome	3
dyspnoea	1
laryngeal paralysis	1
neurologic	6
Wobbler syndrome	3
status epilepticus	3
neoplasia	3
lung tumor	1
other	2
systematic	1
sepsis	1

Ten dogs were premedicated with dexmedetomidine (Dexdomitor, Pfizer, Greece) at 175 μ g/m² intramuscularly (IM) alone or in combination with methadone (Synthadon, LeVet, The Nederlands) at 0.1 mg/ kg IM, 5 dogs with acepromazine (Acepromazine, Alfasan, The Nederlands) at 0.05 mg/kg IM and methadone at 0.1 mg/kg IM, 12 dogs with fentanyl (Fentanyl, Jansseg-Cilag, Greece) at 1 μ g/kg and midazolam (Dormipnol, Viofar, Greece) at 0.5 mg/kg intravenously, and finally 4 dogs were not premedicated at all.

Descriptive statistics for the hemodynamic, respiratory and biochemical parameters are shown in Table 2. P_{di_mean} was 10.7±5.6 mmHg and the PO_2/FiO_2 ration was 348.5±145.4 mmHg. The lactate concentration was 2.3±1.2 mmol/L. The duration of hospitalization was 2±1.8 days. Seven dogs died, 2 were euthanized and 22 were discharged from the ICU after hospitalization. In this clinical study, 16/31 dogs had a normal ratio, ARDS was developed in 5 animals and ALI in one. Eleven out of 16 dogs were discharged, while 3/5 with ARDS and 1/1 with ALI died.

The binary regression analysis results are shown in Table 3. Lactate concentration and P_{di} can both predict outcome with a good probability.

Table 2. Mean±standard deviation for the hemodynamic, respiratory and biochemical parameters										
Variable	Variable Mean±standard deviation Variable									
HR (min ⁻¹)	122±27.3	pН	7.3±0.12							
MAP (mmHg)	61±17.4	PO_2 (mmHg)	346.4±159.3							
RR (min ⁻¹)	15.3 ± 6.4	PCO_2 (mmHg)	$48.8{\pm}14.1$							
HCT (%)	36.3±8.1	HCO_{3}^{-} (mmHg)	$21.8{\pm}2.8$							
GLU (mg/dL)	105.7 ± 18.8	ETCO ₂ (mmHg)	46.5±11.5							
K ⁺ (mmol)	$4{\pm}0.8$	P _{di} (mmHg)	$10.7{\pm}5.6$							
Lactate (mmol)	2.3±1.2	PO ₂ /FiO ₂	348.5±145.4							

J HELLENIC VET MED SOC 2019, 70(4) ПЕКЕ 2019, 70(4)

Variable	b	р	Odds ratio
admission	-3.640	0.149	0.026
mental status	0.215	0.863	1.240
lactate	-0.935	0.071	0.393
P _{di}	-0.354	0.076	0.702
problem		0.602	
peritonitis/intra-abdominal surgery	28.139	0.999	1.66 x 10 ¹²
intra-thoracic surgery	26.284	0.999	2.59 x 10 ¹¹
neurologic	31.662	0.999	5.63 x 10 ¹³
neoplasia	32.787	0.999	1.73 x 10 ¹⁴
systematic	23.926	1.000	2.46 x 10 ¹⁰
constant	-19.343	1.000	0

Table 3. Binary logistic regression analysis for outcome with predictive variables in the model: group, problem, admission, mental status, lactate concentration, and P_{di} value (b=coefficient, p=observed probability). The value "respiratory problem" has been defined as baseline value for the analysis.

DISCUSSION

The aim of this clinical cohort study was the evaluation of the P_{di} measurement in animals admitted and hospitalized in the ICU as prognostic factor for the outcome, among other clinical measurements, in a clinical setting. The evaluation of diaphragmatic contractility was based on P_{di} measurement with balloon catheters. To the best of the authors' knowledge, this is the first application of the P_{di} measurement in a non-fatigued diaphragm in dogs in the ICU. Diaphragmatic contractility and P_{di} measurement with balloon catheters has been studied in fatigued, intact diaphragm after phrenic nerve stimulation in healthy (Araujo and Milic-Emili, 2005; Gilbert et al., 1979; Higgs et al., 1983) and critically ill human patients (Watson et al., 2001). The mean value of P_{di} in critically ill patients after phrenic nerve stimulation has been reported to be 7.87 mmHg, (Watson et al., 2001) which is lower than the mean values in the present study.

In a study in dogs, (Pavlidou et al., 2014) the Mueller's manoeuvre, the most commonly used manoeuvre for the measurement of P_{di} in human medicine, has been modified and applied for three consecutive respiratory cycles for the P_{di} measurement. The same manoeuvre was applied in the present study. Post-obstructive pulmonary edema (POPE) may occur as a complication of the Mueller's manoeuvre. However, there is no reference to the development of POPE in dogs and in awake humans in a clinical setting (Pavlidou et al., 2014). In our clinical study, clinical signs of POPE have not been observed in any animal.

The premedication could not have been the same in all the critically ill patients, because of their different clinical situation. This is a limitation of the study, as the different premedications may have variably affected the diaphragmatic contractility. However, the protocol for the induction and the maintenance of anaesthesia was the same in all animals. According to a previous study, fentanyl and propofol seem to reduce diaphragmatic contractility, as P_{di} values were 12.0±5.9 mmHg and 12.2±3.2 mmHg respectively, in comparison with isoflurane (14.9±4.7 mmHg) in dogs under anaesthesia (Pavlidou et al., 2013).

Lactate concentration is considered to be a useful tool in human and veterinary clinical practice. Hyperlactatemia and lactic acidosis occur frequently in veterinary ICU patients with shock, low cardiac output, acute liver failure, sepsis, neoplasia, peritonitis, poisoning and drug therapy (de Papp et al., 1999; Lagutchik et al., 1998, Lagutchik et al., 1996). In healthy adult dogs at rest, lactate concentration is <2.0 mmol/L, but it may be measured as high as 3.5 mmol/L (Lagutchik et al., 1996). In humans, many studies have estimated the prognostic values of lactate concentration levels. It has been shown that a single measurement of lactate concentration is associated with the prognosis of survival (Bernardin, 1996; Cerović et al., 2003). In veterinary medicine, there seems to be a relationship between lactate concentration and outcome in dogs. According to Lagutchik et al., dogs admitted to the ICU with various underlying diseases, having high blood lactate levels at admission were more likely to die (Lagutchik et al., 1998). Animals with high blood lactate levels (>4-5 mmol/L) have a very poor prognosis after 24 hours of the admission. Gastric dilation/volvulus and peritonitis are two pathological conditions where lactate concentration is considered to be a good prognostic factor in dogs (Cortellini et al., 2015; de Papp et al., 1999).

In the present study, lactate concentration along

with P_{di} measurement, may predict outcome, with low p values (0.071 and 0.076, respectively). The combination of these two measurements at admission may be of clinically good prognostic value, in dogs and in an animal hospital setting.

Recently, the study of the PO_2/FiO_2 ratio has gained a lot of interest in human and veterinary medicine. Acute lung injury (ALI) and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) are two life-threatening syndromes with high morbidity and mortality (Matthay et al., 2012; Rubenfeld et al., 2005). According to the American European Consensus Conference (AECC),(Bernard et al., 1994) in humans, a mean value of PO_2/FiO_2 <300 mmHg indicates ALI and <200 mmHg ARDS. As there are no reference values for ARDS and ALI in dogs, the same normal values of PO_2/FiO_2 has been suggested for dogs (Calabro et al., 2013).

The cause of admission could be another prognostic factor for the outcome of the dogs in the ICU. Intra-abdominal infections are an important cause of ICU morbidity and mortality. Peritonitis develops as complication in 30% of the human patients with intra-abdominal infection in the ICU, increasing the mortality rates up to 50% (Delibegovic et al., 2011; Marshall and Innes, 2003). In veterinary medicine, peritonitis is a major problem in the ICU but there is no study to correlate this with the outcome of a case.

Limitations of the study include all those factors that affect the P_{di} measurement. First of all, the P_{di} measurement with balloon catheters is feasible only

under general anaesthesia in dogs. Because of this, it cannot be applied to all animals in the ICU. Thus, in our study, the measurement of P_{di} was not applicable in all cases. Moreover, the return of the diaphragmatic contractility back to its normal function after the hospitalization in the ICU is not always applicable, for the same reason. Another limitation of the study was that the insertion of the balloon catheter was impossible in some cases, because the catheter could not pass through the lower esophageal sphincter.

In summary, the technique of P_{di} measurement with balloon catheters can be successfully applied in dogs in the ICU, although there are some limitations. P_{di} measurement with lactate concentration at admission may also be good prognostic indicators for the outcome, although a larger sample size to support this is needed.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This research is co-financed by Greece and the European Union (European Social Fund- ESF) through the Operational Programme «Human Resources Development, Education and Lifelong Learning» in the context of the project "Reinforcement of Postdoctoral Researchers" (MIS-5001552), implemented by the State Scholarships Foundation (IKY).



Operational Programme Human Resources Development, Education and Lifelong Learning Co-financed by Greece and the European Union



CONFLICT OF INTEREST

None declared by the authors.

REFERENCES

- Adams, J.M., Farkas, G.A., Rochester, D.F., 1988. Vagal afferents, diaphragm fatigue, and inspiratory resistance in anesthetized dogs. J Appl Physiol 64, 2279–2286.
- Araujo, Z.W., Milic-Emili, J., 2005. Esophageal Pressure Measurement BT - Physiologic Basis of Respiratory Disease, in: Hamid, O., Shannon, J., Martin, J. (Eds.), Physiologic Basis of Respiratory Disease. BC Decker, Hamilton, pp. 639–647.
- Benditt, J.O., 2005. Esophageal and gastric pressure measurements. Respir Care 50, 68–75.
- Bernard, G.R., Artigas, A., Brigham, K.L., Carlet, J., Falke, K., Hudson, L., Lamy, M., LeGall, J.R., Morris, A., Spragg, R., 1994. Report of the American-European consensus conference on ARDS: Definitions, mechanisms, relevant outcomes and clinical trial coordination. Intensive Care Med. 67, 1699–1707.
- Bernardin, G., 1996. Blood pressure and arterial lactate level are early indicators of short-term survival in human septic shock. Intensive Care Med. 22, 17–25.
- Calabro, J.M., Prittie, J.E., Palma, D.A.D., 2013. Preliminary evaluation of the utility of comparing SpO2/FiO2and PaO2/FiO2 ratios in dogs. J. Vet. Emerg. Crit. Care 23, 280–285.
- Cerović, O., Golubović, V., Špec-Marn, A., Kremžar, B., Vidmar, G., 2003. Relationship between injury severity and lactate levels in se-

verely injured patients. Intensive Care Med. 29, 1300-1305.

- Chen, R., Kayser, B., Yan, S., Macklem, P.T., 2000. Twitch transdiaphragmatic pressure depends critically on thoracoabdominal configuration. J Appl Physiol 88, 54–60.
- Cortellini, S., Seth, M., Kellett-Gregory, L.M., 2015. Plasma lactate concentrations in septic peritonitis: A retrospective study of 83 dogs (2007-2012). J. Vet. Emerg. Crit. Care 25, 388–395.
- De Keulenaer, B.L., De Waele, J.J., Powell, B., Malbrain, M.L., 2009. What is normal intra-abdominal pressure and how is it affected by positioning, body mass and positive end-expiratory pressure? Intensive Care Med 35, 969–976.
- de Papp, E., Drobatz, K.J., Hughes, D., 1999. Plasma lactate concentration as a predictor of gastric necrosis and survival among dogs with gastric dilatation-volvulus: 102 cases (1995-1998). J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 15, 49–52.
- De Troyer, A., Estenne, M., 1981. Limitations of measurement of transdiaphragmatic pressure in detecting diaphragmatic weakness. Thorax 36, 169–174.
- Delibegovic, S., Markovic, D., Hodzic, S., 2011. APACHE II scoring system is superior in the prediction of the outcome in critically ill patients with perforative peritonitis. Med Arh 65, 82–85.

Demoule, A., Jung, B., Prodanovic, H., Molinari, N., Chanques, G.,

1857

Coirault, C., Matecki, S., Duguet, A., Similowski, T., Jaber, S., 2013. Diaphragm dysfunction on admission to the intensive care unit: Prevalence, risk factors, and prognostic impact - A prospective study. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 188, 213–219.

- Doorduin, J., Van Hees, H.W.H., Van Der Hoeven, J.G., Heunks, L.M.A., 2013. Monitoring of the respiratory muscles in the critically Ill. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 187, 20–27.
- Eng, P.C., Chng, H.H., Feng, P.H., 1992. Mortality patterns in a medical intensive care unit. Singapore Med. J. 33, 24–26.
- Ferguson, G.T., 1994. Use of twitch pressures to assess diaphragmatic function and central drive. J Appl Physiol 77, 1705–1715.
- Gilbert, R., Peppi, D., Auchincloss, J.H.J., 1979. Measurement of transdiaphragmatic pressure with a single gastric-esophageal probe. J Appl Physiol 47, 628–630.
- Gunning, K., Rowan, K., 1999. ABC of intensive care: outcome data and scoring systems. Br Med J 319, 241–244.
- Hayes, G., Mathews, K., Doig, G., Kruth, S., Boston, S., Nykamp, S., Poljak, Z., Dewey, C., 2010a. The acute patient physiologic and laboratory evaluation (APPLE) score: a severity of illness stratification system for hospitalized dogs. J Vet Intern Med 24, 1034–1047.
- Hayes, G., Mathews, K., Kruth, S., Doig, G., Dewey, C., 2010b. Illness severity scores in veterinary medicine: what can we learn? J Vet Intern Med 24, 457–466.
- Hermans, G., Agten, A., Testelmans, D., Decramer, M., Gayan-Ramirez, G., 2010. Increased duration of mechanical ventilation is associated with decreased diaphragmatic force: A prospective observational study. Crit. Care 14, R127.
- Hermans, G., Wilmer, A., Meersseman, W., Milants, I., Wouters, P.J., Bobbaers, H., Bruyninckx, F., Van Den Berghe, G., 2007. Impact of intensive insulin therapy on neuromuscular complications and ventilator dependency in the medical intensive care unit. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 175, 480–489.
- Higgs, B.D., Behrakis, P.K., Bevan, D.R., Milic-Emili, J., 1983. Measurement of pleural pressure with esophageal balloon in anesthetized humans. Anesthesiology 59, 340–343.
- Hubmayr, R.D., Sprung, J., Nelson, S., 1990. Determinants of transdiaphragmatic pressure in dogs. J Appl Physiol 69, 2050–2056.
- Jaber, S., Petrof, B.J., Jung, B., Chanques, G., Berthet, J.P., Rabuel, C., Bouyabrine, H., Courouble, P., Koechlin-Ramonatxo, C., Sebbane, M., Similowski, T., Scheuermann, V., Mebazaa, A., Capdevila, X., Mornet, D., Mercier, J., Lacampagne, A., Philips, A., Matecki, S., 2011. Rapidly progressive diaphragmatic weakness and injury during mechanical ventilation in humans. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 183, 364–371.
- Jolley, S., Bunnell, 2016. ICU-Acquired weakness. Chest 150, 1129-1140.
- Jonville, S., Delpech, N., Denjean, A., 2002. Contribution of respiratory acidosis to diaphragmatic fatigue at exercise. Eur. Respir. J. 19, 1079–1086.
- Knaus, W.A., Draper, E.A., Wagner, D.P., Zimmerman, J.E., 1985. APACHE II: A severity of disease classification system. Crit. Care Med. 13, 818–829.
- Kuzniewicz, M.W., Kramer, A.A., Knaus, W.A., Dean, M., Trivedi, N., Rennie, D., Clay, T., Kotler, P., Dudley, R., Whittle, J., Jacobs, E., Nanchal, R., 2008. Variation in ICU Risk-Adjusted Mortality *. CHEST J. 133, 1319–1327.
- Kvåle, R., Flaatten, H., 2002. Changes in intensive care from 1987 to 1997
 Has outcome improved? A single centre study. Intensive Care Med. 28, 1110–1116.
- Laghi, F., Cattapan, S.E., Jubran, A., Parthasarathy, S., Warshawsky, P., Choi, Y.S.A., Tobin, M.J., 2003. Is weaning failure caused by low-frequency fatigue of the diaphragm? Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 167, 120–127.
- Lagutchik, M.S., Ogilvie, G.K., Hackett, T.B., Wingfield, W.E., 1998. Increased Lactate Concentrations in III and Injured Dogs. J. Vet. Emerg. Crit. Care 8, 117–127.
- Lagutchik, M.S., Ogilvie, G.K., Wingfield, W.E., Hackett, T.B., 1996. Lactate kinetics in veterinary critical care: a review. J. Vet. Emerg. Crit. Care 6, 81–95.
- Lambert, D.M., Marceau, S., Forse, R.A., 2005. Intra-abdominal pressure in the morbidly obese. Obes Surg 15, 1225–1232.

- Leduc, D., Cappello, M., Gevenois, P.A., De Troyer, A., 2008. Mechanics of the canine diaphragm in ascites: a CT study. J Appl Physiol 104, 423–428.
- Lumb, A.B., 2010. Elastic forces and lung volume BT Nunn's Applied Respiratory Physiology, in: Lumb, A.B., Pearl, R.G. (Eds.), Nunn's Applied Respiratory Physiology. Churchill Livingstone, London, UK, pp. 27–41.
- Man, W.D., Luo, Y.M., Mustfa, N., Rafferty, G.F., Glerant, J.C., Polkey, M.I., Moxham, J., 2002. Postprandial effects on twitch transdiaphragmatic pressure. Eur. Respir. J. 20, 577–580.
- Man, W.D., Moxham, J., Polkey, M.I., 2004. Magnetic stimulation for the measurement of respiratory and skeletal muscle function. Eur. Respir. J. 24, 846–860.
- Marshall, J.C., Innes, M., 2003. Intensive care unit management of intra-abdominal infection. Crit. Care Med. 31, 2228–2237.
- Matthay, M.A., Ware, L.B., Zimmerman, G.A., 2012. The acute respiratory distress syndrome. J. Clin. Invest. 122, 2731–2740.
- Modawal, A., Candadai, N.P., Mandell, K.M., Moore, E.S., Hornung, R.W., Ho, M.L., Tsevat, J., 2002. Weaning success among ventilator-dependent patients in a rehabilitation facility. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 83, 154–157.
- Moxham, J., Morris, A.J., Spiro, S.G., Edwards, R.H., Green, M., 1981a. Contractile properties and fatigue of the diaphragm in man. Thorax 36, 164–168.
- Moxham, J., Wiles, C.M., Newham, D., Edwards, R.H., 1981b. Contractile function and fatigue of the respiratory muscles in man. Ciba Found Symp 82, 197–212.
- Niewiński, G., 2014. Prognozowanie śmiertelności na oddziałach intensywnej terapii na podstawie skali APACHE. Anestezjol. Intens. Ter. 46, 46–49.
- Ora, J., Laveneziana, P., Wadell, K., Preston, M., Webb, K.A., O'Donnell, D.E., 2011. Effect of obesity on respiratory mechanics during rest and exercise in COPD. J Appl Physiol 111, 10–19.
- Pavlidou, K., Savvas, I., Moens, Y., Vasilakos, D., Raptopoulos, D., 2014. A minimally invasive method for clinical trans-diaphragmatic pressure measurement in anaesthetized dogs. Vet. Anaesth. Analg. 41, 278–283.
- Pavlidou, K., Savvas, I., Moens, Y.P.S., Vasilakos, D., Raptopoulos, D., 2013. The Effect of Four Anaesthetic Protocols for Maintenance of Anaesthesia on Trans-Diaphragmatic Pressure in Dogs. PLoS One 8.
- Petrof, B.J., 2013. Diaphragmatic dysfunction in the intensive care unit: Caught in the cross-fire between sepsis and mechanical ventilation. Crit. Care 17, R181.
- Rubenfeld, G.D., Caldwell, E., Peabody, E., Weaver, J., Martin, D.P., Neff, M., Stern, E.J., Hudson, L.D., 2005. Incidence and Outcomes of Acute Lung Injury. N. Engl. J. Med. 353, 1685–1693.
- Supinski, G.S., Ann Callahan, L., 2013. Diaphragm weakness in mechanically ventilated critically ill patients. Crit. Care 17, R120.
- Vassilakopoulos, T., 2012. Ventilator-induced diaphragm dysfunction: The clinical relevance of animal models, in: Pinsky, M., Brochard, L., Mancebo, J., Antonelli, M. (Eds.), Applied Physiology in Intensive Care Medicine 2: Physiological Reviews and Editorials. Springer, Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 197–206.
- Waterman, A.E., Hashim, M.A., 1991. Measurement of the length and position of the lower oesophageal sphincter by correlation of external measurements and radiographic estimations in dogs. Vet Rec 129, 261–264.
- Watson, A.C., Hughes, P.D., Harris, M.L., Hart, N., Ware, R.J., Wendon, J., Green, M., Moxham, J., 2001. Measurement of twitch transdiaphragmatic, esophageal, and endotracheal tube pressure with bilateral anterolateral magnetic phrenic nerve stimulation in patients in the intensive care unit. Crit. Care Med. 29, 1325–1331.
- Wu, Y.K., Kao, K.C., Hsu, K.H., Hsieh, M.J., Tsai, Y.H., 2009. Predictors of successful weaning from prolonged mechanical ventilation in Taiwan. Respir. Med. 103, 1189–1195.
- Zakynthinos, S., Roussos, C., 2005. Respiratory muscle fatigue BT -Physiologic Basis Of Respiratory Disease, in: Hamid, O., Shannon, J., Martin, J. (Eds.), Physiologic Basis Of Respiratory Disease. BC Decker, Hamilton, pp. 289–307.

J HELLENIC VET MED SOC 2019, 70(4) ПЕКЕ 2019, 70(4)

Distribution of serotypes of Listeria monocytogenes in chicken meats in Turkey

S. Sahin¹, R. Kalin², MN. Mogulkoc²

¹Department of Food Hygiene and Technology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Sivas Cumhuriyet University, Sivas, Turkey.

²Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Sivas Cumhuriyet University, Sivas, Turkey.

ABSTRACT. *Listeria monocytogenes* is one of the important causes of food-borne infections. This study was conducted to determine the presence of *L. monocytogenes* and its serotype distribution in a total of 400 packaged chicken meat products (drumstick, breast, wing, and whole chicken) from different national companies. *L. monocytogenes* contamination was detected in 26.5% (106 in 400) of all samples when the products considered, drumsticks, breasts, wings, and whole chickens showed 47%, 15%, 35, and 9% positivity respectively. Four important serotypes of *L. monocytogenes* in human listeriosis (1/2a, 1/2b, 1/2c and 4b) were identified, and serotype 1/2a (94.3%) was determined as predominant in packaged chicken meats. The present study revealed that *L. monocytogenes* 1/2a serotype is prevalent in chicken meats and this may cause public health problems in Turkey. Further studies in poultry meats should be conducted on a large scale such as regional or national big markets to determine the presence of the pathogen and its dominant serotypes.

Keywords: Listeria monocytogenes; food-borne pathogen; serotype 1/2a; mPCR, chicken meats.

Corresponding Author: Seyda Sahin, Department of Food Hygiene and Technology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Sivas Cumhuriyet University, 58140 Sivas, Turkey. Orcid ID: https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8173-7818 E-mail address: seydasahin@cumhuriyet.edu.tr

Date of initial submission: 17-05-2019 Date of revised submission: 15-07-2019 Date of acceptance: 16-07-2019

INTRODUCTION

s one of the important food-borne infectious Agents, Listeria monocytogenes is still a serious concern for public health with its very high mortality rate (Farber and Peterkin, 1991; Oliveira et al. 2018). L. monocytogenes is a specific risk for the health of vulnerable people especially elderly people, immunocompromised individuals and pregnant women who show mortality rate up to 20% (CDC, 2016; Rothrock et al., 2019). L. monocytogenes, which is a facultative intracellular bacterium, is known to cause infections in both animals and humans. Food-borne infection controls are difficult because this agent is widely distributed in nature, can multiply in refrigerator environments, can tolerate a wide range of pH (4.3 to 9.6), and can multiply in high (10%) salt concentrations (Rocourt and Buchriser, 2007).

L. monocytogenes is a frequent contaminant of raw milk and an inhabitant of soil, water and other contaminated foods (Karthikeyan et al., 2015). It has been considered that nearly all cases of human listeriosis are foodborne and associated with consumption of contaminated dairy products, unwashed raw vegetables and under-cooked meat, seafood and poultry products (Dhama et al., 2015; Kurpas et al., 2018; Todd and Notermans, 2011). Recently, a noteworthy increase in chicken meat production is observed in Turkey like in other countries (TPMPBA, 2018). Consequently, the increase of infections and intoxications due to chicken meat may be due to improved rates of reporting and surveillance systems, or due to the increase in the population of elderly and immunocompromised people (EFSA, 2018). Birds may be an important vector and contributor to the contamination of the processing environment and transmission of Listeria to consumers via the food (Rothrock et al., 2017). According to the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) report, 2.9% of all L. monocytogenes infections were caused by consumption of raw poultry products (EFSA, 2010).

The EFSA reported 2.480 confirmed invasive human cases of listeriosis in 2017. The EU notification rate was 0.48 cases per 100,000 population which was comparable with 2016. In the recent report published in 2018 by EFSA, *L. monocytogenes* was reported to be among the leading causes of food-borne infections with a mortality rate of 13.8% in 2017 (EFSA, 2018). Presence of *L. monocytogenes* in the food industry is a potential risk factor. Therefore, monitoring the microorganism through the food production and supply chain is of primary importance.

Determining the serotype distributions of L. monocytogenes isolates is important for understanding food-borne infections, for withdrawing the risk imposing products and for differentiation of pathogenic and non-pathogenic strains (Liu, 2013). L. monocytogenes was divided into 13 different serotypes according to its somatic and flagellar antigens, which are known as 1/2a, 1/2b, 1/2c, 3a, 3b, 3c, 4a, 4ab, 4b, 4c, 4d, 4e and 7. Strains of 1/2a, 1/2b, 1/2c and 4b are known to be important for listeriosis in humans (Doumith et al., 2004; Jamali et al., 2013; Nho et al., 2015). The most common (91.8%) serotypes causing listeriosis in humans are 1/2a and 4b (EFSA, 2015). Serotype 1/2a is frequently detected in various animal-sourced foods including chicken meat and products (Guerra et al., 2001; Orsi et al., 2011; Praakle-Amin et al., 2006).

The aim of the present study was to determine the prevalence and serotype distribution of *L. monocyto-genes* in packaged chicken meats in Turkey.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Food samples

Samples belonging to the five biggest poultry production companies were selected for investigation. These companies (A, B, C, D, and E) have slaughtering capacity of average 10.000 broilers/h and are marketing their products in most parts of the country. A total of 400 retail chicken meat samples (80 samples per company) were bought from different markets from April 2015 to January 2016. Each set of 80 samples consisted of 20 drumsticks, 20 breasts, 20 wings, and 20 whole chickens.

Isolation and identification of L. monocytogenes

Each fresh sample was weighted in 25 g and the isolation of *L. monocytogenes* was conducted according to the classic culture method. This method includes two steps of pre-enrichment and selective enrichment in Half Fraser and Fraser Broth, respectively. After 225 ml of Half Fraser Broth (Merck 1.10398.0500) were added to samples (25 g), samples were homogenized in a stomacher (Interscience BagMixer 400 cc, France) for 2 to 3 min. The obtained homogenate was incubated for 24 h at 30°C for pre-enrichment. Following the pre-enrichment, 0.1 ml were taken from the culture and transferred into tubes containing 10 ml of Fraser Broth (Merck 1.10398.0500), then they were incubated for 24 h at 37°C. Inoculation into PALCAM Agar (Polymyzin Acriflavine Lithium Chloride Ceftazidime Aesculin

Mannitol Agar, Oxoid CM0877-SR0150E) was conducted and agar plates were left for incubation at 37°C for 48 h. At the end of the incubation period, 1-5 *Listeria* suspected colonies (black-centered, gray green in color with a black halo) in PALCAM Agar were selected and were transferred into TSA-YE (Tryptone Soy Agar with Yeast Extract, Oxoid CM0131-YE). TSA-YE grown colonies were transferred to TSB (Tryptone Soy Broth, Oxoid CM0129) containing 20% glycerin and were stored in -20°C for advanced analyses (Jeyaletchumi et al., 2010).

DNA extraction and PCR

Five hundred μ l from cultures of each *L. monocy-togenes* isolate in TSB were transferred to microcentrifuge tubes and tubes were centrifuged for 5 min at 10000 rpm (VMR International Galaxy 16DH). Supernatants were discarded and 300 μ l sterile distilled water was added. Afterwards, 300 μ l K-Buffer (20 mM Tris, 150 mM NaCl, 10 mM EDTA, 0.2% Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate (SDS)) and 5 μ l Proteinase K (20 mg/ml) (Vivantis PC0712 (100 mg) were added to tubes. Tubes were incubated for 2 h at 56°C and were left in a water bath for 10 min at 95°C to inactivate proteinase K. Tubes were centrifuged for 10 min at 13000 rpm and the supernatants were discarded. A hundred μ l sterile distilled water were added to remaining pellets and they were used as target DNAs in PCR.

Samples were analyzed first by using previously published primer sequences of *prs* and *prfA* genes, which are specific to *Listeria* spp. and *L. monocytogenes*, respectively. Afterwards, the serotypes of isolates were determined by multiplex PCR (mPCR) using specific primers *prs*, *lmo1118*, *lmo0737*, *orf2110* and *orf2819* (D'Agostino et al., 2004; Doumith et al., 2004).

For the detection of both *Listeria* spp. and *L.* monocytogenes, 50 μ l PCR reaction mixtures were prepared. Each mixture was containing 5 μ l 10X PCR Buffer (500 mM KCL, 100 mM Tris-HCl (pH 9.1) and 0.1% Triton X-100) (Vivantis, ViBufferA), 5 μ l 25 mM MgCl₂ (Vivantis, 50 mM), 250 μ M of each dNTP (Vivantis, NP2406, 100 mM), 20 pmol of each primer pair (Biomatik, Canada), 1.25 U Taq-polymerase enzyme (Vivantis PL1202, 500 U) and 5 μ l (25 ng) of target DNA.

Serotyping of *L. monocytogenes* was conducted using the mPCR protocol of Doumith et al. (2004) in a thermal cycler device (Biorad-T100, Biorad, USA).

The PCR protocol was as follows: Initial denaturation at 94°C for 3 min, denaturation at 94°C for 40 sec, annealing at 53°C for 75 sec, extension at 72°C for 75 sec and a final extension at 72°C for 7 min. The protocol was conducted with 35 cycles. Reaction results were electrophoresed for 2 h in a 110 V in 1.5% agarose gel (Vivantis LE Grade Agarose Gel). Following the staining with ethidium bromide (10 mg/ml) (Merck 1.11608.0030), the gels were transilluminated (Vilber Lourmat Quantum ST4) to reveal DNA bands. *L. monocytogenes* ATCC 7644 (serotype 1/2c), RSKK 472 (serotype 1/2b), RSKK 471 (serotype 1/2a) and RSKK 475 (serotype 4b) were used as positive controls, while distilled water was used as negative control.

Statistical analysis

The statistical analyses were performed SPSS software version 22.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). The chi-square test was used for analyzing the data obtained from the groups (products and companies) about the contamination with *L. monocytogenes*. The differences were considered significant at p<0.05.

RESULTS

As shown in Table 1, 267 (66.75%) of the investigated chicken meat samples were detected by using classical culture method as suspect for *Listeria* spp. It is known that detection of non-pathogenic *Listeria* spp. can be challenging using classical culture methods due to the frequent presence of non-*Listeria* spp. background flora colonies that are β -glucosidasepositive (Angelidis et al., 2015). Hence, the PCR results for these isolates verified that a smaller fraction (62.75%) of the samples (251 in 400) were actually contaminated with *Listeria* spp.

Of the 251 suspect strains, 106 strains were determined in PCR as *L. monocytogenes*. The prevalence of *L. monocytogenes* in the investigated drumstick, breast, wing and whole chicken products were 47%, 15%, 35% and 9%, respectively (Table 1).

The highest isolation frequency for *L. monocytogenes* was noted in samples from company B (52.5%), whereas the lowest in company A (2.5%). Differences between company B and others (A, C, D, and E) were found as statistically significant (p<0.05). The *L. monocytogenes* isolation frequency in samples from companies C, D, and E were 32.5%, 18.8% and 26.3%, respectively. Differences between these three companies were found to be non-significant (p>0.05) (Table 2).

Product	No. of	Culture	Listeria	L.monocytogenes	L. monocyt	L. monocytogenes serotype distribution (%)							
	samples	results*	spp.		1/2a	1/2b	1/2c	4b					
Drumstick	100	%73	% 71	% 47	%93.6	%2.1	%2.1	%2.1					
Drumstick	100	(73/100)	(71/100)	(47/100)	(44/47)	(1/47)	(1/47)	(1/47)					
Breast	100	%67	% 66	% 15	%100	0	0	0					
	100	(67/100)	(66/100)	(15/100)	(15/15)	0	0	0					
Wing	100	%82	% 80	% 35	%91.4	0	%5.7	%3.1					
wing	100	(82/100)	(80/100)	(35/100)	(32/35)	0	(2/35)	(1/35)					
Whole	100	%45	% 34	% 9	%100	0	0	0					
Chicken	100	(45/100)	(34/100)	(9/100)	(9/9)	0	0	0					
Total	400	%66.75	%62.75	%26.5	%94.3	%0.9	%2.8	%1.9					
	400	(267/400)	(251/400)	(106/400)	(100/106)	(1/106)	(3/106)	(2/106)					

Table 1. Distributions of Listeria spp., L. monocytogenes and serotypes in chicken meats

* Presumptive-positive results

Table 2. L. monocytogenes distribution according to company and product type

Duaduat	Companies										
Froduct	Α	В	С	D	Е	Total					
Drumstick	%0 ^d	%100 ^{Aa}	%70 ^{Ab}	%20 ^d	%45 ^{Ac}	47/100					
	(0/20)	(20/20)	(14/20)	(4/20)	(9/20)						
Breast	%5	%10 ^c	%15 ^B	%10	%35 ^A	15/100					
	(1/20)	(2/20)	(3/20)	(2/20)	(7/20)						
Wing	%5 ^b	%85 ^{Ba}	%35вь	%30ь	%20 ^{Ab}	35/100					
	(1/20)	(17/20)	(7/20)	(6/20)	(4/20)						
Whole chicken	%0	%15 ^c	%10 ^B	%15	%5 ^в	9/100					
	(0/20)	(3/20)	(2/20)	(3/20)	(1/20)						
Total	%2.5	%52.5	%32.5	%18.8	%26.3	%26.5					
	2/80	42/80	26/80	15/80	21/80	106/400					

A-C Differences between mean values of different letters are significant in the same column

^{a-d} Differences between mean values of different letters are significant in the same row

Four important serotypes of *L. monocytogenes* for human listeriosis (1/2a, 1/2b, 1/2c, and 4b) were investigated in *L. monocytogenes* isolates (n=106). Serotype 1/2a was determined as predominant with 94.3% in the isolates from chicken meats. Other determined serotypes in the isolates were 1/2c (n=3; 2.8%) and 1/2b (n=1; 0.9%). As for their distribution, *L. monocytogenes* serotypes 1/2a, 1/2b, 1/2c and 4b were determined in drumstick samples, and serotypes 1/2a, 1/2c and 4b were determined in wing samples (Table 1). All serotypes determined in breast and whole chicken samples were 1/2a. Serotype 1/2a, which was determined as predominant, was detected in 93.6% of drumsticks, 100% of breasts, 91.4% of wings and in 100% of whole chickens.

DISCUSSION

L. monocytogenes is an important pathogenic microorganism in terms of public health. Acquisition of

listeriosis is mainly due to consumption of contaminated (mostly ready-to-eat) food (Churchill et al., 2019; Lomonaco et al., 2015).

According to the other studies, the *L. monocyto*genes presence in different chicken meat products (drumstick, breast, and wings) in the world was reported to be between 7.14% in Malaysia and 71% in Spain (Goh et al., 2012; López et al., 2013). The prevalence of this pathogen in chicken meats was reported as varying between 8.4% and 38.4% in Turkey (Cetinkaya et al., 2015; Guven and Patir, 1998).

Chicken meat contamination with *L. monocytogenes* is known to be significantly increased during both slaughtering and processing of viscera and parts. Product comparisons in the study revealed that the *L. monocytogenes* isolation frequency in drumsticks was higher than other tested products. Drumsticks are most preferred parts in our country and are used commonly in oven-baked meals. Companies lead products to more than one processing stage to make their products more appealing to the consumer and to improve long-term customer loyalty. These approaches may increase the level of cross contamination. The *L. monocytogenes* prevalence in drumsticks (47%) in this study was found higher than previously reported estimates of 11.27% (Goh et al., 2012) and 33.3% (Erol et al., 1999). This difference can be attributed to the company conditions, processing capacity, cross-contamination risks during the slaughtering and to the holding time of food before marketing (Goh et al., 2012).

In this study, the prevalence of *L. monocytogenes* in packaged chicken breast samples was 15% (Table 1). This was found to be similar to the previously reported estimates of 16.6% (Erol et al., 1999) and 18% (Soultos et al., 2003). Our estimate, however, was found lower than that reported (42.03%) in breast samples from wet markets by Goh et al. (2012). This difference is thought to be because of packaged and without skin breasts provided in markets.

The L. monocytogenes isolation frequency in wing samples was higher than those previously reported, i.e., 20% (Erol et al., 1999) and 18% (Soultos et al., 2003). Elmali et al., (2015) reported summer, autumn, winter, and spring L. monocytogenes prevalences in packaged wing samples as 60%, 73.3%, 33.3% and 13.3% respectively. In the study, L. monocytogenes in packaged wings was determined as 35%. Even though seasonal frequency was not investigated, most of the samples in the study were taken in the winter season. This is in agreement with the winter season findings of Elmali et al. (2015). In a study by Ayaz and Erol (2009) where L. monocytogenes presence was investigated in turkey meats, it was reported that seasonal effect was not present due to the psychrotrophic character of the bacteria.`

In addition to reports from EFSA and CDC, various studies reported that most of the human listeriosis cases (more than 95%) are due to serotypes 1/2a, 1/2b, 1/2c, and 4b (CDC, 2014; Doumith et al. 2004; EFSA, 2015; Jamali et al. 2013; Nho et al. 2015). According to the report published by EFSA, the most commonly responsible serotype of human listeriosis cases is 1/2a (57.5%), which is followed by 4b, 1/2b, 1/2c, 3a and 3b (EFSA, 2015). In our study, the predominant serotype of *L. monocytogenes* in chicken meats (drumsticks, breasts, wings and whole chickens) was 1/2a (94.3%), which was followed by 1/2c, 4b and 1/2b (Table 1). Previous studies similarly reported that 1/2a is the most common serotype (Cetinkaya et al., 2014; Erol et al., 1999; Guerra et al., 2001; Praak-le-Amin et al., 2006; Siriken et al., 2014).

Nevertheless, there are other studies with different findings. In a study conducted in the US, it was reported that 1/2b is the most common serotype; which is closely followed by serotype 4b (Zhang et al., 2007). In another study conducted in Iran, it was reported that serotype 4b is the most common, which is closely followed by serotype 1/2a (Fallah et al., 2012). In Turkey, infections by *L. monocytogenes* were reported as sporadic cases (Vardar et al., 2011); however, insufficient data is available about serotypes in human listeriosis cases.

CONCLUSIONS

In conclusion, the prevalence of L. monocytogenes in fresh chicken meats as a potential risk factor for humans was highlighted in this study. Since 26.5% of the investigated samples in the study were contaminated with L. monocytogenes and the most significant serotype in food-borne listeriosis cases, serotype 1/2a, was detected, it can be concluded that chicken meats may pose risk for public health. The present study provides an insight on the prevalence and serotype distribution of L. monocytogenes in chicken meats in Turkey. A baseline information is represented here, for further studies which may aim to improve microbiological safety procedures for raw foods including L. monocytogenes. To prevent listeriosis cases due to chicken meats, it is recommended to take preventive measures in general hygiene and disinfection applications through the production line and to take care in properly cooking such products.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We thank Prof. Dr. Goknur TERZI GULEL and Res. Asst. Dr. Tolga UYANIK, from the Department of Food Hygiene and Technology, Ondokuz Mayıs University, for supplying the reference strains of *L. monocytogenes*.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

REFERENCES

- Angelidis AS, Kalamaki MS, Georgiadou SS (2015) Identification of non-Listeria spp. bacterial isolates yielding a β-D-glucosidase-positive phenotype on Agar Listeria according to Ottaviani and Agosti (ALOA). Int J Food Microbiol 193:114-129.
- Ayaz ND, Erol I (2009) Rapid detection of *Listeria monocytogenes* in ground turkey by immunomagnetic separation and PCR. J Rapid Met Aut Microbiol 17:214-222.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (2014) https://www. cdc.gov/listeria/pdf/listeriainitiativeoverview_508.pdf. [accessed 17 August 2016]
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (2016) https://www. cdc.gov/foodborneburden/2011-foodborne-estimates.html. [accessed 15 November 2016]
- Cetinkaya F, Elal Mus T, Yibar A, Guclu N, Tavsanli H, Cibik R (2014) Prevalence, serotype identification by multiplex polymerase chain reaction and antimicrobial resistance patterns of *Listeria monocytogenes* isolated from retail foods. J Food Safety 34:42-49.
- Churchill KJ, Sargeant JM, Farber JM, O'Connor AM (2019) Prevalence of Listeria monocytogenes in select ready-to-eat foods-deli meat, soft cheese, and packaged salad: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Food Prot 82(2):344-357.
- D'Agostino M, Wagner M, Vazquez-Boland JA, Kuchta T, Karpiskova R, Hoorfar J, Novella S, Scortti M, Ellison J, Murray A, Fernandes I, Kuhn M, Pazlarova J, Heuveliink A, Cook N (2004) A validated PCR-based method to detect *Listeria monocytogenes* using raw milk as a food model-towards an international standard. J Food Prot 67:1646-1655.
- Dhama K, Karthik K, Tiwari R, Shabbir MZ, Barbuddhe S, Malik SVS, Singh RK (2015) Listeriosis in animals, its public health significance (food-borne zoonosis) and advances in diagnosis and control: a comprehensive review. Vet Q 35:211-235.
- Doumith M, Buchrieser C, Glaser P, Jacquet C, Martin P (2004) Differentiation of the major *Listeria monocytogenes* serovars by multiplex PCR. J Clin Microbiol 42:3819-3822.
- Elmali M, Can HY, Yaman H (2015) Prevalence of *Listeria monocyto-genes* in poultry meat. Food Sci Technol (Campinas) 35:672-675.
- Erol İ, Şireli UT, Gündeş B (1999) Piliç parça et ve iç organlarında Listeria türlerinin varlığı ve kontaminasyon düzeyinin belirlenmesi. Ankara Üniv Vet Fak Derg 46:179-188.
- European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) (2010) https://www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/1496. [accessed 20 May 2017]
- European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) (2015) https://www.efsa.europa. eu/en/efsajournal/pub/4329. [accessed 16 July 16 2017]
- European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) (2018) https://efsa.onlinelibrary. wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.2903/j.efsa.2018.5500. [accessed 25.06.2019]
- Fallah AA, Saei-Dehkordi SS, Rahnama M, Tahmasby H, Mahzounieh MR (2012) Prevalence and antimicrobial resistance patterns of *Listeria* species isolated from poultry products marketed in Iran. Food Control 28:327-332.
- Farber JM, Peterkin PI (1991) Listeria monocytogenes, a food borne pathogen. Microbiol Rev 55:476-511.
- Goh SG, Kuan CH, Loo YY, Chang WS, Lye YL, Soopna P, Tang JY, Nakaguchi Y, Nishibuchi M, Afsah-Hejri L, Son R (2012) *Listeria monocytogenes* in retailed raw chicken meat in Malaysia. Poultry Sci 91:2686-2690.
- Guerra MM, McLauchin J, Bernardo FA (2001) Listeria in ready-to-eat and unprocessed foods produced in Portugal. Food Microbiol 18:423-429
- Guven A. Patir B (1998) Elazığ ilinde tüketime sunulan et ve bazı et ürünlerinde *Listeria* türlerinin araştırılması. Turk J Vet Anim Sci 22:205-212.

- Jamali H, Radmehr B, Thong KL (2013) Prevalence, characterisation, and antimicrobial resistance of Listeria species and Listeria monocytogenes isolates from raw milk in farm bulk tanks. Food Control 34:121-125.
- Jeyaletchumi P, Tunung R, Margaret SP, Son R, Farinazleen MG, Cheah YK (2010) Detection of *Listeria monocytogenes* in foods. Int Food Res J 17:1-11.
- Karthikeyan R, Gunasekaran P, Rajendhran J (2015) Molecular serotyping and pathogenic potential of Listeria monocytogenes isolated from milk and milk products in Tamil Nadu, India. Foodborne Pathog Dis 12:522-528.
- Kurpas M, Wieczorek K, Osek J (2018) Ready-to-eat meat products as a source of *Listeria monocytogenes*. J Vet Res 62(1):49-55.
- Liu D (2013) Molecular approaches to the identification of pathogenic and nonpathogenic listeriae. Microbiol Insights 6:59-69.
- Lomonaco S, Nucera D, Filipello V (2015) The evolution and epidemiology of *Listeria monocytogenes* in Europe and the United States. Infect Genet Evol 35:172-183.
- López V, Navas J, Martínez-Suárez JV (2013) Low potential virulence associated with mutations in the inlA and prfA genes in *Listeria monocytogenes* isolated from raw retail poultry meat. J Food Prot 76:129-132.
- Nho SW, Abdelhamed H, Reddy S, Karsi A, Lawrence ML (2015) Identification of high-risk Listeria monocytogenes serotypes in lineage I (serotype 1/2a, 1/2c, 3a and 3c) using multiplex PCR. J Appl Microbiol 119:845-852.
- Oliveira TS, Varjão LM, da Silva LNN, Pereira RDCL, Hofer E, Vallim DC, de Castro Almeida RC (2018) *Listeria monocytogenes* at chicken slaughterhouse: Occurrence, genetic relationship among isolates and evaluation of antimicrobial susceptibility. Food Control 88:131-138.
- Orsi RH, Bakker HC, Wiedmann M (2011) Listeria monocytogenes lineages: Genomics, evolution, ecology, and phenotypic characteristics. Int J Med Microbiol 301:79-96.
- Praakle-Amin A, Hänninen ML, Korkeala H (2006) Prevalence and genetic characterization of *Listeria monocytogenes* in retail broiler meat in Estonia. J Food Prot 69:436-440.
- Rocourt J, Buchriser C (2007) The Genus Listeria and Listeria monocytogenes: Phylogenetic Position, Taxonomy and Identification. In: Listeria Listeriosis and Food Safety. Marcel Dekker, New York: pp 1-20.
- Rothrock MJ, Davis ML, Locatelli A, Bodie A, Mcintosh TG, Donaldson JR, Ricke SC (2017) *Listeria* occurrence in poultry flocks: detection and potential implications. Front Vet Sci 4:125.
- Rothrock MJ Jr, Micciche AC, Bodie AR, Ricke SC (2019) *Listeria* occurrence and potential control strategies in alternative and conventional poultry processing and retail. Front Sustain Food Syst 3:33.
- Siriken B, Ayaz ND, Erol I (2014) Listeria monocytogenes in retailed raw chicken meat in Turkey. Berl Munch Tierarztl Wochenschr 127:43-49.
- Soultos N, Koidis P, Madden RH (2003) Presence of *Listeria* and *Salmo-nella* spp. in retail chicken in Northern Ireland. Lett Appl Microbiol 37:421-423.
- Todd ECD Notermans S (2011) Surveillance of listeriosis and its causative pathogen, *Listeria monocytogenes*. Food Control 22:1484-1490.
- Turkish Poultry Meat Producers and Breeders Association (TPMPBA) (2018) http://www.besdbir.org/assets/documents/sectorInformation/ Turkey Poultry Meat Production.pdf [accessed 30 December 2018]
- Vardar İ, Yurtsever GS, Coşkun AN, Kaptan F, El S, Ural S (2011) Listeria monocytogenes'e bağlı bir menenjit olgusu. ANKEM Derg 25:54-57.
- Zhang Y, Yeh E, Hall G, Cripe J, Bhagwat AA. Meng J (2007) Characterization of *Listeria monocytogenes* isolated from retail foods. Int J Food Microbiol 113:47-53.

Epidemiological evaluation of subclinical mastitis of dairy cows in Greece

K. Themistokleous, I. Karagiannis, C. Boscos, N. Panousis, E. Kiossis

Clinic of Farm Animals, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, 54627, Thessaloniki, Greece

ABSTRACT. Subclinical mastitis, diagnosed by elevated somatic cell count (SCC) in milk, is an important monitoring parameter of dairy cows' udder health, related to their productivity and welfare. The present retrospective study aims to evaluate the epidemiology of subclinical mastitis (SCM) among the 37 herds of the Holstein Association of Greece participating in the milk quality recording system "I Ω ", from the start of 2015 until the end of 2018. The herds' inclusion criterion was the consistency of monthly SCC recording throughout at least one full year between 2015 and 2018, with a maximum interval of 61 days between two consecutive monthly SCC recordings. Twenty-six herds (8630 cows) in 2015, thirty herds (10763 cows) in 2016, thirty herds (10945 cows) in 2017 and twenty-six herds (9597 cows) in 2018 were included. The prevalence of SCM and chronic SCM, the incidence rate of new cases of SCM, as well as the average somatic cell score and bulk tank milk SCC were determined for each of the four years. The results indicate a progressive deterioration of udder health from the onset of the cow's productive life until culling. A year-over-year increase in the number of cows with subclinical mastitis led to an overall SCM prevalence of 34.5%, chronic SCM prevalence of 26.9% and a bulk tank milk SCC of 463000 cells/mL, in 2018. The average somatic cell score, a base 2 logarithm of individual cow's SCC, was found persistently above the subclinical mastitis indicative cut-off in all four years, with a peak in 2018. At herd level, the incidence rate of new SCM cases was 12 new cases / 100 cows / month; the highest incidence rate was observed in the early lactation stage group (1-60 days-in-milk), in all four years, reaching a peak of 31 new cases / 100 cows / month, in 2018. In 2018, prevalence of heifers' SCM and chronic SCM was 23.4% and 16.9%, respectively. Despite the adequate average 305-days milk yield (9608 kg in 2018), the results were indicative of poor udder health status, pointed out by reduced duration of cows' productive life (less than 3 lactations) and lower milk quality (elevated SCC). The severity and wide spreading of subclinical mastitis in Greek dairy herds highlights the necessity of a national mastitis control program, aiming to improve the productive efficacy, management decisions accuracy and quality of produced milk.

Keywords: subclinical mastitis; somatic cell count; dairy cows; epidemiology; udder health

Corresponding Author:

Themistokleous K., Clinic of Farm Animals, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, 11 St. Voutyra str., 546 27 Thessaloniki, Greece E-mail address: konsthem@vet.auth.gr Date of initial submission: 17-05-2019 Date of revised submission: 03-06-2019 Date of acceptance: 05-06-2019

INTRODUCTION

dder health status of dairy cows is related to their productivity and welfare. Thus, it is crucial both for the consumer and for the dairyman, regarding the production of high-quality milk, duration of productive life, reduction of antibiotic residues, as well as the profitability of the livestock business. A study of the National Animal Health Monitoring System (NAHMS) in USA revealed that udder health problems is the number one reason for culling a dairy cow (26.9% ±0.5%) (USDA / NAHMS, 2002). The importance of this subject has led to a worldwide increase of the attention paid to the establishment and development of udder health monitoring programs (Schukken et al., 2003). Subclinical mastitis, new and chronic, is an important monitoring parameter of udder health (Schukken et al., 2008), as this disease leads to the reduction of milk yield (Archer et al., 2013), higher risk of clinical mastitis (Rupp et al., 2000), higher chances of premature culling (De Vliegher et al., 2005) and, consecutively, economic losses (Hamann, 2005).

Subclinical mastitis (SCM) is the presence of an infection without apparent clinical changes (condition of the udder or milk secretion) (Blowey and Edmondson, 2010). The diagnosis of SCM is based on the recognition of the mammary inflammatory response against the infection (Shook et al., 2017). A widely used tool for this purpose is somatic cell count (SCC) (Dohoo and Leslie, 1991; Schukken et al., 2003; Ruegg and Pantoja, 2013). Somatic cells take part in the udder defence mechanisms (Pillai et al., 2001) and their presence reflects the inflammatory response to an intra-mammary infection (IMI) or some other trigger of the immune system (Schukken et al., 2003). Longitudinal data of bulk tank milk SCC (BTSCC) over time can be an indicator of the udder health status at herd level. BTSCC is highly correlated with 305-days milk yield and it can be associated with the prevalence of cows that produce milk with elevated SCC (Smith, 1996; Barkema et al., 1998). A more appropriate parameter to summarize herd's average SCM situation is the arithmetic average test-day SCC from individual cow milk samples, as well as a base 2 logarithmic conversion of SCC, the somatic cell score (SCS), which is providing statistical superiority (Shook, 1993; Lievaart et al., 2007).

Various thresholds have been suggested for the classification of infected and non-infected cows. It is repeatedly shown that a cut-off of approximately 200000 to 250000 cells per mL is optimal to reduce

diagnostic error (Dohoo and Leslie, 1991; Schepers et al., 1997). Many studies used a cut-off of 200000 cells/mL (Schukken et al., 2003; De Vliegher et al., 2004; Svensson et al., 2006; Fouz et al., 2010; Madouasse et al., 2012; Lam et al., 2013; Fauteux et al., 2014; Santman-Berends et al., 2016), while especially for heifers, IMI cut-offs of 150000 cells/mL (Santman-Berends et al., 2016) and 100000 cells/mL (Bludau et al., 2014) have been used. In our study, due to the available data, a preset threshold of 250000 cells/mL was utilized. These cut-offs are a practical threshold under field conditions and not the ultimate goal for udder health and best quality milk production (Schukken et al., 2003).

This four-year retrospective study aims to introduce an epidemiological evaluation of SCM among Holstein dairy cows in Greece, from 2015 until 2018. Utilizing the available data from "I Ω " recording system, provided by the Holstein Association of Greece (HAOG), our study presents: subclinical mastitis prevalence, chronic subclinical mastitis prevalence, subclinical mastitis incidence rate, as well as somatic cell score (SCS), bulk tank milk somatic cell count (BTSCC) and some overall observations regarding the productive efficacy of the population of dairy cows belonging to HAOG, during the study period.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study population

Among the 84 herd-members of HAOG, 37 took part in the monthly milk quality recording system, called "I Ω ". From those 37 herds, the ones included in the current study met the following criterion: they were consistently recording monthly SCC for at least one full year between 2015 and 2018, having a maximum interval of 61 days between two consecutive monthly SCC recordings. Based on the above criterion, 26 herds (8630 cows) were included in the study in 2015, 30 herds (10763 cows) in 2016, 30 herds (10945 cows) in 2017 and 26 herds (9597 cows) in 2018. In total, 39424 test-month recordings and 1568 annual recordings were utilized from "I Ω " during this four-year study.

Available data

On a monthly basis, milk SCC on test-day was calculated from individual cow milk samples, as well as bulk tank milk samples collected from each of the aforementioned herds. The following data were obtained from "I Ω ":

- Monthly, the number of milked cows per herd, per number [1st ("heifers"), 2nd and 3rd lactation] and per stage of lactation [1-60 ("early lactation"), 61-120, 121-180, \geq 181 days-in-milk], provided as a preset grouping by "I Ω ".

- Monthly, the total number of infected (SCC above the cut-off on test-day) and new cases of infected cows per herd, per number and per stage of lactation.

- Monthly, the average individual SCC per herd, per number and per stage of lactation, as well as mean bulk tank milk SCC (BTSCC) of the herd on test-day.

- Annually, the total number of milked cows per herd, the herd average age at first calving (months), the calving interval (days) and the number of lifetime lactations per cow. Also, the average individual 305days milk yield (kg) and duration of lactation period (days) per herd, per number and per stage of lactation.

Definitions and epidemiological analysis

Diagnosis of subclinical mastitis

Subclinical mastitis diagnosis was based on individual cow milk SCC results at monthly test-day. "Infection" was defined as SCC value above the threshold for normal milk SCC concentration (Schukken et al. 2008), on test-day. The threshold was preset by "I Ω " at 250000 cells/mL.

Somatic cell score

A base 2 logarithmic transformation of the SCC calculated as $\log_2(SCC/100) + 3$.

Average subclinical mastitis prevalence

Subclinical mastitis prevalence was calculated as the monthly average percentage of infected cows on test-day, per herd, per number and per stage of lactation, for each of the years 2015-2018. This monthly percentage is the ratio of infected (SCC above the cut-off) lactating cows to the total number of lactating cows participating in the test-day recording of a certain month. (Santman-Berends et al., 2016).

Average chronic subclinical mastitis prevalence

The number of chronically infected cows of a certain month was calculated by the subtraction of the new cases of infected cows from the total number of infected cows on the monthly test-day, both provided by "I Ω " system. Herd average chronic SCM prevalence (%) was calculated as the average monthly percentage of chronically infected cows on test day, per herd, per number and per stage of lactation, for each of the years 2015-2018. This monthly percentage is the ratio of chronically infected lactating cows to the total number of lactating cows participating in the test-day milk recording of a certain month (Santman-Berends et al., 2016).

Subclinical mastitis incidence rate

Subclinical mastitis incidence rate was calculated per 100 cows at risk / month, and was the number of new SCM cases divided by days at risk (DAR), multiplied by 30 days and 100 cows, as follows:

(new infections / DAR) x 30 days x 100 cows

DAR refers to the days of a certain month, during which the lactating cow was exposed to an intra-mammary infection risk. Cows that maintained a SCC below the threshold all month long, despite the exposure to the risk, had 30 DAR. Given the fact that the only available data was monthly (and not daily) recordings, the approximate method was used (Dohoo et al., 2003), assuming that a new infection happened in the middle of each month, i.e. 15 DAR for newly infected cows.

Annual data

Provided by "I Ω " system, herd annual data were utilized for the calculation of the annual number of milked cows participating in the study during each year from 2015 until 2018, as well as the annual average age at 1st calving (months), calving interval (days), number of lifetime lactations / cow and annual herd average BTSCC (cells/mL). The annual average 305-days milk yield / cow, SCS and duration of lactation period (days) were calculated per herd and per number of lactations. Furthermore, annual average SCS was calculated per stage of lactation, from 2015 to 2018.

The aforementioned udder health evaluation parameters were processed and presented via descriptive statistics, using Stata 13.1[®] (StataCorp LLC, College Station, Texas, 2014) and Microsoft Excel[®] (Microsoft Office 365, Microsoft[©]).

RESULTS

Annual data

The average annual herd data evaluated in this

four-year study are presented in Table 1. Average age at first calving ranged between 27.5 (\pm 2.2) and 28.2 (\pm 2.4) months and remained above the 27 months (upper optimal threshold) during all four years, progressively decreasing from 2015 to 2018. A minor decrease of 9 days was observed for herd average calving interval, with a nadir of 447 (\pm 34) days in 2018. Herd average BTSCC in 2015 was 385000 cells/mL, although there was a considerable year over year increase up to 463000 cells/mL in 2018. Average number of lifetime lactation periods / cow was increased by 0.21 compared to 2015, peaking in 2017 (2.91 ± 0.35) and remaining stable in 2018 (2.91 ± 0.32), but still lower than the minimum target of 3 lifetime lactations. Herd average 305-days milk yield / cow, presented in Table 2, increased year over year with a peak of 9608 (± 1609) kg in 2018, 645 kg higher than 2015. Interestingly, during the four-year period, in 46% of the herds the average 305-days milk yield / cow of the 3rd lactation was lower than that of the 2nd lactation. Finally, herd average duration of lactation was decreased by 14 days from 2015 to 2016, then increased by 10 days from 2016 to 2017 and remained unaltered in 2018 at 347 (± 35) days (Table 2).

Table 1. Annual herd data of milked cows, average age at first calving, average number of lifetime lactations, average calving intervals and average bulk tank milk somatic cell count (BTSCC), during 2015-2018 in Greece.

6		χ <i>μ</i> υ						
year (number of herds)	number of milked cows	average age at 1st calving (months)	average number of lifetime lactations	average calving interval (days)	average BTSCC (x1000 cells/mL)			
2015 (n=26)	8630	28.2 (± 2.4)	2.70 (± 0.28)	456 (± 24)	385 (± 142)			
2016 (n=30)	10763	28.1 (± 2.3)	2.74 (± 0.32)	449 (± 28)	396 (± 180)			
2017 (n=30)	10945	27.6 (± 2.3)	2.91 (± 0.35)	448 (± 29)	416 (± 178)			
2018 (n=26)	9597	27.5 (± 2.2)	2.91 (± 0.32)	447 (± 34)	463 (± 165)			
				(±): standard deviation				

Table 2. Average somatic cell score (SCS), 305-days milk yield (kg)) and duration of lactation period (days), per herd & per lactation
period (1 st , 2 nd , 3 rd LP) groups, during 2015-2018 in Greece	

year (number of herds)	year mber of herds)		average 305-days milk yield (kg)	average duration of lactation period (days)
2015	Herd	4.8 (±0.5)	8963 (±1308)	351 (±25)
(n=26)	1st LP	4.2 (±0.5)	8461 (±1269)	365 (±36)
	2nd LP	4.7 (±0.7)	9284 (±1361)	359 (±27)
	3rd LP	5.6 (±0.6)	9527 (±1279)	343 (±41)
2016	Herd	4.8 (±0.6)	9131 (±1346)	337 (±24)
(n=30)	1st LP	4.4 (±0.8)	8573 (±1217)	358 (±41)
	2nd LP	4.6 (±0.8)	9429 (±1489)	337 (±36)
	3rd LP	5.5 (±0.6)	9350 (±1795)	338 (±38)
2017	Herd	4.9 (±0.7)	9429 (±1404)	347 (±27)
(n=30)	1st LP	4.4 (±0.9)	8807 (±1245)	377 (±69)
· · ·	2nd LP	4.8 (±0.8)	9856 (±1626)	354 (±27)
	3rd LP	5.6 (±0.5)	9935 (±1491)	351 (±59)
2018	Herd	5.1 (±0.6)	9608 (±1609)	347 (±35)
(n=26)	1st LP	4.5 (±0.6)	9190 (±1386)	366 (±47)
· ·	2nd LP	5.0 (±0.8)	9849 (±1941)	359 (±44)
	3rd LP	5.8 (±0.5)	9973 (±1538)	344 (±45)
	-		(+): stands	rd deviation

Somatic cell score

Herd average SCS, presented in Table 2, was steadily above the 4.0 SCM-indicative threshold during all four years, both at herd level and at number and stage of lactation levels. Average SCS appeared elevated even from the first lactation (4.2 in 2015, 4.4 in 2016, 4.4 in 2017 and 4.5 in 2018), increased in the second and peaked in the third lactation (5.8 in 2018). Early lactation SCS, presented in Table 3, ranged from 4.7 (2015, 2016) to 5.1 (2018), exceeding the aforementioned threshold during all four years of the study. Average SCS remained above the threshold throughout the whole lactation and it reached its highest score in the last stage of lactation (\geq 181 days-in-milk).

Subclinical mastitis and chronic subclinical mastitis prevalence

Average subclinical mastitis prevalence was consistent with the SCS results at herd and at number and stage of lactation levels, as seen in Table 4. In the four-year period, the average herd SCM prevalence was between 29.6% and 34.5%, increasing from 2016 until 2018. Herd average chronic SCM prevalence was between 22.1% and 26.9% during the whole study period, showing an increase during the last 3 years. Interestingly, both SCM prevalence and chronic SCM prevalence were noticeably high from 1st lactation, reaching 23.4% and 16.9%, respectively, in 2018. This situation deteriorated as lactation number increased, reaching its' peak within the 3rd lactation (average SCM prevalence 46% and average chronic SCM prevalence 37% in 2018). Average SCM prevalence in all four years was elevated even from early lactation (29.6% in 2018) and reached its highest level in the last stage of lactation (39.2% in 2018). Finally, average chronic SCM prevalence during 2015-2018 ranged between 5.3 and 6.6 in early lactation and increased with the progress of lactation, reaching a peak at the last stage of lactation (35.6% in 2018).

Subclinical mastitis incidence rate

The highest SCM incidence rate was observed in early lactation, also increasing from 27 to 31 new cases / 100 lactating cows / month in the last three years. In the later lactation stages, this rate was reduced by almost three times. Regarding the number of lactations, the SCM incidence rate gradually increased from 1st to 3rd one and peaked in the 3rd lactation. Overall herd average SCM incidence rate in 2018 was 12 new cases / 100 lactating cows / month (Table 4).

Table 3. Average somatic cell score (SCS) per lactation stage groups (≤ 60 , 61-120, 121-180, ≥ 181 days-in-milk, DIM) during 2015-2018 in Greece

	Lactation stage (DIM)	SCS
2015	≤60	4.7 (±0.6)
(n=26)	61-120	4.6 (±0.7)
	121-180	4.8 (±0.6)
	≥181	5.2 (±0.5)
2016	≤60	4.7 (±0.6)
(n=30)	61-120	4.6 (±0.8)
	121-180	4.7 (±0.6)
	≥181	5.1 (±0.6)
2017	≤60	4.8 (±0.6)
(n=30)	61-120	$4.8~(\pm 0.8)$
· · ·	121-180	4.8 (±0.8)
	≥181	5.2 (±0.7)
2018	≤60	5.1 (±0.6)
(n=26)	61-120	5.0 (±0.7)
	121-180	5.2 (±0.6)
	≥181	5.3 (±0.6)
		(\pm) : standard deviation

Table 4. Subclinical mastitis prevalence (SCMP - %), chronic subclinical mastitis prevalence (chronic SCMP - %) and subclinical mastitis incidence rate (SCMIR - number of new cases per 100 lactating cows per month), per herd, number of lactation period (1^{st} , 2^{nd} , 3^{rd} LP) and lactation stage (≤ 60 , 61-120, 121-180, ≥ 181 days-in-milk, DIM) groups, during 2015-2018 in Greece

,-																								
		2015 (n=26) 2016 (n=30)								2	2017 (n=30)			2018 (n=26)									
	SC	CMP	chi SC	ronic CMP	SC	MIR	so	CMP	chi SC	ronic CMP	SC	MIR	SC	CMP	ch S(ronic CMP	SC	MIR	so	CMP	chi SC	ronic CMP	SC	MIR
	%	SD	%	SD	#	SD	%	SD	%	SD	#	SD	%	SD	%	SD	#	SD	%	SD	%	SD	#	SD
Herd	30.2	±7.9	23.7	±7.5	10	±2	29.6	±9.2	22.1	± 8.2	11	±4	32.4	±12,6	25.1	±11.6	11	±4	34.5	±11.6	26.9	±11.1	12	±4
LP:																								
1st	19.4	± 5.4	14.3	±5.2	6	± 2	20.8	± 9.5	14.6	± 9.1	8	± 3	23.3	±13,4	17.0	±11.7	9	± 6	23.4	± 10.3	16.9	± 9.6	9	± 3
2nd	27.7	± 10.0	21.0	±9.2	10	± 3	26.5	±12.0	19.3	± 10.9	10	± 4	28.9	±12,6	22.1	± 12.0	11	± 7	32.6	± 16.5	25.3	±15.5	12	± 7
3rd	41.8	±10.2	33.7	± 10.1	14	± 4	40.5	±12.2	31.4	±11.7	15	± 6	42.0	±14,2	33.6	± 13.5	15	± 6	46.0	±12.7	37.0	± 12.3	17	± 7
DIM:																								
≤60	26.7	± 6.9	6.1	± 3.1	27	± 11	26.7	± 7.8	5.6	± 3.7	27	± 9	27.9	±11,7	5.3	±2.7	29	± 11	29.6	± 9.3	6.6	± 3.7	31	± 12
61-120	25.6	± 10.5	18.1	±9.0	10	± 6	23.5	± 8.9	16.5	± 7.9	9	± 4	26.7	±11,4	19.0	± 10.2	10	± 5	28.4	± 10.9	21.1	± 9.7	10	± 5
121-180	26.9	± 9.4	22.3	±9.9	7	± 4	26.9	± 9.8	21.7	± 9.5	8	± 4	29.1	±13,7	24.4	± 13.0	8	± 5	31.9	± 10.8	26.0	±10.4	9	± 4
≥181	34.6	±9.0	31.5	±9.5	5	±2	33.3	± 9.9	29.3	± 9.7	6	± 3	37.1	±14,7	33.3	±14.9	6	±2	39.2	±13.8	35.6	±14.2	6	± 3
																			S	D (±): S	Standa	rd Dev	iatio	n

Subclinical mastitis: year over year epidemiology

The epidemiology of subclinical mastitis presented a year over year deterioration. Therefore, the results of 2018 appeared worse than 2015. More precisely, herd average BTSCC and herd average SCS were higher by 78000 cells/mL (Table 1) and by 0.3 points (Table 2), respectively, in 2018 compared to 2015. Herd average SCM prevalence in 2018 was 4.9% higher than 2016 and herd average chronic SCM prevalence was 4.8 % higher than 2016. Finally, according to herd average SCM incidence rate in 2018, 12 new cases per 100 lactating cows (2 more new cases than 2015) were added to the existing chronic cases each month (Table 4).

DISCUSSION

The aim of this study was to evaluate the epidemiology of subclinical mastitis among dairy herds of the Holstein Association of Greece, during the period 2015-2018. The necessary inclusion criterion of consistent data recording could be a selection bias, firstly because precise and meticulous dairymen are related to better herd performance and, secondly, because low milk SCC can be associated with farmer's management style (Barkema et al., 1999; Barnouin et al., 2004). The subclinical mastitis epidemiology presented in the results of this study could be summarized as high overall subclinical mastitis prevalence, high chronic subclinical mastitis prevalence and high subclinical mastitis incidence rate, as well as consequently elevated SCS and BTSCC.

Figure 1. Scatter diagram with linear trend lines of the relationship between somatic cell score (SCS), subclinical mastitis prevalence (SCMP - %) and 305 days milk yield (305d milk yield – kg), during 2015-2018 in Greece



J HELLENIC VET MED SOC 2019, 70(4) ПЕКЕ 2019, 70(4)

Regarding the relationship between herd average SCM prevalence and herd average SCS (Figure 1), including all herds that took part in the study during the four-year period, the increasing linear trend line of "SCM prevalence – SCS" confirmed the expectedly positive relationship between SCC and intramammary infection. Elevated average SCS of individual cows at herd level, as well as at number and stage of lactation groups (Tables 2, 3) is closely related with the elevated SCM prevalence, as each 1-point increase in SCS can be associated with a 9.1% increase in the prevalence of intra-mammary infection (Shook et al., 2017).

The decreasing linear trend line of "305-days milk yield – SCS" (Figure 1) shows that high somatic cell score was negatively related to milk production. It is known that cows with high somatic cell count (and, consequently, SCS) produce a lower milk volume than cows with low SCC, and that there is a negative correlation between total milk volume produced and the somatic cell count per milliliter of milk produced. Intramammary infections (leading to high SCC) may reduce milk yield through chronic damage to mammary secretory cells, but even in short-duration infections with no permanent damage, metabolic resources may be diverted from milk production to immune defense (Green et al., 2006).

Interestingly, 46% of the herds during the fouryear period of our study had a lower 305-days milk yield / cow in the 3^{rd} than in the 2^{nd} lactation period. This result is contrary to the normal milk production pattern, according to which milk production is increasing from 1st to the 3rd lactation (Clark, 1924; Michel, 1994). This abnormality can be attributed to the deterioration of udder health from 1st to 3rd lactation groups, as observed by the elevated subclinical mastitis prevalence, especially the chronic one, and somatic cell score above the SCM-indicative threshold throughout all four years of the study (Tables 2, 4). Other factors that can lead to decreased milk production as the number of lactations increases are: high prevalence of lameness, poor reproduction, nutritional and managerial errors. However, due to the retrospective nature of the study, there were no data available for those factors and, therefore, their co-effect cannot be evaluated. Table 5. National levels of subclinical mastitis prevalence (%), heifers subclinical mastitis prevalence (%) and 305-days milk yield (kg), compared to the results of 2018 in Greece.

Subclinical Mas	titis Prevalen	ce		Heifers Subclini	cal Mastitis Pı	revalence		305-days Milk Yield ††		
Author	Country	SCC cut-off	SCMP	Author	Country	SCC cut-off	Heifers SCMP	Country	305d milk yield (kg)	
Skrzypek et al., 2004	Poland	400000	21.3%	Fox et al., 1995	USA	200000	36%	Germany	9219	
Madouasse et al., 2010	England & Wales	200000	25%	De Vliegher et al., 2004b	Belgium	200000	27.5% †	France	9042	
Lam et al,. 2013	Netherlands	200000	22%	Svensson et al., 2006	Sweden	200000	18.1% ύ	Sweden	10325	
Fauteux et al,. 2014	Canada	200000	26%	Parker et al., 2007	New Zealand	200000	13.3%	Italy	9980	
Shook et al., 2017	USA	-	37.6% *	Fouz et al., 2010	Spain	200000	21.7% §	Spain	10152	
				Santman- Berends et al., 2012	Netherlands	150000	25.5% П	Netherlands	9958	
				Bludau et al., 2014	Switzerland	100000	20.6%	Switzerland	8813	
Themistokleous et al., 2019	Greece	250000	34.5%	Themistokleous et al., 2019	Greece	250000	23.4%	Greece	9608	

 Table 5. National levels of subclinical mastitis prevalence (%), heifers subclinical mastitis prevalence (%) and 305-days milk yield (kg), compared to the results of 2018 in Greece

*: % of intramammary infection (pathogen specific tests), †: 5-14 days in milk (DIM), \dot{v} : first milking, §: 5-37 DIM, II: first 100 DIM, ††: Data obtained from the European Holstein & Red Holstein Confederation, except Greece (Themistokleous et al., 2019).

Despite the satisfactory, in comparison with other European countries (E.H.R.H.C. 2017), average 305days milk yield / cow (Table 5), the results discussed below indicate a progressive deterioration of udder health from the onset of productive life until culling. It was observed here that the average BTSCC in 2018 was 463000 cells/mL, approximately 78000 cells/mL higher than in 2015. The BTSCC results found in the present study are also noticeably higher compared to those of the U.S. (Schukken et al., 2003), the Netherlands (Santman-Berends et al., 2016) and Canada (Aghamohammadi et al., 2018). In Finland, a mastitis control program resulted in the reduction of BTSCC from 330000 (in 1988) to 170000 (in 1995) cells/mL within seven years (Honkanen-Buzalski and Myllys, 1996).

The overall SCM prevalence in Greece (increased from 2016 to 2018, 34.5% in 2018) was higher compared to countries like the Netherlands, Canada, England and Wales (Table 5), affecting one in three dairy cows every year. Furthermore, in 2018, heifers' SCM prevalence (23.4%) in Greece was 5% higher than in 2015, comparatively lower than the Netherlands and Belgium and higher than Spain, Sweden and Switzerland. However, it is important to consider that in all of these studies the SCC cut-offs used to define subclinical mastitis were lower than the cut-off used in the "I Ω " system. The lower cut-off could be responsible for the higher SCM prevalence observed in heifers of the Netherlands and Belgium, compared to Greece.

Average age at first calving was above the upper optimal threshold in all four years of the study (Table 1). Belated first calving has been associated with increased first lactation SCC and lower lifetime milk production, as well as longer calving intervals (also observed in the present study) and worse reproductive performance (Eastham et al., 2018).

In all four years of our study, the highest SCM incidence rate was observed in early lactation, accompanied by elevated SCS and SCM prevalence (Table 4). Many cows were probably already infected before or became infected at calving, implying a high possibility of either ineffective dry cow therapy or errors in dry and fresh cows' management. Dry period is a critical time in the lactation cycle (Bradley et al., 2010), as it is the optimum time to cure existing intramammary infections (Wilson et al., 1972) and a high-risk period for new intramammary infections (Smith et al., 1985). The probability of cows to develop new intramammary infections during the dry period has been related with high milk yield before drying-off, longer duration of the dry period, housing of dry cows in tie-stall barns, as well as with number of parity and SCS above 4.0 on last test-day before drying-off (Dingwell et al., 2002, Madouasse et al., 2012). Research has shown that cows from herds with high chances of maintaining or having newly elevated SCC over the dry period in the previous year had a higher probability of elevated SCC at first recording after calving (Madouasse et al., 2012).

The risk of new intramammary infections during the dry period is elevated during: i) the first weeks after drying-off, when involution of the udder occurs (Neave et al., 1950), and ii) the weeks preceding calving, when colostrogenesis takes place in the udder (Oliver et al., 1983). Therapeutic levels of antibiotics for dry cow therapy may be achieved only for the first 14 to 28 days after infusion, thus, failing to protect the udder during the last trimester of the dry period (especially for long ones); this can lead to new quarter intramammary infections during the dry period, which rate can reach 17.44% (Rindsig et al., 1978; Robert et al., 2006; Petzer et al., 2009). As a result, at the end of the dry period untreated and treated cows would stay at the same risk of new intramammary infections (Robert et al., 2006). In Greece, although not supported by data due to the retrospective nature of the study, it can be presumed that unsuccessful dry cow therapy and/or dry cow management errors could be involved into the current problem of high SCM incidence rate and SCM prevalence after calving and in early lactation. A focused research should be conducted to investigate the association between the applied dry period management practices in Greece and udder health.

Regarding heifers, the results indicated bad udder health from the very first lactation, even from the early stages (Tables 2, 3 and 4). Intramammary infections in dairy heifers may already occur at breeding age (Trinidad et al., 1990), but the risk is greater in the last trimester of pregnancy and at calving (Fox et al., 1995; Piepers et al., 2009). Heifers' intramammary infections during (late) gestation and early lactation are crucial not only for first lactation, but also for future milk production. That is because they are associated with impaired development of the mammary gland, negatively affecting both first lactation and future udder health, while can additionally lead to elevated risk of culling in first lactation (De Vliegher et al., 2005; Piepers et al., 2009; Santman-Berends et al., 2012). First lactation somatic cell count (especially in early lactation) is negatively associated with both first lactation and lifetime milk yield (De Vliegher et al., 2005; Archer et al., 2014). Subclinical mastitis on first test-day after calving led to a higher risk of developing chronic mastitis or early culling and, moreover, isolation of major pathogens from first calving day up to the 5th day-in-milk was associated with 60% increased culling risk in first lactation (Compton et al., 2007; Bludau et al., 2014).

Apart from the negative effects of intramammary infections on the secretory tissue, suboptimal production has been associated with permanently elevated SCC throughout the whole lactation (De Vliegher et al., 2005). The longer the intramammary infections exist and the longer they persist into lactation (as observed in the present study by the elevated chronic SCM prevalence in first lactation), the larger the impact on heifers' production potential (Piepers et al., 2009). Given the fact that prevention rather than cure of early lactation elevated SCC is needed (De Vliegher et al., 2005), a series of preventive interventions are crucial for the improvement of the potential dairy herd productivity.

CONCLUSION

The results of this study indicated high prevalence of SCM and poor udder health in Greek Holstein dairy herds, leading to shorter productive life and lower milk quality (elevated somatic cell count). Moreover, the average 305-days milk yield of 3rd lactation was lower than 2nd lactation cows, in 46% of the herds. These findings underline the necessity of implementing a series of actions in order to control subclinical mastitis among Greek dairy herds. The investigation of the applied herd management practices, accompanied by the development of a national mastitis monitoring and prevention program is considered important.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

None of the authors have any conflicts of interest to declare.

AKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to sincerely thank the Holstein Association of Greece for the data records from 2015 to 2018, provided by "I Ω " system, as well as for the flawless collaboration and assistance.

REFERENCES

- Aghamohammadi M, Haine D, Kelton DF, Barkema HW, Hogeveen H, Keefe GP, Dufour S (2018) Herd-level mastitis-associated costs on Canadian dairy farms. Front. Vet. Sci. 5:100.
- Archer SC, McCoy F, Wapenaar W, Green MJ (2013) Association between somatic cell count early in the first lactation and the lifetime milk yield of cows in Irish dairy herds. J. Dairy Sci. 96:2951–2959.
- Archer SC, McCoy F, Wapenaar W, Green MJ (2014) Association between somatic cell count during the first lactation and the cumulative milk yield of cows in Irish dairy herds. J. Dairy Sci. 97:2135–2144.
- Barkema HW, Schukken YH, Lam TJ, Beiboer ML, Benedictus G, Brand A (1998) Management practices associated with low, medium, and high somatic cell counts in bulk milk. J. Dairy Sci. 81:1917–1927.
- Barkema HW, Van der Ploeg JD, Schukken YH, Lam TJ, Beiboer ML, Benedictus G, Brand A (1999) Management style and its association with bulk milk somatic cell count and incidence rate of clinical mastitis. J. Dairy Sci. 82, 1655–1663.
- Barnouin J, Chassagne M, Bazin S, Boichard D (2004) Management practices from questionnaire surveys in herds with very low somatic cell score through a national mastitis program in France. J. Dairy Sci. 87:3989–3999.
- Blowey R and Edmondson P (2010) Chapter 4: The Mastitis Organisms. In: Mastitis Control in Dairy Herds. 2nd ed, CAB International, Wallingford Oxfordshire, United Kingdom: pp 34.
- Bludau MJ, Maeschli A, Leiber F, Steiner A, Klocke P (2014) Mastitis in dairy heifers: Prevalence and risk factors. The Veterinary Journal 202:566–572.
- Bradley AJ, Breen JE, Payne B, Williams P, Green MJ (2010) The use of a cephalonium containing dry cow therapy and an internal teat sealant, both alone and in combination. J. Dairy Sci. 93:1566–1577.
- Clark RS (1924) The correlation between changes in age and milk production of dairy cows under other than official testing conditions. J. Dairy Sci. 7(6):547–554.

- Compton CWR, Heuer C, Parker KI, McDougall S (2007) Risk factors for peripartum mastitis in pasture-grazed dairy heifers. J. Dairy Sci. 90:4171–4180.
- De Vliegher S, Barkema HW, Stryhn H, Opsomer G, de Kruif A (2004) Impact of early lactation somatic cell count in heifers on somatic cell counts over the first lactation. J Dairy Sci. 87:3672-82.
- De Vliegher S, Barkema HW, Opsomer G, de Kruif A, Duchateau L (2005) Association between somatic cell count in early lactation and culling of dairy heifers using cox frailty models. J. Dairy Sci. 88:560–568.
- Dingwell RT, Duffield TF, Leslie KE, Keefe GP, DesCoteaux L, Kelton DF, Lissemore KD, Schukken YH, Dick P, Bagg R (2002) The Efficacy of Intramammary Tilmicosin at Drying-off, and other Risk Factors for the Prevention of New Intramammary Infections during the Dry Period. J. Dairy Sci. 85:3250–3259.
- Dohoo IR and Leslie KE (1991) Evaluation of changes in somatic cell counts as indicators of new intramammary infections. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 10:225-237.
- Dohoo I, Martin W, Stryhn H (2003) Measures of disease frequency. In: Veterinary Epidemiologic Research. 1sted, AVC Inc., Charlottetown, Canada: pp 65-82.
- Eastham NT, Coates A, Cripps P, Richardson H, Smith R, Oikonomou G (2018) Associations between age at first calving and subsequent lactation performance in UK Holstein and Holstein-Friesian dairy cows. PLoS ONE 13(6):e0197764.
- European Holstein and Red Holstein Confederation Member Statistics (2017) http://www.euholsteins.com/members/index.php [accessed November 28th, 2018]
- Fauteux V, Roy J-P, Scholl DT, Bouchard É (2014) Benchmarks for evaluation and comparison of udder health status using monthly individual somatic cell count. Can Vet J;55:741–748.
- Fouz R, Yus E, Sanjuán ML, Diéguez FJ (2010) Statistical evaluation of somatic cell counts in bovine milk at calving, during lactation and

J HELLENIC VET MED SOC 2019, 70(4) ПЕКЕ 2019, 70(4) at drying-off (by official recording). Livestock Science 128:185–188.

- Fox LK, Chester ST, Hallberg JW, Nickerson SC, Pankey JW, Weaver LD (1995) Survey of intramammary infections in dairy heifers at breeding age and first parturition. J. Dairy Sci. 78:1619–1628.
- Green LE, Schukken YH, Green MJ (2006) On distinguishing cause and consequence: Do high somatic cell counts lead to lower milk yield or does high milk yield lead to lower somatic cell count? Prev. Vet. Med. 76:74-89.
- Hamann (2005) Diagnosis of mastitis and indicators of milk quality. In: Mastitis in Dairy Production: Current Knowledge and Future Solutions. 1sted, Wageningen Academic Publishers, the Netherlands: pp 84.
- Holstein Association of Greece (2018) http://holstein.gr/ [accessed November 10th, 2018]
- Honkanen-Buzalski T, Myllys V (1996) Mastitis prevention has succeeded in Finland. IDF Mastitis News 144:20–22.
- Lam TJGM, van den Borne BHP, Jansen J, Huijps K, van Veersen JCL, van Schaik G, Hogeveen H (2013) Improving bovine udder health: A national mastitis control program in the Netherlands. J. Dairy Sci. 96:1301–1311.
- Lievaart JJ, Barkema HW, Kremer WDJ, van den Broek J, Verheijden JHM, Heesterbeek JAP (2007) Effect of Herd Characteristics, Management Practices, and Season on Different Categories of the Herd Somatic Cell Count. J. Dairy Sci. 90:4137–4144.
- Madouasse AJ, Huxley JN, Browne WJ, Bradley AJ, Green MJ (2010) Somatic cell count dynamics in a large sample of dairy herds in England and Wales. Prev. Vet. Med. 96:56–64.
- Madouasse AJ, Browne WJ, Huxley JN, Toni F, Bradley AJ, Green MJ (2012) Risk factors for a high somatic cell count at the first milk recording in a large sample of UK dairy herds. J. Dairy Sci. 95:1873– 1884.
- Michel G (1994) Chapter: Anatomie der Milchdrüse. In: Euter- und Gesäugekranheiten, by Wendt K, Bostedt H, Mielke H, Fuchs HW, 1st ed., Gustav Fischer Verlag Jena, Stuttgart: pp 17-50.
- Neave FK, Dodd FH, Henriques E (1950) Udder infections in the dry period. J. Dairy Res. 17:37–49.
- Oliver SP and Mitchell BA (1983) Intramammary infections in primigravid heifers near parturition. J. Dairy Sci. 66:1180–1183.
- Petzer IM, Lourens DC, van der Schans TJ, Watermeyer JC, van Reenen R, Rautenbacha GH, Thompson P (2009) Intramammary infection rate during the dry period in cows that received blanket dry cow therapy: efficacy of 6 different dry-cow intra-mammary antimicrobial products. JI S.Afr.vet.Ass. 80(1): 23–30.
- Piepers S, De Vliegher S, de Kruif A, Opsomer G, Barkema HW (2009) Impact of intramammary infections in dairy heifers on future udder health, milk production, and culling. Vet. Microbiol. 134:113–120.
- Pillai SR, Kunze E, Sordillo LM, Jayarao BM (2001) Application of differential inflammatory cell count as a tool to monitor udder health, J. Dairy Sci. 84:1413–1420.
- Rindsig RB, Rodewald RG, Smith AR, Spahr SL (1978) Complete versus selective dry cow therapy for mastitis control. J. Dairy Sci. 61:1483– 1497.
- Robert A, Seegers H, Bareille N (2006) Incidence of intramammary infections during the dry period without or with antibiotic treatment

in dairy cows – a quantitative analysis of published data. Vet. Res. 37:25–48.

- Ruegg PL and Pantoja JCF (2013) Understanding and using somatic cell counts to improve milk quality. Ir. J. Agric. Food Res. 52:101–117.
- Rupp R, Beaudeau R, Boichard D (2000) Relationship between milk somatic cell counts in the first lactation and clinical mastitis occurrence in the second lactation of French Holstein cows. Prev. Vet. Med. 46:99–111.
- Santman-Berends IM, Olde Riekerink RGM, Sampimon OC, van Schaik G, Lam TJ (2012) Incidence of subclinical mastitis in Dutch dairy heifers in the first 100 days in lactation and associated risk factors. J. Dairy Sci. 95:2476–2484.
- Santman-Berends IM, Swinkels JM, Lam TJ, Keurentjes J, van Schaik G (2016) Evaluation of udder health parameters and risk factors for clinical mastitis in Dutch dairy herds in the context of a restricted antimicrobial usage policy. J. Dairy Sci. 99:1–10.
- Schepers AJ, Lam TJ, Schukken YH, Wilmink JB, Hanekamp WJ (1997) Estimation of variance components for somatic cell counts to determine thresholds for uninfected quarters, J. Dairy Sci. 80:1833–1840.
- Schukken YH, Wilson DJ, Welcome F, Garrison-Tikofsky L, Gonzalez RN (2003) Monitoring udder health and milk quality using somatic cell counts. Vet. Res. 34:579–596.
- Schukken YH, Barkema HW, Lam TJ, Zadoks RN (2008) Improving udder health on well managed farms: mitigating the 'perfect storm'. In: Mastitis control from science to practice. 1sted, Wageningen Academic Publishers, the Netherlands, 2008: pp 21-35.
- Shook GE (1993) Appendix: Conversion of Somatic Cell Count to Somatic Cell Score. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Food Animal Practice, 9(3):579–581.
- Shook GE, Bamber Kirk RL, Welcome FL, Schukken YH, Ruegg PL (2017) Relationship between intramammary infection prevalence and somatic cell score in commercial dairy herds. J. Dairy Sci. 100:1–11.
- Skrzypek R, Wojtowski J, Fahr R-D (2004) Factors Affecting Somatic Cell Count in Cow Bulk Tank Milk – A Case Study from Poland. J. Vet. Med. A 51:127–131.
- Smith KL, Todhunter DA, Schoenberger PS (1985) Environmental Mastitis: Cause, Prevalence, Prevention. J Dairy Sci 68:1531-1553.
- Smith KL (1996) Standards for somatic cells in milk: physiological and regulatory. IDF Mastitis News 21:7–9.
- Svensson C, Nyman AK, Persson Waller K, Emanuelson U (2006) Effects of housing, management, and health of dairy heifers on first-lactation udder health in southwest Sweden. J. Dairy Sci. 89: 1990-1999.
- Trinidad P, Nickerson SC, Alley TK (1990) Prevalence of intramammary infection and teat canal colonization in unbred and primigravid dairy heifers. J. Dairy Sci. 73:107–114.
- United States Department of Agriculture, Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service, Veterinary Services, National Animal Health Monitoring System (2002) Dairy 2002 Part I: Reference of Dairy Health and Management in the United States. www.aphis.usda.gov/vs/ceah/cahm [accessed November 17th, 2018].
- Wilson CD, Westgarth DR, Kingwill RG, Griffin TK, Neave FK, Dodd FH (1972) The effect of infusion of sodium cloxacillin in all infected quarters of lactating cows in sixteen herds. Br. Vet. J. 128:71–86.

Effect of seasonal infertility period on boar sperm proteins and quality characteristics

I.A. Michos¹, I.A. Tsakmakidis^{1*}, M. Tsantarliotou¹, G. Tsousis¹, P. Hadweh², C.M. Boscos¹

¹School of Veterinary Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Thessaloniki, Greece

²Shool of Biology, Faculty of Sciences, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Thessaloniki, Greece

ABSTRACT. Swine seasonal infertility reduces the productivity and profitability of a pig farm. The main causes of this condition are elevated environmental temperatures and long photoperiod during the summer season. The aim of this study was to investigate which sperm proteins and parameters are affected during the period of seasonal infertility. Depending on the environmental temperatures, the period from October to June was considered as cold and the period from July to September as warm season. A total of 65 ejaculates from 18 boars were collected over a year. Each semen sample was evaluated for kinetics (Computer Assisted Semen Analyzer), morphology (Sperm Blue stain), viability (Propidium Iodide - Calcein AM stain), mitochondrial membrane potential (Rhodamine 123 – Propidium Iodide stain), membrane integrity and functionality (Hypo-osmotic swelling test) and sperm DNA integrity (Acridine Orange Test). Moreover, selected proteins (HSP90, GPX5, OPN) were detected and quantified. The kinetic parameters VSL, LIN and the midpiece abnormalities were significantly higher in the warm compared to the cold season (p<0.05), while a strong tendency towards higher values for HSP90 and GPX5 was observed in warm compared to cold season (p=0.07 and p=0.06, respectively). In conclusion, among the boar sperm characteristics tested in our study, seasonal infertility period negatively affected VSL and LIN kinetics, while GPX5 seminal plasma enzyme and HSP90 sperm surface protein increased their sperm protective effects.

Keywords: boar semen, semen analysis, HSP90, GPX5, seasonal infertility

Corresponding Author: Ioannis A. Tsakmakidis, School of Veterinary Medicine, Faculty of Health Sciences, Farm Animals Clinic, St. Voutyra 11, 546 27, Thessaloniki Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Greece E-mail address: iat@vet.auth.gr

Date of initial submission: 23-05-2019 Date of revised submission: 03-06-2019 Date of acceptance: 05-06-2019

INTRODUCTION

S easonal differences in pig productivity have been repeatedly reported, particularly in geographical areas with tropical and hot climate (Peña et al., 2016). The summer is usually characterized as the season of infertility in swine industry. It is accompanied by anestrus or low expression and abnormal duration of estrus, prolonged or abnormal weaning to estrus intervals, high return to estrus rates, low pregnancy and farrowing rates, smaller litter sizes and lower boar fertilizing ability (Peltoniemi et al., 1999; De Rensis and Kirkwood, 2016).

Seasonal infertility has been attributed to heat stress, photoperiod, humidity, genetic background and management systems (De Rensis et al., 2017). Although some researchers suggest that heat stress is the main cause of this condition (Prunier et al., 1994), others indicate the photoperiod as the most important factor. Flowers (1997, 2015) found significant semen degradation when boars were kept at 34° C for 8-16 hours daily for 11 weeks or at 26-29° C for 10-14 weeks. However, Peltoniemi et al. (1999) reported seasonal infertility effects in Finland at ambient temperature that did not exceeded 25° C, thus implying the photoperiod as a more important cause.

Regarding the effects of heat stress on boar sperm, most studies investigated basic semen parameters and reported lower volume and concentration, lower sperm motility and higher percentage of morphological abnormalities during warm periods (Egbunike and Dede 1980; Barranco et al., 2013). Peña et al. (2019) found that tropical summer induces boar sperm DNA damage; however, no further studies have investigated effects of seasonality on specific, functional semen parameters.

Seminal plasma proteins are involved in spermatozoa's motion, capacitation and stress protection, thus influencing their function (Gonzalez-Gadavid et al., 2014). Killian et al. (1993) found osteopontin (OPN), a seminal plasma protein (55 kDA), to be associated with high fertility in bulls. In swine IVF the use of the OPN improved embryo development (Hao et al., 2008) and reduced polyspermy rates (Hao et al., 2006). Moreover, some membrane proteins play a crucial role to sperm regulation, communication and protection from oxidative stress (Strzezek, 2005). Among them, Heat Shock Protein (HSP) group helps the cells withstand extreme temperature variations. HSP90 is the most noted sperm surface protein. Its low concentration has been correlated to low quality boar sperm during warm periods (Huang et al., 2000;

Valencia et al., 2017). Furthermore, it is well known that boar spermatozoa are susceptible to oxidative damage due to their relative high content of unsaturated fatty acids. Glutathione peroxidase-5 (GPX5) is an H_2O_2 -scavenging enzyme identified in boar seminal plasma. GPX5 prevents premature capacitation. It is anchored on sperm plasma membrane or free into the epididymal fluid (Drevet, 2006). Vilagran et al. (2016) found that GPX5 of seminal plasma is positive related to sperm quality and Barranco et al. (2016) found a positive correlation between sperm quality and fertilization outcome after artificial insemination with liquid-stored boar semen.

Thus, the aim of the present study was to investigate which of the boar sperm parameters and proteins are affected by seasonality. Throughout a whole year, under commercial pig farming conditions, we evaluated the changes of semen analysis parameters and sperm proteins in order to detect changes between the seasonal infertility (warm) and normal productivity (cold) periods.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

All reagents and chemicals used in this study were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, (St Louis, MO, USA), unless otherwise specified.

Animals, management and data recording

The study was approved by the Ethics Committee on Animal Use of the School of Veterinary Medicine, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Greece and all operations were carried out according to the University's Guidelines for Animal Research.

As cold season was considered the period of semen collections between October and June (mean temperature 12.5° C), while as warm season was considered the period between July and September (mean temperature 23.9° C).

A healthy population of 18 crossbred sexually matured boars (2-3 years old) was used as sperm donors. All boars were used for artificial insemination (AI) in routine basis twice a week with a 3-day interval between collections. A total of 65 ejaculates (3 ejaculates per boar at average) were collected and tested in this study, over a 12-month period. The animals were properly housed in a commercial pig farm (Imathia region, Greece, 40°36'52.9"N, 22°22'08.1"E). Water was provided *ad libitum*, and animals were fed according to the standard nutrition protocols for adult boars.

Semen collection, separation of seminal plasma and spermatozoa

Sperm-rich ejaculate fractions were collected once per week using the gloved-hand technique. The sperm rich fraction was filtered through gauze and divided into aliquots. The first aliquot was extended with a commercial extender (M III[®], Minitube, Germany) to a final concentration of 3x10⁷ spermatozoa/ml, divided to doses ready for insemination and stored at 17° C. Later a dose was transported to the laboratory (within an hour), inside an air-conditioned isothermal box (Minitube, Germany) adjusted at 17° C for further analysis, while the remaining doses were used for AI.

A second aliquot of the collected semen was used for the assessment of sperm and seminal plasma proteins. Semen was immediately mixed with a protease inhibitor cocktail [4-(2-aminoethyl) benzenesulfonyl fluoride, pepstatin A, E-64, bestatin, leupeptin, aprotinin] as proposed by González-Cadavid et al. (2014). Then, it was centrifuged at 640 x g for 15 minutes at 17° C to separate sperm and seminal plasma. Seminal plasma was centrifuged once more at 10,000 x g for 15 min at 17° C and supernatant was finally stored at -80° C until further examination.

Sperm pellet was washed with Phosphate Buffer Solution (PBS) and diluted at 1.5 x 10⁹ spermatozoa per ml (determined photometrically). According to Vilagran et al. (2013), sperm was once again pelleted at 640 x g for 3 minutes at 17° C, washed with 10mL PBS and re -centrifuged at 800 x g for 5 minutes at 17°C. Pellets were resuspended with HAM F-10 1X (Thermofisher[®] Scientific, USA) and samples were once again centrifuged and supernatant was discarded. Spermatozoa were solubilized in NP-40 lysis buffer [50 mM Tris–HCL pH 7.4, 250 mM NaCl, 5 mM EDTA, 1% Glycerol, 0.5% NP-40, 1 mM DTT, 1 mM PMSF 100 mM, 1× protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche)] and the sample was stored at -80° C until further analysis.

Semen evaluation

Upon the arrival at the laboratory, each sperm sample was warmed at 37 °C and a Computer Assisted Sperm Analyzer (CASA) was used (Sperm Class Analyzer[®], Microptic S.L., Barcelona, Spain) to assess motility parameters such as sperm total motility (TM, %), progressive motility (PM, %), straight line velocity (VSL, μ m/s), average path velocity (VAP, μ m/s), curvilinear velocity (VCL, μ m/s), beat cross frequency (BCF, Hz), amplitude of lateral head dis-

placement (ALH, µm), straightness (STR, VSL/VAP, %), linearity (LIN, VSL/VCL, %), wobble (WOB, VAP/VCL, %), rapid, medium and slow moving spermatozoa (10<slow<25<medium<45< rapid µm/ sec), and hyperactivation (sperm subpopulation of increased VCL> 97 µm/sec, ALH>3.5µm and LIN <0.32%). CASA configuration was set at 25 frames/ sec, region of particle control 10-18 microns, depth of field 10 microns, progressive movement of > 45% of the indicator STR, circumferential movement <50% LIN (Karageorgiou et al., 2016). An aliquot of sperm sample (10µl) was placed on a pre-warmed Makler counting chamber (Sefi-Medical Instruments, Haifa, Israel) and the evaluation was performed according to manufacturer's instructions. Pictures of at least 5 random fields were taken (x10), with a minimum of 1000 analyzed spermatozoa. Sperm evaluation was performed by a phase-contrast microscope with a thermal plate attached (Zeiss, Axio, Scope A1. Germany) and consecutive images were obtained by digital camera (Olympus BX 41, Japan), digitized and analyzed with Sperm Class Analyzer® software.

Morphology was estimated by Spermblue[®] staining method (Microptic S.L., Barcelona, Spain) according to manufacturer's instructions. Magnification x400 was used and 200 spermatozoa per slide were estimated and counted while results were expressed in % ratio. Spermatozoa were classified as normal and abnormal. As abnormal spermatozoa were considered those with morphological abnormalities such as abnormal heads, midpieces, tails and proximal or distal cytoplasmic droplets. Spermatozoa with abnormal acrosomes or detached heads were also classified as abnormal.

The viability was assessed by Propidium Iodide (PI; 0.75 mmol/L) - Calcein AM (1 mmol/L) double staining method (Basioura et al., 2018). A total of 200 spermatozoa were scored and results were expressed in % ratio.

According to Najafi (2013), Rhodamine 123 (Rh123) and PI dual fluorescent staining is used to provide critical information about mitochondrial membrane potential. Digital photos were instantly taken under fluorescent microscope and a total of 200 spermatozoa were scored. The percentage of sperm with functional mitochondria was identified by R123 high fluorescence and no PI fluorescence and results were expressed in % ratio.

Hypo-osmotic swelling test (HOST) was performed to evaluate sperm membranes' biochemical activity and functionality. Aliquots of each semen sample (0.1 ml) were added to 0.9 ml of the hypotonic solution (150 mOsm/L) and incubated at 37° C for 60 min. A wet smear was made and left to air dry. Later the sample was examined under a phase contrast microscope at x400 magnification. A total of 200 spermatozoa was examined and categorized as positive or negative and results were expressed in % ratio. As positive spermatozoon with intact membranes was considered that with a swelling at the flagellum or was curled at any point. As negative were considered spermatozoa without no morphological alterations after the subjection of hypo-osmotic swelling test. Results were expressed in % ratio and a total of 200 spermatozoa were scored.

Acridine orange test (AOT) was used to estimate sperm DNA integrity as described by Tejada et al. (1984). Spermatozoa with normal double-stranded DNA displayed green fluorescence, whereas denatured single stranded DNA displayed as yellow-orange to red fluorescence. A total of 200 spermatozoa were examined under fluorescent microscope and the results were expressed in % ratio.

Seminal plasma and sperm protein extraction and quantification by Western Blot (WB)

In order to assess spermatozoa and seminal plasma proteins, a frozen aliquot of each sample was thawed and the Bradford method (Bradford, 1976) was used to determine the total protein concentration using a spectrophotometer (Quick StartTM Bradford Protein Assay; Bio-rad), and bovine albumin was used for the construction of the standard curve.

The sperm pellet was washed three times with PBS and centrifuged at 800 x g for 1 minute. Pellets were lysed in 5xSDS loading buffer (Tris 250mM, SDS 10%, Glycerol 50%, β -Mercaptoethanol 15%), boiled for 5 minutes and equal amount of protein lysates were loaded onto 12% slab gels for electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE). Electrophoresis was performed using a Mini Protean 3 Cell apparatus (Bio-Rad, Berkley, CA) with 50 mA/gel constant current for 1 h.

The proteins were then transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (GE Healthcare) under 50mA/300V for 1h (PowerPac 1000, Bio-Rad). Following this procedure, membrane was washed three times with TBST (20 mM Tris, 500 mM NaCl, 0.05% Tween; pH 7.5) and incubated with blocking solution (5% skimmed milk powder in PBST) for 1 h. Afterwards, the membrane was washed for 5 minutes in TBST and then incubated for 2 h with the following primary antibodies: rabbit polyclonal anti-HSP 90 (AP-22747PU-N; Acris; diluted 1:1000 with TTBS), rabbit polyclonal anti-GPX5 (18731-1-AP; Proteintech Europe; diluted 1:500) and rabbit polyclonal anti- beta actin (ab8227, Abcam). Membranes were washed 3 times and subsequently incubated with a horseradish peroxidase-conjugated polyclonal goat anti-rabbit immunoglobin (SC-2004; Santa Cruz; 1:2000). Pierce™ ECL Plus Western Blotting Substrate (Thermoscientific, IL, USA) was used for development and membranes were scanned with Typhoon FLA 7000 (GE Healthcare). Protein levels were expressed as "band volume". That is the total signal intensity measured inside the boundary of a band in pixel intensity units. Protein bands were quantified using ImageJ (v.1.8.0), with actin serving as a normalizing factor. Their ratio was given as the level of proteins, according to Vilagran et al. (2013). The mean of three different measurements for each sample was taken into account.

According to previously published data (Valencia et al., 2017), SDS-PAGE, Western Blot and quantification of seminal plasma proteins were likewise carried out. Anti-OPN (GTX 37582; GeneTextech; diluted 1:200) was used for the detection of osteopontin while a non-specific band from Ponceau S staining was used as a normalizing factor. Both bands were quantified with ImageJ (v.1.8.0) and their ratio was used for graphical presentation. The mean of three different measurements for each seminal plasma sample was taken into account.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was conducted using the Statistical Analysis System V9.3 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). The Shapiro-Wilk test was performed in all outcome variables to test for the underlying distribution of the data. The distribution of total motility, VCL, ALH, hyperactivation, head, midpiece and tail abnormality cytoplasmatic droplet, HSP90, GPX5, OPN70 and OPN12 was different from normal distribution; thus, a Wilcoxon's two sample non-parametric tests was applied. All other parameters showed a normal distribution. For these variables a two-sample t-test for independent observations was used. Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation for data with normal distribution and as median \pm median absolute deviation (MAD) for data not normally distributed. All analyses were considered to be statistically significant at P < 0.05 and tended to differ if $0.10 > P \ge 0.05$.

RESULTS

The results of motility and kinetics in the two seasons are presented in table 1. Significant lower values of VSL and LIN were noticed in warm compared to cold season (p=0.04 and p=0.03, respectively), while the remaining parameters were not significantly different (p>0.05).

Table 1. Boar sperm motility	y and kinetics after C	CASA analysis du	iring warm and	cold season ((mean or media	$n \pm standard$	deviation or
MAD)							

Variable	Warm season (n=11)	Cold season (n=54)	p-value
Total motility (%)	88.60 ± 3.29	90.79 ± 5.73	0.23
Non progressive motility (%)	39.26 ± 9.01	40.06 ± 10.68	0.82
Progressive motility (%)	47.58 ± 13.15	48.88 ± 15.12	0.79
Rapid moving spermatozoa (%)	48.19 ± 17.59	51.78 ± 22.58	0.62
Medium moving spermatozoa (%)	21.05 ± 6.56	19.45 ± 9.39	0.59
Slow moving spermatozoa (%)	17.61 ± 7.85	17.70 ± 10.42	0.98
VCL	56.34 ± 12.90	55.02 ± 12.26	0.83
VSL	19.26 ± 6.20	23.91 ± 7.54	0.04
VAP	33.91 ± 9.11	41.09 ± 12.53	0.08
LIN	35.47 ± 4.39	40.45 ± 12.81	0.03
STR	56.56 ± 7.79	58.59 ± 9.99	0.53
WOB	63.22 ± 7.04	68.36 ± 14.36	0.09
ALH	2.02 ± 0.13	2.11 ± 0.28	0.19
BCF	9.68 ± 2.91	9.37 ± 4.23	0.82
Hyperactivated spermatozoa (%)	0.97 ± 0.24	1.59 ± 0.15	0.19

Abbreviations: VCL: curvilinear velocity (μm/sec); VSL: straight line velocity (μm/sec); VAP: average path velocity (μm/sec); LIN: linearity (VSL/VCL); STR: straightness (VSL/VAP); WOB: wobble (VAP/VCL); ALH: amplitude of lateral head displacement (μm); BCF: beat cross frequency (Hz).

No significant differences were observed in boar sperm morphological and functional characteristics between seasons (p>0.05), except for midpiece ab-

normalities which were higher in the warm period (p=0.01, table 2).

 Table 2. Boar sperm morphological and functional characteristics during warm and cold season (mean or median ± standard deviation or MAD)

Variable	Warm season (n=11)	Cold season (n=54)	p-value
Normal morphology (%)	75.59 ± 12.84	76.06 ± 9.92	0.89
Head abnormalities (%)	9.5 ± 4.5	6.5 ± 3	0.68
Midpiece abnormalities (%)	2.0 ± 1.0	1.0 ± 0.5	0.01
Tail abnormalities (%)	9.0 ± 6.0	12.5 ± 6.0	0.33
Cytoplasmic droplets (%)	0.0 ± 0.0	0.0 ± 0.0	0.92
Viability (%)	81.86 ± 5.84	83.01 ± 8.08	0.66
HOST+ spermatozoa (%)	40.14 ± 13.59	38.61 ± 12.37	0.72
Activated Mitochondria (%)	86.50 ± 3.97	84.49 ± 7.90	0.52
Sperm DNA damaged (%)	1.9 ± 0.34	1.6 ± 0.33	0.79

No significant differences were found in sperm protein quantities (p>0.05, table 3). However, a strong tendency towards higher values of HSP90 and GPX5 in warm compared to cold period was found (p=0.07 and p=0.06, respectively).

Table 3. Boar sperm and seminal plasma proteins during warm and cold season (median \pm MAD)				
Variable	Warm season (n=11)	Cold season (n=54)	p-value	
HSP90	1.58 ± 1.27	1.06 ± 0.80	0.07	
GPX5	3.59 ± 1.38	1.98 ± 1.39	0.06	
OPN70	0.60 ± 0.59	1.95 ± 1.1	0.19	
OPN12	2.38 ± 2.37	2.01 ± 1.97	0.81	

DISCUSSION

Seasonal infertility in swine reduces significantly the productivity of a pig farm. This is mainly the result of the decrease in reproductive parameters, i.e. lower farrowing rates, lower number of live born piglets and decreased litter sizes (Love, 1978; Peltoniemi et al. 1999). Females and males are both affected by seasonal infertility. Concerning the boar, previous studies reported that heat stress results in reduced libido and decreased semen volume and concentration (Cameron and Blackshaw, 1980; Flowers, 1997).

The present study found seasonal differences of semen parameters which can be contributed to the outcome of AI. Among kinetics, VSL and LIN were lower in warm compared to cold period. It is known that good sperm kinetics can positively affect fertility. These results can influence the seasonal reproductive differences in a farm, since VSL is correlated with the total number of live born piglets (Broekhuijse et al., 2012). Lee et al. (2014) proposed that VSL should be considered to select semen for AI. Although LIN is not a sensitive indicator of sperm motion, Hirai et al. (2001) found a higher non-return to estrus rate in boars with significantly higher LIN. Additionally, Casas et al. (2009), reported that a combination of LIN and STR can be advantageous for the freezability of boar sperm. Moreover, it is well known that sperm motility is one of the most important indicators of field fertilizing ability. It correlates with litter size in pigs, even though an AI with a low number of spermatozoa per dose takes place (Tardif et al., 1999). In the present study no significant differences between warm and cold season were found regarding total and progressive motility. This finding agrees with the study of Popwell and Flowers (2004), who monitored three boars' semen quality with significantly different in vitro and in vivo fertility for 40 weeks, but they did not reveal total motility differences. Although most of the published studies agree that motility and kinetics play a crucial role in the fertilization process, there are reports that show different results. Reproductive efficiency can be attributed to other important factors, such as boar genetics, farm management, enriched nutrition and animals' care. Moreover, the results of the kinetics CASA measurements can be affected by many factors, i.e. the sample preincubation time, the different sperm counting chamber, the software settings and the user training (Yeste et al., 2018). Therefore, only the results which emerged following similar methodology can be compared.

In our study no effect of season on sperm quality and functional characteristics was noticed, with the exception of the percentage of midpiece abnormalities, indicating that motility parameters are more susceptible. Midpiece abnormalities have been related to Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) generation, lipid peroxidation and increase in creatine kinase (CK) activity (Huszar and Vigue, 1994). CK, which is a marker of sperm maturity, has been related to low sperm fertilizing capacity (Hallak et al., 2001), while ROS hyperproduction and oxidative damage impair the normal function of spermatozoa (Radomil et al., 2011). Heat stress has also been associated with testicular dysfunction and oxidative stress (Hamilton et al., 2016). The determination of oxidative parameters was not within the scopes of the present study. However, GPX5 and HSP90 were assessed, demonstrating as a tendency higher values in warm compared to cold season. Hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) is considered as the major damaging ROS for boar sperm, while Glutathione Peroxidases (GPXs) are the responsible enzymes that neutralize H₂O₂ (Awda et al., 2009). Moreover, GPX5 protects boar spermatozoa during their route into the female genital tract, decreasing the harmful effects of ROS generated by uterine tissues. According to Barranco et al. (2016), GPX5 affects fertility after AI with liquid-stored boar semen. Based on the findings of our study, it is probable that boar spermatozoa exhibit higher GPX5 to overcome the extended ROS production during the periods of seasonal infertility. Additionally, HSP90 is the most noted sperm surface protein (Valencia et al., 2017) and it is reduced when sperm quality is low (Huang et al., 2000). In accordance with GPX5 changes, HSP90 was also increased in the warm period of our study to support a defensive mechanism of boar spermatozoa against heat stress. Many genomic regions responsible for heat tolerance have been identified in pigs (Riquet et al., 2017) reflecting the boar genetic improvement that has been succeeded up to today.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, among the boar sperm characteristics tested in our study, seasonal infertility period negatively affected VSL and LIN kinetics, while GPX5 seminal plasma enzyme and HSP90 sperm surface protein increased their sperm protective effects.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank the staff of the pig farm Karanikas LTD for their valuable help to the completion of this study.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflict of interest.



Fig 1. Representative band patterns from WB analysis of HSP90 and GPX5 from the solubilized membranous fraction of boar spermatozoa





Fig 2. Representative band patterns from WB analysis of OPN from the boar seminal plasma



Fig 3. Nitrocellulose blot stained with Ponceau S. The protein band used as OPN control is highlighted

REFERENCES

- Awda BJ, Mackenzie-Bell M, Buhr MM (2009) Reactive oxygen species and boar sperm function. Biol Reprod 81:553–561.
- Barranco I, Ortega MD, Martinez-Alborcia MJ, Vazquez JM, Martinez EA, Roca J (2013) Season of ejaculate collection influences the freezability of boar spermatozoa. Cryobiology 67:299-304.
- Barranco I, Tvarijonaviciute A, Perez-Patiño C, Vicente-Carrillo A, Parrilla I, et al. (2016) Glutathione Peroxidase 5 Is Expressed by the Entire Pig Male Genital Tract and Once in the Seminal Plasma Contributes to Sperm Survival and In Vivo Fertility. PLOS ONE 11:e0162958.
- Basioura A, Boscos CM, Parrilla I, Tsousis G, Tsakmakidis IA (2018) Effect of astaxanthin on the quality of boar sperm stored at 17° C, incubated at 37° C or under in vitro conditions. Reprod Domest Anim 53:463-471.
- Bradford MM (1976) A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. Anal Biochem 72:248-254.
- Broekhuijse ML, Šoštarić E, Feitsma H, Gadella BM (2012) Application of computer-assisted semen analysis to explain variations in pig fertility. J Anim Sci, 90:779–789.
- Cameron RD, Blackshaw AW (1980) The effect of elevated ambient temperature on spermatogenesis in the boar. J. Reprod Fertil 59:173–179.
- Casas I, Sancho S, Briz M, Pinart E, Bussalleu E, Yeste M, Bonet S (2009) Freezability prediction of boar ejaculates assessed by functional sperm parameters and sperm proteins. Theriogenology 72:930-948.
- De Rensis F, Kirkwood RN (2016) Control of oestrus and ovulation: fertility to timed insemination of gilts and sows. Theriogenology 86:1460-1466.
- De Rensis F, Ziecik AJ, Kirkwood RN (2017) Seasonal infertility in gilts and sows: Aetiology, clinical implications and treatments. Theriogenology 96:111-117.
- Drevet JR (2006) The antioxidant glutathione peroxidase family and spermatozoa: a complex story. Mol Cell Endocrinol 250:70-79.
- Egbunike GN, Dede TI (1980) The Influence of Short-Term Exposure to Tropical Sunlight on Boar Seminal Characteristics. Int J Biometeor 24:129-135.
- Flowers WL (1997) Management of boars for efficient semen production. J Reprod Fertil 52:67–78.
- Flowers WL (2015) Factors Affecting the Efficient Production of Boar Sperm. Reprod Domest Anim 50:25-30.
- González-Cadavid V, Martins JA, Moreno FB, Andrade TS, Santos AC, Monteiro-Moreira AC, Moreira RA, Moura AA (2014) Seminal plasma proteins of adult boars and correlations with sperm parameters. Theriogenology 82:697-707.
- Hallak J, Sharma RK, Pasqualotto FF, Ranganathan P, Thomas AJ Jr, Agarwal A (2001). Creatine kinase as an indicator of sperm quality and maturity in men with oligospermia. Urology 58:446-451.
- Hamilton TR, Mendes CM, de Castro LSD, Assis PM, Siqueira AF, Delgado JdeC, Goissis MD, Muiño-Blanco T, Cebrián-Pérez JÁ, Nichi M, Visintin JA, Assumpçao ME (2016) Evaluation of Lasting Effects of Heat Stress on Sperm Profile and Oxidative Status of Ram Semen and Epididymal Sperm. Oxid Med Cell Longev 2016:1687657.
- Hao Y, Mathialagan N, Walters E, Mao J, Lai L, Becker D, Li W, Critser J, Prather RS (2006) Osteopontin Reduces Polyspermy During In Vitro Fertilization of Porcine Oocytes. Biol Reprod 75:726-733.
- Hao Y, Murphy CN, Spate L, Wax D, Zhong Z, Samuel M, Mathialagan N, Schatten H, Prather RS (2008) Osteopontin improves in vitro development of porcine embryos and decreases apoptosis. Mol Reprod Dev 75:291-298.
- Hirai M, Boersma A, Hoeflich A, Wolf E, Foll J, Aumüller TR, Braun J (2001) Objectively measured sperm motility and sperm head morphometry in boars (Sus scrofa): relation to fertility and seminal plasma growth factors. J Androl 22:104-110.
- Huang SY, Kuo YH, Tsou HL, Lee YP, King YT, Huang HC, Yang PC, Lee WC (2000) The decline of porcine sperm motility by geldanamycin, a specific inhibitor of heat-shock protein 90 (HSP90). Theriogenology 53:1177-1184.

- Huszar G, Vigue L (1994) Correlation between the rate of lipid peroxidation and cellular maturity as measured by creatine kinase activity in human spermatozoa. J Androl 15:71-77.
- Karageorgiou MA, Tsousis G, Boscos CM, Tzika ED, Tassis PD, Tsakmakidis IA (2016) A comparative study of boar semen extenders with different proposed preservation times and their effect on semen quality and fertility. Acta Vet Brno 85:23-31.
- Killian GJ, Chapman DA, Rogowski LA (1993) Fertility-associated proteins in Holstein bull seminal plasma. Biol Reprod 49:1202-1207.
- Lee WY, Lee R, Kim HC, Lee KH, Cui XS, Kim NH, Lee IJ, Uhm SJ, Yoon MJ, Song H (2014) Pig Spermatozoa Defect in Acrosome Formation Caused Poor Motion Parameters and Fertilization Failure through Artificial Insemination and In vitro Fertilization. Asian-Australas J Anim Sci 27:1417-1425.
- Love RJ (1978) Definition of a seasonal infertility problem in pigs. Vet Rec 103:443–446.
- Najafi A, Zhandi M, Towhidi A, Sharafi M, Akbari Sharif A, Khodaei Motlagh M, Martinez-Pastor F (2013) Trehalose and glycerol have a dose-dependent synergistic effect on the post-thawing quality of ram semen cryopreserved in a soybean lecithin-based extender. Cryobiology 66:275-282.
- Peltoniemi OA, Love RJ, Heinonen M, Tuovinen V, Saloniemi H (1999) Seasonal and management effects on fertility of the sow: a descriptive study. Anim Reprod Sci 55:47-61.
- Peña ST, Gummow B, Parker AJ, Paris DBBP (2016) Revisiting summer infertility in the pig: Could heat stress-induced sperm DNA damage negatively affect early embryo development? Anim Prod Sci 57:1975-1983.
- Popwell JM, Flowers WL (2004) Variability in relationships between semen quality and estimates of in vivo and in vitro fertility in boars. Anim Reprod Sci 81:97–113.
- Prunier A, Dourmad JY, Etienne M (1994) Effect of light regimen under various ambient temperatures on sow and litter performance. J Anim Sci 72:1461-1466.
- Radomil L, Pettitt MJ, Merkies KM, Hickey KD, Buhr MM (2011) Stress and dietary factors modify boar sperm for processing. Reprod Dom Anim 46:39-44.
- Riquet J, Gilbert H, Feve K, Labrune Y, Rose R, Billon Y, Giorgi M, Loyau T, Gourdine JL, Renaudeau D (2017) Genetic dissection of mechanisms underlying heat adaptation in pigs. In: 36th Conference of the International Society for Animal Genetics (ISAG), Illinois, U.S.A: pp.133.
- Strzeżek J, Wysocki P, Kordan W, Kuklińska M, Mogielnicka M, Soliwoda D, Fraser L (2005) Proteomics of boar seminal plasma - current studies and possibility of their application in biotechnology of animal reproduction. Reprod Biol 5:279-290.
- Tardif S, Laforest JP, Cormier N, Bailey JL (1999) The importance of porcine sperm parameters on fertility in vivo. Theriogenology 52:447– 459.
- Tejada RI, Mitchell JC, Norman A, Marik JJ, Friedman S (1984) A test for the practical evaluation of male fertility by acridine orange (AO) fluorescence. Fertil Steril 42:87–91.
- Valencia J, Gomez G, Lopez W, Mesa H, Henao FJ (2017) Relationship between HSP90a, NPC2 and L-PGDS proteins to boar semen freezability. J Anim Sci Biotechno 8:21.
- Vilagran I, Castillo J, Bonet S, Sancho S, Yeste M, Estanyol JM, Oliva R (2013) Acrosin-binding protein (ACRBP) and triosephosphate isomerase (TPI) are good markers to predict boar sperm freezing capacity. Theriogenology 80:443-450.
- Vilagran I, Castillo-Martín M, Prieto-Martínez N, Bonet S, Yeste M (2016) Triosephosphate isomerase (TPI) and epididymal secretory glutathione peroxidase (GPX5) are markers for boar sperm quality. Anim Reprod Sci 165:22-30.
- Yeste M, Bonet S, Rodríguez-Gil JE, Rivera Del Álamo MM (2018) Evaluation of sperm motility with CASA-Mot: which factors may influence our measurements? Reprod Fertil Dev 30:789-798.

J HELLENIC VET MED SOC 2019, 70(4) ПЕКЕ 2019, 70(4)

Unilateral Spinal Anaesthesia in Calves

S. Yayla^a, E. Kilic*, U. Aydin*, I. Ozaydin*, V. Baran*, A. Kamiloglu*

^{*a*} Department of Surgery, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Dicle, Diyarbakır, Turkey

* Department of Surgery, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Kafkas, Kars, Turkey

ABSTRACT: In this study, we aimed to evaluate the effects of unilateral anaesthesia by the administration of hyperbaric bupivacaine through the lumbosacral space into the subarachnoid space in calves. A total of 10 calves with unilateral femoral fractures were included in the study. After each calf was placed in a lateral position on the side intended for surgery, 15 mg of hyperbaric bupivacaine was slowly injected into the subarachnoid space. The onset, duration and depth of anaesthesia were determined by the pinprick test (scale 1–4). In addition, heart rate, diastolic arterial blood pressure, systolic arterial blood pressure, mean arterial blood pressure, respiratory rate and body temperature of the calves were monitored and recorded from the onset to 120 min after anaesthesia. The onset of unilateral spinal anaesthesia was within 20 s and the mean duration of anaesthesia was 155.40 min. Although there were statistical differences between hemodynamic values in the study, they were within the reference values. As a result, we believe that unilateral spinal anaesthesia in calves provides adequate anaesthesia for use in orthopaedic procedures; thus, it can be used in practice.

Keywords: Unilateral spinal anaesthesia, hyperbaric bupivacaine, calves

Corresponding Author: Sadik Yayla, Department of Surgery, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, University of Dicle, Diyarbakır, Turkey, 21280 E-mail address: sadikyayla@gmail.com

Date of initial submission: 28-05-2019 Date of revised submission: 01-07-2019 Date of acceptance: 22-07-2019
INTRODUCTION

The blockage of sympathetic, sensory and motor nervous fibers rapidly occurs after administration of a local anaesthetic into the subarachnoid space and this procedure is referred to as subarachnoid, spinal or intrathecal anaesthesia (Derossi et al., 2007; Ozaydin and Kilic, 2003; Yayla and Kilic, 2010;Yayla et al., 2013). This technique can be performed in small ruminants and calves by injecting local anaesthetics into the subdural space through the lumbosacral junction (Derossi et al., 2007; Yayla et al., 2013). Spinal (intrathecal) anaesthesia provides appropriate surgical conditions for caesarean section, abdominal, pelvic or hind leg operations (Buttner et al., 2016; Malinovsky et al., 2000; Yayla et al., 2013).

Bupivacaine, commonly used in spinal anaesthesia, is an amide-type long-acting local anaesthetic. Although several side effects of bupivacaine such as ventricular arrhythmia and cardio toxicity have been reported in humans, it still remains popular (Liu and Lin, 2009; Malinovsky et al., 2000).

In spinal anaesthesia, factors such as dose of the local anaesthetic agent, injection site, additives in the anaesthetic drug, pH, baricity and temperature of the anaesthetic agents are influential on the local anaesthetic activity and its spread in the subarachnoid space (Yayla and Kilic, 2010; Yayla et al., 2013). Hypobaric solutions have specific gravity less than that of the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), and can cranially migrate following injection and affect the diaphragm and intercostal muscles, which may cause death. In contrast, because hyperbaric solutions are heavier than CSF, they are locally retained or show limited spread in the injection site (Yayla and Kilic, 2010). Therefore, the use of hyperbaric local anaesthetic solutions may be an attractive option to avoid potential complications (Skarda and Tranquilli 2007; Yayla et al., 2013).

In humans, when a hyperbaric local anaesthetic is intrathecally administered, the anaesthetic result that is achieved by introducing the effect of the local anaesthetic on nerve roots in a certain area by limiting the distribution of the local anaesthetic with the effect of gravity and patient's position is defined as unilateral spinal anaesthesia (Kilavuz et al., 2015). However, this technique has not been used in the field of veterinary medicine. The hypothesis of this study is that hyperbaric local anaesthetic agent acts unilaterally on the spinal cord with the effect of gravity. In this study, we aimed to evaluate the effects of unilateral anaesthesia provided by the administration of hyperbaric bupivacaine solution through the lumbosacral space into the subarachnoid space in calves.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study was approved by the Kafkas University Animal Experiments Local Ethics Committee (KAU-HADYEK 2018/006). Ten calves with unilateral femoral fractures were included in the study. Unilateral femoral fracture was sufficient without any criteria for selection of these calves. Osteosynthesis with intramedullary nail was decided in all calves included in the study.

Following routine preparations such as clipping and disinfecting, the calves were sedated with xylazine (2% Rompun®, Bayer, Turkey, 0.2 mg/kg intramuscular) and placed on the operating table in a lateral position on the side intended for surgery. The operation table was tilted at approximately 30°, with the head and chest region of the animal facing upward. Under aseptic conditions, skin and subcutaneous tissues in the lumbosacral region were desensitized with 2 ml of the local anaesthetic (Adokaine®, Sanovel, Turkey) for subcutaneous tissue and ligamentum flavum. An 18 G spinal needle was used to enter the subarachnoid space through the lumbosacral junction (L6-S1) and the needle placement was confirmed by observing the flow of the CSF. Subsequently, the injection of Marcaine® Spinal Heavy 0.5% (Astra Zenaca) containing 15 mg/total (3 ml) of hyperbaric bupivacaine was slowly performed. All injections were performed by the same operator (first author, SY). After keeping the calves in this position for 15 min, they were again placed in a suitable position and osteosynthesis was performed. In addition, an electrolyte solution was intravenously administered in the jugular vein (0.9% saline) at the rate of 10 ml/kg/h throughout the operation.

Vital signs of each animal used in the study were monitored (Veterinary Monitor® MMED6000DP S6-V). Systolic blood pressure (SBP), diastolic blood pressure (DBP), mean blood pressure (MBP), heart rate (HR), respiratory rate (RR) and rectal temperature (RT) values were recorded at the onset, during sedation, and at 5, 15, 30, 60, 90 and 120 min after spinal anaesthesia. The onset and duration of anaesthesia were determined by the pinprick test. Pin-prick test was performed for 180 minutes from the beginning of anaesthesia. The pinprick test was evaluated on a scale of 1–4 as described by DeRossi et al. (2007) and Yayla et al. (2013) (1, no analgesia and reaction to stimulus; 2, mild analgesia and depressed reaction to stimulus; 3, moderate analgesia and no response to superficial needle-prick stimulation of the skin in response to stimulus and 4, complete analgesia and no response to insertion of the needle deep into the muscle layer). In addition, the anaesthetic effect was compared by performing this evaluation both on the leg intended for surgery and on the intact leg.

For postoperative pain, ketoprofen (Ketobay®, Bayer, Turkey, 3 mg/kg, subcutaneously) was administered for up to 3 days after surgery.

Statistical analysis of the data was performed using the Minitab-16 software package. The Anderson– Darling test was used to test the normality distribution of the data, a Kruskal–Wallis test was used for non-parametric data and one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA, Tukey's pairwise comparisons) with p < 0.05 was accepted as significant.

RESULTS

All the calves included in the study (n = 10) belonged to the Simmental breed, seven were male and the remaining three were female. The calves were 1-month old with unilateral femoral fractures and their mean live weight was 43.30 ± 4.88 kg. The mean operation time for osteosynthesis was 47.50 ± 8.90 min.

Subarachnoid injections through the lumbosacral region were easily performed, and after these injections, the onset of anaesthesia was within 20 s in all cases. A comparative evaluation of both hind legs using the pinprick test and analgesia scores is summarized in Figure 1. There was a statistically significant difference between the dependent leg and the contralateral leg from the 1st minute after the lumbosacral injection (P < 0.05, Kruskal–Wallis test). Unilateral spinal or intrathecal anaesthesia was performed in all calves and the mean duration of anaesthesia was calculated as 155.40 ± 27.71 min.



Figure 1. Analgesia scores in response to standard pinprick stimuli in calves that received unilateral spinal anaesthesia with hyperbaric bupivacaine. A group: hind leg affected by unilateral anaesthesia. C group: intact hind leg. (1, no analgesia; 2, mild analgesia; 3, moderate analgesia and 4, complete analgesia). *Statistically significant difference between the affected and unaffected legs (P < 0.05).

During the operation, both the depth of anaesthesia and muscle relaxation was deemed adequate for osteosynthesis and no further interventions were required.

Hemodynamic values obtained from the study (HR, RR, SBP, MBP, DBP and RT values) are summarized in Table 1. Although there was a statistically significant (ANOVA, One Way test) decrease from baseline in SBP value following the administration of xylazine, SBP increased as from the 30th to the 60th minute of anaesthesia. There was a statistically significant difference in the diastolic value from baseline, but improved after 60 min. In terms of MBP and HR values, there was a statistically significant between the initial and the 5th minute of spinal anaesthesia.

Table 1. Mean \pm sd of heart rate (HR), systolic blood pressure (SBP), diastolic blood pressure (DBP), mean blood pressure (MBP),respiratory rate (RR) and rectal temperature (RT) in calves that received unilateral spinal anaesthesia with hyperbaric bupivacaine.

	Time (min)								
Values	T */* 1	614	Spinal anaesthesia						
	Initial	Secation	5	15	30	60	90	120	
SBP	$100.20{\pm}13.46^{a}$	68.50±13.04 ^b	$69.80{\pm}14.09^{\text{b}}$	$81.20{\pm}11.86^{b}$	81.30±7.83 ^b	$85.20{\pm}6.44^{ab}$	$87.30{\pm}7.96^{\rm ab}$	99.10±12.49ª	0.000
DBP	$80.80\pm7.47^{\rm a}$	$55.70 \ \pm 7.56^{\rm b}$	52.20 ± 3.22^{b}	58.40±6.33 ^{bc}	66.60±6.96°	$78.80{\pm}7.02^{a}$	$81.30{\pm}7.47^{a}$	$82.40{\pm}7.34^{a}$	0.000
MBP	$90.10 \pm \! 18.27^{\rm a}$	69.20±12.10 ^b	$70.60{\pm}15.48^{b}$	$75.60{\pm}12.64^{ab}$	$81.70{\pm}8.82^{ab}$	$82.40{\pm}15.56^{ab}$	$83.10{\pm}15.51^{ab}$	88.50±11.73ª	0.008
HR	$98.90 \ \pm 8.39^{\rm a}$	67.90±26.28 ^b	65.10±23.33 ^b	$83.50{\pm}17.07^{ab}$	91.80±12.77ª	99.70±9.53ª	99.60±8.17ª	100.60±8.95ª	0.000
RR	$15.30\pm\!\!1.33^a$	$14.20\ {\pm}2.15^{\rm a}$	$11.60 \pm 0.96^{\rm b}$	$10.90{\pm}1.44^{ab}$	$12.50{\pm}1.08^{a}$	13.90±1.44ª	$14.40{\pm}1.43^{a}$	15.20±0.63ª	0.000
RT	37.90 ±0.61ª	$37.41{\pm}0.12^{ab}$	37.29 ± 0.29^{b}	37.40±0.22 ^b	37.57±0.25 ^{ab}	$37.57{\pm}0.30^{ab}$	$37.60{\pm}0.26^{ab}$	$37.64{\pm}0.26^{ab}$	0.004

a-c: Significantly different from baseline values on the same line (p < 0.05)

DISCUSSION

Spinal or intrathecal anaesthesia is used in the fields of both human and veterinary medicine because of the several benefits it offers (Kilavuz et al., 2015; Ozaydin and Kilic, 2003; Singh et al., 2014; Yayla et al., 2013; Yayla et al., 2017). While unilateral spinal anaesthesia is widely used in human medicine (Esmaoglu et al., 1998; Kilavuz et al., 2015), its use has not been described in veterinary medicine or is not sufficiently known. Therefore, in this study, we aimed to evaluate the effects of unilateral anaesthesia provided by the administration of hyperbaric bupivacaine through the lumbosacral space to the subarachnoid space in calves. The data obtained from this study showed that unilateral spinal anaesthesia in calves provides adequate anaesthesia for use in orthopaedic procedures and can be used in practice.

There is a controversy over some side effects of spinal anaesthesia, particularly cardio respiratory effects (e.g. hypotension) of the local anaesthetics used in spinal anaesthesia, which is known to be a good alternative to general anaesthesia (Ozaydin and Kilic, 2003; Yayla and Kilic, 2010; Yayla et al., 2013). Utilization of unilateral spinal anaesthesia technique may have several advantages in orthopaedic procedures of the hind leg without these side effects (Buttner et al., 2016; Esmaoglu et al., 1998; Kilavuz et al., 2015; Singh et al., 2014). In unilateral spinal anaesthesia, use of low-dose local anaesthetics, slow injection, proper positioning of the patient, attention to baricity of the local anaesthetic used and maintenance of the appropriate position of the patient during injection are recommended for unilateral spread of the local anaesthetic drug (Kilavuz et al., 2015). The most important advantage of unilateral spinal anaesthesia compared with bilateral spinal anaesthesia is fewer and less severe cardiovascular side effects and a better nerve block on the side to be operated despite using a low dose. The maintenance of the position of the patient is a challenge (Esmaoglu et al., 1998; Kilavuz et al., 2015).

Spinal anaesthesia technique is based on the induction of spinal block by directly injecting the local anaesthetic into the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), which surrounds the spinal cord, and nourishes and protects it in the medullar canal (Yayla and Kilic, 2010; Yayla et al., 2013). The local anaesthetic drug, which starts to spread over the spinal cord in the CSF, has an effect on the nerve roots exiting the spinal cord and dorsal root ganglia. In spinal anaesthesia, how-

ever, it is desirable to limit the spread of local anaesthesia in the CSF and to prevent local anaesthesia from spreading excessively cranially (Ozavdin and Kilic 2010; Yayla et al., 2013; Yayla et al., 2013). Several factors such as the injection rate, positioning of the patient, local anaesthetic baricity and patient's anatomy may affect the spread of the drug. In both bilateral and unilateral spinal anaesthesia, rapid injection is not recommended to avoid possible complications. In addition, because hyperbaric local anaesthetics are heavier than the CSF, they precipitate with the effect of gravity on the dependent part of the spinal cord and show their effect on the dependent nerves and nerve roots. Positioning the patient laterally is required. In addition, keeping the local anaesthetic dose low compared with that used in bilateral spinal anaesthesia contributes to the decrease in the volume of medication injected into the CSF and to a more limited spread (Casati et al., 1998; Fanelli et al., 2000; Kilavuz et al., 2015; Kuusniemi et al., 2000; Malinovsky et al., 2000; Yayla et al., 2013; Yayla et al., 2017). To the authors' knowledge, this is the first study on calves that examined hyperbaric bupivacaine as a local anaesthetic to provide unilateral spinal anaesthesia. Lumbosacral injection was performed in all animals by the same operator and at a very slow pace. The dose in calves was designed as 15 mg and 3 ml of anaesthetic drug was injected (Yayla et al., 2013). In addition, because the duration needed for the spread of the local anaesthetic in the CSF after injection or removal of the effect of the gravity has been reported to be 15 min (Yayla and Kilic, 2010; Kilavuz et al., 2015), calves were kept in a lateral position with the side intended for surgery dependent for at least 15 min following injection and were then positioned for surgery. In all the calves in this study, unilateral spinal anaesthesia was obtained within 20 s after injection and lasted for 155 min on average. Complete spinal block was not observed in the contralateral extremity (Figure 1).

Because of the slowing down of peripheral venous circulation in spinal anaesthesia, bradycardia or cardiovascular depression is an expected side effect. Studies have reported that despite being widely used in spinal anaesthesia, bupivacaine may trigger cardiopulmonary side effects (Casati et al., 1998; Fanelli et al., 2000; Kilavuz et al., 2015; Kuusniemi et al., 2000; Yayla et al., 2013). In our study, there was a significant decrease from baseline in SBP, DBP, MBP, HR and RR values after sedation. We attribute these changes to the effect of xylazine (Kamiloglu et al., 2005). In addition, during spinal anaesthesia and especially after 15 min, xylazine was well tolerated in terms of values of hemodynamic parameters which returned to baseline and remained within the reference range. The depressive effect on hemodynamic parameters is closely related to the dose of the local anaesthetic used (Malinovsky et al., 2000). In this regard, it is important to use a low dose of a local anaesthetic in unilateral spinal anaesthesia. In fact, the most important advantage of unilateral spinal anaesthesia is the lower incidence of cardio respiratory side effects.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, unilateral spinal anaesthesia provided by the administration of intrathecal hyperbaric bupivacaine through the lumbosacral space with appropriate positioning in calves with unilateral femoral fractures provides adequate anaesthesia and of adequate duration to allow its use in orthopaedic procedures. We believe that unilateral spinal anaesthesia can be used in orthopaedic interventions for the hind leg in daily practice.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

The authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

REFERENCES

- Buttner B, Mansur A, Bauer M, Hinz J, Bergmann I (2016) Unilateral spinal anesthesia: Literature review and recommendations. Anaesthesist, 65 (11): 847-865.
- Casati A, Fanelli G, Cappelleri G, Borghi B, Cedrati V, Torri G (1998) Low dose hyperbaric bupivacaine for unilateral spinal anaesthesia. Can J Anaesth, 45 (9): 850-854.
- Derossi RD, Almeida RG, Medeiros U, Righetto FR, Frazilio FO (2007) Subarachnoid butorphanol augments lidocaine sensory anaesthesia in calves. The Veterinary Journal, 173: 658-663
- Esmaoglu A, Boyaci A, Ersoy O, Guler G, Talo R, Tercan E (1998) Unilateral spinal anaesthesia with hyperbaric bupivacaine. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand, 42 (9):1083-1087.
- Fanelli G, Borghi B, Casati A, Bertini L, Montebugnoli M, Torri G (2000) Unilateral bupivacaine spinal anesthesia for outpatient knee arthroscopy. Italian Study Group on unilateral spinal anesthesia. Can J Anaesth, 47 (8): 746-751.
- Kamiloglu A, Kamiloglu NN, Ozturk S, Atalan G, Kilic E (2005) Clinical assessment of epidural analgesia induced by xylazine-lidocaine combination accompanied by xylazine sedation in calves. Irish Veterinary Journal, 58: 567-570.
- Kilavuz O, Kuzucuoglu T, Temizel F (2015) Comparison of effects of fentanyl combinations with levobupivacaine and bupivacaine in single-sided inguinal hernia applied unilateral spinal anaesthesia. J Kartal TR, 26 (2): 102-108.
- Kuusniemi KS, Pihlajamaki KK, Pitkanen MT (2000) A low dose of plain or hyperbaric bupivacaine for unilateral spinal anesthesia. Reg Anesth Pain Med, 25(6): 605-610.
- Liu SS, Lin Y (2009) Local anesthetics. In Clinical Anesthesia. Eds PG Barash, BF Cullen, RK Stoelting, MK Calahan, MC Stock. Lippin-

cott Williams & Wilkins. pp 531–548.

- Malinovsky JM, Charles F, Kick O, Lepage JY, Malinge M, Cozian A, Bouchot O, Pinaud M (2000) Intrathecal anaesthesia: ropivacaine versus bupivacaine. Anest Analg, 91, 1457-1460.
- Ozaydin I, Kilic E (2003) Lumbosacral intrathecal anaesthesia with isobaric bupivacaine in cattle. Indian Vet J, 80: 540-542.
- Singh TK, Anabarsan A, Srivastava U, Kannaujia A, Gupta A, Pal CP, Badada V, Chandra V (2014) Unilateral spinal anaesthesia for lower limb orthopaedic surgery using low dose bupivacaine with fentanyl or clonidine: A randomised control study. J Anesth Clin Res, 5(12): 484+5.
- Skarda RT, Tranquilli WJ (2007) Local and regional anesthetic and analgesic techniques: ruminants and swine. In Lumb and Jones' Veterinary Anesthesia and Analgesia. 4th edn. Eds WJ Tranquilli, JC Thurmon, KA Grimm. Blackwell Publishing. pp 643–681.
- Yayla S, Kilic E (2010) The comparison of clinical, histopathological and some hemodynamic effects of spinal anesthesia applied in dogs through bupivacaine HCl and ropivacaine HCl in two different concentrations. Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg, 16: 835-840.
- Yayla S, Kilic E, Aksoy O, Ozaydin I, Ogun M, Steagall PVM (2013) The effects of subarachnoid administration of hyperbaric solutions of bupivacaine or ropivacaine in xylazine-sedated calves undergoing surgery. Vet Rec, 173: 580+.
- Yayla S, Kacar C, Kilic E, Kaya S, Kuru M, Ermutlu CS, Ozaydın I, Huseyinoglu U, Ogun M (2017) The effects of intrathecal administration of bupivacaine or ropivacaine following administration of propofol in dogs undergoing ovariohysterectomy. Kafkas Univ Vet Fak Derg, 23 (3): 363-367.

Immunological and pathological adverse effects of avian influenza virus subtype H9N2 infection in aflatoxicated-broiler chickens

H.F. Ellakany¹, H.S. Abd-Elhamid¹, L.A. Tantawy², H.A. Elsamadony², A.R. Elbestawy^{1*}, A.R. Gado¹, Y.S. El-Sayed^{3†}, H.S. Ismael²

¹Department of Poultry and Fish Diseases, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Damanhour University, Damanhour 22511, Egypt

² Department of Poultry, Animal Health Research Institute, Dokki, Egypt

³ Department of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Damanhur University 22511, Egypt

ABSTRACT. Aflatoxin B1 (AFB1) is a metabolic product of the Aspergillus spp. of molds, which grow on several feedstuffs stored in hot moist conditions. It is one of the immunosuppressive agents that might influence the pathogenesis of avian influenza virus (AIV) subtype H9N2 in broilers, which can exacerbate the disease outcomes. The immunological, biochemical and pathological adverse health effects of an interaction between low levels of dietary aflatoxins (AFs) and H9N2 infection in broiler chickens were investigated. One hundred and eighty of unvaccinated 1-day-old COBB chicks were, therefore, raised for 35 days in the following treatment groups: control, AFs, AFs+H9N2, and H9N2. AFs in the basal diet was added at 200 ppb starting from the first day of age, while H9N2 virus was intra-nasally installed at a dose of 100 μ l of 10⁶ EID_{s0}/bird of allantois fluid at 23rd day. Humoral and cell-mediated immune responses were evaluated. Evidence of H9N2-AIV viral shedding was also detected. It has been observed that concurrent exposure of AFs and H9N2 virus negatively affected chicken performance traits *i.e.* lowered feed intake and body weights with exaggerated respiratory and digestive disturbances, and 20% mortality rate. Ten days' post H9N2 infection, significant ($p \le 0.05$) increment in serum transaminases (AST and ALT) and falling in cell-mediated immunity *i.e.* total leukocyte count, lymphocyte transformation activity and macrophage phagocytic activity were detected. Additionally, AFs+H9N2 significantly ($p \le 0.05$) lowered H9N2-HI titers (5.5 Log2) than H9N2 alone (6.3 Log2). Pathologically, aflatoxicated chickens showed hydropic degeneration, hepatocytic vacuolation and necrosis of liver tissues with nephrosis and urates deposition in ureters, as well as bursal and thymic lesions, which were potent in H9N2-inoculated chickens. AFs exposure increased the incidence and titer of H9N2 viral shedding. It could be concluded that dietary contamination with AFs even at very low levels has explanatory effect in H9N2-inoculated broilers, and vice versa.

Keywords: Aflatoxins, AIV subtype H9N2, Immunological, Pathological, Broilers

Corresponding Authors:

A.R. Elbestawy, Department of Poultry and Fish Diseases, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Damanhour University, Damanhour 22511, Egypt. E-mail address: ahmed.elbestawy@vetmed.dmu.edu.eg

Y.S. El-Sayed, Department of Forensic Medicine and Toxicology, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Damanhour University. E-mail address: elsayed-ys@vetmed.dmu.edu.eg; yasser_tf@yahoo.com Date of initial submission: 28-05-2019 Date of revised submission: 29-08-2019 Date of acceptance: 31-08-2019

INTRODUCTION

n developing countries, due to a lack of biosecu-Lrity, management practice and regulatory systems, free-range chickens are more regularly exposed to the risk of immunosuppressants like aflatoxins (AFs). Aflatoxins, difuranocoumarin compounds, are secondary toxic metabolites produced by toxigenic fungi; mostly Aspergillus flavus and Aspergillus parasiticus (Diener et al. 1987). Almost any feed, grains or their ingredients for poultry and livestock are able to favor fungal growth and AFs formation, causing health impairment and economic losses (Iheshiulor et al. 2011). Aflatoxin B1 (AFB1) is a potent hepato-toxicant causing acute liver damage; hepatocellular hyperplasia, necrosis, cirrhosis, and biliary hyperplasia in affected chickens. Secondary to the liver disease, the immunosuppressive activity of AFB1 is intimately linked to its toxicity (Yunus et al. 2011). It suppressed the development of bursa of Fabricius and thymus, reduced the weight and function of immune organs (Chen et al. 2014; Ellakany et al. 2011; Peng et al. 2015; Sur and Celik 2003), lowered the splenic T cell subsets percentages (Chen et al. 2014; Peng et al. 2014) and plasma cell counts (Celik et al. 2000), and arrest the B-cell cycle (Hu et al. 2018), immunoglobulin contents (He et al. 2014) as well as cytokines production (Jiang et al. 2015). Moreover, AFB1 induced oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation (Liu et al. 2016; Yuan et al. 2016), and mitochondria damage (Peng et al. 2016; Yuan et al. 2016) in the lymphoid organs. Aflatoxicosis, therefore, impairs humoral and cellular-mediated immune responses, which in turn increases the susceptibility of chicken to diseases *i.e.* avian influenza (AI) and infectious bursal disease (IBD), and causes vaccination failure (Bakshi et al. 2000; Gabal and Azzam 1998).

Avian influenza virus H9N2 is a low pathogenic panzootic pathogen that in spite of causing mild to moderate enteric and respiratory signs, it has been recently associated with high morbidity and considerable mortality with potential to infect human population (Ahad et al. 2013; Alexander 2003). H9N2 infection could decrease growth rate and feed conversion rate (FCR) in broilers due to co-infection with other pathogens as IBV, *Staphylococcus* exacerbates H9N2 influenza A virus infection in chickens (Kishida et al. 2004). Host cell-mediated immune response is important in the pathogenesis of avian influenza viruses and plays an important role in recovery from viral infection (Wells et al. 1981). As one of the immunosuppressive agents that influences the pathogenesis of H9N2 virus in broilers, aflatoxins, even in very low levels, can disturb the immune system of birds and thus can exacerbate the disease outcomes of H9N2-AIV (El Miniawy et al. 2014). In turkeys, aflatoxin delayed influenza virus clearance and lead to decreased IFN- γ mRNA expression and increased pathogenicity of H9N2 LPAI viruses under field conditions (Umar et al. 2015). Consequently, this work aimed to study the effect of H9N2-AIV virus co-infection with simultaneous aflatoxins addition in the feed of commercial broilers chickens.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Aspergillus flavus strain and aflatoxin production

Standard aflatoxigenic *Asperigellus flavus* strain was obtained from the Department of Mycology, Animal Health Research Institute, Agriculture Research Center, Ministry of Agriculture, Egypt. Aflatoxins were produced by growing standard aflatoxigenic strains on sterile polished rice (West et al. 1973). Aflatoxins were detected quantitatively in rations by using affinity column chromatography (Aflatest 10, Naremco, Springfield, IL, USA) and fluorometry (Sequcia Tuner Model 450 with a 360 nm excitation filter and a 450 nm emission filter) (Nabney and Nesbitt 1965). All reagents were of the highest analytical grade.

Challenge virus

Avian influenza A H9N2 virus strain (A/Chicken/Egypt/93/2015 with Genbank accession No: KY872759). This challenge strain was isolated from a broiler chicken flock and identified in the Department of Poultry and Fish Diseases, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Damanhour University, Egypt (Abd El-Hamid et al. 2018).

Animals experimentation and procedures

One hundred and eighty unvaccinated one-dayold healthy Cobb 500 broilers obtained from a commercial local hatchery and grown over a 35-d experimental period. The broiler chicks were floor-reared, weighed and randomly allocated with equalized initial body weights into four groups of three replicates (15 chick/replicate). (I) Control group; chicks received the AFs-free ration and served as a negative control. (II) AFs group; chicks received the AFs-containing basal diet. (III) AFs+H9N2 group; chicks received the AFs-containing diet and were inoculated with H9N2-AIV. (IV) H9N2 group; chicks received the control basal diet with no AFs but were inoculated with H9N2-AIV. The AFs-containing ration (200 ppb) was fed to chicks starting from the first day of age to the end of the experiment at 35 days. On the 23rd day of age, AIV-H9N2 inoculated groups were directly inoculated with 100 μ l of 10⁶ EID₅₀ per bird of allantois fluid via intranasal route. Weekly, all birds were individually weighed starting from the 1st week until the end of the experiment. Performance traits including body weight as well as mortality, postmortem lesions, hematological and biochemical parameters, and pathological examinations were assessed.

The use of broilers and all mandatory laboratory health and safety experimental procedures involving animals had been complied by the Damanhour University Animal Care and Use Committee, Egypt. Nutritional requirements were adequate according to the National Research Council. All killed birds were euthanized by chloroform at a high dose to induce respiratory failure.

Estimation of liver function indices

At 10-day post-inoculation (dpi), twenty blood samples were collected from wing vein of chickens using appropriate sterile needles, syringes, and falcon tubes without anticoagulants. The samples were centrifuged at $1000 \times \text{g}$ for 10 min, and the sera were separated and then stored at -20° C until the assessment of liver function enzymes; aspartate aminotransferase (AST) and alanine aminotransferase (ALT) using supplied detection kits (BioMérieux, Lyon, France).

Estimation of cell-mediated immune response

Another heparinized blood samples were collected at 14, 27 (4 dpi) and 33 (10 dpi) days of age to evaluate the total and differential leukocyte counts (Jain 2000), lymphocyte transformation activity (Kumar and Das 1996) and macrophages phagocytic activity (Salaberria et al. 2013).

Estimation of humoral-mediated immune response

Hemagglutination inhibition (HI) test was done at day one of age according to the standard protocols of the World Health Organization (WHO 2002) for detection of maternal antibodies against H9N2-AIV, and then at 10 dpi for detection of H9N2 infection immune response. The HI titer (log2) was evaluated using 96-well microtiter plates, doubling dilution in phosphate buffer, 0.5% RBCs (v/v), and 4 hemagglutinating units (HAU) of AIV-H9N2 antigen. Positive groups had at least one serum sample with titer >4.

Histopathological examination

Immediately following euthanasia at 35 days old, chicken trachea, lungs, liver, kidney, bursa and thymus specimens were fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin, dehydrated in ascending grades of ethyl alcohol, cleared in xylene, blocked in paraffin and cut into 5-µm-thick sections using a rotary microtome (Bancroft and Gamble 2002). The obtained tissue sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) for light microscopy examination.

Detection of viral shedding

Viral shedding was detected using 10 tracheal swabs collected at 3 and 5 dpi and inoculated in SPF chicken eggs (9 days old) via allantoic sac route (Reed and Muench 1938). Slide hemagglutination (HA) test was used to confirm the positivity of the allantois fluid and the mean viral titer of pooled allantoic fluid was calculated.

Statistical analyses

Statistical analysis of raw data was performed using SAS[®] software by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Duncan's multiple range test (DMRT) to detect differences between the groups. The experimental data are expressed as the mean \pm SEM, and significant differences among the groups were set at a value of p≤ 0.05.

RESULTS

Clinical observations, mortalities and body weight

Clinically, H9N2-inoculated chickens (Group IV) showed clinical signs of depression, anorexia, respiratory manifestation as facial edema (sinusitis), sneezing and mild conjunctivitis. In addition, tracheal exudates and air saculitis were more pronounced. Compared with control, AFs-intoxicated chickens displayed a marked decrease in feed consumption with stunted growth. Internally, AFs-intoxicated broilers showed marked enlargement of the liver with abnormal discoloration and ureters distended with uric acid. There were no mortalities in the control and H9N2-inoculated chicks, although there were 11% in AFs-treated chickens (Group II) and 20% in AFs-treated H9N2-inoculated chickens (Group III). The average body weight of broiler chicks was recorded on a weekly basis until the end of the experiment. Initially, there were no significant differences in the body weight among different groups at day 1 of the experiment. However, from day 7, aflatoxicated broilers challenged with H9N2 virus (Group III), then AFs-treated chicks (Group II) and from day 28, H9N2-inoculated birds (Group IV) exhibited a significant ($p \le 0.05$) reduction in body weight compared with controls.

Hepatic enzymes and cell-mediated immunity

Liver function: Compared with the controls, the activities of serum AST and ALT enzymes were significantly ($p \le 0.05$) enhanced in aflatoxicated broilers (Groups II, III) (Table. 1).

Total leukocyte count (TLC): At 27 days (4 dpi), TLC was significantly lowered ($p \le 0.05$) in AFs– intoxicated H9N2–challenged ($687.2 \times 10^3/\mu$ l), and AFs–treated broilers ($708.8 \times 10^3/\mu$ l) compared with control values ($1005.3 \times 10^3/\mu$ l). At 33 days (10 dpi), it was still significantly ($p \le 0.05$) lowered in AFs– intoxicated ($949.2 \times 10^3/\mu$ l), and AFs-intoxicated H9N2–challenged broilers ($1407.7 \times 10^3/\mu$ l) compared with control values ($1717.9 \times 10^3/\mu$ l) compared with control values ($1717.9 \times 10^3/\mu$ l). However, it was significantly ($p \le 0.05$) increased in H9N2–challenged chickens ($1270.8 \times 10^3/\mu$ l) compared to control birds and AFs–intoxicated birds at 4 dpi, which was returned to control at 10 dpi (Table 2).

Differential leukocyte count (DLC): Leukocytic cells were differentiated into lymphocytes, heterophils, monocytes and eosinophils as percentages of TLC. Table 2 shown that DLC reflected significant ($p \le 0.05$) increase in the percentage of lymphocyte and heterophile (lymphocytosis and heterophilia) in experimental AFs and/or H9N2-exposed chickens (Groups II-IV) at 4 dpi compared with control. H9N2-challenged chickens (Groups III, IV) showed significant ($p \le 0.05$) increment in eosinophilic % (eosinophilia). As well, monocytes % were significantly ($p \le 0.05$) increased in AFs-intoxicated H9N2-challenged chickens only as compared with other experimental groups. At 33 days (10 dpi), lymphocyte was significantly lowered $(p \le 0.05)$ by 69.6% in AFs-intoxicated chicks (Group II), while there was a significant ($p \le 0.05$) increment in heterophile by 27.2% compared with other experimental groups. H9N2-challenged chickens (Group IV) showed significantly higher ($p \le 0.05$) eosinophil (1.8%) compared with other groups. There were no significant changes observed in monocytes.

Lymphocytes transformation activity: Compared to control, lymphocytes transformation activity was significantly ($p \le 0.05$) lowered in AFs-treated chickens (Groups II, III) throughout the experiment, with no significant change in H9N2-inoculated chickens

at 14 and 27 days (4 dpi) old. Although, it had been significantly increased ($p \le 0.05$) in all chicken groups at 33 days old (10 dpi), particularly in H9N2–challenged chickens (Group IV) (Table 3).

Macrophages phagocytic activity: At 14 days old, aflatoxicated chickens (Groups II, III) expressed significantly ($p \le 0.05$) higher macrophage phagocytic activity compared to control and H9N2–challenged chickens. However, at 27 and 33 days old (4 and 10 dpi, respectively), they had significantly lower ($p \le$ 0.05) macrophage phagocytic activity, with the lowest activity in AFs+H9N2–challenged chickens at 4 dpi, and AFs–intoxicated chickens at 10 dpi compared with the control. Generally, there is no significant changes had been observed in macrophage phagocytic activity between H9N2-challenged chickens and control (Table 3).

Humoral-mediated immunity (HI)

At day 1, there was no significant difference in maternal antibodies titer among all chicken groups. At 33 days (10 dpi), it was noticed that chickens non-inoculated with H9N2 virus (Control and AFs–intoxicated chickens) had no HI antibodies. Meanwhile, H9N2– challenged chickens expressed HI antibody titer, that was significantly lower ($p \le 0.05$) in AFs+H9N2 than H9N2-challenged chickens (5.5 and 6.3 Log2, respectively) (Table 3).

Histopathologic assessment (Table 4)

Liver: The severity of hepatic lesion varied between treated chicken groups that were apparently normal livers in the control group (Fig. 1Aa), mildest in H9N2–inoculated chickens (Group IV). More severe lesions appeared in AFs–intoxicated chickens (Group II), where severe granulocytes infiltration within atrophied hepatocytes were seen (Fig. 1Ab). However, the most severe hepatic lesions; severe granulocytes infiltration with destructed hepatocytes, severe ballooning degeneration of hepatocytes with fatty changes and hyperplasia of stellate cells were seen in AFs+H9N2 group (Fig. 1Ac, d).

Kidneys: Kidneys of control birds revealed normal histological appearance (Fig. 1Ba). However, both AFs (Group II, Fig. 1Bb) and H9N2 (Group IV, Fig. 1Bc) exerted a harmful effect on kidneys; tubular cast, pronounced intertubular congested blood vessels with degenerated tubular epithelium. This effect was exaggerated by their combination, which exhibits focal intertubular-histeocyte aggregations (Fig. 1Bd).

Table 1. Effect of aflatoxins (200 ppb) and/or infection with AIV-H9N2 (10⁶ EID₅₀/ml) on the morality incidence, weekly average body weight (g) and serum liver function biomarkers of broiler chickens

Crowns	Mortality	rtality Average body weight (g) $(n=45)$						Liver enzymes (n=20)	
Groups	(n=45)	0 day	7 days	14 days	21 days	28 days	35 days	AST (IU/ml)	ALT (IU/ ml)
CTR	0	$39.2{\pm}0.58^{\text{a}}$	$164.0{\pm}1.18^{a}$	290±7.41ª	$876.4{\pm}22.40^{a}$	1532±20.83ª	1850±35.35ª	$35.0{\pm}1.14^{\text{b}}$	25.2±1.15 ^b
AFs	11 (5/45)	$40.0{\pm}0.70^{a}$	120.4±2.13 ^b	148±24.72 ^b	324.0±72.42 ^b	482±34.26°	560±36.74°	$41.4{\pm}1.88^{\rm a}$	29.2±1.50ª
AFs+H9N2	20 (9/45)	$40.8{\pm}0.58^{\rm a}$	123.0±1.41 ^b	158±18.54 ^b	302.0±52.66 ^b	500±41.83°	530±25.49°	41.0±2.30 ^a	29.8±1.20ª
H9N2	0	$40.2{\pm}0.86^{\rm a}$	162.2±0.81a	298±6.63ª	879.0±21.93ª	1020±25.49 ^b	1240±43.01 ^b	35.4±1.12 ^b	$24.8{\pm}1.43^{\text{b}}$

Values have different superscripts within the same columns are significantly different at $p \le 0.05$.

^a At the end of the experimental period.

Table 2. Effect of aflatoxins (200 ppb) and/or infection with AIV-H9N2 (10⁶ EID₅₀/ml) on the total and differential leucocytes of broiler chickens

Groups	Total leucocytes count	Differential leucocytes percent						
	(10 ³ /µl)	Lymphocytes (%)	Heterophils (%)	Monocytes (%)	Eosinophils (%)			
4 dpi								
CTR	1005.3±31.8 ^b	62.2±2.75ª	36.2±2.85ª	1.6±0.24 ^b	$0.0{\pm}0.00^{\circ}$			
AFs	708.8±27.1°	$75.8 {\pm} 0.58^{\rm b}$	22.6 ± 0.60^{b}	1.6±0.24 ^b	$0.0{\pm}0.00^{\circ}$			
AFs+H9N2	687.2±7.8°	77.5±1.04 ^b	19.3±1.25 ^b	2.3±0.25ª	$1.0{\pm}0.00^{\text{b}}$			
H9N2	1270.8±81.0ª	$74.6 {\pm} 0.67^{\rm b}$	22.4±0.81 ^b	1.4±0.24 ^b	$1.8{\pm}0.37^{a}$			
10 dpi								
CTR	1717.9±61.9ª	72.4±1.65 ^b	24.8 ± 0.20^{b}	1.8±0.21ª	1.0±0.00ª			
AFs	949.2±29.17°	69.6±1.56ª	$27.2{\pm}1.39^{a}$	2.0±0.00ª	1.2±0.22ª			
AFs+H9N2	1407.7±66.78 ^b	73.2±0.37 ^b	23.0±0.31 ^b	2.0±0.01ª	1.8±0.21 ^b			
H9N2	1560.5±62.4 ^{ab}	73.5±0.64 ^b	23.0±0.40 ^b	2.0±0.03ª	1.5 ± 0.20^{a}			

Values have different superscripts within the same column are significantly different at $p \le 0.05$ (n = 20).

Table 3. Effect of aflatoxins (200 ppb) and/or infection with AIV-H9N2 (10⁶ EID₅₀/ml) on the lymphocytes transformation and macrophages phagocytic activities, and HI antibody titer (Log2) of broiler chickens

Groups	Lymphocytes transformation activity (optical density)			Macrophages phagocytic activity (µM/ml)			Log2 HI GMT titers	
Groups	14 days	27 days (4 dpi)	33 days (10 dpi)	14 days	27 days (4 dpi)	33 days (10 dpi)	Maternally-derived antibodies	33 days (10 dpi)
CTR	$2.35{\pm}0.06^{\text{a}}$	1.42±0.03ª	$1.86{\pm}0.06^{a}$	12.6±0.80ª	$12.42{\pm}0.40^{\rm a}$	12.10±0.22ª	5ª	0^{a}
AFs	$1.59{\pm}0.08^{b}$	1.11±0.05 ^b	1.39±0.05 ^b	$29.1{\pm}0.49^{\text{b}}$	$9.90{\pm}0.27^{\text{b}}$	$6.05{\pm}0.13^{b}$	5ª	0ª
AFs+H9N2	1.53±0.05 ^b	0.97 ± 0.03^{b}	3.32±0.01 ^d	$29.1{\pm}0.46^{\text{b}}$	6.12±0.20°	8.77±0.12°	5ª	5.5±0.34 ^b
H9N2	2.34±0.05ª	1.41±0.06ª	4.33±0.08°	12.5±0.84 ^a	10.33±0.22ª	12.99±0.29ª	5ª	6.3±0.26°

Mean values have different superscript letter within the same column are significantly different between experimental groups at $p \le 0.05$ (n = 20).

Table 4. The severity of histopathological lesions in experimental chickens								
Groups	Liver	Kidneys	Lungs	Trachea	Bursa of Fabricius	Thymus		
CTR	0	0	0	0	0	0		
AFs	3	3	3	0	2	1		
AFs+H9N2	4	3	4	1	3	2		
H9N2	2	2	2	1	2	1		

(0) no lesions; (1) mild lesions; (2) moderate lesions; (3) severe lesions and (4) very severe lesions



Figure 1: Representative photomicrographs of H&E-stained liver and kidneys tissues following aflatoxins and/or H9N2-AIV challenge.

Light microscopy of hepatic tissues from control (a) shows the normal histologic structure of liver tissues. AFs (200 mg/kg ration)– treated broiler chicks (b) exhibited granulocytes infiltration within atrophied hepatocytes (×400). AFs (200 mg/kg ration) + H9N2 (100 μ l of 10⁶ EID₅₀/bird)–challenged broiler chicks showed granulocytes infiltration with destructed hepatocytes, ballooning (c) and degeneration of hepatocytes with fatty changes (arrow) and hyperplasia of stellate cells (stars) (d, H&E ×400).

Light microscopy of renal tissues from control (a) shows the normal histologic structure of renal tissues (×100). AFs (200 mg/kg ration)–treated broiler chicks (b) exhibited showed tubular cast (arrows, ×400). AFs (200 mg/kg ration) + H9N2 (100 μ l of 10⁶ EID₅₀/bird)–challenged broiler chicks (c) showed pronounced intertubular congested blood vessels with degenerated tubular epithelium (arrow, ×400). H9N2 (100 μ l of 10⁶ EID₅₀/bird)–challenged broiler chicks (d) showed focal intertubular histocytes aggregations (×400).



Figure 2: Representative photomicrographs of H&E-stained lung and tracheal tissues following aflatoxins and/or H9N2-AIV challenge.

Light microscopy of pulmonary tissues from control (a) shows apparently normal histologic structure (×100). AFs (200 mg/kg ration)– treated broiler chicks (b) showed bronchioles surrounded by heterophils, macrophages, epithelioid cells (star) and multinucleated giant cells and connective tissue (arrow) (×400). AFs (200 mg/kg ration) + H9N2 (100 μ l of 10⁶ EID₅₀/bird)–challenged broiler chicks (c) showed thickening of bronchial lining due to mononuclear cells infiltration (star), congestion and hemorrhage (×100). H9N2 (100 μ l of 10⁶ EID₅₀/bird)–challenged broiler chicks (d) showed interstitial granulocytes and mononuclear cells infiltration (star) (×400). Light microscopy of tracheal tissues from control (a) and AFs (200 mg/kg ration)–treated broiler chicks show apparently normal histo-

Light microscopy of tracheal tissues from control (a) and AFs (200 mg/kg ration)–treated broiler chicks show apparently normal histologic structure (×100). AFs (200 mg/kg ration) + H9N2 (100 μ l of 10⁶ EID₅₀/bird)–challenged broiler chicks (b) showed vacuolation of lining epithelium (star), increased mucous glands (arrowhead) with inflammatory cell infiltration (arrow) (×400). H9N2 (100 μ l of 10⁶ EID₅₀/bird)–challenged broiler chicks (c) showed focal deciliation with submucosal hemorrhage (arrow) (×400).



Figure 3: Representative photomicrographs of H&E-stained bursa of Fabricius and thymus tissues following aflatoxins and/or H9N2-AIV challenge.

Light microscopy of bursa of Fabricius tissues from control (a) shows apparently normal histologic structure (×100). AFs (200 mg/kg ration)–treated broiler chicks (b) showed granuloma (arrow) within bursal follicle cyst (×100). AFs (200 mg/kg ration) + H9N2 (100 μ l of 10⁶ EID₅₀/bird)–challenged broiler chicks (c) showed hyperplasia of lining epithelium with depletion of lymphocytes (arrow) (×100). H9N2 (100 μ l of 10⁶ EID₅₀/bird)–challenged broiler chicks (d) showed interstitial granulocytes and mononuclear cells infiltration (star) (×400).

Light microscopy of thymus tissues from control (a) shows apparently normal histologic structure (×100). AFs (200 mg/kg ration)– treated broiler chicks (b) showed focal hemorrhage in the medulla (arrow) (×100). AFs (200 mg/kg ration) + H9N2 (100 μ l of 10⁶ EID₅₀/ bird)–challenged broiler chicks (c) showed widening of Hussal's corpuscles forming cysts containing necrotic debris and granulocytes (star) (×400). H9N2 (100 μ l of 10⁶ EID₅₀/bird)–challenged broiler chicks (d) showed congested blood vessels (star) (×100).

Lungs: Pulmonary tissues from control show apparently normal histologic structure (Fig. 2Aa), while AFs–treated broiler chicks showed bronchioles surrounded by heterophils, macrophages, epithelioid cells and multinucleated giant cells and connective tissue (Fig. 2Ab). Severe thickening of bronchial lining appeared due to mononuclear cells infiltration, congestion and hemorrhage were seen in AFs+H9N2-exposed chickens (Fig. 2Ac), while H9N2–inoculated chickens showed a moderate degree of pneumonia exhibited as thickening of bronchial lining due to mononuclear cells infiltration (Fig. 2Ad).

Trachea: The tracheal tissues from control (Fig. 2Ba) and AFs-treated broiler chicks show apparently normal histologic structure. They also were mild in other groups; vacuolation of lining epithelium and increased mucous gland with inflammatory cell infiltration in chickens of AFs+H9N2–inoculated chickens (Group III) (Fig. 2Bb) and focal deciliation in H9N2–challenged chickens (Group IV) (Fig. 2Bc).

Bursa of Fabricius: The control chickens (Group I) showed apparently normal bursa (Fig. 3Aa). The severity of lesions in bursa was moderate in chickens in AFs-intoxicated chickens (Group II) – granuloma within bursal follicle cyst (Fig. 3Ab), followed by H9N2–inoculated chickens (Group IV), which appeared as hyperplasia of lining epithelium with depletion of lymphocytes (Fig. 3Ac). There was severe necrosis of plical lymphocytes in AFs+H9N2 group (Fig. 3Ad).

Thymus: Thymus of control chickens showed normal architecture (Fig. 3Ba). The severity of lesions in the thymus was mild – focal hemorrhage in the medulla in AFs (Fig. 3Bb) and H9N2 (Fig. 3Bd). They are exaggerated to moderate thymic lesions in AFs+H9N2 group (Fig. 3Bc).

H9N2-avian influenza viral shedding

As shown in Table 5, all examined tracheal swabs from H9N2–inoculated chickens (Groups III, IV) at 3 dpi, were positive for virus isolation in ECE, which confirmed by HA and HI test using H9N2 antiserum. The H9N2-AIV virus was isolated from 5 of 10 tracheal swabs with a mean viral titer of pooled allantois fluid of $10^{5.6}$ EID₅₀/ml at 5 dpi, from H9N2–inoculated chickens (Group IV), meanwhile in AFs+H9N2 group, the virus was isolated from 7 of 10 tracheal swabs with a mean viral titer of $10^{7.8}$ EID₅₀/ml.

Table 5. H9N2	avian influenza virus shedd	ing in tracheal swabs
in experimental	chickens at 3 and 5 days po	st-infection (dpi)

Groups	3 dpi	5 dpi	Mean viral Titer at 5 dpi (EID ₅₀ /ml)
CTR	0/20	0/20	-
AFs	0/20	0/20	-
AFs+H9N2	20/20	10/20	10 ^{7.8a}
H9N2	20/20	14/20	10 ^{5.6b}

Values have different scripts at the same row are significantly different at $p \le 0.05$ (n = 20)

DISCUSSION

The productivity of poultry farms was scarcely affected by feed contaminated with AFs and their subsequent impacts on broiler performance. Aflatoxicosis and AIV are not only lead to huge economic losses in the poultry industry but also cause serious public health threats worldwide. In broiler, AFs in the diet can act as a stress factor to increase the susceptibility to, or severity of, AIV subtype H9N2 (El Miniawy et al. 2011; Umar et al. 2015). Increased susceptibility of AFs-intoxicated broilers to various bacteria and viruses indicates an impaired immune response and a failure of vaccinal immunity (Subler et al. 2006; Umar et al. 2015). In the pathogenesis of AIV subtype H9N2 in broilers intoxicated with AFs, there was a detrimental clinical picture of respiratory distress involving impairment of chicken performance in addition to hemato-biochemical, histopathological and immunological changes.

The current data indicated that AFs and/or AIV subtype H9N2 caused a reduction in body weight (Afzal and Zahid 2004; Gharaibeh 2008; Hablolvarid et al. 2004; Marchioro et al. 2013; Raju and Devegowda 2000; Yunus et al. 2011), thereby leading to losses in performance and productivity. These effects in broilers may be due to the greater effect of AFs in the initial growth phase, particularly during the first 21 days of age, when the negative impact on weight gain is irreversible due to inhibition of protein synthesis, reduced absorption of nutrients and lower rate of pancreatic enzymes release (Azizpour and Moghadam 2015; Oguz et al. 2000; Safamehr 2008). In additions, AFs provoked a nutritional deficiency and hence, inhibition of weight gain, hepatomegaly and increased weights of visceral organs (Kubena et al. 1990). The suppressed appetite in aflatoxicated groups is due to the impaired liver and kidneys metabolic activity subsequently to the impaired hepato-renal structure (Ortatatli et al. 2005; Verma et al. 2010), which appeared clearly in the histopathological deterioration and the elevation of liver enzymes (AST and ALT), however, both enzymes didn't show much high significant increase as the low dose of AFs (200 ppb) induced toxicity to the cell-mediated immunity more than liver (Giambrone et al. 1985). The nephrotoxic effect of AFs may be due to interference with transport function in collecting tubule cells together with diffused impairment of the function of the proximal tubule (Ortatatli et al. 2005). Herein, the mortality began after 14 days of age, which could be attributed to the cumulative effect of AFs.

Infection with LPAI subtype H9N2 is usually mild and localized to the respiratory and intestinal tracts due to the restriction of trypsin-like proteases. However, one of the indicators of pathogenicity after H9N2 experimental infection is the daily observed clinical signs with special attention to feed consumption, body weight and FCR (Gharaibeh 2008). Also, H9N2 infection is associated with edema in the head and neck, conjunctivitis as well as tubulointerstitial nephritis, turbidity of the thoracic and abdominal air sacs, mild congestion of the trachea and lung, mild accumulation of fibrinous exudate on the tracheal mucosa and all these lesions should have a direct negative effect on feed consumption and FCR (Hadipour et al. 2011). Also, decrease in feed consumption, depression and diarrhea, hemorrhage in small intestine and pancreas as well as swollen kidneys with no mortalities were reported (Hs et al. 2016; Somayeh Asadzadeh 2011). Moreover, it appeared that the H9N2 was more pathogenic in aflatoxicated-chicken, which caused more severe clinical signs and pathologic changes in the liver, kidneys, lungs and trachea compared with AFstreated chickens (Hadipour et al. 2011), leading to potent decrease in feed intake as well as body weight. Also, the mortality rate in AFs+H9N2 exposed chickens (Group III) increased by about 50% than AFs-intoxicated chickens (Group II) (>11%), however, this was not highly significant to be reflected on the estimated liver enzymes (AST and ALT), which may be attributed to the delayed H9N2 infection at 23rd day of age in the AFs-intoxicated birds (from first day of age) that might affect the mortality rate more than the liver enzymes at 27 and 33 days of age (only 4 and 10 dpi) as the respiratory tract is the main target tissue during the pathogenesis or acute infection of H9N2. Previous studies found that H9N2 AIV infections could decrease growth rate and FCR in broilers due to co-infection with other pathogens as IBV, Staphylo*coccus aureus*, *Avibacterium paragallinarum* and *E. coli* or immune suppression, which exacerbates H9N2 infection in chickens (Kishida et al. 2004).

It is well known that the suppression of immune function has led to an increase in the susceptibility to a variety of bacterial or viral diseases in chickens (Subler et al. 2006). Previously available data on the pathogenesis of LPAI viruses in chickens suggested that the H9N2 LPAI viruses in poultry flocks resulted in diverse clinical syndromes of varying severity depending on the viral strain, as well as the co-infection with immunosuppressive diseases (Bano et al. 2003; Kishida et al. 2004). It was indicated that aflatoxicosis has an immunosuppressive effect in broiler chickens reflected by lower activity of lymphocyte transformation in all stages of the experiment. Hatori et al. (1991) found that the immune responses mediated by T cells appeared to be sensitive to AFs. Even the very low levels of AFs can disturb the immune system of birds, and thus in association with other pathogens (Ellakany et al. 2011) it can exacerbate disease outcomes. Many studies conducted in poultry showed that exposure to AFs-contaminated feed resulted in suppression of the cell-mediated immune responses, thymic aplasia, reduction of the function and number of T-lymphocyte, suppressed phagocytic activity and reduced complement activity. Impairment of cellular function by AFs seems to be due to its effects on the production of lymphokines and antigen processing by macrophages, as well as a decrease in or lack of the heat-stable serum factors involved in phagocytosis (Cusumano et al. 1996; El Miniawy et al. 2014; Raisuddin et al. 1990; Theumer et al. 2010). The immunosuppressive effect of AFs was further clearly noticed by the lower macrophage phagocytic activity and TLC (Abdel-Wahhab et al. 2002; Basmacioglu et al. 2005; Celik et al. 2000; Oguz et al. 2000), particularly after challenge with H9N2. Lymphocytes and WBC were decreased and heterophils were increased without any noticeable influence on monocyte and eosinophil in male broiler chickens exposed to mycotoxins naturally contaminated diets (Mohaghegh et al. 2016). The possibility of phagocytic depression during mycotoxicosis may be due to inhibition of DNA, RNA and protein synthesis in macrophages after mycotoxins exposure; or due to alterations in metabolic processes, principally glycolysis essential for phagocytosis (Qureshi and Hagler 1992). Moreover, it may be attributed to an alteration in the macrophage membrane. These functional alterations may affect RNA function on actin and myosin formation that

are essential for chemotaxis and phagocytosis (Aderem and Underhill 1999). Neldon-Ortiz and Qureshi (1991) pointed out that morphological change in chicken peritoneal macrophages after AFs exposure included a decline in adherence ability, blebbing formation on the cellular surface, and nuclear disintegration. AFs may interfere with the lipopolysaccharide (LPS) binding to protein on CD14 causing down-regulation of its expression decreasing the induction of cytokines (Wright et al. 1990).

H9N2-avian influenza viral shedding results figured out the role of aflatoxicosis in increasing the number of birds shedding the H9N2 virus and increased virus titer ($10^{7.8}$ EID₅₀/ml) in the AFs–treated chickens than the only H9N2–inoculated birds ($10^{5.6}$ EID₅₀/ml), further indicating the immunosuppressive effect of the aflatoxicosis. In turkeys, Umar et al. (2015) reported that H9N2 virus infection during aflatoxicosis characterized by a higher level in viral shedding in oropharyngeal swabs. In addition, AFs can induce immunosuppression in the form of impaired T or B lymphocytes performance, decreased antibody synthesis, and decreased interferon and macrophages activity (Umar et al. 2012). Generally, aflatoxicosis decreases the resistance to common infectious diseases because of impairment of humoral and cellular immune responses (Bakshi et al. 2000). The immunosuppression induced by aflatoxicosis led to increased H9N2 pathogenicity (Kwon et al. 2008), which in turn can lead to mortality in H9N2–inoculated chickens.

CONCLUSION

From all the previous data we can conclude that AFs and H9N2 virus had an immunosuppressive effect. It was clearly appeared in their pathological changes exaggerated during their combination in broiler chickens. AFs contaminations promoting the pathogenesis of H9N2 infection to produce more pronounced clinical signs, histopathological lesions, and mortalities.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

REFERENCES

- Abd El-Hamid H, Ellakany H, Elbestawy A, Gado A (2018) Molecular Characterization of H9N2 Avian Influenza Viruses Isolated from Commercial Broiler Chickens in Egypt during 2014-2015 Alexandria Journal of Veterinary Sciences 56:54 doi:10.5455/ajvs.220473
- Abdel-Wahhab MA, Nada SA, Khalil FA (2002) Physiological and toxicological responses in rats fed aflatoxin-contaminated diet with or without sorbent materials Animal Feed Science and Technology 97:209-219 doi:10.1016/s0377-8401(01)00342-x
- Aderem A, Underhill DM (1999) Mechanisms of Phagocytosis in Macrophages Annual Review of Immunology 17:593-623 doi:10.1146/ annurev.immunol.17.1.593
- Afzal M, Zahid S (2004) Effects of Addition of a Mycotoxin Detoxifier in Poultry Feed Containing Different Levels of Aflatoxins on the Performance of Broilers Asian Austral J Anim 17:990-994 doi:10.5713/ ajas.2004.990
- Ahad A et al. (2013) Serosurveillance to H9 and H7 Avian Influenza Virus among Poultry Workers in Punjab Province, Pakistan Pakistan Veterinary Journal 33:107-112
- Alexander DJ (2003) Report on Avian Influenza in the Eastern Hemisphere During 1997–2002 Avian Dis 47:792-797 doi:10.1637/0005-2086-47.s3.792
- Azizpour A, Moghadam N (2015) Assessment of serum biochemical parameters and pathological changes in broilers with chronic aflatoxicosis fed glucomannan-containing yeast product (Mycosorb) and sodium bentonite Bulletin of the Veterinary Institute in Pulawy 59 doi:10.1515/bvip-2015-0031
- Bakshi CS, Asikdar T, Johri S, Malik M, Singh R (2000) Effect of grade dietary levels of aflatoxin on humoral immune response in commercial broilers Indian Journal of Comparative Microbiology, Immunology, and Infectious Diseases 21 163-164
- Bancroft JD, Gamble M (2002) Theory and Practice of Histological Techniques. 5th edn. Churchill Livingstone, Edinburgh ; New York
- Bano S, Naeem K, Malik SA (2003) Evaluation of pathogenic potential of avian influenza virus serotype H9N2 in chickens Avian Dis 47:817-822 doi:10.1637/0005-2086-47.s3.817

Basmacioglu H, Oguz H, Ergul M, Col R, Birdane YO (2005) Effect of

dietary esterified glucomannan on performance, serum biochemistry and haematology in broilers exposed to aflatoxin Czech Journal of Animal Science 50:31-39

- Celik I, Oguz H, Demet O, Donmez HH, Boydak M, Sur E (2000) Efficacy of polyvinylpolypyrrolidone in reducing the immunotoxicity of aflatoxin in growing broilers British poultry science 41:430-439 doi:10.1080/713654954
- Chen K et al. (2014) Effects of dietary selenium on histopathological changes and T cells of spleen in broilers exposed to aflatoxin B1 International journal of environmental research and public health 11:1904-1913 doi:10.3390/ijerph110201904
- Cusumano V et al. (1996) Immunobiological activities of mould products: functional impairment of human monocytes exposed to aflatoxin B1 Research in Microbiology 147:385-391 doi:10.1016/0923-2508(96)84713-9
- Diener UL, Cole RJ, Sanders TH, Payne GA, Lee LS, Klich MA (1987) Epidemiology of aflatoxin formation by *Aspergillus flavus* Annual Review of Phytopathology 25:249-270 doi:10.1146/annurev. py.25.090187.001341
- El Miniawy HMF, Ahmed KA, El-Sanousi AA, Khattab MSM (2014) Effect of Aflatoxin Induced Immunosuppression on Pathogenesis of H9N2 Avian Influenza Virus Pakistan Veterinary Journal 34 234-238
- El Miniawy HMF, El-Sanousi AAG, Ahmed KAA, Khattab MMSE (2011) Pathogenesis of low pathogenic strain of avian influenza virus H9N2 in chickens fed on diet containing aflatoxins Toxicology Letters 205:S147 doi:10.1016/j.toxlet.2011.05.520
- Ellakany HF, Abuakkada SS, Oda SS, El-Sayed YS (2011) Influence of low levels of dietary aflatoxins on Eimeria tenella infections in broilers Trop Anim Health Prod 43:249-257 doi:10.1007/s11250-010-9685-0
- Gabal MA, Azzam AH (1998) Interaction of aflatoxin in the feed and immunization against selected infectious diseases in poultry. II. Effect on one-day-old layer chicks simultaneously vaccinated against Newcastle disease, infectious bronchitis and infectious bursal disease Avian Pathol 27:290-295 doi:10.1080/03079459808419338
- Gharaibeh S (2008) Pathogenicity of an avian influenza virus serotype H9N2 in chickens Avian Dis 52:106-110 doi:10.1637/8108-090907-Reg

J HELLENIC VET MED SOC 2019, 70(4) ПЕКЕ 2019, 70(4)

- Giambrone JJ, Diener UL, Davis ND, Panangala VS, Hoerr FJ (1985) Effects of purified aflatoxin on broiler chickens Poult Sci 64:852-858 doi:10.3382/ps.0640852
- Hablolvarid MH, Sohraby Haghdost I, Pourbakhsh SA, Gholami MR (2004) Histopathological Study of Intratracheally Inoculated A/ Chicken/Iran/259/1998 (H9N2) Influenza Virus in Chicken Archives of Razi Institute 58:51-62
- Hadipour MM, Farjadian SH, Azad F, Sheibani N, Olyaie A (2011) Histologic Lesions of Thymus and Bursa of Fabricius in Commercial Broiler Chickens Inoculated with H9N2 Avian Influenza Virus International Journal of Animal and Veterinary Advances 3:186-188
- Hatori Y, Sharma RP, Warren RP (1991) Resistance of C57B1/6 mice to immunosuppressive effects of aflatoxin B1 and relationship with neuroendocrine mechanisms Immunopharmacology 22:127-136 doi:10.1016/0162-3109(91)90037-y
- He Y et al. (2014) Effects of sodium selenite on aflatoxin B1-induced decrease of ileal IgA+ cell numbers and immunoglobulin contents in broilers Biological trace element research 160:49-55 doi:10.1007/ s12011-014-0035-3
- Hs A, Hf E, Ha H, Ar E, Km A (2016) Pathogenicity of an Avian Influenza H9N2 Virus isolated From Broiler Chickens in Egypt Alexandria Journal of Veterinary Sciences 51:90 doi:10.5455/ajvs.236275
- Hu P et al. (2018) The molecular mechanism of cell cycle arrest in the Bursa of Fabricius in chick exposed to Aflatoxin B 1 Sci Rep 8:1770 doi:10.1038/s41598-018-20164-z
- Iheshiulor OOM, Esonu BO, Chuwuka OK, Omede AA, Okoli IC, Ogbuewu IP (2011) Effects of mycotoxins in animal nutrition: A review Asian Journal of Animal Sciences 5:19-33 doi:10.3923/ajas.2011.19.33
- Jain NC (2000) Schalm's Veterinary Haematology. 5th edn. Lea and Fabiger, Philadelphia
- Jiang M, Peng X, Fang J, Cui H, Yu Z, Chen Z (2015) Effects of aflatoxin b1 on T-cell subsets and mRNA expression of cytokines in the intestine of broilers Int J Mol Sci 16:6945-6959 doi:10.3390/ ijms16046945
- Kishida N, Sakoda Y, Eto M, Sunaga Y, Kida H (2004) Co-infection of Staphylococcus aureus or Haemophilus paragallinarum exacerbates H9N2 influenza A virus infection in chickens Arch Virol 149:2095-2104 doi:10.1007/s00705-004-0372-1
- Kubena LF, Harvey RB, Huff WE, Corrier DE, Phillips TD, Rottinghaus GE (1990) Efficacy of a hydrated sodium calcium aluminosilicate to reduce the toxicity of aflatoxin and T-2 toxin Poult Sci 69:1078-1086
- Kumar PA, Das SK (1996) A colorimetric assay to evaluate the cytotoxic activity of the intestinal intraepithelial lymphocytes of chickens Vet Res Commun 20:513-518
- Kwon JS et al. (2008) Immune responses and pathogenesis in immunocompromised chickens in response to infection with the H9N2 low pathogenic avian influenza virus Virus Res 133:187-194 doi:10.1016/j.virusres.2007.12.019
- Liu T, Ma Q, Zhao L, Jia R, Zhang J, Ji C, Wang X (2016) Protective Effects of Sporoderm-Broken Spores of Ganderma lucidum on Growth Performance, Antioxidant Capacity and Immune Function of Broiler Chickens Exposed to Low Level of Aflatoxin B(1) Toxins (Basel) 8:278 doi:10.3390/toxins8100278
- Marchioro A et al. (2013) Effects of Aflatoxins on Performance and Exocrine Pancreas of Broiler Chickens Avian Dis 57:280-284 doi:10.1637/10426-101712-Reg.1
- Mohaghegh A, Chamani M, Shivazad M, Sadeghi AA, Afzali N (2016) Effect of esterified glucomannan on broilers exposed to natural mycotoxin-contaminated diets J Appl Anim Res 45:285-291 doi:10.108 0/09712119.2016.1174122
- Nabney J, Nesbitt BF (1965) A spectrophotometric method for determining the aflatoxins The Analyst 90:155 doi:10.1039/an9659000155
- Neldon-Ortiz DL, Qureshi MA (1991) Direct and microsomal activated aflatoxin B1 exposure and its effects on turkey peritoneal macrophage functions in vitro Toxicology and applied pharmacology 109:432-442
- Oguz H, KeÇEci T, Birdane YO, ÖNder F, Kurtoglu V (2000) Effect of clinoptilolite on serum biochemical and haematological characters of broiler chickens during aflatoxicosis Research in Veterinary Science 69:89-93 doi:10.1053/rvsc.2000.0395
- Ortatatli M, Oguz H, Hatipoglu F, Karaman M (2005) Evaluation of pathological changes in broilers during chronic aflatoxin (50 and 100 ppb) and clinoptilolite exposure Res Vet Sci 78:61-68 doi:10.1016/j. rvsc.2004.06.006
- Peng X, Bai S, Ding X, Zeng Q, Zhang K, Fang J (2015) Pathological changes in the immune organs of broiler chickens fed on corn natural-

ly contaminated with aflatoxins B1 and B2 Avian Pathol 44:192-199 doi:10.1080/03079457.2015.1023179

- Peng X et al. (2016) The mitochondrial and death receptor pathways involved in the thymocytes apoptosis induced by aflatoxin B1 Oncotarget 7:12222-12234 doi:10.18632/oncotarget.7731
- Peng X et al. (2014) Histological lesions, cell cycle arrest, apoptosis and T cell subsets changes of spleen in chicken fed aflatoxin-contaminated corn International journal of environmental research and public health 11:8567-8580 doi:10.3390/ijerph110808567
- Qureshi MA, Hagler WM (1992) Effect of Fumonisin-B1 Exposure on Chicken Macrophage Functions in vitro Poultry Sci 71:104-112 doi:10.3382/ps.0710104
- Raisuddin, Singh KP, Zaidi SIA, Saxena AK, Ray PK (1990) Effects of aflatoxin on lymphoid cells of weanling rat Journal of Applied Toxicology 10:245-250 doi:10.1002/jat.2550100404
- Raju MVLN, Devegowda G (2000) Influence of esterified-glucomannan on performance and organ morphology, serum biochemistry and haematology in broilers exposed to individual and combined mycotoxicosis (aflatoxin, ochratoxin and T-2 toxin) British poultry science 41:640-650 doi:10.1080/713654986
- Reed LJ, Muench H (1938) A Simple Method of Estimating Fifty Per Cent Endpoints12 American Journal of Epidemiology 27:493-497 doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a118408
- Safamehr A (2008) The Performance and Heamatological Characters in Broiler Chicks Fed Ammonia-Treated Aflatoxin Contaminated Feed Journal of Animal and Veterinary Advances 7:331-336
- Salaberria C, Muriel J, de Luna M, Gil D, Puerta M (2013) The PHA test as an indicator of phagocytic activity in a passerine bird PLoS One 8:e84108 doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0084108
- Somayeh Asadzadeh M (2011) Detection of H9N2 avian influenza virus in various organs of experimentally infected chickens Afr J Microbiol Res 5 doi:10.5897/ajmr11.214
- Subler KA, Mickael CS, Jackwood DJ (2006) Infectious Bursal Disease Virus-Induced Immunosuppression Exacerbates Campylobacter jejuni Colonization and Shedding in Chickens Avian Dis 50:179-184 doi:10.1637/7434-090705r.1
- Sur E, Celik I (2003) Effects of aflatoxin B1 on the development of the bursa of Fabricius and blood lymphocyte acid phosphatase of the chicken British poultry science 44:558-566 doi:10.1080/000716603 10001618352
- Theumer MG, Cánepa MC, López AG, Mary VS, Dambolena JS, Rubinstein HR (2010) Subchronic mycotoxicoses in Wistar rats: Assessment of the in vivo and in vitro genotoxicity induced by fumonisins and aflatoxin B1, and oxidative stress biomarkers status Toxicology 268:104-110 doi:10.1016/j.tox.2009.12.007
- Umar S, Arshad A, Ahmad B, Arshad M (2012) Clinic-biochemical and haematological changes in broilers induced by concurrent exposure to aflatoxin b1 and ochratoxin Journal of Public Health and Biological Sciences 1:79-85
- Umar S et al. (2015) Role of aflatoxin toxicity on transmissibility and pathogenicity of H9N2 avian influenza virus in turkeys Avian Pathol 44:305-310 doi:10.1080/03079457.2015.1046813
- Verma J, Johri TS, Swain BK, Ameena S (2010) Effect of graded levels of aflatoxin, ochratoxin and their combinations on the performance and immune response of broilers British poultry science 45:512-518 doi: 10.1080/00071660412331286226
- Wells MA, Ennis FA, Albrecht P (1981) Recovery from a viral respiratory infection. II. Passive transfer of immune spleen cells to mice with influenza pneumonia J Immunol 126:1042-1046
- West S, Wyatt RD, Hamilton PB (1973) Improved yield of aflatoxin by incremental increases of temperature Appl Microbiol 25:1018-1019
- WHO (2002) WHO manual on animal influenza diagnosis and surveillance. Deptartment of Epidemic and Pandemic Alert and Response, Geneva, World Health Organization
- Wright S, Ramos R, Tobias P, Ulevitch R, Mathison J (1990) CD14, a receptor for complexes of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and LPS binding protein Science 249:1431-1433 doi:10.1126/science.1698311
- Yuan S et al. (2016) The mitochondrial and endoplasmic reticulum pathways involved in the apoptosis of bursa of Fabricius cells in broilers exposed to dietary aflatoxin B1 Oncotarget 7:65295-65306 doi:10.18632/oncotarget.11321
- Yunus AW, Razzazi-Fazeli E, Bohm J (2011) Aflatoxin B(1) in affecting broiler's performance, immunity, and gastrointestinal tract: a review of history and contemporary issues Toxins (Basel) 3:566-590 doi:10.3390/toxins3060566

J HELLENIC VET MED SOC 2019, 70(4) ПЕКЕ 2019, 70(4)

An uncommon fetal retention case: Ruptured ventral hernia in a sheep

C. Peker, E. H. Uçar, O. Varoğlu, G. Erdoğan

Aydın Adnan Menderes University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 09100 Işıklı-Aydın, Turkey

ABSTRACT. A four-year-old pluriparous sheep was brought to our clinic with the complaints of mild anorexia and a wound on the ventral abdominal area, with part of a dead lamb protruding from this lesion. Clinical examination revealed that there was a fetal retention into the ruptured gravid uterine horn that was trapped within a ventral hernia. At herniorrhaphy after removing the dead fetus, strong connections between the uterine and abdominal wall and chronic scars/necrosed tissues were detected in the wound edges, which revealed the long time lapse between the unnoticed herniation-tearing and surgery. Although many ventral hernia cases have been reported in ovine pregnancies, the high maternal resilience in this ruptured hysterocele case, which had a two-week-old history at minimum, is clinically remarkable.

Keywords: Ventral hysterocele, uterine rupture, fetal retention, sheep

Corresponding Author: Erdoğan G., Aydın Adnan Menderes University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 09100 Işıklı-Aydın, Turkey E-mail address: gunesems@yahoo.com

Date of initial submission: 26-03-2019 Date of revised submission: 05-08-2019 Date of acceptance: 11-08-2019

INTRODUCTION

Herniation is a well-described pathology in pregnant animals. Ventral deviation and trapping of the pregnant horn are commonly seen in sheep, especially in older animals during late pregnancy (Jackson, 2004; Tiwari et al., 2004; Parvez et al., 2016). Spontaneous or traumatic injuries can result in hernia and falling of the uterus into the herniated portion (Purohit, 2006). Pregnancy is seen to be a contributory factor, because the abdominal wall weakens during this period (Noakes et al., 2009; Jettennavar et al., 2010).

Ventral uterine hernia is grossly visible by swelling/ enlargement at the lateral abdomen (Purohit, 2006), especially on the right side (Al-Sobayil and Ahmed, 2010). The swelling is very prominent; it can be located anywhere from the lateral side of the thoracic cavity to the iliac crest, above the stifle (Abdin-Bey and Ramadan, 2001; Mahdi, 2015). Systemic symptoms are usually absent and incarceration risk is considered as low in ventral hernia cases (Venugopalan, 2000). Jettenavar et al. (2010) reported that ventral hernias are generally ignored by the rural farmer community unless they result in some serious symptoms. However, females with a hernia during late pregnancy are at high risk of dystocia due to blocked myometrial contractility and utero-peritoneal adhesions (Smith and Sherman, 1994; Sobiraj, 1994; Erdogan et al., 2015).

In this case report, the clinical findings of a ruptured ventral hysterocele in a sheep were described that, incidentally, had occurred at least two weeks previously.

CASE REPORT

A four-year-old pluriparous ewe, weighing approximately 50-55 kg, was brought to the Aydın Adnan Menderes University, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology clinic. According to farm records, the new flock was bought approximately two weeks earlier and the current problem of this sheep had not been noticed. They had considered that her only problem was a slight loss of appetite for a few days. However, careful observation revealed a ruptured area with a fetid odor.

During clinical examination, the sheep was conscious, walking painlessly, but had mild dehydration. The inspection of the ventral abdomen showed an 8 cm diameter perforation located at the cranial area of the left half-udder. It was seen that the wound edges had fibrous thickness and necrotic scars. The protruded necrotic tail of the dead fetus carried a fetid odor (Fig. 1). After traction of the necrotic tail part, a twisted joint of the fetal limbs was detected in the entrance of the sac (Fig. 2).



Figure 1. Aspherical opening with fetid odor at the abdominal region. Part of fetal tail protruding from the wound (white arrows)



Figure 2. Appearance of the ventral abdomen following the tracking of fetal tail and preoperative preparation of the ruptured hernia

As no hematological, biochemical or radiographic analysis could be performed due to the owner's financial position, the removal of the dead fetus and surgical repair of the hernia sac were performed. Using a sedative (0.05 mg/kg xylazine HCl, Rompun[®] 2%, Bayer) and local anesthetic (200 mg lidocaine HCl, Adokain[®], Sanovel), the ruptured area was widened with excisions and the dead fetus was successfully removed, being intact. It was male, weighing 2.5 kg, and without any abnormalities (Fig. 3).



Figure 3. Macroscopic appearance of dead fetus

During surgery, the strong adhesions including skin and muscle tissues between the ruptured wall of the gravid horn and ventral abdominal wall were separated bluntly. However, other strong fibrous connections from the gravid horn to the omentum and small intestines were not separated in order to avoid hemorrhage and perforation risk. After intrauterine irrigation with warm saline solution and antibacterial applications (crystallized penicillin G potassium, 2,000,000 IU) to the uterine and abdominal cavities, the uterus was closed and the hernia repaired according to the appropriate repair procedures (Hoise, 2007). All adhesions located along the ruptured area were removed bluntly, and tranexamic acid (10 mg/ kg, Transamine[®], Fako) was injected to avoid local hemorrhages. Balanced electrolyte solutions (40 ml/ kg) and dextrose 5% (20 ml/kg) were provided to the patient animal intravenously. The sheep recovered after a week with the administration of tetracycline HCl (20 mg/kg, Tetraoxyphen L.A.® 20%, Atafen) and flunixin meglumine (1.1 mg/kg, Fulimed[®], Alke) injections, post-operatively.

DISCUSSION

Obstetric emergencies in small ruminants have

a negative impact on fetal survival rate and maternal fertility. Among these emergencies, the intrusion of the gravid uterus in the hernial sac is commonly encountered in sheep (Jackson, 2004). Researchers have reported that the most common type of hernia is the ventral abdominal, and its prevalence is reported as between 58.34 and 68.2% of all types of hernias (Al-Sobavil and Ahmed, 2007; Hassen et al., 2017; Mahdi, 2015). The evisceration of the fetus accompanying a ventral abdominal hernia is a very rare condition, especially on the left side, in contrast to Al-Sobayil's and Ahmed's (2010) findings. Only one similar case report complicated by fetal lamb evisceration was found in the accessed veterinary literature, but it could not be treated surgically due to a large hernia sac and lesions on the skin. Perez et al. (2002) emphasized the possible deleterious impacts of laparoscopic insemination procedures on the abdominal wall.

Extreme abdominal distention, weakness of the abdominal muscles, and different types of mechanical traumas (kick, horn thrust, and blunt objects) are important contributory factors for hernia formation (Smith and Sherman, 1994; Krishnamurty, 1995; Arthur, 1989; Al-Sobayil and Ahmed, 2007; Hassen et al., 2017). These researchers have pointed to blunt trauma causing muscle and visceral disruptions / contusions without making any external wound. However, the perforation of the hernia sac might be resulted by a second external trauma or fetal movements at parturition complicated with cervical spasm and or stenosis in our case. It is estimated that this situation is more than two-week-old according to owner's explanation and appearance of the edges of the rupture wound and internal adhesions.

Although evaluating of fetal and maternal health condition have not been based on the reliable data of preoperative hematological analysis and patient's history, it can be hypothesized that there are two plausible explanations to evaluate the maternal preoperative "good" condition and successful treatment.

Firstly, according to the weight (about 2.5 kg) and intact appearance of fetus without any abnormality (Fig 3), it can be considered that uterine inertia resulted in the dystocia then, fetal retention. The main cause and time of fetal death are not detected based on clinical findings. It might be after trauma immediately causing evisceration or hypoxia at prolonged second phase of parturition. Maternal resistance may hide the real condition and cause the quiescent days clinically. In our previously case report, an intact co-twin fetus without causing any systemic disorder was removed from a ventral hernia after 30 days of sibling's birth (Erdoğan et al., 2015). Even though limited reports, the fact that some unknown factors affecting on the maternal response following fetal loss should be considered.

The second plausible explanation is that these strong connective tissues observed in the hernia sac and wound edges might act as a strong barrier to block the peritoneal contamination cause by fetal fluids, especially after the fetal death. It was well-known that the adhesions resulting from hernia, and they are among serosal surfaces due to an imbalance between fibrin deposition and fibrinolysis (Van der Wal and Jeekel, 2007). These adhesions prevent the mobility of uterus within the abdominal cavity resulting in decreased dilatation of cervix and expulsive force at term (Jackson 2004; Purohit, 2006; Erdoğan et al., 2015, Khan et al., 2018). However, this adhesive tissues might be not only the cause of fetal retention, but also had protective effect for maternal toxicities in this case. Additionally, the direction of rupture would make easy drainage of all fetal fluids and inflammatory discharges. The easily drainage of infective fetal fluids and not being contaminant to peritoneum / other abdominal organs and tissues may be an important protective factor for this case. Interestingly, opening the outside of hernia sac helped the fluid drainage and then, the dead fetus obstructed in wound might block the external contamination.

Trauma due to horning from other animals appeared to be the most common cause of abdominal hernias (Al-Sobayil and Ahmed, 2007). Unpredictable hazardous behaviors such as sudden movements, horning, kicking, and other metal stuffs wire fencing can trigger a lethal emergencies in pregnant animals.

In summary, this manuscript presents a clinical case of 4-year-old sheep with ventral hernia. Gravid uterus with dead fetus is rare case in ovine reproductive medicine. ruptured ventral hysterocele complicated with fetal death repaired surgically in this ewe is extremely rare case. Following the pregnancy diagnosis and fetal counting, dividing the pregnant ewes into different groups is essential for a good management system. Some essential approaches in the herd management system (separation pregnant females, grouping them according to fetal counts, eliminating traumatic issues in flock, close observations of animals etc.) would make timely diagnosis and treatment possible to decrease maternal and fetal mortality.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

None declared.

REFERENCES

- Abdin-Bey MR, Ramadan RO (2001) Retrospective study of hernias in goats. Sci J King Faisal Univ (Basic and Applied Sciences) 2:77-87.
- Al-Sobayil FA, Ahmed AF (2007) Surgical treatment for different forms of hernias in sheep and goats. J Vet Sci 8: 185-191.
- Arthur GH (1989) Veterinary Reproduction and Obstetrics 6th edn. Bailliere Tindall, London.
- Erdoğan G, Uçar EH, Peker C, Kılıc N (2015) Prolonged co-twin foetal retention in a sheep: caused by hysterocele? Large Anim Rev 21: 87-89.
- Erdoğan G, Akkuş T, Uçar EH, Peker C, Payan-Careira R (2019) An unusual outcome for fetal death in bitch: A report of case. J Adv Vet Bio Sci Tech 4:22-25.
- Hassen DJ, Kawo HB, Gondore MA (2017) A preliminary study of hernia in domestic animals in Gondar Town, North Gondar, North West Ethiopia. J Vet Sci & Tech 8: 1-8.
- Hoise BD (2007) Prolapse and hernia. In: Aitken ID (Ed), Diseases of Sheep, 4th ed. Blackwell, USA: pp 94-99.
- Jackson PGG (2004) Dystocia in the ewe. (Chapter 6). Handbook of Veterinary Obstetrics, 2nd ed. Saunders Elsevier; China: pp 205-63.
- Jettennavar PS, Kalmath GP, Anilkumar MC (2010) Ventral abdominal hernia in a goat, Vet World, 93.
- Khan S, Satheesh A, Sabarinadh VR, Ranjith Mohan M, Syed AS, Shaji P (2018) Surgical management of dystocia due to uterine adhesion in a goat. J Entomol Zool Studies 6: 988-991.
- Krishnammurty D (1995) Hernia. In ruminant surgery. Ed Tyagi and Jit Singh. 2nd edn., C.B.S. Publishers and Distributors New Delhi, India: pp. 225-237.

- Mahdi AS 2015 Ventral abdominal and umbilical hernia in sheep in Babylon. Euphrates J Agri Sci : 1-7.
- Noakes DE, Parkinson TJ, England GCW 2009. Arthurs' Veterinary Reproduction and Obstetrics, 9th edition, DE Noakes, TJ Parkinson, GCW England (eds), Saunders, Edinburg, London: pp. 212.
- Parvez A, Sutradhar BC, Pallab MS, Hasan T, Khatun R (2016) Surgical correction of ventral abdominal hysterocele in gravid uterus in a doe. Res J Vet Pract : 76-79.
- Perez C, Rodriguez I, Dorado J, Hidalgo M, Molina A, Sanz J, Cabello YA (2002) Metrocele ventral con evisceracion del utero gravido en una oveja. Proceedings of XXVII Jornadas Científicas Y VI Jornadas Internacionales de La Sociedad Espanola De Ovinotecnia Y Caprinotecnia pp.1094-196.
- Purohit GN (2006) Dystocia in the sheep and goat-A review. Indian Journal of Small Ruminants, 12: 1-12.
- Smith MC Sherman DM (1994) Goat Medicine, Lea & Febiger, Philadelphia, USA: pp 56-57.
- Sobiraj A (1994) Birth difficulties in sheep and goats: evaluation of patient outcome from seven lambing periods in an obstetrical clinic. Dtsch Tierarztl Wochenschr. 101: 471- 476.
- Tiwari SK, Mandal SC, Shankya S, Gosh RC, Bhonsle D (2004) Successful surgical management of gid in local goat. Indian Vet Med J 28 (6): 193.
- Van der Wal JB, Jeekel J (2007) Biology of the peritoneum in normal homeostasis and aftrr surgical trauma. Colorectal Disease 9:9-13.
- Venugopalan A (2000) Essential of Veterinary Surgery. 8th edn, pp 275-279.

J HELLENIC VET MED SOC 2019, 70(4) ПЕКЕ 2019, 70(4)

Complete vaginal stenosis and hematocolpus in two bitches with a history of GnRH treatment to postpone puberty

G. Marino, M. Quartuccio, A. Sfacteria, S. Cristarella, A. Zanghì

Department of Veterinary Sciences, University of Messina, Messina, Italy

ABSTRACT. Two mixed-breed bitches (18 and 19 months), that had been treated, one year before, with deslorelin acetate implant to postpone puberty, were hospitalized and monitored during their first heat. The heat was presumed by the owners, that observed vulvar swelling in both cases but no vulvar bloody discharge. The following diagnostic procedures were employed: physical genital tract examination, vaginoscopy, vaginal cytology, endocrine assay, ultrasound and X-ray using vaginal infusion of iodum and pneumobladder as positive and negative contrasts. In bitch 1, vaginal cytology and progesterone levels confirmed the presence of an ovulatory "dry" oestrus, without cytological presence of red blood cells, progressing to dioestrus. Ultrasound showed preovulatory follicles and, in the following days, transition to corpora lutea. The caudal abdomen presented a large ovoid cystic structure filled with echoic fluid, next to the bladder. Radiographic scans demonstrated a normal bladder profile, while the contrast medium failed to enter into the cranial vagina. On the basis of these findings, the bitch 1 was submitted to laparotomy 10 days after the end of oestrus. A vaginal dilatation (10x5 cm), from which brown fluid was aspirated, was found and resected together with uterus and ovaries. Bitch 2 had the same diagnostic route and findings, but she was laparotomized 3 months after the heat. During this period no spontaneous regression of the lesion was observed. At laparotomy, the vaginal dilatation (8x4 cm) was only aspirated and the bitch regularly neutered. In both cases, cytology of the fluid taken from the vaginal sac revealed superficial epithelial cells and abundant degenerate red blood cells. Histology (bitch 1) confirmed the vaginal origin of the dilatation and revealed an additional Gärtner duct cyst. The abnormality (hematocolpus) probably originated by an inadequate drainage of proestrous bloody discharge because of a severe vaginal stenosis. A congenital origin of the lesion was unlikely; it was strongly suspected that the treatment of the prepubertal bitches interfered, by an irreversible way, with the normal development of the vagina.

Keywords: Dog, hematocolpus, deslorelin, ultrasound, pathology

Corresponding Author:

Date of initial submission: 26-03-2019 Date of revised submission: 05-08-2019 Date of acceptance: 11-08-2019

Marino Gabriele, Department of Veterinary Sciences - University of Messina Via Palatucci, Polo Universitario Annunziata, 98168 Messina, Italy Email address: marinog@unime.it

CASE HISTORY

Two mixed-breed female dogs (bitch 1 and 2), not related to each other, treated at 6 months of age with 4.7 mg deslorelin acetate implant (Suprelorin®, Virbac), inserted into the interscapular region, were hospitalized and monitored during their first heat, observed at the age of 18 and 19 months, respectively.

All procedures were approved for ethical implications by the Center for Animal Reproduction and Assisted Insemination of the University of Messina. The extra-label use of the drug, not designed for prepubertal female dogs, was approved by owners in agreement with literature (Trigg et al., 2006; Sirivaidyapong et al., 2012; Marino et al., 2014; Kaya et al., 2015). Even the diagnostic trials had the owners' consent.

At presentation, bitch 1 (Europe) did not show any sign of disorders. The vulva was well developed, increased in volume, dry with wrinkled skin. Digital stimulation of the perivulvar skin evoked a lateral displacement of the tail, accompanied by a stiffening of the posterior limbs. No bloody discharge was observed. Abdominal palpation allowed appreciating an ovoid and firm structure consistent with an enlarged bladder for position and size. The cervix and the uterus were not detectable by palpation. Digital vaginal exploration showed a normally shaped vestibulo-vaginal channel, although slightly stenotic at the cingulus level. Vaginal cytology that was performed at two-day interval during proestrus-oestrus and weekly during dioestrus confirmed a normal transition from proestrus to dioestrus. Cornification during oestrus reached percentage of 80 % lasting approximately 9 days. Neutrophils were detected only at the dioestrus onset, in concomitance to the presence of intermediate and parabasal cells. Red blood cells were not detected in any phase. Vaginoscopy was performed with a rigid endoscope (TCI-Endoscope, length 43 cm, Karl Storz) without sedation, at two-day interval during proestrus-oestrus until dioestrus onset. The introduction of the instrument was facilitated by a shunt system (Minitube), which also provided fixation to the vaginal wall allowing pumping air to facilitate the visualization of the vagina. Typical mucosal folds changed in appearance during the period of study, passing from oedematous, pink, and round (late proestrus) to pale and crenulated (oestrus) up to flattened and flaccid (dioestrus). No septa were observed at every level. The lumen was slightly stenotic and the bottom of the vagina and the cervix were not visualized, giving the appearance of a blinded vagina.

Blood sampling was performed every two days until dioestrus onset. The obtained serum was processed for the determination of progesterone, using an Enzyme Linked Fluorescent Assay (BioMeuriex, Minividas). Circulating progesterone progressively increased from values of 0.9 ng/ml at presentation to 24 ng/ml at dioestrus onset. Ultrasound examination of the abdomen (Esaote, MyLab 40 Vet, 8 MHz convex probe, 12 MHz linear probe) was performed every two days until dioestrus onset. At presentation, multiple cavitary structures in the ovaries, with an anechoic content, 0.6-0.8 cm in diameter, compatible with preovulatory follicles were seen. At ovulation, an increase in echogenicity of such structures was evident together with the finding of a small amount of liquid withheld in the ovarian bursa. The uterus showed normal appearance, a diameter of about 1.5 cm and the absence of intrauterine fluid. For the whole period of monitoring, a large cystic oval formation, at least 8-10 cm long and 4-5 cm wide, thick-walled, and with the presence of numerous and dense echoes within the lumen, was found (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. Bitch 1 (Europe). Caudal abdomen. Ultrasound appearance of the large oval cystic structure (hematocolpus) with an echoic content.

This undefined cystic formation was found next to a second cystic oval anechoic structure, more attributable to the bladder. The ultrasound-guided catheterisation of the bladder confirmed the nature of the second structure. By contrast, the introduction of ultrasound-guided catheter into the vagina, presented difficulties in the progression, stopping cranially, for the presence of a thin hyperechoic septum (Fig. 2). The abdominal X-ray examination (Univet, 300HS) was carried out on dorsoventral and lateral views. In order to enhance the contrast of the vaginal area, iopamidol (Iopamiro 300, Bracco Imaging) was inoculated in vagina throughout a Foley catheter that was inserted and fixed in the caudal vagina.



Figure 2. Bitch 2 (Moon). Appearance of continuity between the hematocolpus (H) and the vagina (V). Visible even a partial scan of the bladder (B).

The positive contrast medium showed a radiological stop in the vagina, emphasized by the presence of a substantial amount of iodum between the septum and the balloon of the Foley catheter. Then, pneumocystography was obtained by blowing filtered air into the bladder throughout a Foley catheter. The bladder, of normal appearance and content, had no connection with the undefined cystic formation. In light of these findings and the diagnostic suspicion of an abnormal collection in the vagina/uterus, the bitch was submitted to exploratory laparotomy and eventual ovariohysterectomy 10 days after the end of the oestrus. After premedication with intramuscular injections of tramadol hydrochloride (2 mg/kg b.w.; Contramal, Grunenthal Italia) and acepromazine maleate (0.05 mg/kg b.w.; Prequilan, Fatro), the patient was induced with diazepam (0.5 mg/kg b.w.; Diazepam, Intervet) and propofol (3 mg/kg b.w.; Propovet, Zoetis) administered intravenously. After intubation, anaesthesia was maintained with isoflurane in 100% oxygen. Laparotomy was performed on the linea alba. In proximity to the bladder, but in continuity with the uterus cranially and with the vagina caudally, an impressive fluid-filled dilatation was found (Fig. 3), including the cervix. About 200 ml of brown fluid was aspirated from the dilatation (Fig. 4). Furthermore, a second cyst inside the main cystic structure was found, from which 10 ml of yellowish mucoid fluid was aspirated (Fig. 5). The fluids were cytologically evaluated during laparotomy. The first fluid showed only epithelial vaginal cells, many of which were cornified and abundant degenerate red blood cells (Fig. 6).



Figure 3. Europe. Externalization of the formation caudal to the body of the uterus.



Figure 4. Moon. Intraoperative aspiration of the brown fluid contained in the hematocolpus.



Figure 5. Moon. Different aspect of the content of the second cavity (Gärtner duct cyst).



Figure 6. Moon. Superficial epithelial cells and degenerate red blood cells in the fluid aspirated from the hematocolpus. May - Grünwald Giemsa. Obv 20x.

The second fluid presented parabasal-like epithelial cells and mucus. In both fluids no bacteria and inflammatory cells were detected. A diagnosis of hematocolpus was done. After ligating the vaginal arteries and branches of the internal pudendal arteries, the dilated vagina was amputated at 2/3 level and removed together with uterus and ovaries. The caudal wall of the dilated vagina was inspected to confirm the absence of communication with the caudal portion of the vagina (Fig. 7).



Figure 7. Europe. Visualization of the blinded caudal wall of the hematocolpus.

The removed uterine horns were 10 cm length and 1.5 cm in diameter, with a spiral trend according to the phase of the cycle (dioestrus). The ovaries, respectively of $1.5 \times 1.0 \times 0.5$ cm on the right and $2.5 \times 1.0 \times 0.6$ cm on the left, presented both newly formed corpora lutea. The cervix was found inside the dilated area, projecting in it, surrounded by large haemorrhagic areas (Fig. 8).



Figure 8. Europe. Gross appearance of the mucosa of the hematocolpus with haemorrhagic areas. Following the dorsal median fold the cervix is visualized.

Specimens were processed for histopathological examination. The vaginal mucosa was thinned and partially degenerate, sometimes covered by a multilayered epithelium. In the cranial part, the mucosal epithelium appeared monolayered with strong polarization, similar to endocervical epithelium. Inflammatory cells were not detectable in the mucosa and the underlying layers. In some areas the submucosa was characterized by haemorrhagic extravasation (Fig. 9). A large cavitary structure lined by a single layered epithelium was found resembling a Gärtner duct epithelium (Fig. 10).



Figure 9. Europe. Hematocolpus. Vaginal mucosa close to the cervix covered with a columnar epithelium. Note the absence of inflammatory infiltrates and the hemorrhagic extravasation. Haematoxylin and eosin. Magnification 20x.



Figure 10. Europe. Typical single layered epithelium lining the Gärtner's cyst. Haematoxylin and eosin. Magnification 20x.

Bitch 2 (Moon) had perfectly comparable findings. She was monitored until 3 months after the dry heat. During dioestrus, ultrasound monitoring of the vaginal dilatation was performed weekly, without evident changes in size and appearance. At laparotomy, the main cyst (hematocolpus) and the secondary smaller cyst (Gärtner duct cyst) were only aspirated and left in place; ligature was done at the uterine body level to remove uterus and ovaries. Moon had rectilinear uterine horns of 10.5 cm in length and 0.8 cm in diameter according to the phase of the cycle (anoestrus). The ovaries, sized respectively 1.8 x 0.9 x 0.7 cm on the right and 1.8 x 0.9 x 0.8 cm on the left, presented regressing corpora lutea. The uterine mucosa showed an initial picture of segmental hyperplasia. During follow-up, the stump was monitored by ultrasound and no changes were detected for a period of 1 year after the surgery.

DISCUSSION

Disorders of the development of the vagina and vestibulum are occasionally reported in the bitch and include vaginal septa, vaginovestibular stenosis, vestibulovulvar stenosis, segmental aplasia of the vagina (Gee et al., 1977; Wadsworth et al., 1978; Holt and Sayle, 1981; Wykes and Soderberg, 1983; Hawe and Loeb, 1984; Root et al., 1995; Archbald and Wolfsdorf, 1996; Kyles et al., 1996). No breed and genetic predisposition for these abnormalities have been reported. Clinical signs reported in dogs with vaginal abnormalities include chronic vaginitis, mating difficulty, urinary incontinence, chronic urinary tract infections, dystocia and ambiguous external genitalia (Holt and Sayle, 1981; Wykes and Soderberg, 1983; Root et al., 1995; Archbald and Wolfsdorf, 1996;

Kyles et al., 1996), despite some bitches with vaginal septa or circumferential stenosis are asymptomatic (Wykes and Soderberg, 1983; Root et al., 1995; Kyles et al., 1996). The terms hydrocolpus, mucocolpus, hematocolpus, pyocolpus refer to the abnormal distension of the vagina for the accumulation of fluid, mucus, blood and pus, respectively. These conditions may be related to a difficult drainage of the vagina and the few reported cases in the bitch were generally secondary to developmental disorder of the vestibulo-vaginal tract (Gee et al., 1977; Wadsworth et al., 1978; Hawe and Loeb, 1984; Tsumagari et al., 2001; Viehoff and Sjollema, 2003; McIntyre et al., 2010; Marinho et al., 2013; Alonge et al., 2015).

GnRH agonists are used as anticonceptionals in the canine species. Deslorelin acetate is a GnRH agonist developed as an implant, whose main indication is transitory contraception in adult male dogs. Recent studies have proved the efficacy of the treatment in prepubertal dogs to postpone puberty (Trigg et al., 2006; Sirivaidyapong et al., 2012; Marino et al., 2014; Kaya et al., 2015). There are few data about the side effects of GnRH agonists in veterinary medicine, and they are generally considered safe and totally reversible. Persistent oestrus related or not to ovarian cysts, uterine disorders, urinary incontinence and hair abnormalities have occasionally been described (Arlt et al., 2011; Fontaine and Fontbonne, 2011; Palm and Reichler, 2012). In previous studies on prepubertal bitches, delayed epiphyseal closure, hip dysplasia, transient juvenile vaginitis and marked atrophy of the internal genital tract have been reported with minimal or no clinical impact (Marino et al., 2014; Kaya et al., 2015).

In this paper, two bitches with an abnormal distension of the vagina (hematocolpus) were studied. It was remarkable that both bitches received an implant of deslorelin acetate in a prepubertal time. The presence of an obstruction in the genital tract caused an obstacle to normal drainage and an accumulation of fluid cranially to the stenotic point. When cycling female dogs have such obstructions the collection of fluid mixes with the typical bloody discharge of proestrus; these animals show the so-called dry heats (without bloody discharge from vulva) (Viehoff e Sjollema, 2003). Specific genes involved and heritability of developmental disorders of the genital tract have not yet been fully defined in bitches (McIntyre et al., 2010). Developmental disorder of the gonad and kidney may be associated finding, as consequence of failure of gene expression or lack of bloody supply in the genital segment (McIntyre et al., 2010). Some causes may even be acquired after birth, since the development of the internal and external genitalia is completed by puberty. There was a reasonable suspicion that the treatment received by prepubertal bitches contributed to the determinism of the lesion. The treatment applied at prepubertal time is able to arrest the development of the genital tract throughout the period of treatment (Marino et al., 2014). In some female dogs, these changes are probably not completely reversible at vaginal level.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

REFERENCES

- Alonge S, Romussi S, Grieco V, Luvoni GC (2015) Congenital abnormality of the vagina complicated by haemato-pyocolpos in a 1-year Labrador Retriever. Reprod Dom Anim 50:514-516.
- Archbald LF, Wolfsdorf K (1996) Theriogenology question of the month. Vaginal constriction, probably a congenital malformation. J Am Vet Med Assoc 208:1651-1652.
- Arlt SP, Spankowsky S, Heuwieser W (2011) Follicular cysts and prolonged oestrus in a female dog after administration of a deslorelin implant. N Z Vet J 59:87-91.
- Fontaine E, Fontbonne A (2011) Clinical use of GnRH agonists in canine and feline species. Reprod Dom Anim 46:344-353.
- Gee BR, Pharr JW, Furneaux RW (1977) Segmental aplasia of the Müllerian duct system of a dog. Can Vet J 18:281-286.
- Hawe RS, Loeb WF (1984) Caudal vaginal agenesis and progressive renal disease in a Shi tzu. J Am Anim Hosp Assoc 20:123-130.
- Holt PE, Sayle B (1981) Congenital vestibulo-vaginal stenosis in the bitch. J Small Anim Pract 22:67-75.
- Kaya D, Schäfer-Somi S, Kurt B, Kuru M, Kaya S, Kaçar C, Aksoy Ö, Aslan S (2015) Clinical use of deslorelin implants for the long-term contraception in prepubertal bitches: effects on epiphyseal closure, body development, and time to puberty. Theriogenology 83:1147-1153.
- Kyles AE, Vaden S, Hardie EM, Stone EA (1996) Vestibulovaginal stenosis in dogs: 18 cases (1987-1995). J Am Vet Med Assoc 209:1889-1893.
- Marinho GC, De Jesus VLT, Palhano HB, Abidu-Figueire M (2013) Pyocolpos in a Pinscher bitch: a case report. J Morphol Sci 30:206-208.

- Marino G, Rizzo S, Quartuccio M, Macrì F, Pagano G, Taormina A, Cristarella S, Zanghì A (2014) Deslorelin implants in pre-pubertal female dogs: short- and long-term effects on the genital tract. Reprod Dom Anim 49:297-301.
- McIntyre RL, Levy JK, Roberts JF, Reep RL (2010) Developmental uterine anomalies in cats and dogs undergoing elective ovariohysterectomy. J Am Vet Med Assoc. 237:542-546.
- Palm J, Reichler IM (2012) The use of deslorelin acetate (Suprelorin[®]) in companion animal medicine. Schweiz Arch Tierheilkd 154:7-12.
- Root MV, Johnston SD, Johnston GR (1995) Vaginal septa in dogs: 15 cases (1983-1992). J Am Vet Med Assoc 206:56-58.
- Sirivaidyapong S, Mehl N, Trigg T (2012) Delay of puberty and reproductive performance in male dogs following the implantation of 4.7 and 9.4 mg GnRH-agonist deslorelin at an early pre-pubertal age. Reprod Dom Anim 47:400-402.
- Trigg T, Doyle A, Walsh J, Swangchan-uthai T (2006) A review of advances in the use of the GnRH agonist deslorelin in control of reproduction. Theriogenology 66:1507-1512.
- Tsumagari S, Takagi K, Takeishi M, Memon MA (2001) A case of a bitch with imperforate hymen and hydrocolpos. J Vet Med Sci 63:475-477.
- Viehoff FW, Sjollema BE (2003) Hydrocolpus in dogs: surgical treatment in two cases. J Small Anim Pract 44:404-407.
- Wadsworth PF, Hall JC, Prentice DE (1978) Segmental aplasia of the vagina in the beagle bitch. Lab Anim 12:165-166.
- Wykes PM, Soderberg SF (1983) Congenital abnormalities of the canine vaginal and vulva. J Am Anim Hosp Assoc 19:995-1000.

Arthrectomy for traumatic proximal interphalangeal arthritis in the lateral digit in a heifer

A. Goto¹, N. Tsuzuki², A. Kajihara¹, T. Moriyama¹, Y. Sasaki¹, N. Zushi¹, K. Hatate³, K. Iino², N. Yamagishi^{2,3}

¹ Veterinary Medical Center, Obihiro University of Agriculture and Veterinary Medicine, Japan

² Section of Large Animal Clinical Sciences Department of Veterinary Medicine, Obihiro University of Agriculture and Veterinary Medicine, Japan

³ The United Graduate School of Veterinary Sciences, Gifu University, Japan

ABSTRACT. Instructive information on the treatment for chronic deep infections of digital joints in a 9-month-old Holstein heifer is described in this report. Preoperative ultrasonographic and radiographic examinations revealed soft tissue swelling and subchondral bone lysis at the distal part of the proximal phalanx in the lateral digit. Arthrectomy was performed under xylazine sedation to remove infectious articular cartilage tissues. Immature callus formation was observed via radiography at the surgical site by the 28th postoperative day. On the 48th postoperative day, callus fell into disrepair on the radiographs along with aggravation of the locomotion score. After the application of a half-limb cast, the immature callus formed again by the 62nd postoperative day (11 months), and bony callus formation was observed by the 74th postoperative day. Thereafter, the heifer could walk well with marked improvement in the locomotion score. The withers height of the heifer at 13 months (136 cm) was within the range of that in control heifers of the same age on this farm (133 ± 3 cm); however, the body weight (BW) of this heifer (322 kg) was lower than the BW of controls (384 ± 26 kg). The BW gain from 11 to 13 months of age seemed to be higher in the present heifer (+76 kg) than in controls (+55±20 kg), suggesting that BW of the present heifer was returning to the original BW. Based on these observations, we suggested that arthrectomy was an effective treatment option for the present case of digital joint arthritis.

Keywords: arthrectomy, arthritis, cow, external fixation, productivity

Corresponding Author: Nao Tsuzuki, 2-11 Inada, Nishi, Obihiro, Hokkaido 080-8555, Japan E-mail address: tsuzuki@obihiro.ac.jp Date of initial submission: 07-02-2019 Date of revised submission: 14-05-2019 Date of acceptance: 27-05-2019 1912

CASE HISTORY

A 9-month-old Holstein heifer (228 kg body weight; BW) was referred to the Obihiro University Veterinary Medical Center owing to a traumatic lesion on the proximal interphalangeal joint of the left hind limb that was injured 12 days prior. Before arriving to the medical center, the heifer underwent treatment with antibiotics and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs by the referring veterinarians. Physical examination at the day of admission revealed a rectal temperature of 39.1°C, heart rate of 144 bpm, and respiratory rate of 72 bpm. The heifer had a nonweight-bearing left hind limb and marked pain and swelling around the proximal interphalangeal joint. A locomotion scoring system scored on a scale of 1 to 5 (Sprecher et al., 1997) gave a score of 5 that declared the most severe lameness. Several abrasions were observed on the skin around the proximal interphalangeal joint; one of those formed a 5-cm-deep open wound with suppurative exudate at the cranial side of the lateral proximal interphalangeal joint (Figure 1A). Preoperative radiographs confirmed soft tissue swelling and subchondral bone lysis at the distal part of the proximal phalanx in the lateral digit of the affected limb, suggesting proximal interphalangeal arthritis (Figure 1B). Ultrasonography of the lateral digit of the left hind limb revealed that the open wound was connected to the lateral proximal interphalangeal joint while conserving the superficial and deep digital flexor tendon structures (Figure 2).



Fig 1. Pre-surgical photograph and radiograph (Dorsal-Plantar view) of the distal left hind limb. (A) Site of trauma around the proximal interphalangeal joint. (B) Subchondral bone lysis at the proximal interphalangeal joint in the lateral digit of the affected limb (white arrow). Swelling of soft tissue is recognized at the circumference of joint.



Fig 2. Ultrasonography image of the lateral digit of the left hind limb. Open wound was connected to the lateral proximal interphalangeal joint (white arrow).

The heifer was sedated with 0.1 mg/kg BW of xylazine (Seractal; Bayer, Osaka, Japan) intravenously and ceftiofur (Excenel; Zoetis, Tokyo, Japan; 2 mg/kg BW) was administered intramuscularly. The animal was positioned in the right lateral recumbency with the left hind limb upward. The skin around the proximal interphalangeal joint was aseptically prepared, the sciatic nerve blockade under ultrasound-guidance (Re., et al 2014) and local infiltration anesthesia around the open wound at the lateral proximal interphalangeal joint were induced by injecting of 2% lidocaine solution (Xylocaine; AstraZeneca, Osaka, Japan).

First, the degenerative cutaneous and subcutaneous tissues were debrided from the open wound using a surgical scalpel, and communication into the proximal interphalangeal joint was confirmed. Next, artherectomy was performed using a bone rongeur and an osteotrite to remove infectious articular cartilage tissues. The surgical wound, including the crevice of artherectomy, was then irrigated with 3 liters of sterile saline using an infusion tube that was 2.1 mm in diameter. Finally, the surgical wound was bandaged to cover the lateral digit, and hoof block was applied on the heel of the medial digit of the affected limb for relieve a load applied to a lateral digit. The surgery was completed in 40 minutes after xylazine administration, and intravenous atipamezole (0.01 mg/kg BW; atipame-chu; Kyoritsu Pharmaceutical, Tokyo, Japan) was administered to the heifer to reverse the effect of sedation.

After complete recovery from sedation, the heifer returned to the farm. Ceftiofur (2 mg/kg BW, intramuscularly, SID) was administered for 5 days postoperatively, and the bandage was changed after lavage was performed at intervals of 2 days. Hoof block was removed 14 days after surgery.

On the 28th postoperative day, radiographic examination was conducted, which revealed an immature callus at the distal part of the proximal phalanx of the lateral digit with reduced adjacent soft tissue swelling in the affected limb (Figure 3). Results of ultrasonography confirmed that the swelling of the soft tissues around the surgical wound subsided. The locomotion score improved (a score of 3) on that day.



Fig 3. Post-surgical radiograph (Dorsal-Plantar view) of the distal left hind limb obtained on the 28th postoperative day. An immature callus was observed on the lateral side of proximal phalanx (white arrow). Soft tissue swelling was still recognized at the circumference of joint.

On the 48th postoperative day, the locomotion score aggravated (a score of 4) although the surgical wound was closed without swelling (Figure 4A). Radiography confirmed disrepair of the immature callus at the distal part of the proximal phalanx in the lateral digit of the affected limb (Figure 4B). An external coaptation with a half-limb cast was applied from the sole of the hoof to the mid-metacarpus proximally (Figure 4C).



Fig 4. Post-surgical photograph and radiograph (Dorsal-Plantar view) of the distal left hind limb on the 48th postoperative day. (A) Well-healed wound. (B) Disrepair of immature callus at the distal part of the proximal phalanx in the lateral digit of the affected limb (white arrow). Reduced soft tissue irritation recognized at the circumference of joint. (C) An external coaptation with a half-limb fiberglass cast.

On the 62nd postoperative day, the immature callus was observed again at the distal part of the proximal phalanx on the radiographs (Figure 5A), and the locomotion score had improved (a score of 3). The half-limb cast was exchanged on that day.

On the 74th postoperative day, radiography was performed, which revealed bony callus formation at the distal part of the proximal phalanx (Figure 5B). The heifer was able to walk better with improvement in the locomotion score (a score of 2); the half-limb cast was then removed.

On the 88th postoperative day, the gait of the heifer seemed to be normal; the locomotion score was 1.

At 6 months post-surgery, there were no abnormalities in the stride and weight shift of the gait, although the heifer showed a cowhocked posture when standing (Figure 6A and B). Radiography was performed, which revealed adequate bony callus at the distal part of the proximal phalanx in the lateral digit of the affected limb (Figure 6C). The withers height of the heifer was 136 cm (age: 13 months), which was comparable to that of the control (25 heifers of the same age in this herd) heifers (average: 133 ± 3 cm). Figure 7 shows the change in BW of the present heifer and those of control from 1 to 13 months based on the records from this farm. BW of the heifer was 266 kg approximately 2 weeks before the injury occurred, which reduced to 228 kg (-38 kg) prior to arrival to our hospital (age: 9 months). After arthrectomy was performed, BW of the heifer was 246 kg at 11 months, which was increased to 322 kg (+76 kg) at 13 months. The mean BW of the control was 329 kg at 11 months

1914



Fig 5. Post-surgical radiograph (Dorsal-Plantar view). An immature callus was observed on the lateral side of proximal phalanx again (white arrow) on (A) the 62th and (B) the 74th postoperative days.



Fig 6. Post-surgical photograph (Dorsal-Plantar view) and radiograph in the 6th postoperative month. (A) Sufficient weight-bearing on the affected limb of dorsal view (white arrow). (B) Sufficient weight-bearing on the affected limb of lateral view (white arrow). (C) Radiographs confirmed an adequate bony callus at the distal part of the proximal phalanx in the lateral digit of the affected limb (white arrow).



Fig 7. Change in the body weight of the present heifer (solid line) and control heifers (n=25) in this herd (dotted line; mean \pm standard deviation) from 1 to 13 months of age. The black arrow indicates the time of injury in the heifer.

DISCUSSION

For 12 days prior to arrival, the present heifer had a non-weight-bearing left hind limb with marked pain and swelling around its proximal interphalangeal joint, despite receiving treatment with antibiotics and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs by the referring veterinarians. We decided to perform arthrectomy, followed by synarthrosis. The heifer had a favorable clinical and radiographic outcome with good wound healing; however, repeated surgical wound lavage followed by external coaptation was needed up to the 74th postoperative day.

Septic arthritis is the most common condition affecting joints of cattle. It can be caused by direct trauma, an adjacent infection, or systemic infection (Desrochers, 2004). Once pus accumulates in the joint cavity and invades the peri-articular soft tissues, needle lavage and arthrotomy with open drainage are insufficient to resolve the infection (Van Huffel et al., 1989; Starke et al., 2006). When bones are infected, surgical debridement of the devitalized or irreparably damaged bone is especially critical (Orsini, 2017). For interphalangeal joint septic arthritis, reported therapeutic options include conservative management, digit amputation, facilitated arthrodesis, and fenestration of the wound (Lewis et al., 2009). In this case, we decided that conservative management was inadequate to control the infection owing to extension of deep infection into the bones and/or periarticular soft tissues in the radiographs. In addition, preoperative radiography revealed subchondral bone lysis, suggesting the presence of a chronic bone infection. Chronic osteomyelitis with persistent drainage and sequestrum formation is resistant to eradication by long-term antibiotics alone; therefore, surgical intervention is the only effective method to eliminate such an infection and promote healing (Johnson and Buckley, 2007).

Digit amputation and digit arthrodesis surgery have been performed to successfully treat deep infections to the digits in cattle (Pesja et al., 1993; Desrochers et al., 1995). Digit arthrodesis surgery was superior to digit amputation with regards to longevity and productivity of cattle during the postoperative days (Jean and Desrochers., 2004; Bicalho et al., 2006). Conversely, disadvantages of arthrodesis of the interphalangeal joint in comparison to digit amputation are that it is more expensive, technically demanding,

1917

and requires more postoperative care. Cattle also have a slower return to previous production following arthrodesis owing to the length of the procedure and the pain it causes (St-Jean and Desrochers., 2004). Based on this comparison, we opted for arthrectomy to treat digital joint arthritis of the heifer.

On the 48th postoperative day, the surgical wound seemed to be healing, but the locomotion score remained aggravated. Then, external coaptation with a half-limb cast was applied because disrepair of immature callus at the lateral proximal interphalangeal joint was observed on radiography. Excessive interfragmentary instability will impedes cartilage replacement, diminishes angiogenesis, and prevents bone from bridging the fracture gap (Einhorn and Gerstenfeld, 2015). In this case, improvement of the postoperative condition at the surgical site during the first month was likely to allow weight bearing of the left hind limb, resulting in an excessive interfragmentary instability and injury of the immature callus at that joint. Half-limb casts can be used for immobilization of phalangeal fractures (Anderson and Jean 2008) and can provide substantial stability to induce bone union (El-Shafaey et al., 2014). Therefore, a cast with a fenestration on the surgical site should have been applied from the beginning of the postoperative treatment in this heifer. Alternatively, it has been reported that stabilisation of the joint and the removal of the load on it by means of a steel-reinforced synthetic resin is important for the healing process (Starke et al., 2006). Moreover, it has been reported that use of the screw system in cattle is an excellent treatment option for distal interphalangeal joint arthrodesis with minimal postoperative morbidity and excellent return to function (Lewis et al., 2009).

Although the withers height of the present heifer was within the average of that of control heifers on this farm, BW of the heifers at 13 months (322 kg) was still lower than the BW of the control heifers (384 ± 26 kg). However, the BW gain for 2 months (between 11 to 13 months) seemed to be higher in the present heifer (+76 kg) than in control (+55 ± 20 kg), suggesting that BW of the present heifer was returning to the original BW. Satisfactory functioning of the reproductive organs (ovary and uterus) was observed in this heifer; the owner is planning to breed the animal. Based on these observations, we suggested that arthrectomy was an effective treatment option for digital joint arthritis in the present case for better expected recovery of productivity.

In the early infection stage of arthritis, the accuracy of the diagnosis may be reduced because radiographic abnormalities are often difficult to detect (Kofler, 2009). Ultrasound examination can be useful for detecting soft tissue damage around distal limbs (esp, tendinitis and abscess) of cattle (Kofler and Edinger, 1995). Therefore, in this case, it will be possible to diagnose degrees of inflammation and bone infection by combined use of radiographic and ultrasonographic examinations, resulting in the possibility of shortening the duration of postoperative treatments. Furthermore, use of half-limb cast with fenestration or a screw system were likely to shorten the duration of postoperative treatment. Hence, the current case report provides instructive information on the treatment for chronic deep infections of bovine digital joints. Improved strategies for diagnosis and surgical wound management are required for similar cases of digital joint arthritis.

REFERENCES

- Anderson DE, Jean GS (2008) Management of Fractures in Field Settings. Vet Clin Food Anim 24:567-582.
- Bicalho RC, Cheong SH, Warnick LD, Nydam DV, Guard CL (2006) The effect of digit amputation or arthrodesis surgery on culling and milk production in holstein dairy cows. J Dairy Sci 89:2596-2602.
- Desrochers A (2004) Septic arthritis. In: (Fubini SL, Ducharme NG eds) Farm Animal Surgery. Saunders, Philadelphia: pp 330-336.
- Desrochers A, Jean GS, Anderson DE (1995) Use of facilitated ankylosis in the treatment of septic arthritis of the distal interphalangeal joint in cattle: 12 cases (1987-1992). J Am Vet Med Assoc 206:1923-1927.
- Desrochers A, Francoz D (2014) Clinical Management of Septic Arthritis in Cattle. Vet Clin Food Anim 30:177-203.
- Einhorn TA and Gerstenfeld LC (2015) Fracture healing: mechanisms and interventions. Nat Rev Rheumatol 11:45–54.
- El-Shafaey EA, Aoki T, Ishii M, Yamada K (2014) Conservative management with external coaptation technique for treatment of a severely comminuted fracture of the proximal phalanx in a Holstein-Friesian cow. Iran J Vet Res 15:300-303.
- Jean GS, Desrochers A (2004) Treatment of Pathological Diseases Foot and Digits. In: (Fubini SL, Ducharme NG eds) Farm Animal Surgery. Saunders, Philadelphia: pp 323- 330.
- Johnson EE, Buckley RE (2007) Chronic infection and infected nonunion. In: (Rüedi TP, Buckley RE, Moran CG eds) AO Principles of Fracture Management. 2nd ed, AO publishing, New York: pp 543-554.

- Kofler J (2009) Ultrasonography as a diagnostic aid in bovine musculoskeletal disorders. Vet Clin Food Anim 25:687-731.
- Kofler J, Edinger HK (1995) Diagnostic ultrasound imaging of soft tissues in the bovine distal limb. Vet Radiol Ultrasound 36:246-252.
- Lewis AJ, Sod GA, Gill MS, Mitchell CF (2009) Distal interphalangeal joint arthrodesis in seven cattle using the Acutrak Plus screw. Vet Surg 38:659-63.
- Orsini JA (2017) Update on Managing Serious Wound Infections in Horses: Wounds Involving Bone. J Equine Vet Sci 55:123–138.
- Pesja TG, Jean GS, Hoffsis GF, Musser JMB (1993) Digit amputation in cattle: 85 cases (1971–1990). J Am Vet Med Assoc 202:981–984.
- Re M, Blanco-Murcia J, Villaescusa Fernández A, De Gaspar Simón I, Gómez de Segura IA (2014) Ultrasound-guided anaesthetic blockade of the pelvic limb in calves. Vet J 200: 434-439.
- Sprecher DJ, Hostetler DE, Kaneene JB (1997) A lameness scoring system that uses posture and gait to predict dairy cattle reproductive performance. Theriogenology 47:1179-87.
- Starke A, Kehler W, Rehage J (2006) Arthrotomy and arthrodesis in the treatment of complicated arthritis of the fetlock joint in adult cattle. Vet Rec 159: 772-777.
- Van Huffel X, Steenhaut M, Imschoot J, Verschooten F, Gasthuys F, Desmet P, De Moor A (1989) Carpal joint arthrodesis as a treatment for chronic septic carpitis in calves and cattle. Vet Surg 18:304-11.

Conjoined Twins in Red Sokoto Goat

I. Ahmad^{1,*}, U.M. Chafe², A.A. Umar², M.D. Salisu³

¹Directorate of Animal Health and Livestock Development, Gusau, Zamfara Nigeria

²Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Usmanu Danfodiyo University Sokoto, Nigeria

³National Animal Production Research Institute, Ahmadu Bello University Zaria, Nigeria

Abstract. A case of female conjoined twins was found in Red Sokoto goat, delivered alive along with a free male kid without obstetrical assistance. The abnormal twins were examined clinically and at postmortem. Based on morphological features, they could be classified as thoraco-omphalopagus symmetrical conjoined twins. Autopsy showed that fusion occurred at ventral-midline from the cranial region of the thorax to abdomen caudal to the umbilicus; thus, only head, neck and pelvis were separated. Genetic factors could be suspected in this case. This is the first report of thoraco-omphalopagus symmetrical twinned goat in Nigeria.

Keywords: Conjoined twins; Red Sokoto goat; Nigeria

Corresponding Author: Ibrahim Ahmad, Directorate of Animal Health and Livestock Development, Gusau, Zamfara Nigeria Email address: ibrahimahmaad22@gmail.com

Date of initial submission: 14-04-2019 Date of revised submission: 09-10-2019 Date of acceptance: 10-10-2019
INTRODUCTION

Conjoined twins represent rare congenital malformations of monozygotic twins, thus abnormalities in their anatomy arise during prenatal development (Kulawik *et al.*, 2017). The term duplication, often used regarding conjoined twins, does not intrinsically imply either fission or fusion process, but it describes the formation of double structures regardless of their origin (Schneevoigt *et al.*, 2014). Congenital duplication etiopathogenesis is considered to be a complex of processes with various influencing factors at different time-points (Elnady and Sora, 2009). Previous report has attributed the development of conjoined twins to either environmental or genetic factors, or both (Kulawik *et al.*, 2017).

Although there is paucity of information regarding the definitive cause(s) of embryonic duplications, the separation of fused twins only becomes feasible when the two components do not share any vital parts or organs. Given the developmental disorders that may affect function of systems or organs in the malformed twins, surgical separation often leads to poor prognoses and is not always an option (Kulawik et al., 2017). Conjoined dysmorphologies can affect several systems not only limited to the fused parts, which usually have syndromic manifestations (Binanti and Riccaboni, 2012). Organ dysfunction, failure, and even death are the implications often associated with abnormalities arising during prenatal development (Kulawik et al., 2017). The occurrence of conjoined twins is sporadic and very rare, thus most of its aspects remain hypothetical; however, the description of its cases benefits both veterinary and medical sciences (Schneevoigt et al., 2014). In domestic animals, such aberrations are rare and remain under-reported (Samuel et al., 2014). The present article describes

a case of thoraco-omphalopagus symmetrical conjoined female twins in Red Sokoto goat.

CASE HISTORY

On March 4, 2018, female conjoined kids weighing approximately 2.8 kg were delivered alive and without obstetrical assistance by a multiparus doe in Tsafe town, Zamfara State, Northwest Nigeria. They were delivered along with a normal male kid (1.3 kg)(Figure 1). The normal weight at birth for kids of Red Sokoto goat is about 1.5-2.0 kg. One of the conjoined kids died at the flock a day after the delivery, although it remained attached to the living twin and were referred to the Zonal Veterinary Clinic Gusau, Zamfara State (Figure 2). The 4 years old doe was managed on free range system with three other goats and a buck and had two sets of normal twin kids in the previous parturitions. Flock history revealed no evidence of use of drugs known to cause congenital defects, occurrence of teratogenic infections, or previous record of malformation.

The conjoined kids was attached from thorax to the caudal umbilicus (Figure 3). Clinical examination revealed the following: (a) two components referring to the left and right twins, named kid A and kid B (Figure 2), (b) an increased respiration rate and mild dehydration in kid B that was alive, (c) complete duplication of the head and neck down to the thorax, (d) complete duplication of the vertebral column (thoracic, lumber and sacral vertebrae), anus, vulva, and tail (e) two forelimbs attached on each kid in normal spatial orientation, (f) shared umbilical cord, and (g) two unattached pelvis with two hind limbs on each twin at normal positions. The length of the body parts for each kid was recorded (Table 1). The alive twin died during surgical separation.

Table 1: Body measurements of normal kid and thoraco-omphalopagus conjoined twins in Red Sokoto goat.			
	Normal kid	Left twin (A)	Right twin (B)
Head-tail length (cm)	37.5	37.5	37.5
Neck length (cm)	2	2	2
Tail length (cm)	2	2	2
Fore-and-hind limbs length (cm)	18	18	18

J HELLENIC VET MED SOC 2019, 70(4) ПЕКЕ 2019, 70(4)



Figure 1. Normal male kid.



Figure 2. Conjoined kids, showing two components referring to the left and right twin, named kid A and kid B.



Figure 3. Lateral view of the conjoined twins showing fusion of thoraces and abdomen to point of umbilicus.

Autopsy revealed complete fusion of the thoraces and abdomen to the caudal umbilicus at ventral midline, two pairs of normal rib cages ventrally joined by 2 sterna, two completely divided but attached thoracic cavities containing only one hypertrophic heart (located only in kid B with two branched aorta emanating from the left ventricle; each branch supplies the organs of the individual twin component), and complete bilateral duplication of the well aerated lungs (Figure 4). The ribs formed the lateral walls of the two thoraces, articulated with the facets of thoracic vertebrae on the median plane and ventrally to the sternum. The attached thoraces were separated from the abdomen by a single diaphragm. In the abdominal cavity of each twin, the gastrointestinal tract was duplicated containing esophagus, four compartment stomachs (rumen, reticulum, omasum and abomasum), spleen, pancreas and intestines (duodenum, jejunum, ileum, caecum, colon and rectum); however, a single enlarged liver and a gall bladder were found only in kid B. Each twin contained a normal urogenital system in the characteristic anatomical positions (Figure 5). There were uterus, two kidneys, ureters and bladder that discharged into a urethra, duplicates of anus and vulva on each component.



Figure 4. Cut opened conjoined twins showing single enlarged heart (H) and liver (Lv) found only in kid B, and bilateral duplication of the well aerated lungs (L).



Figure 5. Photograph showing a comparison of the internal organs recovered from each twin. 1. Uterus 2. Single heart 3. Inflated lungs 4. Kidneys 5. Intestines

DISCUSSION

Identification of the conjoined twins is often made based on the morphological appearance of the duplication anomaly. Classifications can be based on site of the union, embryological development, anatomy, and symmetry level of the twins (Chen, 2012). Although the ventrally fused twins in this case were of equal size, they were conjoined at the thoracic cavity and cranial one third of the abdominal cavity. Kid A (parasite) has all internal organs except heart, liver, and gallbladder which makes it dependent on kid B (autosite). These kids are completely well developed and symmetrical, each exhibiting a set of structures that is an imitation of its counterpart; thus they are called diplopagus. Classification into either conjoined symmetrical (complete) or conjoined asymmetrical (incomplete) is based on the normal-length duplication of vertebral column; duplicated partially in asymmetrical and fully in symmetrical congenital twins. The externally visible point of attachment is also commonly used to classify conjoined twins. In the study subjects, this duplication occurred across the entire body parts but fused at the ventral-midline between thoraces (thoracopagus) and caudal umbilicus (omphalopagus), leading to a classification as thoraco-omphalopagus. The conjoined twins documented in this report were similar to that previously found in goats by Binanti and Riccaboni (2012); however, this occurrence is rare (Elnady and Sora, 2009). The present case is unique because all structures are nearly doubled except heart, liver, gallbladder, and umbilicus; thus it is different from the previous report (Binanti and Riccaboni, 2012) which described additional uncommon malformations such as persistent right aortic arc, foramen ovale, and patent ductus arteriosus. Conjoined twins was female, as in previous reports (Binanti and Riccaboni, 2012; Mazaheri *et al.*, 2014; Schneevoigt *et al.*, 2014).

The fusion of the thorax and abdomen represents an abnormal articulation at the ventral midline, presenting morphological alterations of the sternum and abdominal wall. No obvious abnormality associated with the respiratory organs in both the thoraces was observed, as reported previously (Binanti and Riccaboni, 2012; Schneevoigt et al., 2014). A common liver and umbilical cord shared between the twins found in this case is similar to the report of Binanti and Riccaboni (2012). Abdominal structures such as esophagus, four chambered stomachs, intestines, pancreas and spleen were entirely duplicated without any fusion. This observation varies with the findings in the literature (Binanti and Riccaboni, 2012; Schneevoigt et al., 2014). The entire gastroinstestinal tract is rarely doubled in siamese twins (Spencer, 2000). The urogenital organs found in this case were doubled (four kidneys, two bladders, four ovaries, and oviducts, as well as two bicornuate uterus and vagina), as widely confirmed previously in conjoined twins (Spencer, 2000). As concern the cardiovascular system defect involved there was a single functioning heart for both kids, which is similar to heart defects previously described in congenital twinning (Binanti and Riccaboni, 2012; Schneevoigt et al., 2014; Kulawik et al., 2017). The enlarged heart and branched aorta found in the right kid B, reflected the right twin heart being the pumping donor to the left twin A. Thus, in this form of defect Twin-Twin Transfusion Syndrome (TTTS) might be a conceivable consequence of arteriovenous anastomoses (Bahlmann, 2009). Cells are not split equally in monozygotic twinning process, resulting in a larger number of cells in one twin leading to a delay in cardiac development of the twin that had received fewer cells (Benirschke, 2009).

Information about the cause(s) of congenital duplication anomalies is rarely available (Shojaei *et al.*, 2012). Two hypotheses such as fusion and fission have been proposed regarding conjoined twins, but the mechanism of its development is incompletely understood (Binanti and Riccaboni, 2012). Thus, diplopagus could arise either due to incomplete separation of a single fertilized ovum as in monozygotic twins or by secondary fusion between two different embryonic axes. Mis-expression of gene and secreted protein signals may be implicated in congenital duplication, affecting the regulation of right-left asymmetry or left-right axis formation (Mazaheri et al., 2014; Kulawik et al., 2017). In Nigeria, the predominant free-range management system favors exposure of pregnant animals to toxic plants, drinking water, and forages contaminated by various chemicals (e.g. pesticides, herbicides and inorganic fertilizers) being applied without caution. Furthermore, the practices of unregulated mining activities could lead to enhanced exposure of animals to hazardous heavy metals and radiation-induced hyperthermia. Exposure to some of these factors or their combination can serve as exogenous disruptors, thereby acting as substrate in allometric growth impairments leading to in-utero developmental errors. In addition, lack of dietary supplements and frequent use of hormone treatment are in part linked to the higher incidence of conjoined twins in animals (Schneevoigt et al., 2014; Kulawik et al., 2017). Previous report described the above mentioned as probable causes of congenital abnormalities in animals (Kulawik et al., 2017). Moreover, a genetic mutation was speculated as the probable cause of a similar malformation described by Binanti and Riccaboni (2012).

This is the first report of thoraco-omphalopagus symmetrical conjoined twins in animals in Nigeria. The article presented the anatomical findings of conjoined twins born alive, after clinical and postmortem examinations. Malformations of skeletal, cardiovascular, and digestive systems were revealed. Prompt reporting of such cases is encouraged to aid in the epidemiological surveys of malformations in animals and accurate identification of the probable cause(s) and compounding factors.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Authors gratefully acknowledge Nura Aminu Tsafe for referring the case and Dr Junaidu Ibrahim of the zonal veterinary clinic, Gusau Zamfara State for his technical support.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST None declared.

REFERENCES

- Bahlmann F (2009) Monochorionic twin pregnancy and the following problems. Z. Geburtshilfe Neonatol 6: 234-237.
- Benirschke K (2009) The monozygotic twinning process, the twin-twin transfusion syndrome and acardiac twins. Placenta 11: 923-928.
- Binanti D, Riccaboni P. (2012) Thoraco-Omphalopagus conjoined twins in chamois-coloured domestic goat kids. Anatomia Histologia Embryologia 3: 159-162.
- Chen H (2012) Atlas of genetic diagnosis and councelling. Springer-Verlag, New York: pp 495-505.
- Elnady F, Sora M-C (2009) Anatomical exploration of dicephalous goat kid using sheet plastination. Congenit Anom 49: 66-70.
- Kulawik M, Pluta K, Wojnowska M, Bartyzel B, Nabzdyk M, Bukowska D (2017) Cephalothoracopagus (monocephalic dithoracic) conjoined twins in a pig (Sus scrofa f. domestica): a case report. Veterinarni Medicina 62(08): 470-477.

Mazaheri Y, Nourinezhad J, Ranjbar R, Mahabady MK, Ghadiri AR,

Lombeshkon H (2014) A case of conjoined twins (thoraco-omphalopygopagus tribrachius tetrapus) in lamb. Veterinary Research Forum 5(1): 73-76.

- Samuel MO, Wachida N, Abenga JH, Kisani AI, Adamu SS, Hambesha P, Gyang E, Oyedipe EO (2014) A case of omphalo-ischiopagus (dicephalic dithoracic abdominopagus tetrascelus tetrabrachius) in lambs. Anatomia Histologia Embryologia 43(4):320-323.
- Schneevoigt J, Bahramsoltani M, Gerlach K, Gericke A, Fersterra M, Brehm W, Seeger J (2014) Parapagus conjoined twin calf: a case study-focused on CT and cardiac abnormalities. Anatomia Histologia Embryologia 43: 64-70.
- Shojaei B, Mohebbi E, Hashemnia S (2012) Caudal duplication (monocephalus tripus dibrachius) in a kid goat. Eur J Anat 16(3): 206-211.
- Spencer R (2000) Theoretical and analytical embryology of conjoined twins: Part II: adjustments to union. Clin Anat 13: 97-120.

JOURNAL OF THE HELLENIC VETERINARY MEDICAL SOCIETY

ΠΕΡΙΟΔΙΚΟ ΤΗΣ ΕΛΛΗΝΙΚΗΣ ΚΤΗΝΙΑΤΡΙΚΗΣ ΕΤΑΙΡΕΙΑΣ

Quarterly Edition Volume 70, No 4 OCTOBER - DECEMBER 2019



Τριμηνιαία Έκδοση Volume 70, No 4 ΟΚΤΩΒΡΙΟΣ - ΔΕΚΕΜΒΡΙΟΣ 2019